
December Board Meeting 
To be held at the offices of  

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
6701 Shirley Avenue 

Austin, TX  78752 

Tuesday, December 19, 2023 
10:30 a.m. 

1



 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
BOARD MEETING 

AGENDA 
To be held at the offices of 

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
6701 Shirley Avenue 
Austin, Texas 78752 

 
December 19, 2023 

10:30 A.M. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
ROLL CALL                                                                                                                            Valerie Cardenas, Vice Chair 
CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM  
 
 
Pledge of Allegiance – I pledge allegiance to the flag of the United States of America, and to the Republic for which it 
stands, one Nation under God, indivisible, with liberty and justice for all. 
 
Texas Allegiance – Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and indivisible. 
 
The Board of Directors of Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation will meet to consider and possibly act on the 
following: 
     
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
PRESIDENT’S REPORT                                                              David Long  
 

Tab A: Homeownership Finance Report  
Tab B:  Development Finance Report 
Tab C:   Monthly Financial Reports 
 
 

ACTION ITEMS IN OPEN MEETING: 
 
 
Tab 1 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of Minutes of the Board Meeting held on November 14, 

2023. 
 
Tab 2  Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Issuance, Sale and 

Delivery of Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT) and Single Family 
Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable); Authorizing a Trust Indenture, Official Statement, 
Bond Purchase Agreement and Continuing Disclosure Agreement Relating to Such Bonds, Making Certain 
Findings and Determinations; Authorizing the Execution of Documents and Instruments Necessary or 
Convenient to Carry Out the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation Single Family Home Loan 
Program Relating to Such Bonds; and Containing Other Matters Incident and Related Thereto. 

 
Tab 3 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing Request for Unencumbered 

State Ceiling; the Conversion to Mortgage Credit Certificates and Containing Other Provisions Relating to 
the Subject. 

 
Tab 4  Presentation, Discussion and Possible approval of a Resolution regarding the submission of one or more 

Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond 
Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures 
with proceeds of future debt for Bluffs at Nelms. 

 
Tab 5 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable 

Housing Corporation to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Bluffs at Nelms located in 

2



 
 

Austin, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to obtain 
debt and grant financing for the Project. 

 
Tab 6 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution regarding the submission of one or more 

Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond 
Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures 
with proceeds of future debt for Cairn Point at Montopolis. 

 
Tab 7 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable 

Housing Corporation to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Cairn Point at Montopolis 
located in Austin, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications 
to obtain debt and grant financing for the Project. 

 
Tab 8 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution regarding the submission of one or more 

Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond 
Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures 
with proceeds of future debt for Burleson Studios. 

 
Tab 9 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable 

Housing Corporation to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Boulevard 61 located in 
Houston, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to obtain 
debt and grant financing for the Project. 

 
Tab 10 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval for Publication and Public Comment of the Draft of the 

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation’s 2024 Annual Action Plan. 
 

 
 
 
 
CLOSED MEETING: 
Consultation with legal counsel on legal matters – Texas Government Code § 551.071 
Deliberation regarding purchase, exchange, lease, or value of real property – Texas Government Code § 551.072 
Deliberation regarding prospective gift or donation to the state or Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation – Texas 
Government Code § 551.073 
Personnel Matters – Texas Government Code § 551.074 
Implementation of security personnel or devices – Texas Government Code § 551.076 
Other matters authorized under the Texas Government Code 
 
ACTION ITEMS IN OPEN MEETING: 
 
Action in Open Meeting on Items Discussed in Closed Executive Session 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND CLOSING COMMENTS 
 
ADJOURN  
 
A Board member of the Corporation may participate in a Board meeting by video conference pursuant to Section 551.127 of 
the Texas Government Code.  A quorum of the Board will meet at the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation’s 
headquarters located at 6701 Shirley Avenue., Austin Texas, 78752. 
  
Individuals who require auxiliary aids or services for this meeting should contact Rebecca DeLeon, ADA Responsible 
Employee, at 512-220-1174 or Relay Texas at 1-800-735-2989 at least two days before the meeting so that the appropriate 
arrangements can be made. 
 
Section 46.035 of the Texas Penal Code prohibits handgun licensees from carrying their handguns at government meetings 
such as this one.  This prohibition applies to both concealed carry and open carry by handgun licensees.  Handgun licensees 
are required by law to refrain from carrying their handguns at this meeting. 
 

3



 
 

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation reserves the right to recess this meeting (without adjourning) and convene at a 
later stated time, if and to the extent allowed by law.  If Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation adjourns this meeting 
and reconvenes at a later time, the later meeting will be held in the same location as this meeting.  Texas State Affordable 
Housing Corporation also reserves the right to proceed into a closed meeting during the meeting in accordance with the 
Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code. If permitted by the Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551 of the 
Texas Government Code, any item on this Agenda to be discussed in open meeting may also be discussed by the Board (and 
any other authorized persons) in closed meeting. 

4



President’s Report 
 

5



Tab A 
Homeownership Finance Report 

 
 

6



# of Households by Month

0

500

1,000

Month

# 
of

 H
ou

se
ho

ld
s

January February March April May June July August September

433

811

1184
1066 1089

1234
1123

1279

954

77.37K
Average Annual Income

244K
Average of Loan Amount

6.96%
Average Interest Rate

697
Average Credit Score

2
Average Household Size

9173
Households Served

Homeownership 
All Programs
January 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023

Loan Type

80.53%

14.86%FHA - Purchase

Conv. - Purch.

VA - Purchase

USDA-RHS Purch.

7



Loan Volume by Month

0

500

1,000

Month

Lo
an

 V
ol

um
e

January February March April May June July August September

0.43K

0.81K

1.18K
1.06K 1.09K

1.23K
1.12K

1.28K

0.95K

77.37K
Average Annual Income

244K
Average Loan Amount

6.96%
Average Interest Rate

697
Average Credit Score

2
Average Household Size

9171
Households Served

Homeownership
DPA Snapshot
January 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023

Loan Type

80.55%

14.84%FHA - Purch…

Conv. - Purch.

VA - Purchase

USDA-RHS …

2238M
Total Loan Volume

$7,238.85
Average DPA Awarded

$66,395,109
Total DPA Awarded

8



2398
Issued MCCs

68.70K
Average Annual Income

245K
Average of Loan Amount

6.63%
Average Interest Rate

705
Average Credit Score

# of MCCs by Month

0

200

400

Month

# 
of

 M
CC

s

January February March April May June July August September

103

167

258

198

275
302 289

435

371

Loan Type

69.14%

26.48%
FHA - Purchase

Conv. - Purch.

VA - Purchase

USDA-RHS Purch.

Homeownership
MCC Snapshot
January 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023

2
Average Household Size

9



Professions
Occupation % of Total

 

Other 86.86%

Teacher 5.53%

Veteran 2.20%

Prof Nurse Fac 1.66%

Active Military 0.77%

Peace Officer 0.75%

Fire Fighter 0.48%

Corrections Off 0.46%

Public Sec Off 0.34%

EMS Personnel 0.31%

Teacher Aide 0.21%

Allied Hlth Fac 0.16%

Sch Counselor 0.15%

County Jailer 0.05%

School Nurse 0.05%

Sch Librarian 0.03%

Total 100.00%

Household Ethnicity

43.34%

31.44%

12.01%

7.79%
1.77%

Hispanic

White

Black

Not Defined

Other

Asian/Pac Isle

Am Ind/Alsk Nat

New/Existing Home

78.85…

21.15%

New/Exis…
E

N

Homeownership 
All Programs
January 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023

10



Top Originating Counties

0 500 1,000

# of Loans

Co
un

ty

Harris
Tarrant
Dallas
Bexar

Montgomery
El Paso

Williamson
Travis

Denton
Midland

Bell
Ector

Hidalgo
Nueces

Kaufman
Brazoria

Fort Bend
Galveston

Collin
Johnson

Hays
Hunt

1240
818

676
619

267
249
235
224
219
218
210
208

187
180
166
165
155
139
133
123
122
114

Top Lenders
Top Lenders # of Loans

 

Everett Financial, dba Supreme Lending 671
Fairway Independent Mortgage Corporation 628
Cardinal Financial Company 387
CMG Mortgage, Inc. dba CMG Financial 344
Amcap Mortgage, LTD 321
Guaranteed Rate 320
Gateway Mortgage, a division of Gateway 269
Crosscountry Mortgage, LLC 268
PrimeLending 259
SFMC, LP dba Service First Mortgage Comp 249
Guild Mortgage Company LLC 221
Security National Mortgage Company 218
loanDepot.com LLC 194
Mortgage Financial Services, LLC 184
T2 Financial dba Revolution Mortgage 182
Cornerstone Home Lending 177
KBHS Home Loan, LLC 151
Nations Reliable Lending, LLC 151
Town Square Mortgage & Investments, LLC 138
Ark-La-Tex Financial (Benchmark Mtg.) 135
Highlands Residential Mortgage 135
DHI Mortgage Company, Ltd. 134
Total 5736

Homeownership 
All Programs
January 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023

11



Tab B 
Development Finance Report 

 
 

12



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Development Finance Programs Report 

December 2023 
 

   
 

Affordable Communities of Texas Program (ACT) 

In November, staff completed the sale of 603 S 14th Street (Nederland) to Legacy CDC.  The purchase was 
financed with Legacy’s 2023 Revolving Line of Credit approved by the Board in September.  The home will 
be rehabbed and then sold to a household at or below 120% Area Median Income (AMI), per NCST 
program guidelines. TSAHC acquired this property from the National Community Stabilization Trust’s 
Claims Without Conveyance of Title (CWCOT) program in August 2023.   
 
This month, staff will be bringing three joint venture proposals for Board consideration.  They include the 
Bluff at Nelms (165-unit senior apartment project in Austin); Cairn Point Montopolis (150-unit apartment 
project in Austin); and Boulevard 61 (100-unit apartment project in Houston). The Bluff at Nelms and Cairn 
Point Montopolis are seeking the Board’s approval of their bond applications and bond inducement 
resolutions, also part of the December Board agenda.  
 
Here is a summary of the past month’s portfolio activity:  
 

Program 
Portfolio as of 
November 1, 

2023 
Transferred Sold 

Portfolio as 
of December 

1, 2023 
Current Portfolio Value 

ACT Land Bank 34  1 33 $2,111,995.60 
ACT Land Trust 2   2 $3,400,000.00 
Totals 36   35 $5,511,995.60 

 
Our current pipeline report:  

• 6 properties listed for sale  
• 7 homes under construction   
• 0 properties leased to Local Partner 
• 19 properties in predevelopment 
• 3 properties searching for a Local Partner 
• 2 multifamily properties under construction 
• 1 multifamily property in predevelopment 
 

Texas Housing Impact Fund (THIF) 

In November, staff closed a $600,000 revolving line of credit loan with Legacy CDC and collateralized four 
single family properties in Jefferson County, including 603 S 14th St (Nederland) described above.  
 
Burnet Place Apartments (Austin) has made substantial construction progress and is approximately 57% 
construction complete with framing and insulation underway. Project Transitions has drawn 
approximately $2.8 million of their $3 million TSAHC construction loan to date.  
 
Multifamily Bond Program 

Staff will present three new bond applications for approval of an inducement bond resolution. They include 
the Bluff at Nelms (Austin), Cairn Point Montopolis (Austin) and Burleson Studios (Austin).  

13



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Development Finance Programs Report 

December 2023 
 

   
 

 
The Bluff at Nelms is a 165-unit senior apartment community proposed by Blue Ridge Atlantic 
Development. The total bond amount requested is $31 million. The project qualifies under TSAHC’s 
Targeted Housing Need for Seniors.  
 
Cairn Point Montopolis will create 150-units of affordable rental housing targeted for low-income 
households. The total bond amount requested is $23.5 million.  The project qualifies under TSAHC’s Service 
Enriched Targeted Housing Need for reserving more than 10% of total units for families facing 
homelessness and earning less than 30% AMI. The Vecino Group is the project developer.  
 
Burleson Studios is a 100-unit Single Residency Occupancy (SRO) community proposed by Foundation 
Communities that will target extremely low-income single adults, many of which will be exiting 
homelessness.  The units will be located within a Community First Village under development by fellow 
nonprofit Mobile Loaves and Fishes. The total bond amount requested is $36.1 million. The project 
qualifies under TSAHC’s Service Enriched Targeted Housing Need because the units serving those at 30% 
AMI and persons facing homelessness exceeds 10% of total project units.  
 
Additional project details are included in the staff write-up for each agenda item. 
 
 
 

14



Tab C 
Monthly Financial Reports 

15



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation

Statement of Net Position (unaudited)
As of October 31, 2023

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,083,144    
Pooled investments 5,169,799      
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,794,888      
Accrued interest 43,820           

Investments, at fair value 20,643,944    
Accounts receivable and accrued revenue 411,276         
Accrued interest receivable 194,290         
Loans receivable,  current portion 52,361           
Notes receivable, current portion 100,767,928  
Downpayment assistance, current portion 132,074         
Prepaid expenses 409,101         

Total current assets 143,702,625  

Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, Net of uncollectible amounts of $10,183 161,746         
Notes receivable, net of allowance for loss $469,385 170,057,131  
Lease Receivable 115,682         
Investments, at fair market value 17,040,707    
Mortgage servicing rights, net of accumulated amortization of $2,650,949 77,112           
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation of $1,104,425 5,653,025      
Owned real estate,  net of depreciation of $2,325,647 19,580,223    
Downpayment assistance 2,562,632      
Restricted investments held by bond trustee, at fair market value 72,235,121    

Total noncurrent assets 287,483,379  

Total assets $ 431,186,004  

(continued)

16



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation

Statement of Net Position (unaudited)
As of October 31, 2023

Liabilities 

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 455,259         
Notes payable, current portion 750,702         
Custodial reserve funds 167,664         
Other current liabilities 221,368         
Payable from restricted assets held by bond trustee:

Revenue bonds payable, current portion 375,000         
Accrued interest on revenue bonds 581,839         

Total current liabilities 2,551,832      

Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable 1,308,337      
Revenue bonds payable 78,769,629    
Unearned revenue 567,718         

Total noncurrent liabilities 80,645,684    

Total liabilities 83,197,516    

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred revenue 366,807         

Total deferred inflows of resources 366,807         

Net Position
Invested in capital assets 5,653,025      
Restricted for:

Debt service (2,806,230)     
Other purposes 2,679,221      

Unrestricted 342,095,665  

Total net position 347,621,681  

Total liabilities and net position $ 431,186,004

17



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (unaudited)
For the 2 Months Ending October 31, 2023

Operating Revenues:
     Interest and investment income $ 901,044         
     Net increase (decrease) in fair value of investments (3,360,647)     
     Single family income 9,477,818      
     Asset oversight and compliance fees 61,951           
     Rental program income 196,947         
     Multifamily income 87,507           
     Land bank income 8,826             
     Public support:
          Federal & state grants 4,057             
          Contributions 123,026         
     Other operating revenue 30,637           

Total operating revenues $ 7,531,166      

Operating Expenses:
     Interest expense on bonds and notes payable $ 607,422         
     Program and loan administration 64,703           
     Texas Foundation Fund & Misc. Grants 75,000           
     Salaries, wages and payroll related costs 686,504         
     Professional fees and services 104,098         
     Depreciation and amortization 13,337,300    
     Office expense and maintenance 27,396           
     Travel and meals 23,448           
     Other operating expenses 174,283         

15,100,154    

Net income (7,568,988)     

Total net position, beginning 355,190,669  

Total net position, ending $ 347,621,681  

Total operating expenses

18



Tab 1 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of Minutes of the Board 
Meeting held on November 14, 2023. 

19



TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
BOARD MEETING 

 
The Governing Board of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (TSAHC)  

 
November 14, 2023  

10:30 a.m. 
 

Summary of Minutes 
 
 
 
Call to Order 
Roll Call   
Certification of Quorum 
 
The Board Meeting of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Corporation”) was called to 
order by Bill Dietz, Chairman, at 10:35 a.m., on November 14, 2023, at the offices of Texas State 
Affordable Housing Corporation, 6701 Shirley Avenue, Austin, TX 78752.  Roll Call certified that a 
quorum was present. 
 
Members Present: 
Bill Dietz, Chair 
Valerie Cardenas, Vice Chair 
Lemuel Williams, Member 
Courtney Johnson-Rose, Member 
David Rassin, Member 
 
Guests Present:  
Jimmy Rommell, Maxwell, Locke & Ritter 
Veronica Day, Maxwell, Locke & Ritter 
Jose Gayton, BOK Financial 
Routt Thornhill, Coats Rose 
 
 
President’s Report                            David Long  
 
 
Tab 1 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of Minutes of the Board Meeting held on 

October 24, 2023. 
 
Mr. Rassin made a motion to approve the minutes of the Board meeting held October 24, 2023.  Mr. Williams 
seconded the motion. Mr. Dietz asked for public comment, and none was given. A vote was taken, and the motion 
was approved as presented.  
 
See page 11 in the official transcript. 
 
 
Tab 2 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of the Annual Independent Financial Audit 

for the Fiscal Year Ending August 31, 2023. 
 

20



Presented by Nick Lawrence, Controller and Jimmy Rommell, Maxwell, Locke, & Ritter 
 
Ms. Cardenas provided a summary of the Audit Committee regarding the Financial Audit and recommended 
approval to the board. Ms. Rose made a motion to approve the Annual Independent Financial Audit for the Fiscal 
Year Ending August 31, 2023. Mr. Williams seconded the motion.  Mr. Dietz asked for public comment, and 
none was given. A vote was taken, and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
See page 12 in the official transcript. 
 
 
Tab 3 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution to Approve the 

Corporation’s Fiscal Year 2024 Investment Policy. 
 
Presented by Melinda Smith, Chief Financial Officer 
 
Ms. Cardenas made a motion to Approve a Resolution to Approve the Corporation’s Fiscal Year 2024 Investment 
Policy. Ms. Rose seconded the motion. Mr. Dietz asked for public comment, and none was given. A vote was 
taken, and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
See page 20 in the official transcript.  
 
 
Tab 4 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of the Corporation’s Fiscal Year 2024 

Broker Listing. 
 
Presented by Melinda Smith, Chief Financial Officer 
 
Mr. Williams made a motion to Approve of the Corporation’s Fiscal Year 2024 Broker Listing. Ms. Cardenas. 
seconded the motion.  Mr. Dietz asked for public comment, and none was given. A vote was taken, and the 
motion passed with four votes in favor and one abstention.   
 
See page 23 in the official transcript.  
 
 
Tab 5 Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Regarding Applications for 

Qualified Mortgage Bond Volume Cap related to Qualified Mortgage Bonds or Mortgage 
Credit Certificates Associated with 2022 Carryforward and 2023 Volume Allocation, the 
Conversion to Mortgage Credit Certificates and Containing Other Matters Incident and 
Related Thereto. 

 
Presented by Joniel LeVecque, Senior Director of Single Family Programs 
 
Ms. Cardenas made a motion to Approve a Resolution Regarding Applications for Qualified Mortgage Bond 
Volume Cap related to Qualified Mortgage Bonds or Mortgage Credit Certificates Associated with 2022 
Carryforward and 2023 Volume Allocation, the Conversion to Mortgage Credit Certificates and Containing Other 
Matters Incident and Related Thereto. Ms. Rose seconded the motion.  Mr. Dietz asked for public comment, and 
none was given. A vote was taken, and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
See page 27 in the official transcript. 
 
 

21



 
Tab 6 Presentation and Discussion of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation’s Fiscal 

Year 2023 and 2024 Strategic Plans. 
 
Presented by Janie Taylor, Executive Vice President; David Danenfelzer, Senior Director, Development Finance; 
Cassandra Ramirez, Development Finance Manager; and Celina Stubbs, Director, Asset Oversight & Compliance.  
 
Mr. Dietz recessed the meeting at 11:54am for lunch. 
 
Mr. Dietz left the meeting. 
 
Ms. Cardenas reconvened the meeting at 1:00pm.  
 
No Action Taken. 
 
See page 33 in the official transcript. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Announcements  
 
Mr. Long and Board Members tentatively scheduled the next Board Meeting for December 19, 2023, at 10:30am.   
 
 
 
Adjournment 
 
Ms. Cardenas adjourned the meeting at 1:01pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted by________________________________________________ 
Rebecca DeLeon, Corporate Secretary 

22



Tab 2 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution 
Authorizing the Issuance, Sale and Delivery of Single Family Mortgage 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT) and Single Family Mortgage 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable); Authorizing a Trust Indenture, 
Official Statement, Bond Purchase Agreement and Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement Relating to Such Bonds, Making Certain Findings 
and Determinations; Authorizing the Execution of Documents and 
Instruments Necessary or Convenient to Carry Out the Texas State 
Affordable Housing Corporation Single Family Home Loan Program 
Relating to Such Bonds; and Containing Other Matters Incident and 
Related Thereto. 

23



138079610.4/1001270822 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-____ 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

Resolution Authorizing the Issuance, Sale and Delivery of Single 
Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT) and 
Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable); 
Authorizing a Trust Indenture, Official Statement, Bond Purchase 
Agreement and Continuing Disclosure Agreement Relating to Such 
Bonds, Making Certain Findings and Determinations; Authorizing 
the Execution of Documents and Instruments Necessary or 
Convenient to Carry Out the Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation Single Family Home Loan Program Relating to Such 
Bonds; and Containing Other Matters Incident and Related Thereto 

WHEREAS, the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Issuer”) has been duly 
created and organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of the Texas Non-Profit 
Corporation Act, Article 1396-1.01 et seq. Vernon’s Annotated Texas Civil Statutes, as amended 
(now codified as V.T.C.A. Business Organizations Code, Chapter 22, as amended) and under the 
authority of Subchapter Y of Chapter 2306, Texas Government Code, as amended (the “Act”), 
the Issuer is authorized to establish a program to provide adequate, safe and sanitary housing for 
individuals and families of low, very low and extremely low income; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Issuer has determined to adopt and implement 
a single family home loan program (the “Program”), a part of which will be financed with the 
proceeds of the Bonds (as defined below) to provide eligible individuals and families of low income 
meeting the requirements of the Act with home mortgage loans with low interest rates and/or 
down payment and closing cost assistance in a format determined by the Issuer; and 

WHEREAS, Section 103(a) and Section 143 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”) provide that the interest on obligations issued by or on behalf of a state or 
a political subdivision thereof the proceeds of which are to be used to finance owner-occupied 
residences shall be exempt from federal income taxation if such issue meets certain requirements 
set forth in said Section 143 of the Code; and 

WHEREAS, the Program has been designed to provide down payment and closing cost 
assistance to eligible mortgagors; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer believes that the down payment and closing cost assistance and 
the interest rate or rates associated with the mortgage loans will make the Program attractive to 
potential mortgagors; and 

WHEREAS, in order to carry out the Program, the Board of Directors of the Issuer has 
determined that the Issuer shall issue its (i) Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 
2024A (Non-AMT) in the maximum aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $60,000,000 (the 
“Series 2024A Bonds”) and (ii) Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable) 
in the maximum aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $20,000,000 (the “Taxable Series 
2024B Bonds” and together with the Series 2024A Bonds, the “Bonds”), pursuant to and as 
generally described in a Trust Indenture prepared in connection with the issuance of the Bonds 
(the “Indenture”), by and between the Issuer and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (the 
“Trustee”), thereby making funds available for acquiring GNMA Certificates which are backed by 

24



138079610.4/1001270822 2 

mortgages on residences meeting the requirement of the Program, all under and in accordance 
with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer further proposes to sell the Bonds, upon the issuance thereof, to 
Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the “Purchaser”), all as referenced in the Bond Purchase 
Agreement between the Issuer and the Purchaser (the “Purchase Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Board has determined to authorize the investment of all or a portion of 
the proceeds of the Bonds and any other amounts held under the Indenture with respect to the 
Bonds in investments permitted by the Indenture, including the investment in one or more 
investment agreements on or after the closing date or such other investments as the authorized 
representatives named herein may approve; and 

WHEREAS, there have been presented to the Issuer proposed forms of each of the 
following and all of which comprise a part of this Resolution: 

1. the Indenture; 

2. the Continuing Disclosure Agreement by and between the Issuer and the 
Trustee (the “Disclosure Agreement”); 

3. the Purchase Agreement; and 

4. the Preliminary Official Statement relating to the Bonds (the “Preliminary 
Official Statement”). 

WHEREAS, the Issuer finds the form and substance of the above-listed documents 
(hereinafter, collectively the “Bond Documents”) to be satisfactory and proper and finds the 
recitals with regard to the Issuer contained therein to be true, correct and complete and hereby 
determines to proceed with the issuance and sale of the Bonds to carry out the Program, the 
execution of such documents and the taking of such other actions as may be necessary and 
appropriate in connection therewith; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION: 

Section 1. Approval of Program.  That the Issuer hereby expresses its intent to 
implement the Program under which the Trustee, on behalf of the Issuer, will acquire GNMA 
Certificates backed by mortgages on residences in the State of Texas owned and occupied by 
eligible individuals and families of low income. 

Section 2. Public Purposes of Program and Bonds.  That the Issuer hereby finds, 
determines, recites and declares that the adoption and implementation of the Program, including 
the down payment and closing cost assistance and the interest rate or rates to be borne by the 
mortgage loans, and the issuance of the Bonds in one or more series will promote the public 
purposes set forth in the Act, including, without limitation, assisting eligible individuals and families 
of low income in acquiring and owning adequate, safe and sanitary housing. 

Section 3. Issuance, Execution and Delivery of the Bonds.  That the issuance of the 
Series 2024A Bonds in the maximum aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $60,000,000 
and the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds in the maximum aggregate principal amount of not to 
exceed $20,000,000 is hereby authorized, all under and in accordance with the Indenture, and 
that, upon execution and delivery of the Indenture, the officers of the Issuer are each hereby 

25



138079610.4/1001270822 3 

authorized to execute and attest the Bonds and to deliver the Bonds to the Trustee for 
authentication all as provided in the Indenture.  The Bonds shall mature on the dates and in the 
principal amounts, shall bear interest at the rates and shall be subject to redemption prior to 
maturity on the date or dates and in the amounts as specified in the Indenture. 

Section 4. Approval, Execution and Delivery of the Indenture.  That the Indenture, in 
substantially the form and substance as presented to the Board of Directors at the meeting at 
which this Resolution was considered, with such changes or additions thereto as may be 
approved by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President or Executive Vice President of the 
Issuer (upon the advice of bond counsel to the Issuer), as evidenced by the execution of the 
Indenture by said Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President or Executive Vice President, is 
hereby approved and that the proper officers of the Issuer are each hereby authorized and 
directed to execute and attest the Indenture and to deliver the Indenture to the Trustee. 

Section 5. Purchase Agreement and Sale of Bonds.  That the Purchase Agreement, 
in substantially the form and substance as presented to the Board of Directors at the meeting at 
which this Resolution was considered, with such changes or additions thereto as may be 
approved by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President or Executive Vice President of the 
Issuer (upon the advice of bond counsel to the Issuer), as evidenced by the execution of the 
Purchase Agreement by said Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President or Executive Vice 
President, is hereby approved and that the proper officers of the Issuer are each hereby 
authorized and directed to execute the Purchase Agreement and to deliver the Purchase 
Agreement to the Purchaser.  That the sale and delivery of the Bonds to the Purchaser, upon the 
terms and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement between the Issuer and the Purchaser 
is hereby authorized and approved.  The Bonds shall be sold to the Purchaser at the purchase 
price specified in the Purchase Agreement.  The Issuer hereby authorizes the Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, President or Executive Vice President of the Issuer, either individually or in any 
combination of such officers, for and on behalf of the Issuer, to determine the actual Purchaser 
and the terms of the Purchase Agreement.  Upon execution by the parties thereto and delivery 
thereof, the Purchase Agreement shall be binding upon the Issuer in accordance with the terms 
and provisions thereof.  In addition, the officers of the Issuer are each authorized and directed to 
execute any necessary certificates evidencing approval of any or all of the matters set forth in this 
Section 5.  In the event it becomes necessary to engage any other investment banking firm or 
investment banking firms to assist in the sale of the Bonds, the President or the Executive Vice 
President of the Issuer shall be and hereby is authorized to engage the services of any such 
investment banking firm or firms. 

Section 6. Approval, Execution and Delivery of the Disclosure Agreement.  That the 
Disclosure Agreement, in substantially the form and substance of the Disclosure Agreement 
presented to the Board of Directors at the meeting at which this Resolution was considered, with 
such changes or additions thereto as may be approved by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, 
President or Executive Vice President of the Issuer (upon the advice of bond counsel to the 
Issuer), as evidenced by the execution of the Disclosure Agreement by said Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, President or Executive Vice President, is hereby approved and that the proper 
officers of the Issuer are each hereby authorized and directed to execute and attest the Disclosure 
Agreement and to deliver the Disclosure Agreement to the Trustee. 

Section 7. Approval, Execution, Use and Distribution of Offering Document.  That the 
Preliminary Official Statement, in substantially the form and substance of the Preliminary Official 
Statement presented to the Board of Directors at the meeting at which this Resolution was 
considered, and the changes to the Preliminary Official Statement which will result in the final 

26



138079610.4/1001270822 4 

Official Statement proposed to be delivered in connection with the sale of the Bonds (the “Official 
Statement”), in substantially the form and substance approved by the Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson, President or Executive Vice President of the Issuer (upon advice of bond counsel 
to the Issuer) as evidenced by their execution thereof, are hereby approved and the Chairperson, 
Vice Chairperson, President and Executive Vice President of the Issuer are each, individually, 
hereby authorized and directed, for and on behalf of the Issuer, to execute the Preliminary Official 
Statement and the Official Statement.  Delivery to the Purchaser of the Preliminary Official 
Statement and the Official Statement is hereby authorized. 

Section 8. Execution and Delivery of Other Documents.  That the officers of the Issuer 
are each hereby authorized to consent to, accept, execute and attest such other agreements, 
including investment agreements, assignments, bonds, certificates, contracts, documents, 
instruments, releases, financing statements, offering documents, letters of instruction, written 
requests and other papers, whether or not mentioned herein, as may be necessary or convenient 
to carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution, the Program and the 
issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds. 

Section 9. Power to Revise Form of Documents.  That, notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Resolution, the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President, Executive Vice 
President, Secretary, any Assistant Secretary or Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Issuer are 
each hereby authorized to make or approve such revisions in the form of the Bond Documents 
as, in the opinion of counsel to the Issuer or bond counsel, may be necessary or convenient to 
carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution and the Program. 

Section 10. Appointment of Trustee.  Computershare Trust Company, N.A. is hereby 
appointed as Trustee and paying agent under the terms of the Indenture for the Bonds.  If said 
bank shall be unable or unwilling to so serve, the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President or 
Executive Vice President of the Issuer is hereby authorized and directed to designate a 
commercial bank or other entity with trust powers acceptable to it to serve as Trustee and paying 
agent. 

Section 11. Delegation to President or Executive Vice President.  The President and 
Executive Vice President of the Issuer, either individually or jointly, are hereby authorized to 
approve any different date, designation or title by which the Bonds shall be known, the principal 
amounts, series and maturities of the Bonds to be issued pursuant to this Resolution, to approve 
the interest rate or rates to be borne by the Bonds, provided, however, that the interest rate shall 
never exceed 15% per annum and to determine the interest rates and down payment assistance 
and closing cost amounts for the mortgage loans, provided however, that no mortgage loan 
interest rate shall exceed 10% per annum.  The President and Executive Vice President of the 
Issuer, either individually or jointly, are further authorized to engage the services of consultants 
that may be needed, in the opinion of such officer, to fully complete the issuance and delivery of 
the Bonds. 

Section 12. Ratification of Certain Prior Actions.  That all prior actions taken by or on 
behalf of the Issuer in connection with the Program and the Bonds, are hereby authorized, ratified, 
confirmed and approved. 

Section 13. Purposes of Resolution.  That the Board of Directors of the Issuer has 
expressly determined and hereby confirms that the issuance of the Bonds and the implementation 
of the Program accomplish a valid public purpose of the Issuer by assisting eligible individuals 
and families of low income in the State of Texas to obtain adequate, safe and sanitary housing, 

27



138079610.4/1001270822 5 

thereby promoting the public health, welfare and safety for individuals and families of low income 
in the State of Texas. 

Section 14. Limited Obligations.  That the Bonds and the interest thereon shall be 
limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the revenues, funds and assets pledged under 
the Indenture to secure payment of the Bonds and under no circumstances shall the Bonds be 
payable from any other revenues, funds, assets or income of the Issuer. 

Section 15. Obligations of Issuer Only.  That the Bonds and the interest thereon shall 
not constitute an indebtedness, liability, general, special or moral obligation or a pledge or loan of 
the faith or credit or taxing power, within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision 
whatsoever, of the State of Texas or any other political subdivision or governmental unit of the 
State of Texas. 

Section 16. Conflicting Prior Actions.  That all orders, resolutions, or any actions or 
parts thereof of the Board of Directors of the Issuer in conflict herewith are hereby expressly 
repealed to the extent of any such conflict. 

Section 17. Authorization of Investment.  That the Board of Directors of the Issuer 
hereby authorizes the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, President or Executive Vice President of 
the Issuer to direct the Trustee to invest any funds received by the Trustee pursuant to the 
Indenture in Investment Securities as defined in the Indenture. 

Section 18. Incorporation of Findings and Determinations.  The findings and 
determinations of the Issuer contained in the preamble hereof are hereby incorporated by 
reference and made a part of this Resolution for all purposes as if the same were restated in full 
in this Section. 

Section 19. Effective Date.  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from 
and upon its adoption. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

28



138079610.4/1001270822  S-1 

PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this December 19, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 
 
 
 
______________________________  
Chairperson 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Secretary 

 

29



138026129.5/1001270822 

TRUST INDENTURE 

 

between 

 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
as Issuer 

and 

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A. 
as Trustee 

Pertaining to: 

 

$______________ 
Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
Series 2024A (Non-AMT) 

 
$______________ 

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 

Series 2024B (Taxable) 

_________________ 

Dated as of March 1, 2024 

30



i 

138026129.5/1001270822 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I. AUTHORITY FOR BONDS; DEFINITIONS ........................................................................ 3 
Section 1.1 Due Authorization.................................................................................................. 3 
Section 1.2 Definitions ............................................................................................................. 4 
Section 1.3 Interpretations ...................................................................................................... 12 
Section 1.4 Content of Certificates and Opinions ................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE II. THE BONDS ........................................................................................................................ 14 
Section 2.1 Authorization of Bonds ........................................................................................ 14 
Section 2.2 Terms of the Bonds .............................................................................................. 14 
Section 2.3 Execution, Authentication, and Delivery of Bonds ............................................. 17 
Section 2.4 Transfer of Bonds ................................................................................................ 19 
Section 2.5 Exchange of Bonds .............................................................................................. 19 
Section 2.6 Bond Register ...................................................................................................... 19 
Section 2.7 Temporary Bonds ................................................................................................ 19 
Section 2.8 Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed, or Stolen ....................................................... 20 
Section 2.9 Additional Bonds ................................................................................................. 20 
Section 2.10 Book-Entry Only System ..................................................................................... 20 
Section 2.11 Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry Only System ... 21 
Section 2.12 Payments to Cede & Co. ...................................................................................... 21 
Section 2.13 Cancellation and Disposition of Bonds ................................................................ 21 

ARTICLE III. REDEMPTION PROVISIONS FOR THE BONDS .......................................................... 22 
Section 3.1 Establishment and Application of Redemption Fund for the Bonds ................... 22 
Section 3.2 Redemption Provisions ........................................................................................ 22 
Section 3.3 Selection of Bonds for Redemption ..................................................................... 28 
Section 3.4 Notice of Redemption .......................................................................................... 29 
Section 3.5 Partial Redemption of Bonds ............................................................................... 30 
Section 3.6 Effect of Redemption ........................................................................................... 30 
Section 3.7 Purchase of Bonds in Lieu of Redemption .......................................................... 30 

ARTICLE IV. FLOW OF FUNDS ............................................................................................................. 31 
Section 4.1 Initial Funds ......................................................................................................... 31 
Section 4.2 Establishment and Application of Program Fund, Cost of Issuance Fund and 

Capitalized Interest Fund ..................................................................................... 31 
Section 4.3 Establishment and Application of Revenue Fund ................................................ 32 
Section 4.4 Establishment of Other Funds; Allocation of Revenues to the Payment of Bonds 

and Program Expenses ......................................................................................... 32 
Section 4.5 Application of Program Expense Fund ................................................................ 33 
Section 4.6 Application of Excess Interest Portion Fund ....................................................... 34 
Section 4.7 Establishment and Application of Rebate Fund ................................................... 34 
Section 4.8 Application of Interest Funds .............................................................................. 34 
Section 4.9 Application of Principal Funds and Redemption Fund ........................................ 34 
Section 4.10 Deficiencies in the Interest Funds or Principal Funds ......................................... 35 
Section 4.11 Investment of Moneys in Funds ........................................................................... 35 
Section 4.12 Disposition of Certificates ................................................................................... 36 
Section 4.13 Trustee to Purchase Certificates........................................................................... 36 

ARTICLE V. PARTICULAR COVENANTS ............................................................................................ 36 
Section 5.1 Punctual Payment ................................................................................................ 36 
Section 5.2 Extension of Payment of Bonds ........................................................................... 37 
Section 5.3 No Other Encumbrances ...................................................................................... 37 
Section 5.4 Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge and Assignment ................................... 37 
Section 5.5 Payment of Taxes and Claims ............................................................................. 37 
Section 5.6 Accounting Records and Financial Statements .................................................... 37 

31



ii 

138026129.5/1001270822 

Section 5.7 Maintenance of Powers ........................................................................................ 37 
Section 5.8 Tax Covenants ..................................................................................................... 38 
Section 5.9 Compliance with Indenture, Contracts, Laws and Regulations ........................... 39 
Section 5.10 Program Covenants .............................................................................................. 39 
Section 5.11 Waiver of Laws .................................................................................................... 39 
Section 5.12 Further Assurances .............................................................................................. 39 

ARTICLE VI. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF OWNERS ............................................. 39 
Section 6.1 Events of Default ................................................................................................. 39 
Section 6.2 Acceleration of Maturities ................................................................................... 40 
Section 6.3 Other Acts by Trustee .......................................................................................... 41 
Section 6.4 Judicial Proceedings ............................................................................................ 41 
Section 6.5 Application of Revenues and Other Funds After Event of Default ..................... 41 
Section 6.6 Trustee to Represent Owners ............................................................................... 42 
Section 6.7 Owners’ Direction of Proceedings ....................................................................... 42 
Section 6.8 Limitation on Owners’ Right to Sue .................................................................... 42 
Section 6.9 Absolute Obligation of Issuer .............................................................................. 43 
Section 6.10 Termination of Proceedings ................................................................................. 43 
Section 6.11 Remedies Not Exclusive ...................................................................................... 43 
Section 6.12 No Waiver of Default .......................................................................................... 43 
Section 6.13 Proofs of Claims .................................................................................................. 43 
Section 6.14 Undertaking for Costs .......................................................................................... 44 

ARTICLE VII. THE TRUSTEE ................................................................................................................. 44 
Section 7.1 Appointment of Trustee and Acceptance; Duties, Immunities, and Liabilities of 

Trustee ................................................................................................................. 44 
Section 7.2 Compensation ...................................................................................................... 45 
Section 7.3 Liability of Trustee .............................................................................................. 46 
Section 7.4 Right of Trustee to Rely on Documents .............................................................. 46 
Section 7.5 Preservation and Inspection of Documents and Other Rights of the Trustee ...... 46 
Section 7.6 Money Held in Trust ............................................................................................ 48 
Section 7.7 Trustee to Furnish Information ............................................................................ 48 

ARTICLE VIII. MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE INDENTURE .................................... 48 
Section 8.1 Amendments Permitted ........................................................................................ 48 
Section 8.2 Effect of Supplemental Indenture ........................................................................ 50 
Section 8.3 Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds ............................................ 50 
Section 8.4 Amendment of Particular Bonds .......................................................................... 50 

ARTICLE IX. DEFEASANCE................................................................................................................... 50 
Section 9.1 Discharge of Indenture ......................................................................................... 50 
Section 9.2 Discharge of Liability on Bonds .......................................................................... 51 
Section 9.3 Deposit of Money or Securities with Trustee ...................................................... 51 
Section 9.4 Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture ................................................. 51 

ARTICLE X. MISCELLANEOUS............................................................................................................. 52 
Section 10.1 Successor is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor........................ 52 
Section 10.2 Limitation of Rights to Parties and Owners ......................................................... 52 
Section 10.3 Waiver of Notice .................................................................................................. 52 
Section 10.4 Severability of Invalid Provisions ........................................................................ 52 
Section 10.5 Notices ................................................................................................................. 52 
Section 10.6 Evidence of Rights of Owners ............................................................................. 52 
Section 10.7 Disqualified Bonds .............................................................................................. 53 
Section 10.8 Money Held for Particular Bonds ........................................................................ 53 
Section 10.9 Funds .................................................................................................................... 53 
Section 10.10 Personal Liability ................................................................................................. 53 
Section 10.11 Execution in Several Counterparts....................................................................... 53 

32



iii 

138026129.5/1001270822 

Section 10.12 Payments Other Than on a Business Day ............................................................ 54 
Section 10.13 Governing Law .................................................................................................... 54 

EXHIBIT A FORM OF 2024A BOND .................................................................................................... A-1 
EXHIBIT B FORM OF 2024B BOND ..................................................................................................... B-1 
EXHIBIT C TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS ............................................................ C-1 
 

33



 

138026129.5/1001270822 

TRUST INDENTURE 

THIS TRUST INDENTURE dated as of March 1, 2024 (together with any amendments or 
supplements hereto, this “Indenture”), between the TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION (together with any successor to its rights, duties, and obligations hereunder, the “Issuer”), 
a nonprofit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Texas (the “State”), and 
COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a national banking association having a corporate trust 
office in Minneapolis, Minnesota (together with any successor trustee hereunder, the “Trustee”). 

W I T N E S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has been created and organized pursuant to and in accordance with 
Subchapter Y of Chapter 2306, Texas Government Code, as amended (the “Act”) and Section 22 of the 
Texas Business Organizations Code, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, a primary public purpose of the Issuer is to facilitate the provision 
of adequate, safe and sanitary housing for individuals and families of low, very low and extremely low 
income; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has determined to issue its Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 
2024A (Non-AMT) (the “Series 2024A Bonds”) and its Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 
2024B (Taxable) (the “Taxable Series 2024B Bonds” and together with the Series 2024A Bonds, 
collectively, the “Bonds”), and use the proceeds, together with other available funds, to finance mortgage 
loans for individuals and families of low income, as defined in Section 2306.004, Texas Government Code, 
as amended, under its single family home loan program (the “Program”) and thereby assist individuals and 
families of low income in the purchase of single family residences in the State of Texas; and  

WHEREAS, the Program requirements will be consistent with the provisions of the Act and the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), in order to assist individuals and families of low 
income with the purchase of qualified single family homes; and 

WHEREAS, the Code provides that the interest on obligations (such as the Series 2024A Bonds) 
issued by or on behalf of a state or a political subdivision thereof the proceeds of which are to be used to 
finance owner-occupied residences shall be excluded from gross income of the holders of such obligations 
for federal income tax purposes if such issue meets the applicable requirements of the Code; and 

WHEREAS, the Program will meet all the requirements of the Code and the Act; and 

WHEREAS, under the Program, (i) the Lender will originate Mortgage Loans under the Program; 
(ii) the Lender will sell the Mortgage Loans to the Servicer; (iii) the Servicer will pool the Mortgage Loans 
into fully modified pass-through mortgage-backed certificates guaranteed by the Government National 
Mortgage Association (the “Certificates”); (iv) the Trustee, on behalf of the Issuer, will purchase the  
Certificates on behalf of the Issuer; and (v) the Certificates will be pledged as security for the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the form of the bonds to be issued under this Indenture, and the Trustee’s certificate 
of authentication and the Comptroller of Public Accounts’ certificate of registration thereon, are to be in 
substantially the forms set forth in Exhibits A and B of this Indenture and incorporated herein by reference; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Trustee has accepted the trusts created by this Indenture and in evidence thereof 
has joined in the execution hereof. 

34



2 
138026129.5/1001270822 

In consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration and the mutual benefits, 
covenants and agreements set forth below, the parties agree as follows: 

GRANTING CLAUSES 

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH, the Issuer, in consideration of the 
premises, of the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts hereby created, and of the purchase and acceptance 
of the Bonds by the Owners thereof, and for the purpose of fixing and declaring the terms and conditions 
upon which the Bonds are to be issued, authenticated (to the extent required), delivered, secured, and 
accepted by all persons who shall from time to time be or become Owners thereof, and in order to secure 
the payment of the Bonds and the premium, if any, and interest thereon according to their tenor, purpose, 
and effect, and in order to secure the performance and observance of all the covenants, agreements, and 
conditions therein and herein contained, has executed and delivered this Indenture and has pledged and 
assigned and does hereby grant, bargain, convey, mortgage, pledge and assign to, and grant a security 
interest to, the Trustee and its successors in trust forever, for the securing of the performance of the 
obligations of the Issuer hereinafter set forth, all right, title, and interest of the Issuer, now or hereafter 
acquired, in and to the following: 

GRANTING CLAUSE FIRST 

Any moneys and securities held in any Funds (except the Excess Interest Portion Fund, the Program 
Expense Fund, the Cost of Issuance Fund, the Rebate Fund and any Rebate Amount held in any Fund), 
including, without limitation, the present and continuing right to make claim for, collect, receive and receipt 
for any of the income and principal payable thereunder, whether payable as scheduled therein or otherwise, 
to bring actions and proceedings thereunder for the enforcement thereof, including actions for the receipt 
or disposition of any collateral held thereunder, and to do any and all things which the Issuer is or may 
become entitled to do thereunder; 

GRANTING CLAUSE SECOND 

All right, title, and interest of the Issuer in the Certificates purchased with moneys from the Program 
Fund, including all payments made with respect to such Certificates (except the Issuer’s Excess Interest 
Portion), including, without limitation, the present and continuing right to make claim for, collect, receive, 
and receipt for any of the income, revenues, issues, profits, insurance proceeds, and other sums of money 
payable or receivable thereunder, whether payable as scheduled therein or otherwise, to bring actions and 
proceedings thereunder or for the enforcement thereof, to make claim for, collect, receive, and dispose of 
any collateral therefor or any amounts receivable with respect thereto (except as expressly provided herein), 
and to do any and all things which the Issuer is or may become entitled to do under such Certificates, and 
all moneys and obligations to the extent pledged to the Bonds as provided in this Indenture and held 
pursuant to this Indenture as security for the payment of Debt Service with respect to the Bonds, including 
any proceeds thereof, and as security for the satisfaction of any other obligation assumed by the Issuer in 
connection with the Bonds; 

GRANTING CLAUSE THIRD 

All right, title and interest of the Issuer, but not the obligations, now owned or hereafter acquired 
in and to the Program Documents and the Mortgage Documents including, without limitation, all present 
and future rights of the Issuer to make claim for, collect and receive any income, revenues, issues, profits, 
insurance proceeds and other sums of money payable to or for the account of or receivable by the Issuer 
under the Program Documents and Mortgage Documents, whether payable pursuant to the Program 
Documents or Mortgage Documents or otherwise (except for the Issuer’s rights to enforce and receive 

35



3 
138026129.5/1001270822 

payment of money directly and for its own purposes under the Agreements), to bring actions and 
proceedings under the Program Documents or Mortgage Documents or for the enforcement thereof, and to 
do any and all things which the Issuer is or may become entitled to do under the Program Documents or 
Mortgage Documents; 

GRANTING CLAUSE FOURTH 

All right, title and interest of the Issuer to the Revenues; and 

GRANTING CLAUSE FIFTH 

Any and all property of every kind and nature (including, without limitation, cash, obligations or 
securities) which may from time to time hereafter be conveyed, assigned, hypothecated, endorsed, pledged, 
mortgaged, granted, or delivered to or deposited with the Trustee as additional security hereunder by the 
Issuer or anyone on its behalf, or which pursuant to any of the provisions hereof may come into the 
possession or control of the Trustee as security hereunder, or of a receiver lawfully appointed hereunder, 
all of which property the Trustee is authorized to receive, hold and apply according to the terms hereof. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the Trust Estate as set forth in Granting Clauses First 
through Fifth above, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, to the Trustee and its respective successors 
in trust and assigns forever to its and their proper use; 

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth for the equal and ratable 
benefit, security, and protection of all present and future Owners of the Bonds delivered and to be delivered 
under and secured by this Indenture without privilege, priority, or distinction as to the lien or otherwise 
(except as herein expressly provided) of any of the Bonds over any of the other Bonds; 

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if, after the rights, title, and interest of the Trustee in and to the 
estate pledged and assigned to it under this Indenture shall have ceased, terminated, and become void with 
respect to the Bonds in accordance with Article IX hereof, then this Indenture and all covenants, 
agreements, and other obligations of the Issuer hereunder shall cease, terminate, and be void with respect 
to the Bonds, and thereupon the Trustee shall cancel and discharge this Indenture with respect to the Bonds 
and execute and deliver to the Issuer such instruments in writing as shall be required to evidence the 
discharge hereof, otherwise, this Indenture shall be and remain in full force and effect with respect to the 
Bonds. 

THIS INDENTURE FURTHER WITNESSETH, and it is expressly declared, that all Bonds 
delivered and secured hereunder are to be authenticated (to the extent required) and delivered and all said 
payments and other revenues and other income and funds hereby pledged and assigned, are to be dealt with 
and disposed of under, upon and subject to the terms, conditions, stipulations, covenants, agreements, trusts, 
uses, and purposes as hereinafter expressed, and the Issuer has agreed and covenanted, and does hereby 
agree and covenant, with the Trustee and with the respective Owners of the Bonds, as follows: 

ARTICLE I. 
AUTHORITY FOR BONDS; DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Due Authorization.  The Issuer has reviewed all proceedings heretofore taken 
relative to the authorization of the Bonds and has found, as a result of such review, and does hereby find 
and determine, that each of and all the matters hereinabove recited are true and correct, and the Issuer has 
duly and regularly complied with all applicable provisions of law and is duly authorized by law to execute 

36



4 
138026129.5/1001270822 

this Indenture and to issue the Bonds for the purpose, in the manner and upon the terms in this Indenture 
provided. 

Section 1.2 Definitions 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this Section shall for all purposes of this 
Indenture, and of any indenture supplemental hereto and of any certificate, opinion or other document 
herein mentioned, have the meanings herein specified, to be equally applicable to both the singular and 
plural forms of any of the terms herein defined.  Unless otherwise defined herein, all words and phrases 
defined in the Agreements shall have the same meaning herein. 

“2024A Interest Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof. 

“2024B Interest Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof. 

“2024A Principal Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof. 

“2024B Principal Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof. 

“Act” means Subchapter Y of Chapter 2306, Texas Government Code, as amended. 

“Agreements” means the Servicing Agreement and the Lender Agreements. 

“Bond Counsel” means Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, or such other legal counsel selected by the 
Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee, of recognized standing on the subject of municipal bonds and federal 
arbitrage regulations, and whose legal opinions on such bonds are acceptable in national bond markets. 

“Bond Year” means each one-year period that ends at the close of business on the day selected by 
the Issuer.  The first and last Bond Years may be short periods.  If no day is selected by the Issuer before 
the earlier of the date the last Bond is discharged or the date that is five years after the Issuance Date, the 
Bond Year will end on the day before each anniversary of the Issuance Date and on the date the last Bond 
is discharged. 

“Bonds” means collectively, the Series 2024A Bonds and the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds. 

“Business Day” means any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) a day on which banking 
institutions are closed in New York, New York, or in the state in which either the Principal Office or the 
Operations Office of the Trustee is located, or (iii) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed. 

“Capitalized Interest Fund” means the Fund by that name established for the Bonds pursuant to 
Section 4.2(F) hereof. 

“Certificate” means a GNMA Certificate. 

“certificate” (when used with respect to certificates of the Issuer, Servicer, Trustee or a Lender), 
“statement,” “request,” “requisition” and “order” mean, respectively, a written certificate, statement, 
request, requisition or order executed as follows:  (1) if of the Issuer, by the President, the Executive Vice 
President or the Treasurer or such other person as may be designated and authorized to sign for the Issuer 
and (2) if of the Servicer, the Trustee or a Lender, by such person as may be designated and authorized to 
sign for the Servicer, the Trustee or such Lender.  Any such instrument and supporting opinions or 
representations, if any, may, but need not, be combined in a single instrument with any other instrument, 

37



5 
138026129.5/1001270822 

opinion or representation, and the two or more so combined shall be read and construed as a single 
instrument.  If and to the extent required by Section 1.4 hereof, each such instrument shall include the 
statements provided for in Section 1.4 hereof. 

“Certificate Purchase Period” means the period from the Issuance Date through August 25, 2024, 
during which the Servicer or the Corporation can sell Certificates to the Trustee at the Certificate Sale Price; 
provided that the last date of such period may be extended in connection with an extension of the 
Nonorigination Redemption Date. 

“Certificate Sale Date” means any date on which the Servicer or the Issuer sells a Certificate to the 
Trustee during the Certificate Purchase Period. 

“Certificate Sale Price” means _____% of the outstanding principal balance of the Mortgage Loans 
in the pool backing the applicable Certificate.  No accrued interest shall be paid at the time of the purchase 
of a Certificate by the Trustee.  The Certificate Sale Price may be increased or decreased based on the 
written instructions of the Issuer to the Trustee; provided that no increase in the Certificate Sale Price shall 
occur unless the Issuer has deposited in the Program Fund sufficient moneys to fund the increased 
Certificate Sale Price for all Certificates subject to such increased price. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, together with the corresponding 
and applicable final, temporary or proposed regulations and revenue rulings issued or amended with respect 
thereto by the United States Treasury Department or the Internal Revenue Service, to the extent applicable 
to the Series 2024A Bonds. 

“Cost of Issuance Fund” means the Fund by that name established for the Bonds pursuant to Section 
4.2(D) hereof. 

“Costs of Issuance” means, with respect to the Bonds, all items of expense directly or indirectly 
payable by or reimbursable to the Issuer, and related to the authorization, issuance, sale, and delivery of the 
Bonds, including but not limited to advertising and printing costs, costs of preparation and reproduction of 
documents, filing and recording fees, initial fees and charges of the Trustee, legal fees and charges, fees 
and disbursements of consultants and professionals, rating agency fees, fees and charges for preparation, 
execution, transportation, and safekeeping of the Bonds, and any other cost, charge, or fee in connection 
with the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Debt Service” means the principal of, and interest and redemption premium, if any, payable with 
respect to the Bonds at any given time. 

“Depository” means any bank or trust company or national banking association, which may include 
the Trustee, selected by the Issuer as a depository of money or securities held under provisions of this 
Indenture. 

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York. 

“DTC Participant” means a broker, dealer, bank, other financial institution, or other Person for 
whom from time to time DTC effects book-entry transfers and pledges of securities deposited with DTC. 

“Eligible Borrower” means a person or persons:  

(a) who resides in the State of Texas on the Mortgage Loan application date; 

38



6 
138026129.5/1001270822 

(b) whose family income does not exceed 80% of the greater of the state or local 
median income for such jurisdiction;  

(c) who intends to occupy the Residence to be financed with a Mortgage Loan as his 
or her principal residence within a reasonable period (not to exceed 60 days) following the closing 
of such Mortgage Loan;  

(d) who (except in the case of a person who is a qualified veteran or who is obtaining 
a Mortgage Loan in a targeted area) has not had a present ownership interest in a principal residence 
(except for the residence being financed with the Mortgage Loan) at any time during the three year 
period ending on the loan closing date; and 

(e) who has not had an existing mortgage (including a deed of trust, conditional sales 
contract, pledge, agreement to hold title in escrow, or any other form of owner financing), whether 
or not paid off, on the Residence to be financed with such Mortgage Loan at any time prior to the 
execution of the Mortgage, other than an existing mortgage securing a construction period loan, 
construction bridge loan, or similar temporary initial construction financing initially incurred 
within 24 months of the Mortgage Loan closing date, having an original term not exceeding 24 
months, and not providing for scheduled payments of principal during such term. 

“Eligible Loan Area” means the geographical limits of the State of Texas. 

“Event of Default” means any event of default specified in Section 6.1 hereof. 

“FHA” means the Federal Housing Administration of the United States Department of Housing 
and Urban Development, or other agency or instrumentality created or chartered by the United States to 
which the powers of the Federal Housing Administration have been transferred. 

“FHA Insurance” means insurance on mortgage loans presently issued by FHA under the National 
Housing Act of 1934, as amended, pursuant to one of the following FHA Insurance programs: 

(a) FHA Section 203(b), Home Unsubsidized; 

(b) FHA Section 203(b)(2), Veterans Status; 

(c) FHA Section 234(c), Condominium Ownership; 

(d) FHA Section 203(h), Disaster Victims; or 

(e) any other FHA insurance program acceptable to the Issuer and the Servicer. 

“FHA Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan with FHA Insurance. 

“Fund” means any of the funds established pursuant to this Indenture. 

“GNMA” means the Government National Mortgage Association, a wholly-owned corporate 
instrumentality of the United States of America within the Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
whose powers are prescribed generally by Title III of the National Housing Act of 1934, as amended (12 
U.S.C. § 1716 et seq.), and any successor thereto. 

“GNMA Certificate” means a certificate (in either physical or book-entry form) purchased by the 
Trustee, issued by the Servicer and guaranteed by GNMA pursuant to GNMA’s GNMA II Mortgage-

39



7 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Backed Securities program under Section 306(g) and other related provisions of the National Housing Act 
of 1934, as amended, and based on and backed by Mortgage Loans referred to in the GNMA Guaranty 
Agreement and shall unconditionally obligate the Servicer to remit monthly to J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., 
as Central Paying and Transfer Agent (“CPTA”) its pro rata share of (x) principal payments and 
prepayments made with respect to the Pool of Mortgage Loans represented by the GNMA Certificate and 
(y) interest received in an amount equal to the principal balance of the GNMA Certificate multiplied by the 
applicable Pass-Through Rate.  GNMA shall guarantee to the holder of each GNMA Certificate such 
holder’s pro rata share of (i) the timely payment of interest at the applicable Pass-Through Rate on the 
unpaid principal balance of the Mortgage Loans represented by the GNMA Certificate and (ii) the timely 
payment of principal in accordance with the terms of the principal amortization schedule applicable to the 
Mortgage Loans represented by such GNMA Certificate.  The final payment date on any GNMA Certificate 
shall not be later than the final scheduled payment date of the Bonds. 

“Governmental Obligations” means obligations of, or obligations guaranteed as to the full and 
timely payment of principal and interest by, the United States of America or any agency or instrumentality 
thereof when such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America. 

“Indenture” means this Trust Indenture, as originally executed or as it may from time to time be 
supplemented, modified, or amended by any Supplemental Indenture. 

“Independent Certified Public Accountant” means any certified public accountant, firm of such 
accountants or other professionals of national reputation selected by the Issuer and who, or each of whom, 
during the period of such accountant’s or firm’s professional engagement by the Issuer, or at the time of 
expressing an opinion required hereby:  (1) is independent of the Issuer under generally accepted accounting 
principles; (2) does not have, and is not committed to acquire, any direct or material indirect financial 
interest in the Issuer; and (3) is not connected with the Issuer as an officer or employee, but who may be 
regularly retained to make annual or other audits of the books of, or reports of the Issuer. 

“Initial Bonds” means, collectively, the Initial Series 2024A Bond and the Initial Taxable Series 
2024B Bond. 

“Initial Series 2024A Bond” means the initial Series 2024A Bond registered by the Comptroller of 
Public Accounts of the State of Texas and subsequently canceled and replaced by definitive Series 2024A 
Bonds pursuant to this Indenture. 

“Initial Taxable Series 2024B Bond” means the initial Taxable Series 2024B Bond registered by 
the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas and subsequently canceled and replaced by 
definitive Taxable Series 2024B Bonds pursuant to this Indenture. 

“Interest Funds” means jointly, the 2024A Interest Fund and the 2024B Interest Fund. 

“Interest Payment Date” means each March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2024. 

“Investment Agreement” means a guaranteed investment contract or agreement (or similar 
arrangement), between the Trustee and the provider of such contract or agreement, which meets any 
applicable requirements of the Rating Agency and bears a rating that is sufficient to maintain a rating on 
the Bonds of “Aa1” or higher. 

“Investment Securities” means any of the following which at the time of investment are legal 
investments under the laws of the State for moneys held under the Indenture and then proposed to be 
invested:  (a) Governmental Obligations; (b) Federal Housing Administration debentures which must not 

40



8 
138026129.5/1001270822 

be redeemable prior to their stated maturity; (c) obligations of the Farm Credit System; (d) obligations of 
Federal Home Loan Banks; (e) certificates of deposit having a stated maturity of 90 days or fewer from the 
date of its issuance, that are issued by a state or national bank domiciled in the State (including those of the 
Trustee) or a savings and loan association domiciled in the State, provided that such certificate of deposit 
is fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or its successor and that such banking 
institution is rated not less than P-1 by the Rating Agency; (f) bankers’ acceptance which (i) have a stated 
maturity of 90 days or fewer from the date of its issuance, (ii) will be, in accordance with their terms, 
liquidated in full at maturity, (iii) are eligible collateral for borrowing from a Federal Reserve Bank, and 
(iv) are issued by a bank organized and existing under the laws of the United States or of any state, if the 
short-term obligations of the bank, or of a bank holding company of which the bank is the largest subsidiary, 
are rated not less than P-1 by the Rating Agency; (g) deposits which are fully insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”); provided that such deposits are with a banking institution rated not less 
than P-1 by the Rating Agency; (h) commercial paper which (i) has a stated maturity of 90 days or fewer 
from the date of its issuance and (ii) is rated not less than P-1 by the Rating Agency; (i) U.S. Treasury 
STRIPS, REFCORP STRIPS (stripped by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York), and any other U.S. 
Treasury stripped securities assessed or rated in the highest applicable rating category by the Rating Agency 
at the time of such purchase; (j) an Investment Agreement; (k) a money market fund of the Trustee or its 
affiliates that is rated by the Rating Agency in its highest rating category; and (l) any other investment 
which in the opinion of Bond Counsel is at the time permitted by then applicable law for the investment of 
the Issuer’s funds and to the extent such investments are rated by a Rating Agency in its highest rating 
category. 

“Issuance Date” means March 6, 2024. 

“Issuer” means the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation, or its successor. 

“Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion” means an amount equal to the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion 
Percentage of each interest payment received by the Trustee with respect to each Certificate (including any 
amounts received as interest payments pursuant to the GNMA guaranty).  Such amount is payable on the 
first Business Day of each calendar month, commencing May 1, 2024, based upon the payments received 
on the Certificates during the prior month. 

“Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion Percentage” means a percentage equal to _____% divided by the 
Pass-Through Rate.  The Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion Percentage applicable to the Certificates shall be 
equal to _____% (___%/____%).  The Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion Percentage may be increased or 
decreased pursuant to the written instructions of the Issuer to the Trustee; provided that any such increase 
or decrease shall correspond to the increase or decrease, respectively, of the Pass-Through Rate. 

“Lender” means a mortgage lending institution participating in the Program and executing a Lender 
Agreement. 

“Lender Agreement” means each Mortgage Origination Agreement between the Issuer and a 
Lender, as amended from time to time. 

“Letter of Instructions” means a written directive and authorization to the Trustee executed by the 
President, Executive Vice President or Treasurer of the Issuer. 

“Mortgage” means the deed of trust, including any riders, securing a Mortgage Loan that creates a 
first lien on a Residence subject to permitted encumbrances, and that shall be in form acceptable to FHA, 
VA or USDA-RHS, as applicable. 

41



9 
138026129.5/1001270822 

“Mortgage Documents” means the Mortgage Notes, the Mortgages and other documents relating 
to the Mortgage Loans. 

“Mortgage Loan” means a mortgage loan to an Eligible Borrower evidenced by a Mortgage Note 
secured by a related Mortgage on a Residence located in the Eligible Loan Area, satisfying the terms of the 
Lender Agreement. 

“Mortgage Loan Rate” means the interest rate per annum with respect to each Mortgage Loan.  The 
initial Mortgage Loan Rate for all Mortgage Loans[, except for the Mortgage Loans originated after October 
24, 2023 and before the Issuance Date which bear interest at ___%,] shall be 5.75%; provided that the 
Mortgage Loan Rate may be increased or decreased in conjunction with a permitted increase or decrease, 
respectively, of the Pass-Through Rate, but only if the percentage increase or decrease in the Mortgage 
Loan Rate is the same as the percentage increase or decrease in the Pass-Through Rate, respectively. 

“Mortgage Note” means the promissory note evidencing the obligation to repay a Mortgage Loan, 
that shall be in the form acceptable to FHA, VA or USDA-RHS, as applicable, depending on whether the 
Mortgage Note evidences an FHA Mortgage Loan, a VA Mortgage Loan or a USDA-RHS Mortgage Loan, 
respectively, with such additions or modifications as may be required hereunder as approved by the Issuer 
and the Servicer and provided to Lenders by the Servicer. 

“Mortgagor” means any person who has a present ownership interest in the Residence and is the 
obligor(s) on a Mortgage Note, or a subsequent owner of a Residence who has assumed the Mortgage in 
accordance with the Agreements (but does not include a person who is liable on the Mortgage Note solely 
as a guarantor or co-signer, who does not have a present ownership interest in the Residence). 

“Nonorigination Redemption Date” means the redemption date set forth in Section 3.2(A) upon 
which Bonds may be redeemed from unexpended moneys in the Program Fund, and any extended date 
established pursuant to Section 4.2(E). 

“Notice Address” means: 

(a) As to Issuer: 

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
6701 Shirley Avenue 
Austin, Texas 78752 
Attention:  David Long, President 

As to the Trustee: 

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 
600 South 4th Street 
Minneapolis, MN 55479 
Attention:  Corporate Trust Services 

As to the Rating Agency: 

42



10 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. 
250 Greenwich Street 
7 World Trade Center 
New York, New York 10007 
Attn: Public Finance–Local Housing Group 

(b) As to each Lender and the Servicer, the applicable address shown in the Agreements. 

“Operations Office” means the Trustee’s designated office which will be utilized to make payments 
and perform transfers and which is presently located in Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

“Outstanding,” when used as of any particular time with reference to the Bonds, means (subject to 
the provisions of Section 10.7 hereof) all of the Bonds theretofore, or thereupon being, authenticated and 
delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture except (1) the Bonds theretofore canceled by the Trustee or 
surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation; (2) the Bonds with respect to which all liability of the Issuer 
shall have been discharged in accordance with Section 9.2 hereof, including the Bonds (or portions of the 
Bonds) referred to in Section 10.7 hereof; and (3) the Bonds for the transfer or exchange of or in lieu of or 
in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated and delivered by the Trustee pursuant 
to this Indenture. 

“Owner” means a registered owner of a Bond. 

“Pass-Through Rate” means the interest rate per annum with respect to each Certificate, which is 
equal to the Mortgage Loan Rate of the Mortgage Loans backing the Certificate less the related servicing 
and guaranty fees.  The initial Pass-Through Rate for the Certificates[, except for the Pass-Through Rate 
associated with the Mortgage Loans originated after October 24, 2023 and before the Issuance Date which 
is __% per annum,] shall be 5.25% per annum; provided that (i) the Pass-Through Rate may be increased 
upon written notice from the Issuer to the Trustee and the delivery of an opinion of Bond Counsel to the 
Trustee to the effect that such increase shall not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from 
gross income for federal tax purposes; and (ii) the Pass-Through Rate may be decreased upon written notice 
from the Issuer to the Trustee, except that if a corresponding reduction is not made to the Issuer’s Excess 
Interest Portion, then the Issuer shall be required to provide written evidence to the Trustee from the Rating 
Agency that the rating on the Bonds will not be adversely affected as a result of such reduction of the Pass-
Through Rate. 

“Person” means an individual, corporation, firm, association, partnership, limited liability 
company, trust, or other legal entity or group of entities, including a governmental entity or any agency or 
political subdivision thereof. 

“Premium PAC Bonds” means the Term Bonds maturing September 1, 2054. 

“Prepayments” means principal payments in addition to regularly scheduled principal payments on 
the Certificates. 

“Principal Funds” means jointly, the 2024A Principal Fund and the 2024B Principal Fund. 

“Principal Office” means (i) when used with respect to the Trustee, the corporate trust office of the 
Trustee at which the Indenture is administered, which at the date of this Indenture is located in Minneapolis, 
Minnesota, and (ii) if used with respect to any paying agent, the office of such paying agent as designated 
by written notice given by the Trustee to the Owners. 

43



11 
138026129.5/1001270822 

“Program” means the Issuer’s program of purchasing mortgage-backed certificates backed by 
qualifying single family mortgage loans pursuant to the Act, the Indenture and the Agreements. 

“Program Documents” means the Indenture, the Servicing Agreement, the Lender Agreements and 
other Program-related documents. 

“Program Expense Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof. 

“Program Expenses” means the Trustee’s Fee and the Rebate Analyst’s Fee. 

“Program Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 4.2(A) hereof. 

“Rating Agency” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., its successors and assigns, or any other 
national rating agency which has assigned and is maintaining a credit rating on the Bonds. 

“Rebate Amount” means the amount relating to the Series 2024A Bonds required to be paid to the 
United States Government, as determined under Code Section 148 and Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-
3. 

“Rebate Analyst” is defined in Section 4.7 hereof, and will initially be BLX Group LLC, or its 
successors or assigns. 

“Rebate Analyst’s Fee” means the annual fee paid in advance to the Rebate Analyst on each April 
1, commencing April 1, 2025, in an amount equal to .0025% times the Outstanding principal amount of the 
Certificates as of the last day of the calendar month preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Rebate Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 4.7 hereof. 

“Record Date” means the close of business on the twenty-fifth day of the month preceding each 
Interest Payment Date, whether or not such twenty-fifth day is a Business Day. 

“Redemption Fund” means the Fund by that name established pursuant to Section 3.1 hereof. 

“Revenue Fund” means the Fund by such name established by the Trustee pursuant to Section 4.3 
hereof. 

“Revenues” means all income, revenues, proceeds and other amounts received by the Trustee from 
or on behalf of the Issuer, including all amounts received in connection with the GNMA Certificates except 
the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion, and any and all interest, profits or other income derived from the 
investment of amounts in any Fund (except the Program Expense Fund, the Cost of Issuance Fund, the 
Excess Interest Portion Fund and any Rebate Amount in any Fund).  

“Serial Bonds” means the Bonds maturing on each Interest Payment Date from September 1, 2025 
through March 1, 2036, which Bonds are not subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption. 

“Series 2024A Bonds” means the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation Single Family 
Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT). 

“Servicer” means Lakeview Loan Servicing, LLC, or any successor to its duties under the Servicing 
Agreement. 

44



12 
138026129.5/1001270822 

“Servicing Agreement” means the Servicing and Sale Agreement (Relating to Bond-Financed 
Programs) dated as of February 1, 2019, between the Issuer and the Servicer, as amended from time to time. 

“Special Record Date” means, with respect to the payment of any defaulted interest on Bonds, a 
date fixed by the Trustee pursuant to Section 2.2(G) hereof. 

“State” means the State of Texas. 

“Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture hereafter duly authorized under and in compliance 
with the Act and this Indenture, and entered into between the Issuer and the Trustee, which supplements, 
modifies, or amends this Indenture. 

“Taxable Series 2024B Bonds” means the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation Single 
Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable). 

“Term Bonds” means the Bonds subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption. 

“Trust Estate” means all of the assets, revenues and rights specified in Granting Clauses First 
through Fifth above. 

“Trustee” means Computershare Trust Company, N.A., or any successor Trustee appointed or 
otherwise permitted under Section 7.1 hereof. 

“Trustee’s Fee” means the semi-annual fee paid in advance to the Trustee on each March 1 and 
September 1, commencing March 1, 2025, in an amount equal to .03% per annum of the Outstanding 
principal amount of the Bonds as of such payment date (after taking into account any Bond principal paid 
on such date). 

“USDA-RHS” means the Rural Housing Service of the United States Department of Agriculture, 
its successors and assigns. 

“USDA-RHS Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan guaranteed by the USDA-RHS. 

“VA” means the Department of Veterans Affairs, an agency of the United States of America, or 
any successor to its functions. 

“VA Mortgage Loan” means a Mortgage Loan that is guaranteed by the VA under the Serviceman’s 
Readjustment Act of 1944, as amended. 

Section 1.3 Interpretations.  (A) (1) The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” 
“hereunder” and any similar terms refer to this Indenture, and the term “heretofore” means before, and the 
term “hereafter” means after, the date of this Indenture; 

(2) words of the masculine gender mean and include correlative words of the feminine 
gender and neuter state, and words importing the singular number mean and include words 
importing the plural number, and vice versa; 

(3) any headings preceding the text of the several Articles and Sections of this 
Indenture, and any table of contents, shall be solely for convenience of reference and shall not 
constitute a part of this Indenture, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect; 

45



13 
138026129.5/1001270822 

(4) this Indenture shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
applicable laws of the State; 

(5) words importing the redemption or redeeming of a Bond or the calling of such a 
Bond for redemption include the payment of such Bond at its stated maturity; and words importing 
the paying or redemption of Bonds shall include words importing the paying or redemption of 
portions of Bonds; 

(6) references to the payment of the Bonds shall be deemed to include references to 
the payment of interest thereon; and 

(7) any moneys, documents, securities, obligations or other items received by the 
Trustee for the account of the Issuer pursuant to the terms of this Indenture, other than as 
compensation for services, shall be deemed to have been received by the Issuer. 

(B) Nothing in this Indenture expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer 
upon, or to give to, any person, other than the Issuer, the Trustee and the Owners of the Bonds, any right, 
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Indenture, or any covenant, condition or stipulation hereof.  All 
covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements herein contained by and on behalf of the Issuer and the 
Trustee, subject to Section 10.1 hereof, shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Issuer, the Trustee 
and the Owners of the Bonds. 

(C) Every “request,” “order,” “demand,” “application,” “notice,” “statement,” “certificate,” 
“consent,” “instruction” or similar action hereunder shall, unless the form thereof is specifically provided 
herein, be in writing and signed by a person who is authorized to sign a “certificate,” as that term is defined 
in Section 1.2. 

Section 1.4 Content of Certificates and Opinions.  Every certificate or opinion provided for in 
this Indenture with respect to compliance with any provision hereof shall include (1) a statement that the 
person making or giving such certificate or opinion has read such provision and the definitions herein 
relating thereto; (2) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon 
which the certificate or opinion is based, if any; (3) a statement that, in the opinion of such person, they 
have made or caused to be made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable them to express 
an informed opinion with respect to the subject matter referred to in the instrument to which their signature 
is affixed (or, if no investigation was made, a statement to that effect); and (4) a statement as to whether, in 
the opinion of such person, such provision has been complied with. 

Any such certificate or opinion made or given by an officer of the Issuer, a Lender, or the Servicer 
may be based, insofar as it relates to legal, accounting, or Program matters, upon a certificate or opinion of 
or representation by counsel, an accountant or a Program consultant, unless such officer knows, or in the 
exercise of reasonable care should have known, that the certificate, opinion or representation with respect 
to the matters upon which such certificate or statement may be based, as aforesaid, is erroneous.  Any such 
certificate or opinion made or given by counsel, an accountant, or a Program consultant may be based 
insofar as it relates to factual matters (with respect to which information is in the possession of the Issuer, 
the Servicer or the Lenders) upon a certificate or opinion of or representation by an officer of the Issuer, 
the Servicer or one or more Lenders, unless such counsel, accountant or Program consultant knows, or in 
the exercise of reasonable care should have known, that the certificate or opinion or representation with 
respect to the matters upon which such person’s certificate or opinion or representations may be based, as 
aforesaid, is erroneous.  The same officer of the Issuer, the Servicer or a Lender, or the same counsel, 
accountant or a Program consultant, as the case may be, need not certify to all of the matters required to be 

46



14 
138026129.5/1001270822 

certified under any provision of this Indenture, but different officers, counsel, accountants or Program 
consultants may certify to different matters, respectively. 

ARTICLE II. 
THE BONDS 

Section 2.1 Authorization of Bonds.  The Issuer hereby authorizes the issuance of (i) the Series 
2024A Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $______________ and (ii) the Taxable Series 2024B 
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $______________. 

Section 2.2 Terms of the Bonds. 

(A) The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form in principal denominations of $5,000, 
and any integral multiple of $5,000. 

(B) The Series 2024A Bonds shall be numbered in consecutive numerical order from R-1 
upward; provided that the Initial Series 2024A Bond shall be numbered T-1.  The Taxable Series 2024B 
Bonds shall be numbered in consecutive numerical order from TxR-1 upward; provided that the Initial 
Taxable Series 2024B Bond shall be numbered TxT-1.  The Bonds shall contain such other designations as 
the Trustee shall determine.  The Bonds shall be registered as described in Section 2.10(A). 

47



15 
138026129.5/1001270822 

(C) The Bonds shall be dated March 1, 2024.  The Series 2024A Bonds shall be issued in the 
aggregate principal amount of $______________ and the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds shall be issued in 
the aggregate principal amount of $______________.  The Bonds shall mature on the dates and in the 
principal amounts, and bear interest at the rates per annum, as set forth below:  

SERIES 2024A BONDS 

$[___,___,000 Total Principal Amount of Serial Bonds (2024A) 

Maturity Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
Interest 

Rate (%) CUSIP 
September 1, 2025    
March 1, 2026    
September 1, 2026    
March 1, 2027    
September 1, 2027    
March 1, 2028    
September 1, 2028    
March 1, 2029    
September 1, 2029    
March 1, 2030    
September 1, 2030    
March 1, 2031    
September 1, 2031    
March 1, 2032    
September 1, 2032    
March 1, 2033    
September 1, 2033    
March 1, 2034    
September 1, 2034    
March 1, 2035    
September 1, 2035    
March 1, 2036    

$__,___,000 Total Principal Amount of Term Bonds (2024A) 

$___,000  ___%  Term Bonds Due March 1, 2039 (CUSIP: ______) 

$___,000  ____%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2044 (CUSIP: ______) 

$_____,000  ___%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2049 (CUSIP:  ______) 

$____,000  ___%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2054 (CUSIP:  ______) 

$_____,000  _____%  Premium PAC Term Bonds Due September 1, 2054 (CUSIP: ______) 

 

48



16 
138026129.5/1001270822 

TAXABLE SERIES 2024B BONDS 

$[___,___,000 Total Principal Amount of Serial Bonds (Taxable 2024B) 

Maturity Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
Interest 

Rate (%) CUSIP 
September 1, 2025    
March 1, 2026    
September 1, 2026    
March 1, 2027    
September 1, 2027    
March 1, 2028    
September 1, 2028    
March 1, 2029    
September 1, 2029    
March 1, 2030    
September 1, 2030    
March 1, 2031    
September 1, 2031    
March 1, 2032    
September 1, 2032    
March 1, 2033    
September 1, 2033    
March 1, 2034    
    

$__,___,000 Total Principal Amount of Term Bonds (Taxable 2024B) 

$___,000  ___%  Term Bonds Due March 1, 2039 (CUSIP: ______) 

$___,000  ____%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2044 (CUSIP: ______) 

$_____,000  ___%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2049 (CUSIP:  ______) 

$____,000  ___%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2054 (CUSIP:  ______) 

$_____,000  _____%  Premium PAC Term Bonds Due September 1, 2054 (CUSIP: ______) 

 

(D) Each Bond shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of 
authentication thereof unless (i) it is authenticated after the Record Date with respect to an Interest Payment 
Date and on or before such Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear interest from such Interest 
Payment Date, or (ii) it is authenticated prior to the first Interest Payment Date with respect thereto, in 
which event it shall bear interest from the Issuance Date.  Interest on the Bonds shall accrue and be 
computed on the basis of a 360-day year, comprised of twelve 30-day months.  If, as of the date of any 
Bond, interest is in default on the Bonds, such Bond shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date to 
which interest has previously been paid or made available for payment or if interest has never been paid on 
such Bond, from the Issuance Date. 

49



17 
138026129.5/1001270822 

(E) Principal of the Bonds and interest on the Bonds are payable by check of the Trustee mailed 
on the Interest Payment Date thereof to the person in whose name the Bonds (or any predecessor Bonds) 
are registered on the registration books of the Trustee on the Record Date with respect to each Interest 
Payment Date; provided, however, that payment of such interest shall be made by wire transfer to any 
Owner of any Bonds in an aggregate principal amount of at least $1,000,000 at the risk and expense of the 
Owner, if such Owner shall have requested in writing payment by such method and shall have provided the 
Trustee with an account number and other necessary information for such purposes at least five Business 
Days before the applicable Record Date; and provided further that the final payment of principal shall be 
made upon presentation of the Bond at the Operations Office of the Trustee.  Debt Service is payable in 
lawful money of the United States of America which, at the time of payment, is legal tender for the payment 
of public and private debts. 

(F) The Bonds shall be limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the Trust Estate 
and such other sources as are specifically pledged to their payment pursuant to this Indenture.  The Bonds 
shall constitute a valid claim of the respective Owners thereof against such Trust Estate, which is pledged 
to secure the payment of the principal amount or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds, and which 
shall be utilized for no other purpose, except as expressly authorized in this Indenture.  The Bonds shall 
never constitute general obligations of the Issuer and under no circumstances shall the Bonds ever be 
payable from, nor shall the Owner thereof have any rightful claim to, any income, revenues, funds or assets 
of the Issuer other than those pledged hereunder as security for the payment of the Bonds.  THE STATE 
OF TEXAS IS NOT OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF OR ANY PREMIUM OR 
INTEREST ON THE BONDS OR OTHER OBLIGATIONS AND THAT THE FULL FAITH AND 
CREDIT AND THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OF TEXAS ARE NOT PLEDGED, GIVEN 
OR LOANED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. 

(G) Any interest on any Bond which is payable pursuant to this Indenture, but which is not 
punctually paid or duly provided for on any Interest Payment Date (herein called “Defaulted Interest”), 
shall cease to be payable to the Owner as of the regular Record Date.  Defaulted Interest shall be paid by 
the Trustee (but only from the sources provided herein) to the persons whose names the Bonds (or their 
respective predecessor Bonds) are registered at the close of business on the “Special Record Date” for the 
payment of Defaulted Interest.  The Trustee shall fix the Special Record Date and the payment date.  The 
Special Record Date shall be not more than 15 nor less than 10 days prior to the date of the proposed 
payment.  The Trustee shall promptly notify the Issuer of the Special Record Date.  In the name of the 
Issuer, the Trustee shall cause notice of the date and amount of the proposed payment of the Defaulted 
Interest and the Special Record Date to be mailed, first class postage prepaid, to each Owner at its address 
as it appears in the Bond register, not less than 10 days prior to such Special Record Date. 

Section 2.3 Execution, Authentication, and Delivery of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be executed 
in the name and on behalf of the Issuer with the manual or facsimile signature of the President or Executive 
Vice President of the Issuer and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary or Assistant 
Secretary of the Issuer.  In case any of the officers who shall have signed or attested any of the Bonds shall 
cease to be such officer or officers of the Issuer before the Bonds so signed or attested shall have been 
authenticated by the Trustee or issued by the Issuer, such Bonds may nevertheless be authenticated, 
delivered, and issued, and, upon such authentication, delivery, and issue, shall be as binding upon the Issuer 
as though those who signed and attested the same had continued to be such officers of the Issuer. 

Also, any Bond may be signed and attested on behalf of the Issuer by such persons who as of the 
actual date of execution of such Bond shall be the proper officers of the Issuer although at the dated date of 
such Bond any such person shall not have been such officer of the Issuer. 

50



18 
138026129.5/1001270822 

The President, any Executive Vice President, the Secretary and the Treasurer of the Issuer are 
hereby authorized to have control of the Bonds initially issued and delivered hereunder and all necessary 
records and proceedings pertaining to such Bonds pending their delivery and their investigation, 
examination, and approval by the Attorney General of the State, and their registration by the Comptroller 
of Public Accounts of the State.  Upon registration of such Bonds said Comptroller of Public Accounts of 
the State (or a deputy designated in writing to act for said Comptroller) shall sign manually or by facsimile 
the Comptroller’s Registration Certificate attached to such Bonds and the seal of said Comptroller shall be 
impressed, or placed in facsimile, on such certificate.  The Initial Bonds executed by the Comptroller of 
Public Accounts of the State (or a deputy designated in writing to act for said Comptroller) manually or by 
facsimile are not required to be authenticated by the Trustee. 

The approving legal opinion of Bond Counsel and the assigned CUSIP numbers may, at the option 
of the Issuer, be printed on the Bonds issued and delivered under this Indenture, but neither shall have any 
legal effect, and shall be solely for the convenience and information of the registered owners of the Bonds. 

Definitive Bonds, after execution by the Issuer, shall be delivered to the Trustee.  No definitive 
Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit of this Indenture 
unless and until such Bond has been duly authenticated by the Trustee by the execution of the certificate of 
authentication appearing on such Bond.  The certificate of authentication appearing on any Bond shall be 
deemed to have been duly executed by the Trustee if manually signed by an authorized officer or employee 
of the Trustee.  It shall not be required that the same officer of the Trustee sign the certificate of 
authentication on all of the Bonds. 

Upon receipt of the following instruments, the Trustee shall authenticate the Bonds by executing 
the certificate of authentication appearing on each Bond: 

(A) executed counterparts of this Indenture and the Servicing Agreement; 

(B) a copy of the resolution or resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer authorizing 
the execution and delivery of this Indenture and the Agreements and the issuance, execution, and delivery 
of the Bonds, duly certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Issuer; 

(C) an opinion or opinions of Bond Counsel, substantially to the effect that the Bonds constitute 
legal, valid, and binding limited obligations of the Issuer, subject to customary exceptions relating to 
bankruptcy and insolvency, and an opinion of Bond Counsel that the interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is 
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under existing statutes, regulations, 
published rulings, and judicial decisions, assuming compliance by the Issuer with certain covenants set 
forth in this Indenture and the Agreements necessary to satisfy the requirements of sections 143 and 148 of 
the Code; 

(D) an opinion or opinions of the Attorney General of the State approving the Bonds; 

(E) the certificates of registration of the Bonds from the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the 
State; 

(F) an opinion of counsel to the Servicer (or in lieu of an opinion, a certificate of the Servicer) 
addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee, as to the legal, valid, and binding obligations of the Servicer under 
the Servicing Agreement;  

(G) a Letter of Instructions from the Issuer to the Trustee instructing and authorizing the 
Trustee (i) to authenticate the Bonds delivered in exchange for the Initial Bonds registered by the 

51



19 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Comptroller of Public Accounts of Texas, (ii) to deliver the Bonds to or upon the order of the purchaser or 
purchasers thereof upon receipt of the purchase price therefor, (iii) to deposit the proceeds from the sale of 
the Bonds as provided in this Indenture, and (iv) to pay the Costs of Issuance specified therein; and 

(H) written evidence of a rating on the Bonds of “Aa1” from the Rating Agency. 

Upon receipt of the purchase price for the Bonds specified in the Letter of Instructions described 
in subparagraph (G) of this Section, the Trustee shall deliver the Bonds to or upon the order of the purchaser 
or purchasers specified in such Letter of Instructions. 

Only such of the Bonds as shall bear thereon either a manually signed Comptroller’s Registration 
Certificate or a certificate of authentication manually executed by the Trustee shall be valid or obligatory 
for any purpose or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture, and such Comptroller’s Registration Certificate 
or authentication certificate of the Trustee, as the case may be, shall be conclusive evidence that the Bonds 
so registered or authenticated have been duly executed, registered or authenticated and delivered hereunder 
and are entitled to the benefits of this Indenture. 

Section 2.4 Transfer of Bonds.  The transfer of any Bond is registerable on the books required 
to be maintained pursuant to Section 2.6 hereof upon the surrender of such Bond for cancellation and 
registration of transfer at the Operations Office of the Trustee, accompanied by a written instrument of 
transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee duly executed by the Owner or by his attorney duly authorized 
in writing, provided, however, that the Trustee shall not be required to register the transfer of or exchange 
any Bond during the period between the Record Date and the next Interest Payment Date or during the three 
days next preceding any date established by the Trustee for the selection of Bonds for redemption nor to 
register the transfer of or exchange any Bonds called for redemption after the call for redemption and prior 
to the redemption date. 

Whenever any Bond or Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the Issuer shall execute and the 
Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond or Bonds for a like aggregate principal amount and of 
the same series and tenor.  The Trustee may require the payment by the Owner requesting such transfer of 
any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such transfer and may require the 
payment by such Owner of a charge equal to the customary fee charged by the Trustee for such transfers. 

Section 2.5 Exchange of Bonds.  Bonds may be exchanged at the Operations Office of the 
Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of Bonds of authorized denominations of the same series and 
tenor.  The Trustee shall require the payment by the Owner requesting such exchange of any tax or other 
governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange. 

Section 2.6 Bond Register.  The Trustee will keep or cause to be maintained, at its Principal 
Office, sufficient books for the registration and registration of transfer of the Bonds, which shall be open 
to inspection by the Issuer during regular business hours, and, upon presentation for such purpose, the 
Trustee shall, under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, register the transfer or cause to be 
registered the transfer, on such books, of Bonds as hereinbefore provided.  The Issuer and the Trustee may 
treat the person in whose name a Bond is registered as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes and the 
Issuer and the Trustee shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary. 

Section 2.7 Temporary Bonds.  The Bonds may be initially issued in temporary form 
exchangeable for definitive Bonds when available for delivery.  Any temporary bond may be printed, 
lithographed, or typewritten, shall be of such denomination as may be determined by the Issuer, shall be in 
registered form without coupons, and may contain such reference to any of the provisions of this Indenture 
as may be appropriate.  A temporary Bond may be in the form of a single fully registered Bond payable in 

52



20 
138026129.5/1001270822 

installments, each on the date, in the amount, and at the rate of interest established for the Bonds maturing 
on such date.  Every temporary Bond shall be executed by the Issuer and be authenticated by the Trustee 
upon the same conditions and in substantially the same manner as the definitive Bonds.  Except for Bonds 
registered in the name of Cede & Co. pursuant to Section 2.10 hereof, if the Issuer issues temporary Bonds 
it will execute and furnish definitive Bonds without delay, and thereupon the temporary Bonds may be 
surrendered, for cancellation, in exchange therefor at the Principal Office of the Trustee, and the Trustee 
shall authenticate and deliver in exchange for such temporary Bonds an equal aggregate principal amount 
of definitive Bonds of authorized denominations of the same series, maturity, and tenor.  Until so 
exchanged, the temporary Bonds shall be entitled to the same benefits under this Indenture as definitive 
Bonds authenticated and delivered hereunder. 

Section 2.8 Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed, or Stolen.  If any Bond shall become mutilated, 
the Issuer, at the expense of the Owner of said Bond, shall execute, and the Trustee shall thereupon 
authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like tenor and series in exchange and substitution for the Bond so 
mutilated, but only upon surrender to the Trustee of the Bond so mutilated.  Every mutilated Bond so 
surrendered to the Trustee shall be canceled by it and disposed of in accordance with its policies.  If any 
Bond shall be lost, destroyed, or stolen, evidence of such loss, destruction, or theft may be submitted to the 
Trustee and, if such evidence is satisfactory to the Trustee and indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee shall 
be given (provided that the unsecured indemnity of Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation shall be 
deemed satisfactory for this purpose), the Issuer, at the expense of the Owner, shall execute, and the Trustee 
shall thereupon authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like tenor and series in lieu of and in substitution 
for the Bond so lost, destroyed, or stolen.  The Issuer may require payment by the Owner of a sum not 
exceeding the actual cost of preparing each new Bond issued under this Section and of the expenses which 
may be incurred by the Issuer and the Trustee in the premises.  Any Bond issued under the provisions of 
this Section in lieu of any Bond alleged to be lost, destroyed, or stolen shall constitute an original additional 
contractual obligation on the part of the Issuer whether or not the Bond so alleged to be lost, destroyed, or 
stolen is at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be equally and proportionately entitled to the benefits 
of this Indenture with all other Bonds secured by this Indenture.  If any such Bond shall have matured, the 
Trustee instead of issuing a replacement Bond may pay the same upon receipt of indemnity in favor of the 
Trustee and the Issuer and in form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee and the Issuer.  If, after delivery 
of such replacement Bond, a bona fide purchaser of the original Bond in lieu of which such replacement 
Bond was issued presents for payment or registration such original Bond, the Trustee shall be entitled to 
recover such replacement Bond from the Person to whom it was delivered or any Person taking therefrom, 
except a bona fide purchaser, and shall be entitled to recover upon the security or indemnity provided 
therefor to the extent of any loss, damage, cost or expense incurred by the Issuer or the Trustee in connection 
therewith. 

Section 2.9 Additional Bonds.  No additional Bonds may be issued under this Indenture. 

Section 2.10 Book-Entry Only System. 

(A) The Initial Bonds shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.  The 
definitive Bonds shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co. (or such other name specified by DTC), as 
nominee of DTC, as long as such Bonds are held in book-entry form with DTC.  So long as the Bonds are 
registered in the name of Cede & Co., the following provisions of this Section, and the provisions of Section 
2.11 and Section 2.12 hereof, shall be applicable, except as amended by a Supplemental Indenture. 

(B) With respect to the Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the 
Issuer and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or obligation to any DTC Participant or to any person on 
behalf of whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest in the Bonds.  Without limiting the immediately 
preceding sentence, the Issuer and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) 

53



21 
138026129.5/1001270822 

the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co., or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership 
interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, as 
shown on the Bond register, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, including any notice of redemption, 
or (iii) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than an Owner, as shown in the Bond 
register, of the principal and interest, and premium, if any, with respect to the Bonds.  Notwithstanding any 
other provision of this Indenture to the contrary, the Issuer and the Trustee shall be entitled to treat and 
consider the person in whose name each Bond is registered in the Bond register as the absolute owner of 
such Bond for the purpose of payment of the principal and interest, and premium, if any, with respect to the 
Bonds, for the purpose of registering transfer with respect to such Bond, for the purpose of receiving 
redemption notices, and for all other purposes whatsoever.  The Trustee shall pay the principal and interest, 
and premium, if any, with respect to the Bonds only to or upon the order of the respective Owners, as shown 
in the Bond register as provided in this Indenture, or their respective agents duly authorized in writing, and 
all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the Issuer’s obligations with 
respect to payment of the principal and interest, and premium, if any, with respect to the Bonds, to the 
extent of the sum or sums so paid. No person other than an Owner, as shown in the Bond register, shall 
receive a Bond certificate evidencing the obligation of the Issuer to make payments of amounts due pursuant 
to this Indenture.  Upon delivery by DTC to the Trustee of written notice to the effect that DTC has 
determined to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., the phrase “Cede & Co.” in this Indenture 
shall refer to such new nominee of DTC. 

Section 2.11 Successor Securities Depository; Transfer Outside Book-Entry Only System.  If 
the Issuer (or DTC Participants owning at least fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of the Bonds 
(based on current DTC records)) determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its responsibilities 
described herein and in the related letter of representations of the Issuer to DTC, and that it is in the best 
interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds that they be able to obtain Bond certificates, or if DTC 
discontinues the services described herein, the Issuer shall (a) appoint a successor securities depository, 
qualified to act as such under Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, notify DTC 
and DTC Participants of the appointment of such successor securities depository and transfer one or more 
Bonds to such successor securities depository, or (b) notify DTC and DTC Participants of the availability 
through DTC of Bonds and transfer one or more separate Bonds to DTC Participants having Bonds credited 
to their DTC accounts.  In such event, the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the 
Bond register in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered, at the expense of the 
Issuer, in the name of the successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names 
Owners transferring or exchanging Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of this 
Indenture.  In connection therewith, the Trustee may rely conclusively upon information provided by DTC 
with respect to the identity and interests of the DTC Participants and upon information provided by said 
DTC Participants with respect to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. 

Section 2.12 Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture to 
the contrary, so long as the Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all 
payments of the principal and interest, and premium, if any, with respect to such Bonds, and all notices 
with respect to such Bonds, shall be made and given, respectively, in the manner provided in the related 
letters of representations of the Issuer and the Trustee to DTC. 

Section 2.13 Cancellation and Disposition of Bonds.  The Trustee as registrar and transfer agent 
for the Bonds shall cancel all Bonds surrendered to it for registration of transfer, exchange, payment or 
cancellation and shall dispose of canceled Bonds in accordance with its regulations. 

54



22 
138026129.5/1001270822 

ARTICLE III. 
REDEMPTION PROVISIONS FOR THE BONDS 

Section 3.1 Establishment and Application of Redemption Fund for the Bonds.  The Trustee 
shall establish, maintain, and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the “Redemption Fund.”  The 
Trustee shall apply all amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund to the redemption of the Bonds, in 
accordance with the provisions of this Article III. 

Section 3.2 Redemption Provisions.  The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as 
follows: 

(A) The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption in whole or in part on September 1, 
2024 from moneys in the Program Fund that have not been applied to the purchase of Certificates by August 
23, 2024, at the redemption prices set forth below, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount to be 
redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date; provided that the dates set forth in this paragraph 
may be extended at the option of the Issuer, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 
4.2(E). 

Series 2024A Bonds 

Bond Maturity Date Redemption Price 
Serial Bonds 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 100.000% 
Premium Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 [_____]% 
Premium Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 [_____]% 
Premium Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 [_____]% 
Premium PAC Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 [_____]% 

 

Taxable Series 2024B Bonds 

Bond Maturity Date Redemption Price 
Serial Bonds 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 100.000% 
Premium PAC Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 [_____]% 

 

(B) The Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part on the first day 
of each month, commencing May 1, 2024, from moneys deposited in the Redemption Fund representing 
Prepayments from the Certificates and surplus revenues, pursuant to Section 4.4(G), if amounts in the 
Redemption Fund exceed $25,000 on such date, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
thereof, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

(C) The Bonds maturing on and after September 1, 2034 shall be subject to redemption, at the 
option of the Issuer, on or after March 1, 2034, in whole or in part on any date, with moneys from any 
source (provided that such moneys are not, as established by an opinion of nationally recognized bankruptcy 
counsel selected by the Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee, recoverable as preferences under the United 

55



23 
138026129.5/1001270822 

States Bankruptcy Code), at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be 
so redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

In connection with any partial optional redemption of Bonds under this Section 3.2(C), the Trustee 
shall receive written confirmation by the Rating Agency to the effect that the rating on the Bonds remaining 
Outstanding will not be adversely affected by such redemption. 

(D) The Series 2024A Term Bonds shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption from 
amounts deposited in the 2024A Principal Fund, on the dates and in the principal amounts shown below:  

Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2036  March 1, 2038  
March 1, 2037  September 1, 2038  
September 1, 2037  March 1, 2039  
    

 
Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2039  March 1, 2042  
March 1, 2040  September 1, 2042  
September 1, 2040  March 1, 2043  
March 1, 2041  September 1, 2043  
September 1, 2041  March 1, 2044  

 
Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2044  March 1, 2047  
March 1, 2045  September 1, 2047  
September 1, 2045  March 1, 2048  
March 1, 2046  September 1, 2048  
September 1, 2046  March 1, 2049  
    

 
 

56



24 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2049  March 1, 2052  
March 1, 2050  September 1, 2052  
September 1, 2050  March 1, 2053  
March 1, 2051  September 1, 2053  
September 1, 2051  March 1, 2054  

 

57



25 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Series 2024A Premium PAC Term Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2025 $ September 1, 2040  
March 1, 2026  March 1, 2041  
September 1, 2026  September 1, 2041  
March 1, 2027  March 1, 2042  
September 1, 2027  September 1, 2042  
March 1, 2028  March 1, 2043  
September 1, 2028  September 1, 2043  
March 1, 2029  March 1, 2044  
September 1, 2029  September 1, 2044  
March 1, 2030  March 1, 2045  
September 1, 2030  September 1, 2045  
March 1, 2031  March 1, 2046  
September 1, 2031  September 1, 2046  
March 1, 2032  March 1, 2047  
September 1, 2032  September 1, 2047  
March 1, 2033  March 1, 2048  
September 1, 2033  September 1, 2048  
March 1, 2034  March 1, 2049  
September 1, 2034  September 1, 2049  
March 1, 2035  March 1, 2050  
September 1, 2035  September 1, 2050  
March 1, 2036  March 1, 2051  
September 1, 2036  September 1, 2051  
March 1, 2037  March 1, 2052  
September 1, 2037  September 1, 2052  
March 1, 2038  March 1, 2053  
September 1, 2038  September 1, 2053  
March 1, 2039  March 1, 2054  
September 1, 2039  September 1, 2054†  
March 1, 2040    

 

 
† Maturity Date 

58



26 
138026129.5/1001270822 

(E) The Taxable Series 2024B Term Bonds shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund 
redemption from amounts deposited in the Series 2024B Principal Fund, on the dates and in the principal 
amounts shown below:  

Taxable Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2034 $ March 1, 2037  
March 1, 2035  September 1, 2037  
September 1, 2035  March 1, 2038  
March 1, 2036  September 1, 2038  
September 1, 2036  March 1, 2039  
    

 
Taxable Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2039  March 1, 2042  
March 1, 2040  September 1, 2042  
September 1, 2040  March 1, 2043  
March 1, 2041  September 1, 2043  
September 1, 2041  March 1, 2044  

 
Taxable Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2044  March 1, 2047  
March 1, 2045  September 1, 2047  
September 1, 2045  March 1, 2048  
March 1, 2046  September 1, 2048  
September 1, 2046  March 1, 2049  
    

 
 

Taxable Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2049  March 1, 2052  
March 1, 2050  September 1, 2052  
September 1, 2050  March 1, 2053  
March 1, 2051  September 1, 2053  
September 1, 2051  March 1, 2054  

 

59



27 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC Term Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) Redemption Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
September 1, 2025 $ September 1, 2040  
March 1, 2026  March 1, 2041  
September 1, 2026  September 1, 2041  
March 1, 2027  March 1, 2042  
September 1, 2027  September 1, 2042  
March 1, 2028  March 1, 2043  
September 1, 2028  September 1, 2043  
March 1, 2029  March 1, 2044  
September 1, 2029  September 1, 2044  
March 1, 2030  March 1, 2045  
September 1, 2030  September 1, 2045  
March 1, 2031  March 1, 2046  
September 1, 2031  September 1, 2046  
March 1, 2032  March 1, 2047  
September 1, 2032  September 1, 2047  
March 1, 2033  March 1, 2048  
September 1, 2033  September 1, 2048  
March 1, 2034  March 1, 2049  
September 1, 2034  September 1, 2049  
March 1, 2035  March 1, 2050  
September 1, 2035  September 1, 2050  
March 1, 2036  March 1, 2051  
September 1, 2036  September 1, 2051  
March 1, 2037  March 1, 2052  
September 1, 2037  September 1, 2052  
March 1, 2038  March 1, 2053  
September 1, 2038  September 1, 2053  
March 1, 2039  March 1, 2054  
September 1, 2039  September 1, 2054†  
March 1, 2040    

 

If Term Bonds are subject to redemption in part (other than by mandatory sinking fund redemption) 
or purchased in part, the sinking fund payments for each maturity of Term Bonds shall be: (i) reduced on a 
pro rata basis, if the redemption in part is pursuant to Section 3.2(A), and (ii) for redemptions in part 
pursuant to Section 3.2(B) or (C) or for purchases in part: (a) for the Premium PAC Bonds, sinking funds 
shall be reduced in chronological order, and (b) for all other Term Bonds, sinking funds shall be reduced 
on a pro rata basis. 

 
† Maturity Date 

60



28 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Section 3.3 Selection of Bonds for Redemption.   

(A) Selection Procedure for Mandatory Redemption Due to Nonorigination.  If Bonds are 
subject to mandatory redemption pursuant to Section 3.2(A), the Bonds will be redeemed on a pro rata 
basis. 

(B) Selection Procedure for Mandatory Redemption from Amounts in Redemption Fund 
(representing Prepayments and Surplus Revenues).  Amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund pursuant 
to Section 4.4(G) shall be allocated to redeem Series 2024A Bonds and Taxable Series 2024B Bonds on a 
pro rata basis. 

Amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund pursuant to Section 4.4(G) and allocated to redeem 
the Series 2024A Bonds shall be applied in the following order of priority: 

FIRST, such amounts shall be applied to redeem the Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds down to 
the 100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds; 

SECOND, after applying the amounts as described in clause FIRST above, and until the 
outstanding principal amount of all Series 2024A Bonds has been reduced to the applicable 400% PSA 
Outstanding Bond Amount for All Series 2024A Bonds, any remaining amounts shall be applied to redeem 
all Series 2024A Bonds, except the Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds, on a pro rata basis; provided that 
all amounts so allocable to the redemption of the Series 2024A Term Bonds shall be applied (i) first to 
redeem the Series 2024A Term Bonds maturing March 1, 2039, until such Series 2024A Bonds are no 
longer Outstanding, and (ii) second, to redeem all other Series 2024A Term Bonds on a pro rata basis; and 

THIRD, after applying the amounts as described in clauses FIRST and SECOND above, any 
remaining amounts shall be applied to redeem all Series 2024A Bonds, including the Series 2024A 
Premium PAC Bonds, on a pro rata basis; provided that all amounts so allocable to the redemption of the 
Series 2024A Term Bonds shall be applied (i) first to redeem the Series 2024A Term Bonds maturing March 
1, 2039, until such Series 2024A Bonds are no longer Outstanding, and (ii) second, to redeem all other 
Series 2024A Term Bonds on a pro rata basis. 

The applicable “100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds” is 
the amount set forth in the second column of Exhibit C for the first day of the month on which the 
redemption of Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds could occur.  Such amounts have been calculated based 
on the principal amount of Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds projected to remain Outstanding on each 
such date, after taking into account scheduled principal payments and projected redemptions of the Series 
2024A Bonds based on a constant 100% PSA prepayment speed for the Certificates. 

The applicable “400% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for All Series 2024A Bonds” is the amount 
set forth in the third column of Exhibit C for the Interest Payment Date on which the redemption of the 
Bonds could occur on the first day of each month.  The amounts in the column for each such date have been 
calculated based on the principal amount of all Series 2024A Bonds (including Series 2024A Premium PAC 
Bonds) projected to remain Outstanding on each such date, after taking into account scheduled principal 
payments and projected redemptions of Bonds based on a constant 400% PSA prepayment speed for the 
Certificates. 

The Outstanding Bond Amounts in Exhibit C shall be reduced if Series 2024A Bonds are subject 
to mandatory redemption under Section 3.2(A).  In such case, the amounts in the table shall be reduced, on 
a pro rata basis, by the principal amount of Series 2024A Bonds so redeemed.   

61



29 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund pursuant to Section 4.4(G) and allocated to redeem 
the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds shall be applied in the following order of priority: 

FIRST, such amounts shall be applied to redeem the Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
down to the 100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds; 

SECOND, after applying the amounts as described in clause FIRST above, and until the 
outstanding principal amount of all Taxable Series 2024B Bonds has been reduced to the applicable 400% 
PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for All Taxable Series 2024B Bonds, any remaining amounts shall be 
applied to redeem all Taxable Series 2024B Bonds, except the Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds, 
on a pro rata basis; and 

THIRD, after applying the amounts as described in clauses FIRST and SECOND above, any 
remaining amounts shall be applied to redeem all Taxable Series 2024B Bonds, including the Taxable 
Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds, on a pro rata basis. 

The applicable “100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC 
Bonds” is the amount set forth in the fourth column of Exhibit C for the first day of the month on which the 
redemption of Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds could occur.  Such amounts have been 
calculated based on the principal amount of Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds projected to remain 
Outstanding on each such date, after taking into account scheduled principal payments and projected 
redemptions of the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds based on a constant 100% PSA prepayment speed for the 
Certificates. 

The applicable “400% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for All Taxable Series 2024B Bonds” is the 
amount set forth in the fifth column of Exhibit C for the Interest Payment Date on which the redemption of 
the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds could occur on the first day of each month.  The amounts in the column 
for each such date have been calculated based on the principal amount of all Taxable Series 2024B Bonds 
(including Taxable Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds) projected to remain Outstanding on each such date, 
after taking into account scheduled principal payments and projected redemptions of Taxable Series 2024B 
Bonds based on a constant 400% PSA prepayment speed for the Certificates. 

The Outstanding Bond Amounts in Exhibit C shall be reduced if Taxable Series 2024B Bonds are 
subject to mandatory redemption under Section 3.2(A).  In such case, the amounts in the table shall be 
reduced, on a pro rata basis, by the principal amount of Taxable Series 2024B Bonds so redeemed.  

(C) Selection Procedure for Optional Redemption in Part.  If Bonds are subject to optional 
redemption in part under Section 3.2(C), the Bonds will be redeemed on a pro rata basis. 

(D) Other Selection Procedures.  Bonds (or portions thereof) shall be redeemed in a principal 
amount equal to $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, with each $5,000 of principal amount to be 
redeemed considered as one Bond. For purposes of determining Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed 
within a single maturity, Bonds shall be selected by lot in a manner chosen by the Trustee. 

Section 3.4 Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption shall be mailed not less than 20 days 
(or in the case of a redemption under Section 3.2(A) not less than 5 days), and not more than 60 days, prior 
to the redemption date, in each case to the Owners of any Bonds, or portions thereof, designated for 
redemption at their addresses appearing on the registration books of the Trustee; provided that if the Bonds 
are registered pursuant to Section 2.10 hereof, notice of redemption shall be given to DTC by the method 
required by DTC.  Each notice of redemption shall state the redemption date, the place or places of 
redemption and, if less than all Bonds are to be redeemed, the numbers of the Bonds to be redeemed and, 

62



30 
138026129.5/1001270822 

in the case of Bonds to be redeemed in part only, the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to 
be redeemed, and shall also state that on said date there will become due and payable on each of said Bonds 
the redemption price thereof, together with interest accrued thereon to the redemption date, and that from 
and after such redemption date interest thereon shall cease to accrue.  Neither the failure of an Owner to 
receive notice of redemption nor any defect in any notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of the 
proceedings for the redemption of any Bond of such Owner; and neither the failure to mail a redemption 
notice to a particular Owner nor any defect in any such notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of any 
of the proceedings for the redemption of any Bond. 

Notice of redemption shall be given by the Trustee for and on behalf of the Issuer.  Such notice 
shall be deemed to have been given when mailed, first class postage prepaid, or, if applicable, by the method 
required by DTC, to the Owner of the Bond. 

Section 3.5 Partial Redemption of Bonds.  Upon surrender, if required, of any Bond redeemed 
in part only, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof, a 
new Bond or Bonds of authorized denominations, equal in aggregate principal amount to, and of the same 
series and tenor as, the unredeemed portion of the Bond surrendered. 

Section 3.6 Effect of Redemption.  Notice of redemption having been duly given as aforesaid, 
and moneys being held by the Trustee for payment of the redemption price of, and interest accrued to the 
redemption date on, the Bonds so called for redemption on the redemption date designated in such notice, 
said Bonds shall become due and payable at the redemption price specified in such notice and interest on 
the Bonds so called for redemption shall cease to accrue.  Said Bonds shall cease to be entitled to any benefit 
or security under this Indenture, and the Owners of said Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except 
to receive payment of said redemption price and accrued interest from the moneys held by the Trustee 
therefor. 

All Bonds redeemed pursuant to the provisions of this Article III shall be canceled upon surrender 
thereof and disposed of by the Trustee in accordance with its policies. 

Section 3.7 Purchase of Bonds in Lieu of Redemption.  If at any time Bonds are subject to 
redemption, in lieu of such redemption the Issuer may direct the Trustee to purchase Bonds which would 
otherwise be subject to redemption, at a purchase price equal to or less than the related redemption price.  
Any such purchase must be completed prior to the time notice would otherwise be required to be given to 
redeem the Bonds and may not occur, without the consent of the Trustee, after a Record Date.  All Bonds 
so purchased shall be canceled by the Trustee and the face amount of the Bonds so purchased shall be 
applied as a credit against the Issuer’s obligation to redeem such Bonds from such moneys. 

63



31 
138026129.5/1001270822 

ARTICLE IV. 
FLOW OF FUNDS 

Section 4.1 Initial Funds.  On the Issuance Date, the Trustee shall receive (i) $______ as sale 
proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds, (i) $______ as sale proceeds of the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds and 
(iii) $_______ from the Issuer. 

Section 4.2 Establishment and Application of Program Fund, Cost of Issuance Fund and 
Capitalized Interest Fund.   

(A) The Trustee shall establish a Program Fund.  On the Issuance Date the Trustee shall deposit 
to the Program Fund (i) $_________ of Bond proceeds, and (ii) $_______ of Issuer funds. 

The Trustee shall purchase each Certificate from moneys in the Program Fund at the Certificate 
Sale Price from the Servicer or the Issuer.  The Certificates (excluding the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion) 
shall be held at all times by the Trustee in the Program Fund in trust for the benefit of the Owners of the 
Bonds. 

On each Certificate Sale Date, 0% of the principal amount of the Certificate shall be transferred 
from the Program Fund to the Cost of Issuance Fund and used to pay costs of issuance, including the 
reimbursement of costs of issuance previously paid by the Issuer. 

On the Nonorigination Redemption Date, unexpended amounts in the Program Fund (excluding 
any Issuer contributions) shall be applied to redeem the Bonds pursuant to Section 3.2(A) and any 
unexpended Issuer contributions shall be returned to the Issuer. 

(B) The Trustee shall not purchase a Certificate from the Servicer or the Issuer unless the 
Certificate bears interest at the Pass-Through Rate. 

(C) The Certificates purchased by the Trustee from the Servicer or the Issuer shall be held in 
book-entry form as described in this subsection.  A Certificate will be issued in book-entry form through 
the book-entry system of the Federal Reserve System, pursuant to which the Certificate shall have been 
registered on the books of the New York or Dallas Branch of the Federal Reserve Bank in the name of the 
Trustee or a depositary acting on its behalf (in either case, acting as a “participant” as defined in CFR § 
357.2, as made applicable to 24 CFR Part 81); and if held by a depositary, the Trustee shall have received 
confirmation in writing that the Depository is holding such Certificate on behalf of, and has identified such 
Certificate on its records as belonging to, the Trustee.  If the Trustee does not receive payment or advice of 
payment from the Depository with respect to a Certificate when due by the close of business on the 15th day 
of any month in the case of GNMA I Certificates, or the 20th day of any month in the case of GNMA II 
Certificates (or, in each case, the next Business Day if the applicable day is not a Business Day), the Trustee 
shall demand payment from the applicable Person in connection with the guaranty of timely payments of 
principal and interest by GNMA. 

(D) The Trustee shall establish and maintain for the Bonds a separate fund designated as the 
“Cost of Issuance Fund.”  From Issuer funds, the Trustee shall deposit $____ into such Fund on the Issuance 
Date and from Bond proceeds, the Trustee shall deposit $_____ into such Fund on the Issuance Date.  
Moneys deposited in such Fund shall be used to pay Costs of Issuance in accordance with written 
instructions of the Issuer stating the Person to whom payment is to be made and the amount to be paid.  On 
the first day of the second month following the final Nonorigination Redemption Date (or, if earlier, the 
first day of the second month after the month in which all of the moneys in the Program Fund have been 
expended for the purchase of Certificates and other authorized purposes), the Cost of Issuance Fund shall 

64



32 
138026129.5/1001270822 

be terminated, and any amounts then remaining on deposit therein shall be transferred in accordance with 
the written instructions of the Issuer.  Amounts on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund are not pledged for 
the payment of Debt Service of the Bonds.  The foregoing notwithstanding, the Issuer covenants that Costs 
of Issuance paid from the sale proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds shall not exceed the amount permitted 
by section 147(g) of the Code.  The Issuer allocates amounts paid for Costs of Issuance first to amounts 
deposited from Bond proceeds to the Cost of Issuance Fund. 

(E) The Nonorigination Redemption Date may be extended one or more times as to all or a 
portion of moneys in the Program Fund, if (a) the Issuer provides to the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel 
to the effect that such extension will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Series 2024A 
Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, (b) the Trustee shall have received any additional 
moneys as required by a Cash Flow Analysis and accompanied by an opinion of nationally recognized 
bankruptcy counsel selected by the Issuer to the effect that such moneys are not recoverable as preferences 
under the United States Bankruptcy Code, and (c) the Rating Agency shall provide to the Issuer written 
confirmation that such extension will not adversely affect the rating on the Bonds. 

(F) The Trustee shall establish and maintain for the Bonds a separate fund designated as the 
“Capitalized Interest Fund.”  From Issuer funds, the Trustee shall deposit $______ in the Capitalized 
Interest Fund on the Issuance Date.  Moneys deposited in the Capitalized Interest Fund shall be used by the 
Trustee to pay interest on the Bonds and Program Expenses, and make any required transfer to the Rebate 
Fund, to the extent insufficient amounts are available for such purpose in the Revenue Fund or the Rebate 
Fund.  On December 1, 2024 (or such later date established in connection with an extension of the 
Nonorigination Redemption Date), the Capitalized Interest Fund shall be terminated, and any amounts then 
remaining on deposit therein and not required to be transferred to the Rebate Fund shall be transferred to 
the Issuer free and clear of the lien of the Indenture.  

Section 4.3 Establishment and Application of Revenue Fund.  The Trustee shall establish, 
maintain, and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the “Revenue Fund.”  All Revenues as and when 
received shall be deposited to the Revenue Fund, provided that, upon receipt of the first payment with 
respect to a Certificate following the Certificate Purchase Date, the Trustee shall pay to the Servicer that 
portion of the interest received as shall reflect the amount of accrued interest that would have been paid had 
the Certificate been purchased by the Trustee with accrued interest, which portion of interest shall be 
determined by the Servicer and certified to the Trustee.  All Revenues shall be held by the Trustee in trust 
for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds; and the Issuer shall have no beneficial right or interest in any 
of such moneys, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Indenture. 

Section 4.4 Establishment of Other Funds; Allocation of Revenues to the Payment of Bonds 
and Program Expenses.  The Trustee shall establish and maintain the following separate Funds in addition 
to the Redemption Fund created pursuant to Section 3.1 hereof: (1) the 2024A Interest Fund, (2) the 2024B 
Interest Fund, (3) the 2024A Principal Fund, (4) the 2024B Principal Fund, (5) the Program Expense Fund 
and the (6) the Excess Interest Portion Fund.  The Trustee shall hold the 2024A Interest Fund and the 2024B 
Interest Fund (jointly, the “Interest Funds”) and the 2024A Principal Fund and the 2024B Principal Fund 
(jointly, the “Principal Funds”) in trust for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds. 

Upon receipt of each Certificate interest payment, the Trustee shall calculate the Issuer’s Excess 
Interest Portion relating to such payment and shall deposit such amount in the Excess Interest Portion Fund. 

65



33 
138026129.5/1001270822 

On or before the first Business Day of a month, the Trustee shall transfer from amounts deposited 
in the Revenue Fund during the prior month, the following amounts to the following Funds, in the following 
order of priority: 

(A) to the 2024A Interest Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the interest due and payable on the Series 2024A Bonds on the next Interest 
Payment Date; 

(B) to the 2024B Interest Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the interest due and payable on the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds on the next 
Interest Payment Date; 

(C) to the 2024A Principal Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the principal due and payable on the Series 2024A Bonds (by maturity or by 
sinking fund redemption) on the next Interest Payment Date; 

(D) to the 2024B Principal Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the principal due and payable on the Taxable Series 2024B Bonds (by maturity 
or by sinking fund redemption) on the next Interest Payment Date; 

(E) to the Rebate Fund, any Rebate Amount specified by the Rebate Analyst; 

(F) to the Program Expense Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the Program Expenses due and payable on the next Interest Payment Date; and 

(G) any balance shall be transferred to the Redemption Fund; provided that a minimum balance 
of $5,000 shall be retained in the Revenue Fund.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph (including clauses (A) through (G)), on and before  
September 1, 2024, all Certificate principal payments, including scheduled principal payments and 
Prepayments, shall be transferred directly from the Revenue Fund to the Redemption Fund.  The September 
1, 2024 date may be extended one or more times, by written notice from the Issuer to the Trustee, in 
connection with any extension of the Nonorigination Redemption Date. 

The funding requirements of each Fund (including the making up of any deficiencies in any such 
Fund resulting from lack of Revenues sufficient to make any earlier required deposit) at the time of deposit 
shall be satisfied before any transfer is made to any Fund subsequent in priority. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the optional redemption of the Bonds, amounts for any such 
redemption shall be deposited in a special account of the Revenue Fund and applied to the optional 
redemption of Bonds on the applicable redemption date. 

Section 4.5 Application of Program Expense Fund.  Amounts in the Program Expense Fund 
shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee for the purpose of paying the Program Expenses when due. 

66



34 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Section 4.6 Application of Excess Interest Portion Fund.  Amounts in the Excess Interest 
Portion Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee for purpose of paying the Issuer’s Excess Interest 
Portion when due. 

Section 4.7 Establishment and Application of Rebate Fund.   

(A) The Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the 
“Rebate Fund.”  The Rebate Analyst will calculate the Rebate Amount as provided herein.  Within sixty 
(60) days after each year during which any Series 2024A Bonds remain Outstanding (or any other date 
specified by the Rebate Analyst), and within sixty (60) days after the date of redemption of the last maturity 
constituting a portion of the Series 2024A Bonds, the Rebate Analyst shall calculate the Rebate Amount 
for the immediately preceding Bond Year.  The cost to the Issuer in making or obtaining such calculations 
shall be the Rebate Analyst’s Fee and shall be paid from the Program Expense Fund.  The Trustee may 
conclusively rely upon the calculation made by the Rebate Analyst and shall not be liable or responsible 
therefor. 

(B) All amounts in the Rebate Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee at the written 
instruction of the Rebate Analyst as required above solely for the purposes set forth in this Section 4.7.  If 
the amount in the Rebate Fund is for any reason insufficient to pay to the United States the amounts due as 
calculated pursuant to this Section, there shall be transferred to the Rebate Fund the amount of such 
deficiency by withdrawing said amount from the following Funds in the following order of priority, 
regardless of any other claim on such Funds: (1) the Revenue Fund; (2) the Redemption Fund; or (3) any 
other Fund established pursuant to this Indenture.  If the Rebate Analyst determines that the Rebate Amount 
for such Bond Year is less than the amount credited to the Rebate Fund during such Bond Year, the Rebate 
Analyst shall instruct the Trustee to promptly transfer from the Rebate Fund to the Revenue Fund an amount 
equal to such difference. 

(C) The Trustee shall pay to the United States of America at least once every five years an 
amount that the Rebate Analyst instructs it to make that will ensure that at least 90 percent of the Rebate 
Amount from the Issuance Date to the close of the period for which the payment is being made will have 
been paid.  The Trustee shall pay to the United States of America not later than 60 days after the Bonds 
have been paid in full 100 percent of the amount then required to be paid under section 148(f) of the Code 
pursuant to the written instructions of the Rebate Analyst.  The Issuer shall cooperate with the Trustee and 
the Rebate Analyst in the preparation and execution of all documentation required to be filed with the 
United States of America in connection with the making of the foregoing payments. 

(D) The Trustee shall unconditionally be entitled to accept and rely upon the recommendations, 
advice, calculations and opinions of the Rebate Analyst as to actions required or not required to be taken 
by the Trustee to comply with the provisions of section 148(f) of the Code.  The Trustee agrees to act in 
accordance with the recommendations, advice and opinions of the Rebate Analyst for the purpose of 
complying with any applicable provision of section 148(f) of the Code. 

Section 4.8 Application of Interest Funds.  Subject to Section 4.10 hereof, all amounts in the 
Interest Funds shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying interest on the 
Bonds as it shall become due and payable (including accrued interest on any Bonds purchased or redeemed 
prior to maturity). 

Section 4.9 Application of Principal Funds and Redemption Fund.  Subject to Section 4.10 
hereof, all amounts in the Principal Funds shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the 
purposes of paying principal of the Bonds as the same shall become due and payable.  Subject to Section 

67



35 
138026129.5/1001270822 

4.10 hereof, all amounts in the Redemption Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the 
purpose of paying the principal of, and premium, if any, on the Bonds. 

Section 4.10 Deficiencies in the Interest Funds or Principal Funds. 

(A) If the amount in the Interest Funds is insufficient to pay interest on the Bonds when due, 
the Trustee shall transfer to the 2024A Interest Fund or the 2024B Interest Fund, as applicable, the amount 
of such deficiency by withdrawing said amount from the following Funds in the following order of priority: 
(1) the Capitalized Interest Fund, (2) the Revenue Fund, (3) the Redemption Fund (but not with respect to 
amounts for which notice of redemption has been given), and (4) the 2024A Principal Fund or the 2024B 
Principal Fund, as applicable, proportionally (based on the respective Outstanding Bonds). 

(B) If the amount in the Principal Funds is insufficient to pay the principal of the Bonds when 
due, the Trustee shall transfer to the 2024A Principal Fund or the 2024B Principal Fund, as applicable, the 
amount of such deficiency by withdrawing said amount from the following Funds in the following order of 
priority: (1) the Revenue Fund, and (2) the Redemption Fund (but not with respect to amounts for which 
notice of redemption has been given). 

Section 4.11 Investment of Moneys in Funds.  Moneys deposited in the Program Fund and the 
Capitalized Interest Fund on the Issuance Date shall be invested in Investment Securities at the written 
direction of the Issuer delivered to the Trustee on or before the Issuance Date.  The Issuer may direct the 
Trustee in writing to sell any Investment Security prior to its maturity date, provided that the sale price of 
such Investment Security is equal to or greater than the maturity amount of such Investment Security. 

Excluding the Program Fund and the Capitalized Interest Fund, moneys in all other Funds 
established under this Indenture shall be invested by the Trustee in Investment Securities as directed by the 
Issuer in a Letter of Instructions. 

Moneys in all Funds established under this Indenture shall be invested in Investment Securities 
paying interest and maturing not later than the dates on which it is estimated that such moneys will be 
required by the Trustee for the purposes hereof. 

If an Investment Agreement is terminated prior to its term for any reason, the Issuer shall provide 
the Issuer written instructions regarding the reinvestment of such funds.  The Trustee will not be liable for 
any loss related to the replacement Investment Security bearing a lower interest rate or yield than the 
Investment Agreement. 

Investment Securities acquired as an investment of moneys in any Fund established under this 
Indenture shall be credited to such Fund.  For the purpose of determining the amount in any such Fund, all 
Investment Securities credited to such Fund shall be valued in accordance with the Trustee’s customary 
procedures.  In order to avoid loss in the event of any need for funds, the Issuer may instruct the Trustee, 
in lieu of a liquidation or redemption of investments in the fund or account needing moneys, to exchange 
such investments for investments in another fund or account that may be liquidated at no, or at a reduced, 
loss. 

To insure that cash on hand is invested, if the Issuer does not give the Trustee written or timely 
instructions with respect to investments of funds, the Trustee shall invest cash balances in a 100% U.S. 
Treasury money market or cash management fund that qualifies as an Investment Security.  The Trustee is 
specifically authorized to implement its automated cash investment system to assure that cash on hand is 
invested (provided that such investment is an Investment Security) and to charge its normal cash 
management fees, which may be deducted from income earned on investments.  The Trustee may make 

68



36 
138026129.5/1001270822 

any and all investments through its own bond or securities department or the bond or securities department 
of any affiliate of the Trustee. 

All interest, profits, and other income earned from investment of moneys in any Fund (other than 
the Rebate Fund, the Cost of Issuance Fund, the Excess Interest Portion Fund and the Program Expense 
Fund), each of which shall retain its earnings) shall be deposited when received in the Revenue Fund.  In 
order to avoid loss in the event of any need for funds, the Issuer may instruct the Trustee, in lieu of a 
liquidation or redemption of investments in the fund or account needing funds, to exchange such 
investments for investments in another fund that may be liquidated at no, or at a reduced, loss. 

Subject to Section 5.8 hereof, moneys in the Funds may be commingled for purposes of making, 
holding, and disposing of investments, notwithstanding provisions herein for transfer to or holding in 
particular Funds those amounts received or held by the Trustee hereunder, provided that the Trustee shall 
at all times account for such investments strictly in accordance with the Funds to which they are credited 
and otherwise as provided in this Indenture.  The Trustee may sell at the best price obtainable, or present 
for redemption, any Investment Securities so purchased whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide 
moneys to meet any required payment, transfer, withdrawal, or disbursement from the Fund to which such 
Investment Security is credited, and the Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from 
such investment or the sale thereof.  Provided that the Trustee makes investments as prescribed herein, the 
Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for the Bonds becoming “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of 
section 148 of the Code. 

Section 4.12 Disposition of Certificates.  The Issuer shall have the right to direct the Trustee to 
sell or otherwise dispose of some or all of the Certificates to effect an optional redemption of the Bonds 
pursuant to Section 3.2(C), on a date for which notice of redemption is timely given, at the applicable 
redemption price, or to effect a purchase in lieu of such redemption in accordance with Section 3.7;  
provided that if the Bonds are redeemed or purchased in part, the Trustee shall have received written 
confirmation from the Rating Agency that the rating of the remaining Outstanding Bonds will not be 
adversely affected; and provided further that the Issuer shall have agreed to terminate the Issuer’s Excess 
Interest Portion with respect to any Certificate so sold or otherwise disposed of. 

In connection with any optional redemption of the Bonds in part under Section 3.2(C), or a purchase 
of the Bonds in part, excess proceeds from the sale of the Certificates or excess moneys held under the 
Indenture may be distributed to the Issuer upon its written request, but only if the Trustee shall have received 
(i) an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such distribution to and use of any such moneys by the 
Issuer will not cause interest on the Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes pursuant to section 103(a) of the Code, and (ii) all Program Expenses then due or anticipated to 
be due have been paid or will be provided for. 

Section 4.13 Trustee to Purchase Certificates.  The Trustee hereby agrees to purchase 
Certificates from the Servicer or the Issuer, at the Certificate Sale Price, to the extent that funds are available 
therefor in the Program Fund (and any other applicable Fund), and all conditions of this Indenture are met 
for the purchase of Certificates. 

ARTICLE V. 
PARTICULAR COVENANTS 

Section 5.1 Punctual Payment.  The Issuer shall punctually pay or cause to be paid the principal 
amount of the Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to maturity, except that, in the case of Bonds which are 
to be redeemed prior to their maturity, the amount to be paid shall be the redemption price of such Bonds 
and all unpaid interest thereon to the redemption date, in strict conformity with the terms of the Bonds and 

69



37 
138026129.5/1001270822 

of this Indenture, according to the true intent and meaning thereof but only out of Revenues and other assets 
pledged for such payment as provided in this Indenture. 

Section 5.2 Extension of Payment of Bonds.  The Issuer shall not, directly or indirectly, extend 
or assent to the extension of the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any of the claims 
for interest by the purchase or funding of such Bonds or claims for interest or by any other arrangement, 
and in case the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any such claims for interest shall be 
extended, such Bonds or claims for interest shall not be entitled, in case of any default hereunder, to the 
benefits of this Indenture, except subject to the prior payment in full of the principal of all the Bonds then 
Outstanding and of all claims for interest thereon which shall not have been so extended.  Nothing in this 
Section shall be deemed to limit the right of the Issuer to issue bonds for the purpose of refunding any 
Outstanding Bonds, and such issuance shall not be deemed to constitute an extension of maturity of the 
Bonds. 

Section 5.3 No Other Encumbrances.  The Issuer shall not create, or permit the creation of, any 
pledge, lien, charge, or other encumbrance upon the Revenues or other assets pledged or assigned under 
this Indenture with respect to the Bonds while any of the Bonds are Outstanding, except the pledge and 
assignment created by this Indenture. 

Section 5.4 Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge and Assignment.  The Issuer is duly 
authorized pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State, including the Act, to issue the Bonds and to 
enter into this Indenture, and to pledge and assign the Revenues and other assets purported to be pledged 
and assigned, respectively, under this Indenture in the manner and to the extent provided in this Indenture.  
The Bonds and the provisions of this Indenture are and will be legal, valid, and binding limited obligations 
of the Issuer in accordance with their terms, and the Issuer and Trustee shall at all times, to the extent 
permitted by law, defend, preserve, and protect said pledge and assignment of the Revenues and other assets 
and all the rights of the Owners under this Indenture against all claims and demands of all Persons 
whatsoever. 

Section 5.5 Payment of Taxes and Claims.  With respect to the Bonds, the Issuer or the Trustee, 
at the written direction of the Issuer, shall, from time to time but solely from funds available therefor under 
this Indenture, duly pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and discharged, any property taxes, assessments, 
or other governmental charges that may be lawfully imposed upon the Revenues with respect to such series 
or other assets pledged or assigned under this Indenture, when the same shall become due, as well as any 
lawful claim which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien or charge upon such Revenues or such other 
assets or which might impair the security of the Bonds. 

Section 5.6 Accounting Records and Financial Statements.  The Trustee shall at all times keep, 
or cause to be kept, proper books of record and account in which complete and accurate entries shall be 
made of all transactions relating to the proceeds of the Bonds, the Revenues, the Certificates and all Funds 
established pursuant to this Indenture.  Such books of record and account shall be available for inspection 
by the Trustee, the Issuer, the Rating Agency and the Owners of at least 10% of the aggregate principal 
amount of all Bonds then Outstanding, or by the agents or representatives thereof duly authorized in writing, 
at reasonable hours and under reasonable circumstances. 

The Issuer and the Trustee shall also provide to the Rating Agency such information as the Rating 
Agency shall reasonably request, including, but not limited to, the periodic reports customarily required to 
be submitted in order to maintain the credit rating on the Bonds. 

Section 5.7 Maintenance of Powers.  As long as Bonds remain Outstanding, the Issuer shall 
use its best efforts to preserve its existence as a nonprofit corporation organized pursuant to the Act, and 

70



38 
138026129.5/1001270822 

will not be dissolved or lose its right to exist as such or lose any rights necessary to enable it to function 
and to maintain the Revenues.  The Issuer shall at all times use its best efforts to maintain the powers, 
functions, duties, and obligations now reposed in it pursuant to law, and will not at any time voluntarily do, 
suffer, or permit any act or thing the effect of which would be to hinder, delay, or imperil either the payment 
of the indebtedness evidenced by the Bonds or the observance of any of the covenants herein contained. 

Section 5.8 Tax Covenants.   

(A) The Issuer shall not use or permit the use of any proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds or 
any other funds of the Issuer, directly or indirectly, to acquire any securities or obligations, and shall not 
use or permit the use of any amounts received by the Issuer or Trustee with respect to the Mortgage Loans 
relating to the Series 2024A Bonds in any manner, and shall not take or permit to be taken, to the best of 
its knowledge, any other action or actions, which would cause any Series 2024A Bond to be an “arbitrage 
bond” under section 148 of the Code or violate the requirements of section 143(g) of the Code.  If at any 
time the Issuer is of the opinion that for purposes of this subsection (A) it is necessary to restrict or limit 
the yield on the investment of any moneys held by the Trustee under this Indenture, the Issuer shall file a 
written request to such effect with the Trustee, and the Trustee shall use its best efforts consistent with the 
requirements of the Investment Agreement or any other investment to take such action as may be necessary 
in accordance with such instructions. 

(B) The Issuer shall not use or permit the use of any proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds or 
any other funds of the Issuer, directly or indirectly, in any manner, and shall not take or permit to be taken 
any other action or actions, which would result in any of the Series 2024A Bonds being treated as an 
obligation not described in section 103(a) of the Code.  In particular, the Issuer covenants as follows:  (i) that 
the Issuer will attempt in good faith to meet all mortgage eligibility requirements imposed by section 143 
of the Code with respect to all of the Mortgage Loans, before the Mortgages are executed, by placing 
restrictions in the Lender Agreements and the Program Guidelines that permit the financing of Mortgage 
Loans only in accordance with such requirements and by establishing reasonable procedures to ensure 
compliance with such requirements, including reasonable investigations by the Issuer or its agents to 
determine that the Mortgage Loans satisfy such requirements; (ii) that the Issuer will use all due diligence 
to assure that 95% or more of the lendable proceeds of the Bonds that are devoted to owner financing under 
the Program shall be devoted to residences as to which, at the time the Mortgage Loans are executed or 
assumed, all such mortgage mortgagor eligibility requirements are met; and (iii) that the Issuer shall correct 
any and all failures to meet such mortgage eligibility requirements within a reasonable time after such 
failure is discovered by causing the nonqualifying Mortgage Loan to be called or to be replaced with a 
Mortgage Loan meeting such requirements. 

(C) The Issuer and the Trustee reserve the right, however, to purchase any Investment Security 
permitted by the laws of the State if, when, and to the extent that the Code shall be repealed, amended or 
interpreted to permit the same or shall be held void by final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction 
so as to permit the Issuer or the Trustee to do so, but only if such investment made by virtue of such repeal, 
amendment, interpretation, or decision would not, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, result in making the 
interest on the Series 2024A Bonds includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

(A) Any person, or any related party, as defined in Section 1.150-1 of the Treasury Regulations, 
as amended, from whom the Issuer may, under the Program, acquire obligations, shall not, pursuant to an 
arrangement, formal or informal, purchase the Series 2024A Bonds in an amount related to the amount of 
the obligations to be acquired under the Program from such person by the Issuer. 

Without limiting the foregoing, the Issuer and the Trustee shall at all times use their reasonable best 
efforts to do and perform all acts and things permitted by law and this Indenture that are necessary or 

71



39 
138026129.5/1001270822 

desirable in order to assure that interest paid on the Series 2024A Bonds shall be excludable from gross 
income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. 

Section 5.9 Compliance with Indenture, Contracts, Laws and Regulations.  The Issuer and the 
Trustee shall faithfully observe and perform all the covenants, conditions, and requirements of this 
Indenture as required of the Issuer and the Trustee, respectively, and the Issuer shall not issue any Bonds 
in any manner other than in accordance with this Indenture, and shall not suffer or permit any default to 
occur hereunder or do or permit to be done anything that might in any way weaken, diminish or impair the 
security intended to be given pursuant to this Indenture.  Subject to the limitations and consistent with the 
covenants, conditions and requirements contained in this Indenture, the Issuer shall comply with the terms, 
covenants and provisions, express or implied, of all contracts concerning or affecting the Bonds and the 
application of proceeds of the Bonds, the Certificates, the Mortgage Loans and the Revenues. 

Section 5.10 Program Covenants. 

(A) The Issuer shall from time to time, with all practical dispatch and in a sound and 
economical manner consistent with the Act, the Program, this Indenture, the Agreements, and all other 
applicable laws and regulations, cause the amounts held in the Program Fund to be used and applied to the 
purchase Certificates, and shall take all steps, actions, and proceedings reasonably necessary in the 
judgment of the Issuer to cause the terms, covenants, and conditions of the Agreements to be enforced. 

(B) The Issuer covenants that amounts initially deposited in the Program Fund shall be used to 
purchase Certificates backed by Mortgage Loans originated by the Lenders that are in compliance with the 
Act, the Program, the Agreements and this Indenture.  The Issuer represents, based solely on the cash flow 
analyses presented to the Rating Agency in connection with the initial delivery of the Bonds, that the 
aggregate payments of principal and interest on the Certificates (excluding the Issuer’s Excess Interest 
Portion) will be sufficient, together with other expected Revenues, to pay Debt Service on the Bonds when 
due and all Program Expenses. The Trustee shall have no obligation to independently assure compliance 
with the preceding covenant or representation. 

Section 5.11 Waiver of Laws.  The Issuer shall not at any time insist upon or plead in any 
manner whatsoever, or claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay or extension provision of law 
now or at any time hereafter in force that may adversely affect the covenants and agreements contained in 
this Indenture or in the Bonds, and all benefit or advantage of any such law or laws is hereby expressly 
waived by the Issuer to the extent permitted by law. 

Section 5.12 Further Assurances.  The Issuer will make, execute and deliver any and all such 
further indentures, instruments and assurances as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry out the 
intention or to facilitate the performance of this Indenture and for the better assuring and confirming unto 
the Owners of the rights and benefits provided in this Indenture. 

ARTICLE VI. 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF OWNERS 

Section 6.1 Events of Default.  The following events shall be considered Events of Default: 

(A) default in the due and punctual payment of the principal amount or redemption price of any 
Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity as therein expressed or by 
proceedings for redemption or by declaration of acceleration or otherwise; 

72



40 
138026129.5/1001270822 

(B) default in the due and punctual payment of any installment of interest on any Bond when 
and as such interest installment shall become due and payable; 

(C) default by the Issuer in observance of any of the covenants, agreements, or conditions on 
its part contained in this Indenture or in the Bonds (other than in clauses (A) or (B) above), if such default 
shall have continued for a period of 60 days after written notice thereof, specifying such default and 
requiring the same to be remedied, shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee, or to the Issuer and 
the Trustee by the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the 
time Outstanding; 

(D) the assumption, under the provisions of any law relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
any similar law relating to creditors rights, by any court of competent jurisdiction, of custody or control of 
the Issuer or of the whole or any substantial part of its property, if such custody or control is not terminated 
or stayed within 60 days from the date of assumption of such custody or control; 

(E) the Issuer is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction or an order, judgment, 
or decree is entered by a court of competent jurisdiction appointing without the consent of the Issuer a 
receiver or trustee of the Issuer of the whole or any part of its properties or the Issuer is adjudged a bankrupt 
under a petition filed in bankruptcy under state law against the Issuer and any of the aforesaid adjudications, 
orders, judgments, or decrees shall not be vacated or set aside or stayed within 60 days from the date of 
entry thereof; or 

(F) the Issuer shall file a petition in bankruptcy or an order for relief in bankruptcy is entered 
against the Issuer under the federal bankruptcy laws of any other applicable law or statute of the United 
States of America or any state thereof. 

Section 6.2 Acceleration of Maturities.  If an Event of Default under Section 6.1(A) or Section 
6.1(B) hereof shall occur then, and in each and every such case during the continuance of such Event of 
Default, the Trustee may, and upon the written direction of the Owners of not less than a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding, shall, upon notice in writing to the Issuer, 
declare the principal of all the Bonds then Outstanding, and the interest accrued thereon, to be due and 
payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and shall be immediately due 
and payable, anything in this Indenture or in the Bonds contained to the contrary notwithstanding.  If any 
other Event of Default shall occur then, and in each and every such case during the continuance of such 
Event of Default, the Trustee, upon the written direction of the Owners of 100% of the Bonds at the time 
Outstanding, shall, upon notice in writing to the Issuer, declare the principal of all the Bonds then 
Outstanding, and the interest accrued thereon, to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such 
declaration the same shall become and shall be immediately due and payable, anything in this Indenture or 
in the Bonds contained to the contrary notwithstanding. 

Any such declaration, however, is subject to the condition that if, at any time after such declaration 
and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due shall have been obtained or entered, 
(i) the Issuer shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay the principal 
amount or redemption price of and installments of interest on the Bonds payment of which is overdue, with 
interest on such overdue principal at the rate borne by the Bonds, and the reasonable charges and expenses 
of the Trustee, (ii) any and all other defaults known to the Trustee (other than in the payment of principal 
amount or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds due and payable solely by reason of such 
declaration) shall have been made good or cured to the satisfaction of the Trustee or provision deemed by 
the Trustee to be adequate shall have been made therefor, and (iii) the Issuer shall execute an instrument 
acknowledging or reinstating, as appropriate, the Issuer’s obligations with respect to the Bonds, then, and 
in every such case, the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then 

73



41 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Outstanding, by written notice to the Issuer and to the Trustee, may, on behalf of the Owners of all the 
Bonds, rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences and waive such default; but no such 
rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default, or shall impair or exhaust 
any right or power consequent thereon. 

Section 6.3 Other Acts by Trustee.  If an Event of Default hereunder shall occur and be 
continuing with respect to the Bonds, then the Trustee may and, upon the written request of the Owners of 
not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount Outstanding of the Bonds, and upon being 
indemnified to its satisfaction, shall: 

(a) by mandamus or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity require the Issuer to 
perform its covenants, representations, and duties under this Indenture; 

(b) bring suit upon such Bonds; 

(c) by action or suit in equity require the Issuer to account as if it were the trustee of an express 
trust for the Owners of such Bonds; 

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or a violation 
of the rights of the Owners of such Bonds; or 

(e) take such other steps to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Owners of the 
Bonds, whether by action, suit, or proceeding in aid of the execution of any power herein granted or for the 
enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable remedy.  

Section 6.4 Judicial Proceedings.  If an Event of Default hereunder shall occur, and be 
continuing, with respect to the Bonds, then the Trustee may, and upon written request by the Owners of not 
less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount Outstanding of the Bonds and upon being 
indemnified to its satisfaction, shall, proceed by suit or suits, at law or in equity or by any other appropriate 
legal or equitable remedy, to enforce payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds under a judgment 
or decree of a court or courts of competent jurisdiction or by the enforcement of any other appropriate legal 
or equitable remedy, as the Trustee shall determine to be most effective to protect and enforce any of its 
rights or the rights of the Owners hereunder. 

Section 6.5 Application of Revenues and Other Funds After Event of Default.  If an Event of 
Default shall occur and be continuing, all Revenues and any other amounts then held or thereafter received 
by the Trustee under any of the provisions of this Indenture (exclusive of any amounts held in the Cost of 
Issuance Fund or any Rebate Amount and any moneys held pursuant to Section 10.8 hereof) shall be applied 
by the Trustee as follows and in the following order of priority: 

(A) Notwithstanding any provision of the Indenture limiting the Trustee’s fees, to the payment 
of the unpaid compensation of the Trustee under Section 7.2 hereof, any expenses of third parties (including 
counsel to the Issuer) necessary in the opinion of the Trustee to protect the interests of the Owners of the 
Bonds, and reasonable charges and expenses of the Trustee (including reasonable fees and disbursements 
of its counsel), incurred in and about the performance of its powers and duties under this Indenture; 

(B) To the payment of the principal amount or redemption price of and interest then due on the 
Bonds (upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds to be paid) subject to the provisions of this Indenture 
(including Section 6.2 hereof), unless the principal amount and redemption price of all the Bonds shall have 
become or have been declared due and payable, as follows: 

74



42 
138026129.5/1001270822 

First: To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest then due in the 
order of the maturity of such installments, and if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full 
any installment or installments maturing on the same date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according 
to the amounts due thereon, to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and 

Second:    To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal amount or 
redemption price of any Bonds which shall have become due, whether at maturity or by call for redemption, 
in the order of their due dates, with interest on the overdue principal at the rate borne by the Bonds, and, if 
the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds due on any date, together with such 
interest, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the principal amount or redemption price due on 
such date to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; 

(C) If the principal amount or redemption price of all the Bonds shall have become or have 
been declared due and payable, to the payment of the principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the 
Bonds, with interest on the overdue principal at the rate borne by the Bonds, and, if the amount available 
shall not be sufficient to pay in full the whole amount so due and unpaid, then to the payment thereof 
ratably, without preference or priority of principal over interest, or of interest over principal, or of any 
installment of interest over any other installment of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bond, according 
to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest to the Persons entitled thereto without any 
discrimination or preference. 

The payments of Rebate Amount required by Section 4.7 hereof to be made to the United States 
shall continue even if an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 

Section 6.6 Trustee to Represent Owners.  The Trustee is hereby irrevocably appointed (and 
the successive respective Owners of the Bonds, by taking and holding the same, shall be conclusively 
deemed to have so appointed the Trustee) as trustee and true and lawful attorney-in-fact of the Owners of 
the Bonds for the purpose of exercising and prosecuting on their behalf such rights and remedies as may be 
available to such Owners under the provisions of the Bonds, this Indenture, the Agreements, the Act and 
applicable provisions of any other law.  Upon instituting any proceeding permitted hereunder, the Trustee 
shall be entitled, as a matter of right, to the appointment of a receiver of the Revenues and other assets 
pledged to the Bonds under this Indenture, pending such proceedings.  All rights of action under this 
Indenture or the Bonds or otherwise may be prosecuted and enforced by the Trustee without the possession 
of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any proceedings relating thereto, and any such suit, action, 
or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in the name of the Trustee for the benefit and 
protection of all the Owners of Bonds subject to the provisions of this Indenture. 

Section 6.7 Owners’ Direction of Proceedings.  Anything in this Indenture to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding 
shall have the right, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing executed and delivered to the 
Trustee, to direct the method of conducting all remedial proceedings taken by the Trustee hereunder with 
respect to the Bonds, provided that the Trustee shall have been indemnified to its satisfaction and such 
direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with law and the provisions of this Indenture, and that 
the Trustee shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of counsel 
rendered to the Trustee would be unjustly prejudicial to Owners of Bonds not parties to such direction. 

Section 6.8 Limitation on Owners’ Right to Sue.  No Owner of any Bond shall have the right 
to institute any suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, for the protection or enforcement of any right 
or remedy under this Indenture, the Act, or any other applicable law with respect to such Bond, unless (A) 
such Owner shall have given to the Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default; (B) the 
Owners of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then 

75



43 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Outstanding shall have made written request upon the Trustee to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted 
or to institute such suit, action, or proceeding in its own name; (C) such Owner or said Owners shall have 
tendered to the Trustee indemnity satisfactory to it against the costs, expenses, and liabilities to be incurred 
in compliance with such request; and (D) the Trustee shall have refused or omitted to comply with such 
request for a period of 60 days after such written request shall have been received by, and said tender of 
indemnity shall have been made to, the Trustee. 

Such notification, request, tender of indemnity, and refusal or omission are hereby declared, in 
every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise by any Owner of Bonds of any remedy hereunder or 
under law; it being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bonds shall have any right in 
any manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb, or prejudice the security of this Indenture or 
the rights of any other Owners of Bonds, or to enforce any right under this Indenture, the Act, or other 
applicable law with respect to the Bonds, except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at 
law or in equity to enforce any such right shall be instituted, had, and maintained in the manner herein 
provided and for the benefit and protection of all Owners of the Outstanding Bonds, subject to the provisions 
of this Indenture. 

Section 6.9 Absolute Obligation of Issuer.  Nothing in this Indenture, or in the Bonds, 
contained shall affect or impair the obligation of the Issuer, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the 
principal amount or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds to the respective Owners of the Bonds 
at their respective dates of maturity, or upon call for redemption, as herein provided, but only out of the 
Revenues and other assets herein pledged to the Bonds, or affect or impair the right of such Owners, which 
is also absolute and unconditional, to enforce such payment by virtue of the contract embodied in the Bonds. 

Section 6.10 Termination of Proceedings.  In case any proceedings taken by the Trustee or any 
one or more Owners of Bonds on account of any Event of Default shall have been discontinued or 
abandoned for any reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee or such Owners, then in 
every such case the Issuer, the Trustee, and such Owners, subject to any determination in such proceedings, 
shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, severally and respectively, and all rights, 
remedies, powers, and duties of the Issuer, the Trustee, and such Owners shall continue as though no such 
proceedings had been taken. 

Section 6.11 Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the 
Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and 
each and every such remedy, to the extent permitted by law, shall be cumulative and in addition to any 
other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise. 

Section 6.12 No Waiver of Default.  No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Owner of 
Bonds to exercise any right or power arising upon the occurrence of any Event of Default shall impair any 
such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence therein, and 
every power and remedy given by this Indenture to the Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds may be 
exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 

Section 6.13 Proofs of Claims.  The Trustee may file such proofs of claim and other papers or 
documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claim of the Trustee and the Owners 
allowed in any judicial proceeding relative to the Issuer, the Servicer or any other person, their creditors or 
their property.  The expenses incurred by the Trustee in any insolvency proceeding shall be an 
administrative expense under any bankruptcy law.  No provision of this Indenture empowers the Trustee to 
authorize, consent to, accept or adopt on behalf of any Owner any plan of reorganization, arrangement, 
adjustment or composition affecting any of the rights of any Owner of Bonds, or authorizes the Trustee to 
vote in respect of the claim in any proceeding described in this Section. 

76



44 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Section 6.14 Undertaking for Costs.  In any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy 
under this Indenture or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it as Trustee, a 
court in its discretion may assess reasonable costs including reasonable attorney’s fees against the parties 
litigant in this suit having due regard for the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by the 
party litigant.  This Section does not apply to a suit by the Trustee, a suit by an Owner pursuant to its rights 
under Section 6.8 above, or a suit by Owners of more than 10% in principal amount of the Bonds 
Outstanding. 

ARTICLE VII. 
THE TRUSTEE 

Section 7.1 Appointment of Trustee and Acceptance; Duties, Immunities, and Liabilities of 
Trustee.   

(A) The Issuer hereby appoints Computershare Trust Company, N.A. as Trustee under this 
Indenture.  The Trustee shall signify its acceptance of the duties and obligations imposed upon it by this 
Indenture by executing this Indenture. 

(B) The Trustee shall, prior to an Event of Default, and after the curing of any such Event of 
Default which may have occurred, perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in 
this Indenture, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture or any other 
agreement relating hereto against the Trustee.  The Trustee shall, during the existence of any Event of 
Default (which has not been cured), exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this Indenture, 
and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under 
the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs. 

(C) The Issuer may remove the Trustee at any time with or without cause unless an Event of 
Default shall have occurred and then be continuing.  The Issuer shall remove the Trustee if at any time 
requested to do so by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by the Owners of not less 
than a majority in aggregate principal amount of all of the Bonds then Outstanding (or their attorneys duly 
authorized in writing) or if at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with subsection 
(E) of this Section, or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or a 
receiver of the Trustee or its property shall be appointed, or any public officer shall take control or charge 
of the Trustee or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation, or liquidation, in 
each case by giving written notice of such removal to the Trustee and the Issuer shall appoint a successor 
Trustee by an instrument in writing provided, however, that the Rating Agency is notified in writing that 
any such successor trustee has been appointed. 

(D) The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice of such resignation to the 
Issuer and by giving the Owners notice of such resignation by written notice sent by first-class mail, but 
such resignation shall not be effective until the successor Trustee shall have been appointed and has 
accepted such appointment as herein provided. Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the Issuer shall 
promptly appoint a successor Trustee by an instrument in writing. 

(E) Any removal or resignation of the Trustee and appointment of a successor Trustee shall 
become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee and the payment to the 
predecessor of its compensation and reasonable expenses due to it.  Promptly upon such acceptance, the 
Issuer shall give written notice thereof to the Owners in writing.  If no successor Trustee shall have been 
appointed and have accepted appointment within 45 days of the giving of notice of removal or resignation 
as aforesaid, the resigning Trustee or any Owner (on behalf of himself and all other Owners) may petition 
any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee, and such court may 

77



45 
138026129.5/1001270822 

thereupon, after such notice (if any) as it may deem proper, appoint such successor Trustee.  Any successor 
Trustee appointed under this Indenture shall signify its acceptance of such appointment by executing and 
delivering to the Issuer and to the predecessor Trustee a written acceptance thereof, and thereupon such 
successor Trustee, without any further act, deed, or conveyance, shall become vested with all the moneys, 
estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties, and obligations of such predecessor Trustee, with like 
effect as if originally named Trustee herein; but, nevertheless at the request of the Issuer or the request of 
the successor Trustee, such predecessor Trustee, upon being paid any unpaid compensation due hereunder, 
shall execute and deliver any and all instruments of conveyance or further assurance and do such other 
things as may reasonably be required for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such 
successor Trustee all the right, title, and interest of such predecessor Trustee in and to any property held by 
it under this Indenture and shall pay over, transfer, assign, and deliver to the successor Trustee any money 
or other property subject to the trusts and conditions herein set forth.  Upon request of the or Trustee, the 
Issuer shall execute and deliver any and all instruments as may be reasonably required for more fully and 
certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor Trustee all such moneys, estates, properties, rights, 
powers, trusts, duties, and obligations. 

(F) Any Trustee appointed under the provisions of this Section in succession to the Trustee 
shall be a trust company, national banking association, or bank having the powers of a trust company and 
having a combined capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000 and subject to supervision or examination by 
federal or state authority.  If such bank, national banking association, or trust company publishes a report 
of condition at least annually, pursuant to law or to the requirements of any supervising or examining 
authority above referred to, then for the purpose of this Section the combined capital and surplus of such 
bank, national banking association, or trust company shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus 
as set forth in its most recent report of condition so published.  In case at any time the Trustee shall cease 
to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this subsection (E), such shall resign immediately in the 
manner and with the effect specified in this Section. 

(G) Any company into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be 
consolidated or any company resulting from any merger, conversion, or consolidation to which it shall be 
a party or any company to which the Trustee may sell or transfer all or substantially all its corporate trust 
business, provided such company shall be eligible under subsection (E) of this Section, shall be the 
successor to such Trustee without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act, anything herein to 
the contrary notwithstanding. 

(H) Regardless of whether there exists and is continuing an Event of Default, no provision of 
this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial 
liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers. 

(I) The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have taken notice 
hereunder of any event which would constitute an Event of Default hereunder or under the Agreements, 
except Event of Defaults under Section 6.1(A) and Section 6.1(B) hereof, or by actual knowledge of such 
event or Event of Default by a Responsible Officer of the Trustee (as defined in Section 7.5) unless the 
Trustee shall be specifically notified in writing by the Issuer or by the Owners of not less than 25% of the 
principal amount of the Bonds.  Actual knowledge means the fact of knowing without a duty to investigate. 

(J) The Trustee, in its commercial banking or any other capacity, may become the owner, 
underwriter, or pledgee of Bonds or other certificates or evidences of ownership or pledge thereof issued 
hereunder, with the same rights it would have if it were not the Trustee. 

Section 7.2 Compensation.  The Trustee’s ordinary fees and expenses shall be limited to an 
amount equal to the Trustee’s Fee and shall be payable solely from amounts in the Program Expense Fund.  

78



46 
138026129.5/1001270822 

As security for the payment of the Trustee’s fees, costs, and expenses, the Trustee, after and during the 
continuance of an Event of Default under Section 6.1(A) or Section 6.1(B), shall have a first lien on all 
moneys and property coming into its possession (except for any moneys on deposit with the Trustee which 
is held in the Principal Funds, Interest Funds or Redemption Fund for the purpose of paying to Owners 
principal, premium, if any, or interest which has previously become payable with respect to the Bonds).  In 
the event the Trustee incurs expenses or renders services in any proceedings that result from the occurrence 
or continuance of any other Event of Default, or from the occurrence of any event that, by virtue of the 
passage of time, would become such Event of Default, the expenses so incurred and compensation for 
services so rendered are intended to constitute expenses of administration under the United States 
Bankruptcy Code or equivalent law. 

Section 7.3 Liability of Trustee.  The recitals of facts herein and in the Bonds contained shall 
be taken as statements of the Issuer, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for the correctness of the 
same, and makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Indenture, any other agreement 
relating hereto or the Bonds or in respect of the security afforded by this Indenture, and shall incur no 
responsibility in respect thereof or with respect to the issuance of Bonds for value or the application of the 
proceeds thereof or the application of any moneys paid to the Issuer, other than in connection with the 
duties or obligations herein or in the Bonds assigned to or imposed upon it. The Trustee shall, however, be 
responsible for its representations contained in its certificate of authentication on the Bonds.  The Trustee 
shall not be liable in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder except for its own negligence 
or willful misconduct; provided, however, this sentence will not be construed to limit the effect of the first 
sentence of Section 7.1(A) hereof relating to the Trustee’s administrative duties prior to an Event of Default.  
The Trustee may become the owner of Bonds and be a Lender with the same rights it would have if it were 
not Trustee and, to the extent permitted by law, may act as depository for and permit any of their officers 
or directors to act as a member of, or in any other capacity with respect to, any committee formed to protect 
the rights of Owners, whether or not such committee shall represent the Owners of a majority in principal 
amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken by it in good faith and believed by it to be 
authorized or within the discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by this Indenture. 

Section 7.4 Right of Trustee to Rely on Documents.  The Trustee shall be fully protected in 
acting upon any notice, resolution, request, consent, order, certificate, report, opinion, bond, or other paper 
or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.  
The Trustee may consult with counsel, who may be counsel of or to the Issuer, with regard to legal 
questions, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect 
of any action taken or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance therewith. 

Whenever in the administration of the trusts imposed upon it by this Indenture the Trustee shall 
deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action 
hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may be 
deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a certificate of the Issuer, the Servicer, or GNMA, 
and such certificate shall be full warrant to the Trustee for any action taken or suffered in good faith under 
the provisions of this Indenture in reliance upon such certificate, but in its discretion the Trustee may, in 
lieu thereof, accept other evidence of such matter or may require such additional evidence as it may deem 
reasonable. 

Section 7.5 Preservation and Inspection of Documents and Other Rights of the Trustee.  All 
documents received by the Trustee under the provisions of this Indenture shall be retained in its possession 
and shall be subject at all reasonable times to the inspection of the Issuer, the Rating Agency, and the 
Owners of at least 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or by agents or 

79



47 
138026129.5/1001270822 

representatives thereof duly authorized, and their agents and representatives duly authorized in writing, 
during regular business hours and under reasonable conditions, as well as by others at the direction of the 
Issuer or any agent of the Issuer, so long as the Trustee is compensated or reimbursed for any expenses 
incurred. 

Regardless of whether there is an Event of Default, the Trustee shall not be under any obligation 
or duty to perform any act which would involve it in any expense or liability or to institute or defend any 
suit, or to advance any of its own moneys, unless properly indemnified to its satisfaction against the costs, 
expenses, and liabilities which may be incurred thereby solely from moneys available hereunder or by the 
Owners.  The Trustee shall not be personally liable with respect to (i) an error of judgment made in good 
faith by a Responsible Officer of the Trustee unless it shall be proved that the Trustee was negligent in 
ascertaining the pertinent facts, (ii) any action taken, suffered, or omitted to be taken by it in good faith, in 
accordance with the directions of Owners of not less that twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of 
the Bonds then Outstanding relating to the time, method, and place of conducting any proceeding for any 
remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee under this 
Indenture, or (iii) the Series 2024A Bonds becoming “arbitrage bonds” with the meaning of the Code, if 
the Trustee makes investments pursuant to instructions contained in this Indenture.  The immunities, 
exemptions, and indemnifications from liability of the Trustee under this Indenture shall extend to its 
directors, officers, employees, and agents.  Whenever this Indenture provides that the Trustee shall take any 
action, including the giving of any notice, or refrain from taking any action upon the happening or 
continuation of a specified event or upon the fulfillment of any condition or upon the request of the Owners, 
the Trustee shall have no liability for failure to take such action or for failure to refrain from taking such 
action, unless and until the Responsible Officer of the Trustee at the Trustee’s Principal Office has 
knowledge of such event, in the case of events specified in Section 6.1(A) or Section 6.1(B) hereof, or 
written notification of such event in the case of other events, or continuation thereof or the fulfillment of 
such condition or shall have received such request. 

“Responsible Officer of the Trustee” shall mean the officer or officers of the Trustee specifically 
administering the Indenture. 

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Trustee shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire 
as to the performance or observance by the Issuer, the Servicer, the Rebate Analyst or any other person of 
any of the terms, conditions, covenants or agreements herein or of any of the documents executed in 
connection with the Bonds, or as to the existence of a default or Event of Default hereunder or thereunder.  
The Trustee shall not be responsible for the validity or effectiveness of any collateral given to or held by it.  
The Trustee shall not be responsible for the recording or filing of any document relating to this Indenture 
or of financing statements (or continuation statements in connection therewith) or of any supplemental 
instruments or documents of further assurance as may be required by law in order to perfect the security 
interests in any collateral given to or held by it. 

The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder 
either directly or through agents, attorneys, accountants, or receivers and shall not be responsible for the 
acts of any agents, attorneys, accountants, or receivers appointed with due care. The permissive right of the 
Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall not be construed as a duty.  The Trustee shall have 
the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect of the authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal 
of any cash, the release of any property, or any action whatsoever within the purview of this Indenture, any 
showings, certificates, opinions, appraisals, or other information, or corporate or partnership action or 
evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof required, as a condition of such action by the 
Trustee as are deemed desirable for the purpose of establishing the right of the Issuer to the authentication 
of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, the release of any property, or the taking of any other action by 
the Trustee.  The Trustee’s immunities and protections from liability, and its right to payment of 

80



48 
138026129.5/1001270822 

compensation and indemnification in connection with performance of its duties and obligations under this 
Indenture shall survive the Trustee’s resignation and removal, or the final payment of the Bonds. 

Except for information provided by the Trustee in writing concerning the Trustee, the Trustee shall 
have no responsibility with respect to any information in any offering memorandum or other disclosure 
material distributed with respect to the Bonds.  The Trustee shall have no responsibility for compliance 
with securities laws in connection with issuance of the Bonds.  The Trustee is not required to give any bond 
or surety with respect to the performance of its duties or the exercise of its powers under the Indenture.  In 
the event that the Trustee receives inconsistent or conflicting requests and indemnity from two or more 
groups of Owners of Bonds, each representing less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds Outstanding, pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture, the Trustee, in its sole discretion, may 
determine what action, if any, shall be taken. 

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Indenture or the Agreements to the contrary, the Trustee 
has no duty or obligation to service the Mortgage Loans or to otherwise administer the Program or to 
monitor or evaluate the performance by the Issuer, the Servicer, any Lender or any other person of their 
respective duties and obligations under the Agreements, but only to perform the specific duties, obligations, 
and agreements it has agreed to perform in this Indenture and to receive reports and documents pursuant to 
the Agreements and to exercise certain rights of the Issuer in the Agreements assigned to it by the Issuer in 
the Indenture when the Trustee may be obligated to exercise such rights. 

Section 7.6 Money Held in Trust.  Money held by the Trustee in trust hereunder need not be 
segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  The Trustee shall be under no liability 
for interest on any money received by it hereunder except as otherwise provided in this Indenture. 

Section 7.7 Trustee to Furnish Information. 

(A) The Trustee shall furnish to the Rating Agency, notice of (i) any defeasance or discharge 
pursuant to Article IX hereof, (ii) the obtaining of any new investment agreement, (iii) the termination of 
any investment agreement, (iv) the sale of any collateral, (v) any supplemental indenture, and (vi) the 
appointment of a successor trustee, and (vii) the redemption of the Bonds in whole.  At the request of the 
Rating Agency, the Trustee shall also furnish any information reasonably required by the Rating Agency 
for the purpose of maintaining a rating for the Bonds. 

(B) For the calendar year in which such request is received, upon written request of any Owner 
or person or entity which provides evidence acceptable to the Trustee that such person or entity has a legal 
or beneficial interest in at least $1,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds, the Trustee shall furnish to such 
Owner or person or entity the annual statement prepared by the Trustee pursuant to Section 5.6 hereof. 

ARTICLE VIII. 
MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE INDENTURE 

Section 8.1 Amendments Permitted.  

(A) This Indenture and the rights and obligations of the Issuer and of the Owners of the Bonds 
and of the Trustee may be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Indenture which shall 
become effective when the written consent of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of 
the Outstanding Bonds shall have been filed with the Trustee.  No such modification or amendment shall 
(1) extend the stated maturity of any Bond, or reduce the amount or principal thereof, or reduce the rate of 
interest thereon, or extend the time of payment of interest thereof without the consent of the Owner of each 
Bond so affected, or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds the consent of which the Owners of which 

81



49 
138026129.5/1001270822 

is required to effect any such modification or amendment, or (3) permit the creation of any lien on the 
Revenues, or any other assets pledged under this Indenture that is on a parity with or superior to the lien 
created by this Indenture, or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by this Indenture upon 
such Revenues and other assets, or (4) authorize the sale or other disposition of the Certificates after their 
acquisition other than in compliance with Section 4.12 hereof without the consent of the Owners of all the 
Bonds then Outstanding.  It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Owners of the Bonds to approve 
the particular form of any Supplemental Indenture; it shall be sufficient if such consent shall approve the 
substance thereof. Promptly after the execution by the Issuer and the Trustee of any Supplemental Indenture 
pursuant to this Subsection (A), the Trustee shall mail a notice to each Owner, setting forth in general terms 
the substance of such Supplemental Indenture.  Any failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall 
not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of such Supplemental Indenture.  The Issuer may fix 
a record date for purposes of determining Owners of Bonds who are entitled to consent to any Supplemental 
Indenture described in this paragraph.  If a record date is fixed, then only those Owners who are Owners on 
that record date shall be entitled to consent to the Supplemental Indenture. 

(B) This Indenture and the rights and obligations of the Issuer and of the Owners of the Bonds 
may also be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, which Supplemental Indenture 
shall become effective upon execution by the Issuer and the Trustee (or such later date as may be specified 
in such Supplemental Indenture), without the consent of any Owners of the Bonds, but only to the extent 
permitted by the Act and only for any one or more of the following purposes: 

(1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Issuer in this Indenture other 
covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, to pledge or assign additional security for the 
Bonds, or to surrender any right or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the Issuer; 

(2) to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency, 
or omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision contained in this Indenture, or in 
regard to any matter or question arising under this Indenture, as the Issuer may deem necessary or 
desirable, which, in any such case, in the opinion of the Trustee, shall not materially adversely 
affect the interests of the Owners of the Bonds; 

(3) to modify, amend, or supplement this Indenture in such a manner as to permit the 
qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar federal 
statute hereafter in effect, and to add such other terms, conditions, and provisions as may be 
permitted by said act or similar federal statute, and which shall not materially adversely affect the 
interests of the Owners of the  Bonds; 

(4) to modify, amend or supplement this Indenture in such a manner as in the opinion 
of Bond Counsel shall be necessary to preserve the excludability of interest on any Series 2024A 
Bond from federal gross income and which shall not materially adversely affect the interests of the 
Owner of any Bond; or 

(5) to obtain or maintain a rating on the Bonds from a Rating Agency. 

(C) In connection with the execution and delivery of a Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee 
shall receive an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the Supplemental Indenture is authorized under 
the Act and by proper action of the Issuer, that the Supplemental Indenture is authorized or permitted by 
the Indenture, and that execution and delivery of the Supplemental Indenture will not adversely affect the 
exclusion of interest on any Series 2024A Bond from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

82



50 
138026129.5/1001270822 

(D) The Trustee may, but shall not be obligated to, enter into a Supplemental Indenture which 
adversely affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties, or immunities. 

Section 8.2 Effect of Supplemental Indenture.  From and after the time any Supplemental 
Indenture becomes effective pursuant to this Article, this Indenture shall be deemed to be modified and 
amended in accordance therewith, and the respective rights, duties, and obligations under this Indenture of 
the Issuer, the Trustee, and all Owners of Bonds Outstanding shall thereafter be determined, exercised, and 
enforced hereunder subject in all respects to such modification and amendment, and all the terms and 
conditions of any such Supplemental Indenture shall be deemed to be part of the terms and conditions of 
this Indenture for any and all purposes.  All Supplemental Indentures shall be filed with the Rating Agency. 

Section 8.3 Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds.  Bonds delivered after any 
Supplemental Indenture becomes effective pursuant to this Article may, and if the Trustee so determines 
shall, bear a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form approved by the Issuer and the Trustee as to any 
modification or amendment provided for in such Supplemental Indenture, and, in that case, upon demand 
of the Owner of any Bond Outstanding at such effective date and presentation of his Bond for the purpose 
at the Principal Office of the Trustee or at such additional offices as the Trustee may select and designate 
for that purpose, a suitable notation shall be made on such Bond.  If the Issuer or the Trustee shall so 
determine, new Bonds so modified as to conform, in the opinion of the Issuer and the Trustee, to any 
modification or amendment contained in such Supplemental Indenture, shall be prepared and executed by 
the Issuer and authenticated by the Trustee, and upon demand of the Owners of any Bonds then Outstanding 
shall be exchanged at the Principal Office of the Trustee, without cost to any Owner, for Bonds then 
Outstanding, upon surrender for cancellation of such Bonds in equal aggregate principal amounts of the 
same series. 

Section 8.4 Amendment of Particular Bonds.  The provisions of this Article shall not prevent 
any Owner from accepting any amendment as to the particular Bonds held by him, provided that due 
notation thereof is made on such Bonds. 

ARTICLE IX. 
DEFEASANCE 

Section 9.1 Discharge of Indenture.  If the Issuer shall pay and discharge the entire 
indebtedness on all Outstanding Bonds in any one or more of the following ways by: 

(a) paying or causing to be paid the principal amount or redemption price of and interest on 
the Bonds Outstanding, as and when the same become due and payable; 

(b) depositing, in trust, at or before maturity, money or securities in the necessary amount (as 
provided in Section 9.3 hereof) to pay or redeem all Outstanding Bonds; or 

(c) delivering to the Trustee, for cancellation by it, all of the Outstanding Bonds; and if the 
Issuer shall also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable hereunder by the Issuer (including Trustee’s 
fees and expenses and other Program Expenses), then and in that case, at the election of the Issuer 
(evidenced by a certificate of the Issuer, filed with the Trustee, signifying the intention of the Issuer to 
discharge all such indebtedness), and notwithstanding that any Bonds shall not have been surrendered for 
payment, this Indenture and the pledge of Revenues and other assets made under this Indenture and all 
covenants, agreements, and other obligations of the Issuer under this Indenture shall cease, terminate, 
become void, and be completely discharged and satisfied.  In such event, upon request of the Issuer, the 
Trustee shall (i) cause an accounting for such period or periods as shall be requested by the Issuer to be 
prepared and filed with the Issuer, (ii) execute and deliver to the Issuer all such instruments as may be 

83



51 
138026129.5/1001270822 

necessary or desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction of the Bonds; and (iii) transfer all 
Certificates and amounts in any Fund (except for any Rebate Amount or any unpaid Program Expenses) to 
the Issuer. 

Section 9.2 Discharge of Liability on Bonds.  Upon the deposit with the Trustee, in trust, at or 
before maturity, of money or securities in the necessary amount (as provided in Section 9.3 hereof) to pay 
or redeem any Outstanding Bond (whether upon or prior to its maturity or the redemption date of such 
Bond), provided that, if such Bond is to be redeemed prior to maturity, notice of such redemption shall have 
been given as provided for in Article III hereof or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made 
for the giving of such notice, then all liability of the Issuer in respect of such Bond shall cease, terminate, 
and be completely discharged, and the Owner thereof shall thereafter be entitled only to payment from such 
money or securities deposited with the Trustee as aforesaid for their payment, subject, however, to the 
provisions of Section 9.4 hereof. 

The Issuer may at any time surrender to the Trustee for cancellation by it any Bonds previously 
issued and delivered which the Issuer may have acquired in any manner whatsoever, and such Bonds, upon 
such surrender and cancellation, shall be deemed to be paid and retired. 

Section 9.3 Deposit of Money or Securities with Trustee.  Whenever in this Indenture it is 
provided or permitted that there be deposited with or held in trust by the Trustee money or securities in the 
necessary amount to pay or redeem any Bonds, the money or securities so to be deposited or held may 
include money or securities held by the Trustee in the Funds established pursuant to this Indenture 
(exclusive of the Program Fund and the Rebate Fund to the extent of the Rebate Amount) and shall be: 

(a) lawful money of the United States of America in an amount equal to the principal amount 
of such Bonds and all unpaid interest thereon to maturity, except that, in the case of Bonds which are to be 
redeemed prior to maturity and in respect of which notice of such redemption shall have been given as in 
Article III provided or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such 
notice, the amount to be deposited or held shall be the redemption price of such Bonds and all unpaid 
interest thereon to the redemption date; or 

(b) noncallable Investment Securities described in clauses (ii) or (iii) of the definition thereof 
in Section 1.2 hereof and which are not redeemable in advance of their maturity at the option of the issuer 
thereof or any other Person (other than the holder thereof) the principal of and interest on which when due 
will provide money sufficient to pay the principal amount or redemption price of and all unpaid interest to 
maturity, or to the redemption date, as the case may be, on the Bonds to be paid or redeemed, as such 
principal amount or redemption price and interest become due; provided that in the case of Bonds which 
are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given as in 
Article III provided or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such 
notice; provided further that in each case, that the Trustee shall have been irrevocably instructed (by the 
terms of this Indenture or by request of the Issuer) to apply such money to the payment of such principal 
amount or redemption price and interest with respect to such Bonds; provided further that any such advance 
deposit shall be accompanied by a report of an Independent Certified Public Accountant verifying the 
mathematical computations of the adequacy of the maturing principal and interest on the escrowed 
securities and uninvested cash in the escrow account to pay, when due, the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds. 

Section 9.4 Payment of Bonds After Discharge of Indenture.  Any moneys deposited with and 
set aside by the Trustee for the payment of Bonds shall be held by the Trustee uninvested, without liability 
for interest thereon, as a separate trust fund for the account of the respective holders of Bonds to be 
redeemed or otherwise paid.  Notwithstanding any provisions of this Indenture, any moneys held by the 

84



52 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Trustee in trust for the payment of the principal amount or redemption price of, or interest on, any Bonds 
and remaining unclaimed for three years after the principal amount or redemption price of all the Bonds 
has become due and payable (whether at maturity or upon call for redemption or by acceleration as provided 
in this Indenture), if such moneys were so held at such date, or three years after the date of deposit of such 
moneys if deposited after said date when all the Bonds became due and payable, shall be reported and 
disposed of by the Trustee in accordance with the applicable unclaimed property laws. 

ARTICLE X. 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.1 Successor is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor.  Whenever in this 
Indenture either the Issuer or the Trustee is named or referred to, such reference shall be deemed to include 
the successors or assigns thereof, and all the covenants and agreements in this Indenture contained by or on 
behalf of the Issuer or the Trustee shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns 
thereof whether so expressed or not. 

Section 10.2 Limitation of Rights to Parties and Owners.  Nothing in this Indenture or in the 
Bonds expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to give to any Person other than the Issuer, 
the Trustee, and the Owners of the Bonds, any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim under or in respect 
of this Indenture or any covenant, condition, or provision therein or herein contained; and all such 
covenants, conditions, and provisions are and shall be held to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the 
Issuer, the Trustee, and the Owners of the Bonds. 

Section 10.3 Waiver of Notice.  Whenever in this Indenture the giving of notice by mail or 
otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be waived in writing by the Person entitled to receive 
such notice and in any such case the giving or receipt of such notice shall not be a condition precedent to 
the validity of any action taken in reliance upon such waiver. 

Section 10.4 Severability of Invalid Provisions.  If any one or more of the provisions contained 
in this Indenture or in the Bonds shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any 
respect, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed severable from the remaining provisions 
contained in this Indenture and such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other 
provision of this Indenture, and this Indenture shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable 
provision had never been contained herein. 

Section 10.5 Notices.  Any notice, request, complaint, demand, communication, or other paper 
shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when delivered or mailed by registered or certified 
mail, postage prepaid, or sent by telegram or facsimile, addressed to the appropriate Notice Address.  The 
Issuer and the Trustee may, by notice given hereunder designate any further or different addresses to which 
subsequent notices, certificates, or other communications shall be sent.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
notices to the Trustee shall be effective only upon receipt. 

Section 10.6 Evidence of Rights of Owners.  Any request, consent, or other instrument required 
or permitted by this Indenture to be signed and executed by Owners may be in any number of concurrent 
instruments of substantially similar tenor and shall be signed or executed by such Owners in person or by 
an agent or agents duly appointed in writing.  Proof of the execution of any such request, consent or other 
instrument or of a writing appointing any such agent shall be sufficient for any purpose of this Indenture 
and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee and of the Issuer if made in the manner provided in this 
Section. 

85



53 
138026129.5/1001270822 

The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such request, consent, or other instrument 
or writing may be proved by the certificate of any notary public or other officer of any jurisdiction, 
authorized by the laws thereof to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the person signing such 
request, consent or other instrument acknowledged to him the execution thereof, or by an affidavit of a 
witness of such execution duly sworn to before such notary public or other officer. 

Any request, consent, or other instrument or writing of the Owner of any Bond shall bind every 
future Owner of the same Bond and of every Bond issued upon transfer thereof, in exchange therefor or in 
lieu thereof, in respect of anything done or suffered to be done by the Trustee or the Issuer in accordance 
therewith or reliance thereon. 

Section 10.7 Disqualified Bonds.  In determining whether the Owners of the requisite aggregate 
principal amount of Bonds have concurred in any demand, request, direction, consent or waiver under this 
Indenture, Bonds which are owned or held by or for the account of the Issuer, or by any Person directly or 
indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, the Issuer, shall be 
disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding for the purpose of any such determination.  Bonds so owned 
which have been pledged in good faith may be regarded as Outstanding for the purposes of this Section if 
the pledgee shall establish to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee’s right to vote such Bonds and that 
the pledgee is not a Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect 
common control with, the Issuer.  In case of a dispute as to such right, any decision by the Trustee taken 
upon the advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Trustee. 

Section 10.8 Money Held for Particular Bonds.  The money held by the Trustee for the payment 
of the interest, principal amount or redemption price due on any date with respect to particular Bonds (or 
portions of Bonds in the case of Bonds redeemed in part only) shall, on and after such date and pending 
such payment, be set aside on its books and held in trust by it for the Owners of the Bonds entitled thereto 
without liability for interest, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 9.4 hereof. 

Section 10.9 Funds.  Any Fund required by this Indenture to be established and maintained by 
the Trustee may be established and maintained in the accounting records of the Trustee as a Fund and may, 
for the purposes of such records, any audits thereof, and any reports or statements with respect thereto, be 
treated as such a Fund; but all such records with respect to all such Funds shall at all times be maintained 
in accordance with generally accepted industry practice, and with due regard for the requirements of Section 
5.6 hereof and for the protection of the security of the Bonds and the rights of every Owner thereof. 

Section 10.10 Personal Liability.  No covenant or agreement contained in the Bonds or in this 
Indenture shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any member of the Board of Directors of the 
Issuer or the Trustee or any incorporator, officer, agent, employee, or representative of the Issuer or the 
Trustee in his individual capacity, and neither the directors, incorporators, officers, agents, employees or 
representatives of the Issuer or the Trustee nor any person executing the Bonds shall be personally liable 
thereon or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof, whether 
by virtue of any constitutional provision, statute, or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any assessment 
or penalty, or otherwise, all such liability being expressly released and waived as a condition of and in 
consideration for the execution of this Indenture and the issuance of the Bonds. 

Section 10.11 Execution in Several Counterparts.  The Indenture may be executed in any number 
of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original, and all 
such counterparts, or as many of them as the Issuer and the Trustee shall preserve undestroyed, shall 
together constitute but one and the same instrument. 

86



54 
138026129.5/1001270822 

Section 10.12 Payments Other Than on a Business Day.  Any payments required to be made or 
any other action required to be taken pursuant to this Indenture which are otherwise required to be taken on 
a day which is not a Business Day, shall be made or taken on the next succeeding day which is a Business 
Day.  With respect to any payment so made, no interest shall accrue for the period between such nominal 
date and the date of payment. 

Section 10.13 Governing Law.  This Indenture shall be construed under, and governed by, the 
laws of the State. 

87



 

Signature Page to Trust Indenture 

138026129 / 1001270822 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation has caused this 
Indenture to be signed in its name by its duly authorized officer, and the Trustee in token of its acceptance 
of the trusts created hereunder, has caused this Indenture to be signed in its corporate name by its duly 
authorized officer, as of the day and year first above written. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 
 

By:   
President 

  

88



Signature Page to Trust Indenture 

138026129 / 1001270822 

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A., 
as Trustee 

By:   
Authorized Officer 

89



A-1 

138026129.5/1001270822 

EXHIBIT A 
FORM OF SERIES 2024A BOND 

THE FOLLOWING TWO PARAGRAPHS ARE TO BE DELETED IF BOND IS NOT BOOK-
ENTRY ONLY: 

Unless this Bond is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository Trust Company, 
a New York corporation (“DTC”), to the Issuer or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange, or 
payment, and any Bond issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such other name as is requested 
by an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to Cede & Co. or to such other entity as 
is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE 
HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the 
registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an interest herein. 

As provided in the Indenture referred to herein, until the termination of the system of book-entry 
only transfers through DTC, and notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture to the contrary, this 
Bond may be transferred, in whole but not in part, only to a nominee of DTC, or by a nominee of DTC to 
DTC or a nominee of DTC, or by DTC or a nominee of DTC to any successor securities depository or any 
nominee thereof. 

THE ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THIS BOND IS SUBJECT TO REDUCTION AS 
DESCRIBED HEREIN.  THE CURRENT PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING AND UNPAID 
WILL BE REFLECTED IN THE RECORDS OF THE TRUSTEE AND MUST BE REVIEWED TO 
DETERMINE THE PRINCIPAL OUTSTANDING AS OF ANY PARTICULAR DATE. 

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
No.: ___    STATE OF TEXAS    $__________ 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
SINGLE FAMILY MORTGAGE REVENUE BOND 

SERIES 2024A (NON-AMT) 

Registered Owner: 

Principal Amount: 

Maturity Date: Dated Date: Interest Rate: CUSIP: 

__________ 1, 20__ March 1, 2024 ____%  88271H  ____   

The Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Issuer”), a public nonprofit corporation 
organized under the laws of the State of Texas (the “State”), for value received, promises to pay (but only 
out of the revenues and other assets pledged therefor) to the Registered Owner identified above, or 
registered assigns, on the Maturity Date specified above (subject to any right of prior redemption hereinafter 
mentioned), the Principal Amount specified above and to pay interest thereon at the Interest Rate specified 
above (on a per annum basis), solely from said revenues and assets, from the Interest Payment Date (as 
hereinafter defined) next preceding the date of authentication of this Bond, unless (i) this Bond is 
authenticated on or before the first Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear interest from the 
Issuance Date (as defined in the Indenture hereinafter referred to) or (ii) unless this Bond is authenticated 
after the Record Date (as defined below) with respect to an Interest Payment Date and on or before such 
Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date, until payment 

90



A-2 

138026129.5/1001270822 

of such Principal Amount shall be discharged as provided in the Indenture hereinafter mentioned, at the 
applicable interest rate specified above, payable on March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 
2024 following the Issuance Date (each, an “Interest Payment Date”).  Interest on this Series 2024A Bond 
shall accrue and be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, comprised of twelve 30-day months. 

The principal of and interest on this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States of 
America which, at the time of payment, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  The 
principal amount hereof and the interest hereon is payable by check of Computershare Trust Company, 
N.A. (the “Trustee”) mailed on the Interest Payment Date to the person in whose name this Bond is 
registered at the close of business on the twenty-fifth day of the month preceding an Interest Payment Date 
(the “Record Date”), whether or not such day is a Business Day (as defined in the Indenture) at such 
person’s address as it appears on the registration books of the Trustee; provided, however, that payment of 
such interest shall be made by wire transfer to the Registered Owner of any Bonds in an aggregate principal 
amount of at least $1,000,000, at the risk and expense of such Registered Owner (except as provided in the 
Indenture), if such Registered Owner shall have requested in writing payment by such method and shall 
have provided the Trustee with an account number and other necessary information for such purpose at 
least five Business Days before the applicable Record Date; and provided further that the final payment of 
principal will be made only on surrender hereof at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS IS NOT OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF OR ANY 
PREMIUM OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS OR OTHER OBLIGATIONS AND THAT THE FULL 
FAITH AND CREDIT AND THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OF TEXAS ARE NOT PLEDGED, 
GIVEN OR LOANED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. 

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation Single 
Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are issued in the original 
aggregate principal amount of $______________.  The Bonds and the Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable) are issued under and equally 
and ratably secured by and entitled to the protection of a Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 2024 (which 
Indenture, as from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred to as the “Indenture”), 
duly executed and delivered by the Issuer to the Trustee, for the purpose of providing funds for the purchase 
of mortgage-backed certificates guaranteed by GNMA (the “GNMA Certificates”) representing undivided 
interests in mortgage loans (the “Mortgage Loans”) made to finance the purchase of qualified single family 
residences by eligible borrowers in the State of Texas.  The Mortgage Loans are to be originated by certain 
mortgage lending institutions (the “Lenders”) pursuant to a Mortgage Origination Agreement between each 
Lender and the Issuer.  Pursuant to the Indenture, the Issuer will assign and pledge the GNMA Certificates 
and the proceeds thereof (except the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion) to the Trustee to secure payment of 
the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  Reference is hereby made to the Indenture for a description of 
the rights, duties, and obligations of the Issuer, the Trustee and the owners of the Bonds and the terms and 
conditions upon which the Bonds will be deemed to be paid, at or prior to the Maturity Date, upon the 
making of provision for the payment thereof in the manner set forth in the Indenture.  Capitalized terms 
used herein and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture. 

(1) The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, from unexpended 
moneys in the Program Fund, on the date or dates set forth in the Indenture, at the redemption prices set 
forth in the Indenture, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(2) The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part on the first day of each 
month, from moneys deposited in the Redemption Fund as described in the Indenture, at a redemption price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

91



A-3 

138026129.5/1001270822 

(3) The Bonds maturing on and after September 1, 2034 are subject to optional redemption in 
whole or in part as described in the Indenture, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(4) The Bonds of certain maturities are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption as set 
forth in the Indenture. 

In the event of a redemption in part, the Bonds to be redeemed will be selected in accordance with 
the procedures set forth in the Indenture.  The Issuer has the option to purchase Bonds in lieu of redemption, 
as described in the Indenture. 

Notice of redemption is required to be mailed not less than 20 days (5 days in the case of a 
redemption under clause (1)) and not more than 60 days prior to the redemption date, in each case to the 
owners of any Bonds, or portions thereof, designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on the 
registration books of the Trustee; provided that if Cede & Co. is the registered owner of this Bond, notice 
of redemption is required to be given to DTC by such method as required by DTC.  Neither the failure of 
an owner to receive such notice nor any defect in any notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of the 
proceedings for the redemption of any of the Bonds; and neither the failure to mail such notice to a particular 
owner nor any defect in any notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of any of the proceedings for the 
redemption of any Bonds. 

The registration of this Bond is transferable by the owner hereof or by his attorney duly authorized 
in writing at the Operations Office (as defined in the Indenture) of the Trustee but only in the manner, 
subject to the limitations and upon payment of the charges provided in the Indenture. 

The Issuer and the Trustee may deem and treat the person in whose name this Bond is registered 
as the absolute owner hereof (whether or not this Bond shall be overdue) for the purpose of receiving 
payment of or on account of principal hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes and neither 
the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. 

The Bonds are issuable in the form of fully registered Bonds without coupons in the denomination 
of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The Issuer and the Trustee shall not be required to register the 
transfer of or exchange any Bond during the period between the Record Date and the next Interest Payment 
Date or during the three days next preceding any date established by the Trustee for the selection of Bonds 
for redemption nor to register the transfer of or exchange any Bonds selected or called for redemption in 
whole or in part after the call for redemption and prior to the redemption date. 

The owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Indenture or to institute 
action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect to any event of default under the 
Indenture, or to institute, appear in, or defend any suit or other proceeding with respect thereto, except as 
provided in the Indenture. 

The Indenture permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the amendment thereof and the 
modification of the rights and obligations of the Issuer and the rights of the owners of the Bonds at any time 
by the Issuer with consent of the owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
Outstanding. Any such consent or waiver by the owner of this Bond shall be conclusive and binding upon 
such owner and upon all future owners of this Bond and of any Bond issued upon registration of the transfer 
of or exchange of this Bond, whether or not notation of such consent or waiver is made upon this Bond.  
The Indenture also contains provisions permitting the Trustee to waive certain past defaults under the 
Indenture and their consequences. 

92



A-4 

138026129.5/1001270822 

This Bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any benefit under the 
Indenture unless this Bond either (a) is registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of 
Texas as evidenced by execution of the registration certificate endorsed hereon or (b) is authenticated by 
the Trustee by the due execution of the Trustee’s certificate endorsed hereon. 

It is hereby certified, recited, and represented that the issuance of this Bond and the series of Bonds 
of which it is a part is duly authorized by law; that all acts, conditions, and things required to exist and to 
be done precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond and the series of Bonds to render the same lawful and 
valid have been properly done and performed and have happened in regular and due time, form, and manner 
as required by law; that all acts, conditions, and things necessary to be done or performed by the Issuer or 
to have happened precedent to or in the execution and delivery of the Indenture and the Agreements have 
been done and performed and have happened in regular and due form as required by law; and that due 
provision has been made for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this Bond and 
the series of Bonds of which it is a part by irrevocably pledging the revenues and assets as described in the 
Indenture. 

93



A-5 

138026129.5/1001270822 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Bond to be executed in its name and on its 
behalf by the manual or facsimile signature of its President and attested by the manual or facsimile signature 
of its Secretary or Assistant Secretary. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 

By:   
President 

Attest: 

 

  
[Secretary] [Assistant Secretary] 

94



A-6 

138026129.5/1001270822 

[Form of Certificate of Authentication to appear on each 
Bond other than the Initial Series 2024A Bond numbered T-1] 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds of the issue referred to in the Indenture described herein. 

Date of Authentication: 

___________________________ 

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A., 
as Trustee 

By:   
Authorized Officer 

95



A-7 

138026129.5/1001270822 

[Form of Comptroller’s Registration Certificate to be attached 
only to the Initial Series 2024A Bond numbered T-1] 

COMPTROLLER’S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE 

 REGISTER NO. _________ 

I hereby certify that this Bond has been examined, certified as to validity, and approved by the 
Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Bond has been registered by the Comptroller of Public 
Accounts of the State of Texas. 

Witness my signature and seal this ___________________________________________. 

  
Comptroller of Public Accounts of the 
State of Texas 

(COMPTROLLER’S SEAL) 

96



A-8 

138026129.5/1001270822 

[Form of Assignment] 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns, and transfers unto 

Please Insert Social Security or 
Other Identifying Number of Assignee 
/                                                           / 

(Name and Address of Assignee) 

the within Bond and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint ___________________ to transfer said 
Bond on the books kept for registration thereof with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Date: ________________________  _________________________________________ 

Signature Guaranteed:    _________________________________________ 

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as it appears upon the face 
of the within Bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change 
whatever; and 

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution participating in a 
Securities Transfer Association recognized signature guarantee program. 

____________________________________________________ 
The Initial Series 2024A Bond shall be in the form set forth above, except for the following alterations: 

(i) immediately under the name of the Initial Series 2024A Bond the heading “INTEREST 
RATE” and “MATURITY DATE” shall both be completed with the expression “As Shown Below,” and 
the reference to the “CUSIP NUMBER” shall be deleted; 

 (ii) in the first paragraph of the Initial Series 2024A Bond, the words “on the Maturity Date 
specified above” shall be deleted and the following will be inserted: “on each of the dates, in the principal 
amounts and bearing interest at the per annum rates set forth in the following schedule: 

Maturity Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
Interest 

Rate (%) 
   
   

(information to be completed from Section 2.2 of the Indenture) 

 

97



B-1 

138026129.5/1001270822 

EXHIBIT B 
FORM OF TAXABLE SERIES 2024B BOND 

THE FOLLOWING TWO PARAGRAPHS ARE TO BE DELETED IF BOND IS NOT BOOK-
ENTRY ONLY: 

Unless this Bond is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository Trust Company, 
a New York corporation (“DTC”), to the Issuer or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange, or 
payment, and any Bond issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such other name as is requested 
by an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to Cede & Co. or to such other entity as 
is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE 
HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the 
registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an interest herein. 

As provided in the Indenture referred to herein, until the termination of the system of book-entry 
only transfers through DTC, and notwithstanding any other provision of the Indenture to the contrary, this 
Bond may be transferred, in whole but not in part, only to a nominee of DTC, or by a nominee of DTC to 
DTC or a nominee of DTC, or by DTC or a nominee of DTC to any successor securities depository or any 
nominee thereof. 

THE ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THIS BOND IS SUBJECT TO REDUCTION AS 
DESCRIBED HEREIN.  THE CURRENT PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING AND UNPAID 
WILL BE REFLECTED IN THE RECORDS OF THE TRUSTEE AND MUST BE REVIEWED TO 
DETERMINE THE PRINCIPAL OUTSTANDING AS OF ANY PARTICULAR DATE. 

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
No.: ___    STATE OF TEXAS    $__________ 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
SINGLE FAMILY MORTGAGE REVENUE BOND 

SERIES 2024B (TAXABLE) 

Registered Owner: 

Principal Amount: 

Maturity Date: Dated Date: Interest Rate: CUSIP: 

__________ 1, 20__ March 1, 2024 ____%  88271H  ____   

The Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Issuer”), a public nonprofit corporation 
organized under the laws of the State of Texas (the “State”), for value received, promises to pay (but only 
out of the revenues and other assets pledged therefor) to the Registered Owner identified above, or 
registered assigns, on the Maturity Date specified above (subject to any right of prior redemption hereinafter 
mentioned), the Principal Amount specified above and to pay interest thereon at the Interest Rate specified 
above (on a per annum basis), solely from said revenues and assets, from the Interest Payment Date (as 
hereinafter defined) next preceding the date of authentication of this Bond, unless (i) this Bond is 
authenticated on or before the first Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear interest from the 
Issuance Date (as defined in the Indenture hereinafter referred to) or (ii) unless this Bond is authenticated 
after the Record Date (as defined below) with respect to an Interest Payment Date and on or before such 
Interest Payment Date, in which event it shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date, until payment 

98



B-2 

138026129.5/1001270822 

of such Principal Amount shall be discharged as provided in the Indenture hereinafter mentioned, at the 
applicable interest rate specified above, payable on March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 
2024 following the Issuance Date (each, an “Interest Payment Date”).  Interest on this Series 2024B Bond 
shall accrue and be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, comprised of twelve 30-day months. 

The principal of and interest on this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United States of 
America which, at the time of payment, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  The 
principal amount hereof and the interest hereon is payable by check of Computershare Trust Company, 
N.A. (the “Trustee”) mailed on the Interest Payment Date to the person in whose name this Bond is 
registered at the close of business on the twenty-fifth day of the month preceding an Interest Payment Date 
(the “Record Date”), whether or not such day is a Business Day (as defined in the Indenture) at such 
person’s address as it appears on the registration books of the Trustee; provided, however, that payment of 
such interest shall be made by wire transfer to the Registered Owner of any Bonds in an aggregate principal 
amount of at least $1,000,000, at the risk and expense of such Registered Owner (except as provided in the 
Indenture), if such Registered Owner shall have requested in writing payment by such method and shall 
have provided the Trustee with an account number and other necessary information for such purpose at 
least five Business Days before the applicable Record Date; and provided further that the final payment of 
principal will be made only on surrender hereof at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS IS NOT OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF OR ANY 
PREMIUM OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS OR OTHER OBLIGATIONS AND THAT THE FULL 
FAITH AND CREDIT AND THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OF TEXAS ARE NOT PLEDGED, 
GIVEN OR LOANED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS. 

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation Single 
Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable) (the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are issued in the 
original aggregate principal amount of $______________.  The Bonds and the Texas State Affordable 
Housing Corporation Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT) are issued under 
and equally and ratably secured by and entitled to the protection of a Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 
2024 (which Indenture, as from time to time amended and supplemented, is hereinafter referred to as the 
“Indenture”), duly executed and delivered by the Issuer to the Trustee, for the purpose of providing funds 
for the purchase of mortgage-backed certificates guaranteed by GNMA (the “GNMA Certificates”) 
representing undivided interests in mortgage loans (the “Mortgage Loans”) made to finance the purchase 
of qualified single family residences by eligible borrowers in the State of Texas.  The Mortgage Loans are 
to be originated by certain mortgage lending institutions (the “Lenders”) pursuant to a Mortgage Origination 
Agreement between each Lender and the Issuer.  Pursuant to the Indenture, the Issuer will assign and pledge 
the GNMA Certificates and the proceeds thereof (except the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion) to the Trustee 
to secure payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  Reference is hereby made to the Indenture 
for a description of the rights, duties, and obligations of the Issuer, the Trustee and the owners of the Bonds 
and the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds will be deemed to be paid, at or prior to the Maturity 
Date, upon the making of provision for the payment thereof in the manner set forth in the Indenture.  
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in the 
Indenture. 

(5) The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, from unexpended 
moneys in the Program Fund, on the date or dates set forth in the Indenture, at the redemption prices set 
forth in the Indenture, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

99



B-3 

138026129.5/1001270822 

(6) The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part on the first day of each 
month, from moneys deposited in the Redemption Fund as described in the Indenture, at a redemption price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(7) The Bonds maturing on and after September 1, 2034 are subject to optional redemption in 
whole or in part as described in the Indenture, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

(8) The Bonds of certain maturities are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption as set 
forth in the Indenture. 

In the event of a redemption in part, the Bonds to be redeemed will be selected in accordance with 
the procedures set forth in the Indenture.  The Issuer has the option to purchase Bonds in lieu of redemption, 
as described in the Indenture. 

Notice of redemption is required to be mailed not less than 20 days (5 days in the case of a 
redemption under clause (1)) and not more than 60 days prior to the redemption date, in each case to the 
owners of any Bonds, or portions thereof, designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on the 
registration books of the Trustee; provided that if Cede & Co. is the registered owner of this Bond, notice 
of redemption is required to be given to DTC by such method as required by DTC.  Neither the failure of 
an owner to receive such notice nor any defect in any notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of the 
proceedings for the redemption of any of the Bonds; and neither the failure to mail such notice to a particular 
owner nor any defect in any notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of any of the proceedings for the 
redemption of any Bonds. 

The registration of this Bond is transferable by the owner hereof or by his attorney duly authorized 
in writing at the Operations Office (as defined in the Indenture) of the Trustee but only in the manner, 
subject to the limitations and upon payment of the charges provided in the Indenture. 

The Issuer and the Trustee may deem and treat the person in whose name this Bond is registered 
as the absolute owner hereof (whether or not this Bond shall be overdue) for the purpose of receiving 
payment of or on account of principal hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes and neither 
the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. 

The Bonds are issuable in the form of fully registered Bonds without coupons in the denomination 
of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The Issuer and the Trustee shall not be required to register the 
transfer of or exchange any Bond during the period between the Record Date and the next Interest Payment 
Date or during the three days next preceding any date established by the Trustee for the selection of Bonds 
for redemption nor to register the transfer of or exchange any Bonds selected or called for redemption in 
whole or in part after the call for redemption and prior to the redemption date. 

The owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Indenture or to institute 
action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect to any event of default under the 
Indenture, or to institute, appear in, or defend any suit or other proceeding with respect thereto, except as 
provided in the Indenture. 

The Indenture permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the amendment thereof and the 
modification of the rights and obligations of the Issuer and the rights of the owners of the Bonds at any time 
by the Issuer with consent of the owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
Outstanding. Any such consent or waiver by the owner of this Bond shall be conclusive and binding upon 

100



B-4 

138026129.5/1001270822 

such owner and upon all future owners of this Bond and of any Bond issued upon registration of the transfer 
of or exchange of this Bond, whether or not notation of such consent or waiver is made upon this Bond.  
The Indenture also contains provisions permitting the Trustee to waive certain past defaults under the 
Indenture and their consequences. 

This Bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any benefit under the 
Indenture unless this Bond either (a) is registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of 
Texas as evidenced by execution of the registration certificate endorsed hereon or (b) is authenticated by 
the Trustee by the due execution of the Trustee’s certificate endorsed hereon. 

It is hereby certified, recited, and represented that the issuance of this Bond and the series of Bonds 
of which it is a part is duly authorized by law; that all acts, conditions, and things required to exist and to 
be done precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond and the series of Bonds to render the same lawful and 
valid have been properly done and performed and have happened in regular and due time, form, and manner 
as required by law; that all acts, conditions, and things necessary to be done or performed by the Issuer or 
to have happened precedent to or in the execution and delivery of the Indenture and the Agreements have 
been done and performed and have happened in regular and due form as required by law; and that due 
provision has been made for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this Bond and 
the series of Bonds of which it is a part by irrevocably pledging the revenues and assets as described in the 
Indenture. 

101



B-5 

138026129.5/1001270822 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Bond to be executed in its name and on its 
behalf by the manual or facsimile signature of its President and attested by the manual or facsimile signature 
of its Secretary or Assistant Secretary. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 

By:   
President 

Attest: 

 

  
[Secretary] [Assistant Secretary] 

102



B-6 

138026129.5/1001270822 

[Form of Certificate of Authentication to appear on each 
Bond other than the Initial Series 2024B Bond numbered TxT-1] 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds of the issue referred to in the Indenture described herein. 

Date of Authentication: 

___________________________ 

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A., 
as Trustee 

By:   
Authorized Officer 

103



B-7 

138026129.5/1001270822 

[Form of Comptroller’s Registration Certificate to be attached 
only to the Initial Taxable Series 2024B Bond numbered TxT-1] 

COMPTROLLER’S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE 

 REGISTER NO. _________ 

I hereby certify that this Bond has been examined, certified as to validity, and approved by the 
Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Bond has been registered by the Comptroller of Public 
Accounts of the State of Texas. 

Witness my signature and seal this ___________________________________________. 

  
Comptroller of Public Accounts of the 
State of Texas 

(COMPTROLLER’S SEAL) 

104



B-8 

138026129.5/1001270822 

[Form of Assignment] 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns, and transfers unto 

Please Insert Social Security or 
Other Identifying Number of Assignee 
/                                                           / 

(Name and Address of Assignee) 

the within Bond and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint ___________________ to transfer said 
Bond on the books kept for registration thereof with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Date: ________________________  _________________________________________ 

Signature Guaranteed:    _________________________________________ 

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as it appears upon the face 
of the within Bond in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change 
whatever; and 

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution participating in a 
Securities Transfer Association recognized signature guarantee program. 

_______________________________________________________ 

The Initial Taxable Series 2024B Bond shall be in the form set forth above, except for the following 
alterations: 

(i) immediately under the name of the Initial Taxable Series 2024B Bond the heading 
“INTEREST RATE” and “MATURITY DATE” shall both be completed with the expression “As Shown 
Below,” and the reference to the “CUSIP NUMBER” shall be deleted; 

 (ii) in the first paragraph of the Initial Taxable Series 2024B Bond, the words “on the Maturity 
Date specified above” shall be deleted and the following will be inserted: “on each of the dates, in the 
principal amounts and bearing interest at the per annum rates set forth in the following schedule: 

Maturity Date 
Principal 

Amount ($) 
Interest 

Rate (%) 
   
   

(information to be completed from Section 2.2 of the Indenture) 

 

 

105



 

C-1 

138026129.5/1001270822 

EXHIBIT C 
TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS† 

 
 

Date 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024A Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024A Bonds 

($) 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024B Bonds 

($) 
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

 
†  The Outstanding Bond Amounts in each column are subject to reduction if Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption due to 
failure to purchase GNMA Certificates from moneys in the Program Fund.   

106



C-2 

138026129.5/1001270822 

 
 

Date 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024A Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024A Bonds 

($) 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024B Bonds 

($) 
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

107



C-3 

138026129.5/1001270822 

 
 

Date 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024A Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024A Bonds 

($) 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024B Bonds 

($) 
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

108



C-4 

138026129.5/1001270822 

 
 

Date 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024A Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024A Bonds 

($) 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024B Bonds 

($) 
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

109



C-5 

138026129.5/1001270822 

 
 

Date 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024A Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024A Bonds 

($) 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024B Bonds 

($) 
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

110



C-6 

138026129.5/1001270822 

 
 

Date 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024A Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024A Bonds 

($) 

100% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for Series 

2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
($) 

400% PSA Outstanding 
Bond Amount for All 
Series 2024B Bonds 

($) 
     
     
     
     
     
  -   

 

111



   
   

DMFIRM #409879397 v3 

 TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 

Series 2024A (Non-AMT) and Series 2024B (Taxable) 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024 (this “Disclosure 
Agreement”) is executed and delivered by Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Issuer”) and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (the “Trustee”), with respect to the Issuer’s 
Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT) and Series 2024B (Taxable) 
(the “Bonds”).  The Issuer and the Trustee covenant and agree as follows: 

SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is being 
executed and delivered by the Issuer and the Trustee for the benefit of the Owners and beneficial 
owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter for the Bonds in complying 
with Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission  (the 
“Securities and Exchange Commission”). 

SECTION 2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in Trust Indenture dated 
as of March 1, 2024, between the Issuer and the Trustee, relating to the Bonds (the “Indenture”), 
which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement that is not defined in this 
Disclosure Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Annual Bond Disclosure Report” shall mean any Annual Bond Disclosure Report 
provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the President of the Issuer or his or her designee, 
or such other officer or employee as the Issuer may designate in writing to the Trustee from time 
to time. 

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean the Trustee, or any successor Dissemination Agent 
designated in writing by the Issuer and which successor Dissemination Agent has filed with the 
Trustee a written acceptance of such designation. 

“Financial Obligation” means a (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument entered into 
in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 
obligation; or (c) guarantee of (a) or (b) in this definition; provided, however, the term “Financial 
Obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been 
provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule. 

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year from September 1 through August 31. 

“Listed Event” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

112



DMFIRM #409879397 v3 2 

“Owner” means the registered owner of any Bond. 

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any person required to comply with the Rule in 
connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

“Responsible Officer” shall mean, in the case of the Trustee, the officer or officers 
specifically administering the Indenture. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“Trustee” shall mean Computershare Trust Company, N.A., or any successor trustee 
pursuant to the Indenture. 

SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Bond Disclosure Reports. 

(a) The Issuer shall cause and hereby directs the Dissemination Agent to, not later than 
six months after the end of the Issuer’s Fiscal Year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending 
August 31, 2024, provide to the MSRB, in the electronic or other form required by the MSRB, an 
Annual Bond Disclosure Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this 
Disclosure Agreement.  In each case, the Annual Bond Disclosure Report may be submitted as 
single document or as separate documents comprising a package and may include by reference 
other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement; provided that the audited 
financial statements of the Issuer, if prepared and when available, may be submitted separately 
from the balance of the Annual Bond Disclosure Report, and later than the date required in this 
paragraph for the filing of the Annual Bond Disclosure Report if they are not available by that 
date.  If the Issuer’s Fiscal Year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner 
as for a Listed Event under Section 5.  All documents provided to the MSRB shall be accompanied 
by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. 

(b) Not later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the date specified in subsection (a) 
for providing the Annual Bond Disclosure Report to the MSRB, the Dissemination Agent shall 
provide the Annual Bond Disclosure Report to the Issuer and the Trustee.  If by the date specified 
in this subsection 3(b), the Trustee has not received a copy of the Annual Bond Disclosure Report, 
the Trustee shall contact the Issuer and the Dissemination Agent to determine if the Issuer is 
intending to comply with subsection (a). 

(c) If the Trustee is able to verify that an Annual Bond Disclosure Report has not been 
provided to the MSRB by the date required in subsection (a), the Trustee shall send a notice to the 
MSRB in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A. 

(d) The Dissemination Agent shall: 

(i) on behalf of the Issuer prepare and file the Annual Bond Disclosure Report 
(excluding the audited financial statements of the Issuer, if any, which shall be filed by the 
Dissemination Agent upon receipt from the Issuer) containing or incorporating by 
reference the information set forth in Section 4 hereof; and 

113



DMFIRM #409879397 v3 3 

(ii) file a report with the Issuer and (if the Dissemination Agent is not the 
Trustee) the Trustee certifying that the Annual Bond Disclosure Report has been provided 
pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, stating the date it was provided and that it was filed 
with the MSRB. 

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Bond Disclosure Reports.  The Annual Bond Disclosure 
Report for the Bonds shall contain or incorporate by reference the following: 

(a) If prepared and when available, the audited financial statements of the Issuer for 
the most recently ended Fiscal Year, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles applicable from time to time to the Issuer. 

(b) Tables setting forth the following information, as of the end of such Fiscal Year: 

(i) For each maturity of the Bonds, the maturity date, the interest rate, the 
original aggregate principal amount and the principal amount remaining Outstanding. 

(ii) During the Certificate Purchase Period, the total principal amount of 
Certificates to be purchased and the total principal amount of Certificates purchased by the 
Trustee.  This information will not be provided after the Certificate Purchase Period is 
completed. 

(iii) The amounts in the funds and accounts securing the Bonds and a description 
of the related investments. 

(iv) The aggregate principal amount of Certificates purchased, the aggregate 
principal balance of Certificates remaining Outstanding, and the aggregate principal 
balance of Certificates at each pass through rate remaining Outstanding. 

See Exhibit B hereto for a form for submitting the information set forth in the preceding 
subparagraph (b). 

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other 
documents, including disclosure documents of debt issues of the Issuer, which have been submitted 
to the MSRB or the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If the document included by reference 
is a final offering document, it must be available from the MSRB.  The Issuer shall clearly identify 
each such other document so included by reference. 

SECTION 5. Reporting of Listed Events. 

(a) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5, each of the following is a Listed Event 
with respect to the Bonds: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. Non payment related defaults, if material; 

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

114



DMFIRM #409879397 v3 4 

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the IRS of proposed or final 
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-
TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax 
status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the 
Bonds; 

7. Modifications to rights of Bondholders, if material; 

8. Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

9. Defeasances; 

10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, 
if material; 

11. Rating changes; 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer; 

(For the purposes of the event identified in this paragraph 12, the event is 
considered to occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a 
receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the Issuer in a proceeding under 
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal 
law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction 
over substantially all of the assets or business of the Issuer, or if such 
jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and 
officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders 
of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a 
plan of reorganization, arrangements or liquidation by a court or 
governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially 
all of the assets or business of the Issuer.) 

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the Issuer, 
or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in 
the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to 
undertake such action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating 
to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee under the Indenture or the 
change of name of a trustee, if material; 

15. Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, if material, or agreement 
to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar 

115



DMFIRM #409879397 v3 5 

terms of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, any of which affect 
Bondholders, if material; and 

16. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 
other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, 
any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

Whenever the Issuer obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event under number 
1, 3, 4, 5, 6 (unless a judgment as to materiality is required to be made), 8 (if the event is a tender 
offer), 9, 11, 12 or 16 above, it shall promptly notify the Trustee in writing and shall direct the 
Dissemination Agent to immediately file a notice of such occurrence with the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board.  Such notice is required to be filed within ten (10) Business Days of the 
occurrence of such Listed Event. 

Whenever the Issuer obtains knowledge of any Listed Event under number 2, 6 (if a 
judgment as to materiality is required), 7, 8 (if the event is a bond call), 10, 13, 14 or 15 above, it 
shall promptly determine if such event is material.  If the Issuer determines that such event is 
material, it shall immediately notify the Trustee and the Dissemination Agent in writing and shall 
direct the Dissemination Agent to immediately file a notice of such occurrence with the Municipal 
Securities Rulemaking Board.  Such notice is required to be filed within ten (10) Business Days 
of the occurrence of such Listed Event. 

Any notice under the two (2) preceding paragraphs shall be accompanied with the text of 
the disclosure that the Issuer desires to make, the written authorization of the Issuer for the 
Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information as provided herein, and the date the Issuer 
desires for the Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information. 

In all cases, the Issuer shall have the sole responsibility for the content, design and other 
elements comprising substantive contents of all disclosures. 

(b) The Trustee shall, within one (1) Business Day of a Responsible Officer obtaining 
actual knowledge of the occurrence of any Listed Event with respect to the Bonds, notify the 
Disclosure Representative of such Listed Event.  It is agreed and understood that the duty to make 
the disclosures herein is that of the Issuer and not that of the Trustee or the Dissemination Agent.  
It is agreed and understood that the Trustee has agreed to give the foregoing notice to the Issuer as 
an accommodation to assist it in monitoring the occurrence of such event, but is under no 
obligation to investigate whether any of such event has occurred.  As used above, “actual 
knowledge” means the actual fact or statement of knowing, without a duty to make any 
investigation with respect thereto.  In no event shall the Trustee be liable in damages or in tort to 
any Participating Underwriter, the Issuer, or any Owner or beneficial owner of any interests in the 
Bonds as a result of its failure to give the foregoing notice or to give such notice in a timely fashion. 

SECTION 6. Termination of Reporting Obligations.  The Issuer’s obligations under this 
Disclosure Agreement with respect to the Bonds shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior 
redemption or payment in full of the Bonds.  If such termination occurs prior to the final maturity 
of the Bonds, the Issuer shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a Listed 
Event under Section 5(a). 

116



DMFIRM #409879397 v3 6 

SECTION 7. Dissemination Agent.  The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage 
a Dissemination Agent or successor Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations 
under this Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge such Dissemination Agent, with or without 
appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.  If at any time there is not any other designated 
Dissemination Agent, the Issuer shall be the Dissemination Agent.  The initial Dissemination 
Agent appointed hereunder shall be Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 

SECTION 8. Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this 
Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer and the Trustee may amend this Disclosure Agreement with 
consent of Dissemination Agent (and the Trustee shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to 
any amendment so requested by the Issuer), and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may 
be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied: 

(a) If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4, or 5(a), it 
may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal 
requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an obligated person with 
respect to the Bonds, or the type of business conducted; 

(b) The undertaking, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, in the 
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule 
at the time of the delivery of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or 
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and 

(c) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Owners of the Bonds in the 
same manner as provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of 
Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair 
the interests of the Owners or beneficial owners of the Bonds. 

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the 
Issuer shall describe such amendment in the next related Annual Bond Disclosure Report, and shall 
include, as applicable, a narrative explanation of the reason for the amendment or waiver and its 
impact on the type (or in the case of a change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of 
financial information or operating data being presented by the Issuer.  In addition, if the 
amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, 
(i) notice of such change shall be given in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 
5(a), and (ii) the Annual Bond Disclosure Report for the year in which the change is made should 
present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the 
financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared 
on the basis of the former accounting principles.  No amendment which adversely affects the 
Trustee may be made without its consent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed). 

The Issuer may also amend or repeal the provisions of this Disclosure Agreement if the 
SEC amends or repeals the applicable provision of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters 
judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent that the 
provisions of this sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling 
Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds. 

117



DMFIRM #409879397 v3 7 

SECTION 9. Additional Information; Miscellaneous.  Nothing in this Disclosure 
Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using 
the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of 
communication, or including any other information in any Annual Bond Disclosure Report or 
notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure 
Agreement.  If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any Annual Bond Disclosure 
Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required 
by this Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement 
to update such information or include it in any future Annual Bond Disclosure Report or notice of 
occurrence of a Listed Event. 

Any submission to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (or other applicable 
repository) shall be in an electronic format and accompanied by identifying information, all as 
prescribed by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

SECTION 10. Default.  In the event of a failure of the Issuer or the Trustee to comply with 
any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Dissemination Agent may (and, at the request of 
any Participating Underwriter or the Owners of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of 
Outstanding Bonds, shall, upon the Dissemination Agent being indemnified to its satisfaction), or 
any Owner or beneficial owner of the Bonds may, take such actions as may be necessary and 
appropriate to cause the Issuer or the Trustee, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations 
under this Disclosure Agreement.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed 
an Event of Default under the Indenture with respect to the Bonds, and the sole remedy under this 
Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the Issuer or the Trustee to comply with this 
Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel performance. 

SECTION 11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Trustee and Dissemination Agent.  
Article VII of the Indenture is hereby made applicable to this Disclosure Agreement as if this 
Disclosure Agreement were (solely for this purpose) contained in the Indenture.  The Trustee and 
the Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure 
Agreement, and no implied covenants shall be read into this Disclosure Agreement with respect to 
the Trustee or the Dissemination Agent.  The Dissemination Agent’s obligation to deliver the 
information at the time and with the content described herein shall be limited to the extent the 
Issuer has provided such information to the Dissemination Agent as required by this Disclosure 
Agreement.  Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall have any duty with respect to 
the content of any disclosures made pursuant to the terms hereof.  Neither the Trustee nor the 
Dissemination Agent shall have any duty or obligation to review or verify any Annual Bond 
Disclosure Report, the Issuer’s audited financial statements, Listed Events or any other 
information, disclosures or notices provided to the Trustee or the Dissemination by the Issuer and 
neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall be deemed to be acting in any fiduciary 
capacity for the Issuer, the Bondholders or any other party.  The Dissemination Agent shall have 
no duty to determine, or liability for failing to determine, whether the Issuer has complied its 
obligations under this Disclosure Agreement.  The Dissemination Agent may conclusively rely 
upon certification of the Issuer at all times.  To the extent permitted by law, the Issuer agrees to 
hold harmless the Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees and agents, against any 
loss, expense and liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of 
its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys fees) of 

118



DMFIRM #409879397 v3 8 

defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s 
negligence or willful misconduct. 

The obligations of the Issuer under this Section 11 shall survive resignation or removal of 
the Dissemination Agent and payment in full of the Bonds.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement 
shall be construed to mean or to imply that either the Trustee or the Dissemination Agent is an 
“obligated person” under the Rule.  The fact that the Trustee may have a banking relationship with 
the Issuer or any person with whom the Issuer contracts in connection with the transaction 
described in the Indenture, apart from the relationship created by the Indenture or this Disclosure 
Agreement, shall not be construed to mean that the Trustee or a Responsible Officer thereof has 
actual knowledge of any event described in Section 5 above, except as may be provided by written 
notice to the Trustee pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement or the Indenture.  Neither the Trustee 
nor the Dissemination Agent shall in any event incur any liability with respect to (i) any action 
taken or omitted to be taken in good faith upon advice of legal counsel given with respect to any 
question relating to duties and responsibilities of the Trustee hereunder, or (ii) any action taken or 
omitted to be taken in reliance upon any document delivered to them and believed to be genuine 
and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. 

The Trustee and the Dissemination Agent may, from time to time, consult with legal 
counsel of their own choosing in the event of any disagreement or controversy, or question or 
doubt as to the construction of any of the provisions hereof or their respective duties hereunder, 
and neither of them shall incur any liability and shall be fully protected in acting in good faith upon 
the advice of such legal counsel.  UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE 
DISSEMINATION AGENT, THE TRUSTEE OR THE ISSUER BE LIABLE TO THE OWNER 
OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY BOND OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR 
TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM ANY BREACH BY 
THE ISSUER, THE DISSEMINATION AGENT OR THE TRUSTEE, RESPECTIVELY, 
WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT 
SPECIFIED IN THIS DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND REMEDY OF 
ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH 
BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC 
PERFORMANCE.  THE TRUSTEE IS UNDER NO OBLIGATION NOR IS IT REQUIRED TO 
BRING SUCH AN ACTION. 

SECTION 12. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit 
of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter and the Owners 
and the beneficial owners from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other 
person or entity.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive 
or otherwise limit the duties of the Issuer under federal and state securities laws. 

SECTION 13. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

119



 

DMFIRM #409879397 S-1 

 TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 
 
 
 
By:   

President 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page for Continuing Disclosure Agreement] 

  

120



 

DMFIRM #409879397 S-2 

 COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, 
N.A. (as Trustee and Dissemination Agent) 
 
 
 
By:   

Authorized Officer 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page for Continuing Disclosure Agreement] 

121



 

DMFIRM #409879397 v3 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE 
ANNUAL BOND DISCLOSURE REPORT 

Name of Issuer: Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
  
Name of Bond Issue: Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-

AMT) and Series 2024B (Taxable) 
  
Date of Delivery: March [6], 2024 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation has not 
provided an Annual Bond Disclosure Report with respect to the above-named bonds as required 
by the Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024, between the Issuer and 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.  The Issuer anticipates that the Annual Bond 
Disclosure Report will be filed by ________________. 

Dated: _________________ 

 COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A., 
on behalf of Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 
 
 
 
By:   
 
Title:   

  
  
  
  
  
cc:  Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 

122



 

DMFIRM #409879397 v3 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 

Series 2024A (Non-AMT) and Series 2024B (Taxable) 

 
ANNUAL BOND DISCLOSURE REPORT* 

 

Delivery Date: March [6], 2024 
  
TRUSTEE  
  
  
Name:    
Address:   
City:   
Telephone:   
Contact Person:   

BONDS OUTSTANDING 

CUSIP 
Number 

Maturity 
Date 

Interest 
Rate 

Original 
Principal 
Amount 

Outstanding 
Principal 
Amount 

Accrued 
Interest 

      
      
      

CERTIFICATES 

Type Original Principal 
Amount 

Outstanding 
Principal 
Amount 

Interest Rate 

    
    
    
    

 
* Excluding Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer 

123



 

DMFIRM #409879397 v3 B-2 

INVESTMENTS 

Fund/ 
Account Name 

Investment 
Type 

Principal 
Balance 

Accrued 
Interest 

Investment 
Rate 

Maturity 
Date 

      
      
      

 

ASSETS & LIABILITIES OF PLEDGED TRUST ESTATE 

Certificates (Principal Balance)   
  
Funds and Accounts [list]   
  
Accrued Interest (if any)   
  
TOTAL ASSETS   

LIABILITIES 

Outstanding Bond Principal   
  
Accrued Interest (if any)   
  
Outstanding Program Expenses (if any)   
  
TOTAL LIABILITIES    

EQUITY 

Assets Less Liabilities   
  
Parity Ratio   

Form of Accounting  Cash   Accrual  Modified Accrual 

124



   
   

3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

 
 

$XX,000,000 
Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
Series 2024A (Non-AMT) 

                                   Series 2024B (Taxable) 

 

Bond Purchase Agreement 

 _______, 2024 

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
6701 Shirley Avenue 
Austin, Texas  78752 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

On the basis of the representations, warranties and covenants contained herein, and the 
terms and conditions contained herein, Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the “Underwriter”), 
offers to enter into this Bond Purchase Agreement (this “Purchase Agreement”), relating to the 
above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”), with Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Issuer”), which Purchase Agreement will become binding upon the Issuer and the Underwriter 
upon your acceptance by execution of this Purchase Agreement and its delivery to the Underwriter 
at or prior to 5:00 p.m., Central time, not later than __________, 2024. 

The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the Bonds pursuant 
to this Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction between the Issuer and the 
Underwriter, (ii) in connection with such transaction, the Underwriter is acting solely as a principal 
and not as an agent or a fiduciary of the Issuer; (iii) the Underwriter has not assumed a fiduciary 
responsibility in favor of the Issuer with respect to the offering of the Bonds or the process leading 
thereto (whether or not the Underwriter, or any affiliate of the Underwriter, has advised or is 
currently advising the Issuer on other matters) nor has it assumed any other obligation to the Issuer 
except the obligations expressly set forth in this Purchase Agreement; (iv) the Underwriter has 
financial and other interests that differ from those of the Issuer; and (v) the Issuer has consulted 
with its legal counsel and financial advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate in connection with 
the offering and sale of the Bonds. 

1. Introduction.  The Issuer will issue its Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2024A (Non-AMT), in the aggregate principal amount of $YY,000,000 (the “2024A 
Bonds”), and its Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable), in the 
aggregate principal amount of $ZZ,000,000 (the “2024B Bonds,” and together with the 2024A 
Bonds, the “Bonds”), pursuant to Subchapter Y of Chapter 2306 of the Texas Government Code, 
as amended (the “Act”), the Resolution (defined below) and a Trust Indenture dated as of 

125



-2- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

March 1, 2024 (the “Indenture”), between the Issuer and Computershare Trust Company, 
National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).  The Bonds will be issued to provide funds to 
finance mortgage loans (“Mortgage Loans”) secured by mortgages on single family residences 
located within the State of Texas under the applicable terms of the Corporation’s loan program for 
individuals and families of low income (the “Program”).  The financing of the Mortgage Loans 
will occur through the purchase by the Trustee (on behalf of the Issuer) of pass-through certificates 
backed by the Mortgage Loans from moneys on deposit in the Program Fund established under 
the Indenture for the Bonds, which certificates will be guaranteed by the Government National 
Mortgage Association (“GNMA”) (the “Certificates”). 

2. Purchase, Sale and Delivery of Bonds.  On the basis of the representations and 
agreements contained herein, but subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, the 
Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the Issuer, and the Issuer hereby agrees to sell to the 
Underwriter, the Bonds at an aggregate purchase price equal to $_______ (which is the sum of 
$XX,000,000.00, the total initial principal amount of the Bonds, plus an original issue premium of 
$_________).  The Bonds will bear interest from their date of delivery, and therefore no accrued 
interest will be paid as part of the purchase price. 

The Bonds will mature on the dates and in the aggregate principal amounts, and bear 
interest at the rates per annum, shown on Schedule I.  The Issuer shall pay on the Closing Date to 
the Underwriter $________ with respect to the 2024A Bonds and $_____ with respect to the 
2024B Bonds (collectively, the “Underwriter’s Fee”) for the Underwriter’s fees and expenses. 

The Issuer will deliver the Bonds to the Underwriter against payment of the purchase price 
therefor by wire transfer payable in immediately available funds to the Trustee.  The closing will 
occur at the offices of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, at 10:00 a.m., Central time, 
on _______, 2024, or at such other time or place as the Issuer and the Underwriter shall mutually 
agree upon (such time being referred to herein as the “Closing Date”).  The Bonds shall be 
delivered in definitive fully registered form, in each case in such form as shall comply with the 
book-entry system requirements of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York. 

3. Transaction Documents.  At or prior to the Closing Date, the Issuer shall deliver to 
the Underwriter the following documents in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter: 

(a) a certified copy of the resolution adopted by the Issuer on December 19, 
2023, approving the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds (the “Resolution”); 

(b) a certified copy of the executed Indenture; 

(c) a copy of the executed Servicing and Sale Agreement dated as of 
February 1, 2019 (the “Servicing Agreement”), between the Issuer and Lakeview Loan 
Servicing, LLC (the “Servicer”); 

(d) a copy of the form of Mortgage Origination Agreement between the Issuer 
and each financial institution participating in the Program as a lender (each a “Lender”), 
and a copy of the Amendment (Relating to Bond-Financed Programs) thereto dated as of 

126



-3- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

March 1, 2019, executed by the Issuer and delivered to each Lender (collectively, the 
“Lender Agreements”); 

(e) a copy of the executed Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of 
March 1, 2024 (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) as summarized in the Official 
Statement (defined below); and 

(f) a copy of the Official Statement of the Issuer relating to the Bonds duly 
executed on behalf of the Issuer by the President or other duly authorized representative of 
the Issuer. 

The Issuer confirms that it has heretofore made available to the Underwriter copies of the 
Preliminary Official Statement dated ______, 2024, relating to the Bonds (the “Preliminary 
Official Statement”) and has approved the distribution thereof to prospective underwriters and 
investors.  The Issuer hereby represents to the Underwriter that the Preliminary Official Statement 
was deemed by the Issuer to be “final” as of its date within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12(b) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Rule”), with the exception of information permitted to 
be omitted therefrom pursuant to such rule. 

The Issuer authorizes, ratifies and consents to the use of the Preliminary Official Statement 
by the Underwriter in connection with the Issuer’s offer, sale and distribution of the Bonds. 

Upon the request of the Underwriter (which request shall be made no later than seven (7) 
business days following the date hereof), the Issuer will deliver to the Underwriter three (3) copies 
of the Preliminary Official Statement completed with the information permitted to be omitted 
therefrom by Rule 15c2-12(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and such other 
amendments or supplements as shall have been approved by the Issuer and the Underwriter (the 
Preliminary Official Statement, as so completed, being hereinafter referred to as the “Official 
Statement”) duly executed on behalf of the Issuer. 

The Issuer approves, and the Underwriter consents to, the delivery of the Preliminary 
Official Statement and the Official Statement in electronic form. 

This Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Servicing Agreement, the Lender Agreements 
and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement are referred to herein collectively as the “Issuer 
Agreements.” 

4. Representations and Warranties.  The Issuer represents and warrants to the 
Underwriter as follows: 

(a) it is a non-profit corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of 
the State of Texas (the “State”), and has full legal right, power and authority (i) to enter 
into this Purchase Agreement (ii) to execute and deliver the Issuer Agreements, (iii) to sell, 
issue and deliver the Bonds to the Underwriter as provided herein, (iv) to use the proceeds 
of the Bonds to purchase the Certificates and for other purposes described in the Indenture 
and (v) to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Issuer Agreements and the 
Official Statement; 

127



-4- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

(b) the information set forth in the Official Statement under the captions “THE 
ISSUER” and “NO LITIGATION” does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in 
light of the circumstances under which they were made not misleading; 

(c) it is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative 
regulation of the State, the United States or any applicable judgment or decree or any 
payment default with respect to any obligations, in each case, where such default would 
have a material adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under 
the Issuer Agreements; and the execution and delivery of the Issuer Agreements and the 
Bonds, and the compliance with the provisions thereof, do not conflict with or constitute a 
material breach of or default under any law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, 
loan agreement, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a 
party or to which it or any of its property is otherwise subject; 

(d) all material approvals, consents and orders of any governmental entity of 
the State or the United States having jurisdiction which would constitute conditions 
precedent to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Issuer Agreements 
and the Bonds have been or will be obtained prior to the Closing Date; 

(e) to its knowledge, the terms and provisions of the Issuer Agreements comply 
in all material respects with the requirements of the Act; and the Issuer Agreements and 
the Bonds, when executed and delivered by the Issuer, will constitute its valid, legal and 
binding obligations enforceable in accordance with their terms, except as the enforceability 
thereof may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law affecting 
the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by public policy considerations which 
may render the Issuer Agreements or the Bonds unenforceable, and subject to the 
availability of equitable remedies generally; 

(f) there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in 
equity, before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, to the knowledge of the 
Issuer, threatened against it affecting its existence or its governing body or the titles of its 
officers to their respective offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the delivery of 
the Bonds or the revenues or assets pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest 
on the Bonds, or the pledge of such revenue or assets, the purchase of the Certificates, or 
in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds or the Issuer 
Agreements, or contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy the Official Statement, 
or contesting its powers or any authority for the issuance or delivery of the Bonds or the 
execution and delivery of the Issuer Agreements; 

(g) any certificate signed by one of its authorized officers and delivered to the 
Underwriter or the Trustee at or prior to the Closing Date shall be deemed a representation 
by it in connection with this Purchase Agreement to the Underwriter or the Trustee as to 
the statements made therein; 

128



-5- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

(h) the Bonds, when issued, authenticated and delivered in accordance with the 
Indenture and sold to the Underwriter as provided herein, will be the Issuer’s validly issued 
and outstanding limited obligations entitled to the benefits of the Indenture; 

(i) the Issuer will apply, or cause to be applied, the proceeds from the sale of 
the Bonds as provided in and subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Resolution 
and the Indenture, and will not to take or omit to take any action which action or omission 
will adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of 
the interest on the Bonds; and 

(j) to its knowledge, except as described in the Official Statement, the Issuer 
has not failed to comply, in all material respects, with any continuing disclosure 
undertaking during the five-year period preceding the date of the Official Statement. 

The Issuer agrees that all representations and covenants made by it herein, and in securities, 
agreements or other instruments delivered pursuant hereto or in connection herewith, shall be 
deemed to have been relied upon by the Underwriter, and that all representations and covenants 
made by the Issuer herein and therein and all the Underwriter’s rights hereunder and thereunder 
shall survive the delivery of the Bonds. 

5. Covenants.  The Issuer covenants with the Underwriter that: 

(a) If between the date of this Purchase Agreement and the date ninety 
(90) days following the end of the underwriting period (as such term is defined in 
Rule 15c2-12(e)(2) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which may be assumed by 
the Issuer to be the Closing Date unless otherwise notified by the Underwriter) an event 
occurs affecting the Issuer, or any transaction contemplated by the Issuer Agreements, 
which could cause the Official Statement to contain an untrue statement of a material fact 
or to omit to state a material fact which should be included therein for the purposes for 
which the Official Statement was to be used or which is necessary in order to make the 
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading, and, if in the opinion of the Issuer or the Underwriter such event requires an 
amendment or supplement to such Official Statement, the Issuer will change, amend or 
supplement the Official Statement in a form and in a manner reasonably acceptable to the 
Underwriter and at the reasonable expense of the Issuer and/or the Underwriter as shall be 
mutually agreed; provided, however, if such event shall occur on or prior to the Closing 
Date, the Underwriter, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to terminate its obligations 
hereunder by written notice to the Issuer, and the Underwriter shall be under no obligation 
to purchase and pay for the Bonds; and 

(b) the Issuer, at no expense to the Issuer, will furnish such information, execute 
such instruments and take such other action in cooperation with the Underwriter as the 
Underwriter may reasonably request to qualify the Bonds for offer and sale under the Blue 
Sky or other securities laws and regulations of such states and other jurisdictions of the 
United States as the Underwriter may designate; provided, however, the Issuer shall not be 
required to register as a dealer or broker in any such state or jurisdiction nor shall it be 
required to consent to the jurisdiction of such state or jurisdiction. 

129



-6- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

6. Establishment of Issue Price.  (a) The Underwriter agrees to assist the Issuer in 
establishing the issue price of the 2024A Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the Issuer at the 
Closing Date an “issue price” or similar certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or 
equivalent communications, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, with such 
modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, 
the Issuer and Bond Counsel, to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the 
initial offering price or prices to the public of the 2024A Bonds. 

(b) Except as otherwise set forth in Schedule I attached hereto, the Issuer will treat the 
first price at which 10% of each maturity of the 2024A Bonds is sold to the public (the “10% 
Test”) as the issue price of that maturity.  At or promptly after the execution of this Purchase 
Agreement, the Underwriter shall report to the Issuer the price or prices at which it has sold to the 
public each maturity of 2024A Bonds.  If at that time the 10% Test has not been satisfied as to any 
maturity of the 2024A Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly report to the Issuer the prices at 
which it sells the 2024A Bonds of that maturity to the public.  That reporting obligation shall 
continue, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either (i) the Underwriter has sold 
all 2024A Bonds of that maturity or (ii) the 10% Test has been satisfied as to the 2024A Bonds of 
that maturity, provided that, the Underwriter’s reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be 
at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Issuer or Bond Counsel.  For 
purposes of this section 6(b), if 2024A Bonds mature on the same date but have different interest 
rates, each separate CUSIP number within that maturity will be treated as a separate maturity of 
the 2024A Bonds. 

(c) The Underwriter confirms that Underwriter offered the 2024A Bonds to the 
public on or before the date of this Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the 
“Initial Offering Price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Schedule I 
attached hereto, except as otherwise set forth therein.  Schedule I also sets forth, as of the 
date of this Purchase Agreement, the maturities, if any, of the 2024A Bonds for which the 
10% Test has not been satisfied and for which the Issuer and the Underwriter agree that the 
restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which will allow the Issuer to treat 
the initial offering price to the public of each such maturity as of the sale date as the issue 
price of that maturity (the “Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule”).  So long as the 
Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule remains applicable to any maturity of the 2024A Bonds, the 
Underwriter will neither offer nor sell unsold 2024A Bonds of that maturity to any person 
at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price to the public during the period starting 
on the sale date and ending on the earlier of the following: 

 (1) the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or 

 (2) the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that 
maturity of the 2024A Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the Initial 
Offering Price to the public. 

The Underwriter will advise the Issuer promptly after the close of the fifth (5th) business 
day after the sale date whether it has sold 10% of that maturity of the 2024A Bonds to the public 
at a price that is no higher than the Initial Offering Price to the public. 

130



-7- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

(d) The Underwriter confirms that: 

(i) any selling group agreement and any retail or other third-party distribution 
agreement relating to the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds to the public, together with the 
related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer who is a 
member of the selling group and each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail or other 
third-party distribution agreement, as applicable: 

(A)  (i) to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold 
2024A Bonds of each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has 
occurred, until either all 2024A Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been 
sold or it is notified by the Underwriter that the 10% Test has been satisfied as to 
the 2024A Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting obligation after the 
Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of 
the Underwriter, and (ii) to comply with the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, if 
applicable, if and for so long as directed by the Underwriter,  

(B) to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of 2024A Bonds 
that, to its knowledge, are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an 
underwriter participating in the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds to the public (each 
such term being used as defined below), and 

(C) to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the dealer or 
broker-dealer, the Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the dealer 
or broker-dealer is a sale to the public. 

(ii) any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds 
to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language 
obligating each dealer that is a party to a retail or other third-party distribution agreement 
to be employed in connection with the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds to the public to 
require each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail or other third-party distribution 
agreement to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold 2024A Bonds 
of each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either 
all 2024A Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the 
Underwriter or the dealer that the 10% Test has been satisfied as to the 2024A Bonds of 
that maturity, provided that, the reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be at 
reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter or the dealer, 
and (B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, if and for so long as 
directed by the Underwriter or the dealer and as set forth in the related pricing wires. 

(e) The Issuer acknowledges that, in making the representations set forth in this 
section, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in 
connection with the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds to the public, the agreement of each 
dealer who is a member of the selling group to comply with the requirements for 
establishing issue price of the 2024A Bonds, including, but not limited to, its agreement to 
comply with the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, if applicable to the 2024A Bonds, as set 
forth in a selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and (ii) in the event that a 

131



-8- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

third-party distribution agreement was employed in connection with the initial sale of the 
2024A Bonds to the public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such 
agreement to comply with the requirements for establishing issue price of the 2024A 
Bonds, including, but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the 
Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, if applicable to the 2024A Bonds, as set forth in the retail 
or other third-party distribution agreement and the related pricing wires.  The Issuer further 
acknowledges that the Underwriter shall not be liable for the failure of any dealer who is a 
member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a retail or other 
third-party distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement to comply 
with the requirements for establishing issue price of the 2024A Bonds, including, but not 
limited to, its agreement to comply with the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, if applicable 
to the 2024A Bonds. 

(f) The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any 2024A Bonds to any 
person that is a related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the 2024A 
Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales 
to the public for purposes of this section.  Further, for purposes of this section: 

(i) “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party; 

(ii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to 
participate in the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds to the public and (B) any person that 
agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in 
clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds to the public (including a 
member of a selling group or a party to a retail or other third-party distribution agreement 
participating in the initial sale of the 2024A Bonds to the public); 

(iii) a purchaser of any of the 2024A Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter 
if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) more than 
50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities 
are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (B) more than 
50% common ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are 
partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (C) more than 
50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the 
capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a 
corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the 
applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other); and 

(iv)  “sale date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement by all 
parties. 

7. Establishment of the Issue Price of the 2024B Bonds.  In the event any of the 2024B 
Bonds are sold to persons other than bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations 
acting in the capacity of underwriters, at a price of other than the par amount thereof, on or before 
the Closing Date, the Underwriter shall execute and deliver to Bond Counsel an Issue Price 
Certificate for the 2024B Bonds prepared by Bond Counsel. 

132



-9- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

8. Conditions to Obligations of Underwriter.  The obligation of the Underwriter to 
purchase and pay for the Bonds at the Closing Date is subject to the accuracy of the representations 
of the Issuer herein as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, to the material accuracy of 
statements to be made on behalf of the Issuer hereunder, to the material performance by the Issuer 
of its obligations hereunder and to the following additional conditions precedent: 

(a) at the Closing Date, the Resolution, the Issuer Agreements, the Bonds and 
all official action of the Issuer relating thereto, shall be in full force and effect and shall not 
have been amended, modified or supplemented, except as may have been agreed to in 
writing by the Underwriter, and the Official Statement shall have been executed and shall 
not have been amended or supplemented except as may have been agreed to by the 
Underwriter; 

(b) the Issuer shall have received the approving opinion of Norton Rose 
Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, in form acceptable to the Issuer and the Underwriter; 

(c) the Underwriter shall have received the supplemental opinion of Norton 
Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Issuer, 
the Underwriter and the Trustee, to the effect that: (i) the Bonds constitute exempted 
securities within the meaning of Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “Securities Act”), and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust 
Indenture Act”), and that it is not necessary, in connection with the offering and sale of the 
Bonds, to register any securities under the Securities Act or to qualify the Indenture under 
the Trust Indenture Act; (ii) the Bonds, the Indenture, the Lender Agreements, the 
Servicing Agreement, and certain provisions of federal tax law conform to the descriptions 
thereof contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, and the 
statements contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement on 
the cover and under the captions “INTRODUCTION,” “THE BONDS,” “SECURITY FOR THE 
BONDS,” “FLOW OF FUNDS,” “THE PROGRAM,” “THE INDENTURE,” “THE LENDER 
AGREEMENTS,” “THE SERVICING AGREEMENT,” “TAX MATTERS,” “ELIGIBILITY FOR 
INVESTMENT” and “Appendix A—DEFINITIONS,” insofar as such statements purport to 
summarize certain provisions of the Bonds, the Indenture, the Lender Agreements and the 
Servicing Agreement, federal tax law provisions relating to the Bonds, and the eligibility 
for investment under Texas law, present a fair and accurate summary of such provisions; 
(iii) the Issuer is empowered to acquire the Certificates to provide financing for single 
family residences in accordance with the Indenture and to assign the Certificates and other 
pledged revenues from which the Bonds are payable; (iv) the Indenture creates a valid 
pledge of the Trust Estate (as defined in the Indenture), the Certificates and money, 
securities and property held in any fund or account established pursuant to the Indenture 
(excluding amounts contained in the Cost of Issuance Fund and any Rebate Amount), 
including the investment thereof, and a first lien upon, security interest in and assignment 
to the Trustee of the same, and all right, title and interest of the Issuer in the Certificates, 
the Lender Agreements and the Servicing Agreement and subject in all cases to the 
provisions of the Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the 
terms and conditions set forth therein; and (v) all approvals, consents, authorizations, 
elections and orders of or filings or registrations with any governmental authority, board, 

133



-10- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

agency or commission (except state securities commissions) having jurisdiction which 
would constitute a condition precedent to, or the absence of which would materially 
adversely affect, the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Bonds, the 
Indenture, the Lender Agreements, the Servicing Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement and this Purchase Agreement, have been obtained and are in full force and 
effect; 

(d) the Underwriter shall have received an unqualified approving opinion of 
Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel dated the Closing Date and addressed to 
the Issuer, the Underwriter and the Trustee, in substantially the form included in Appendix 
C, to the effect that: (i) this Purchase Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and 
delivered by, and constitutes a legally valid and binding agreement enforceable in 
accordance with its terms of, the Issuer except as enforcement may be limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws or equitable principles relating to 
or limiting creditors’ rights generally, and provided that no opinion need be expressed as 
to the availability of equitable remedies; (ii) the Issuer is a duly organized and existing 
non-profit corporation, duly organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the 
State, acting pursuant to the Act, with full legal right, power and authority to issue the 
Bonds and to perform all of its obligations under the Bonds, the Resolution and the Issuer 
Agreements, and the same are now in full force and effect, and the Issuer has duly adopted 
the Resolution and has duly authorized, executed and delivered the Bonds, the Issuer 
Agreements and the Official Statement, and (assuming due authorization, execution and 
delivery by the other parties thereto, where necessary) the Issuer Agreements constitute 
legal, valid and binding agreements of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with their terms 
(except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or 
similar laws or equitable principles relating to or limiting creditors’ rights generally, and 
provided that no opinion need be expressed as to the availability of equitable remedies); 
(iii) the Issuer has duly approved the Official Statement and has duly approved or ratified, 
as applicable, the distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and (iv) the adoption 
of the Resolution, and the execution and delivery of the Bonds and the Issuer Agreements 
and the other instruments contemplated by any of such documents to which the Issuer is a 
party, and compliance with the provisions of each thereof, will not conflict with or 
constitute a breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative rule or 
regulation of the State, the United States of America, or of any department, division, 
agency or instrumentality of either thereof, or any applicable court or administrative decree 
or order or, to its knowledge, any loan agreement, note, ordinance, resolution, indenture, 
contract, agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject 
or bound; 

(e) the Underwriter shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and 
signed by an authorized officer of the Trustee (or an opinion of counsel to the Trustee as 
to one or more of such matters addressed to the Issuer and the Underwriter), to the effect 
that: (i) the Trustee is a national banking association, duly organized, validly existing and 
in good standing under the laws of the United States, is duly qualified to do business and 
to exercise trust powers in the State and in all jurisdictions where the nature of its operations 
as contemplated by the Indenture legally requires such qualification, and has the corporate 

134



-11- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

power to take all action required or permitted of it under the Indenture (including actions 
required or permitted of it under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement; (ii) the execution, 
delivery and performance by the Trustee of the Indenture and the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement, and its acknowledgment of certain provisions of the Servicing Agreement, 
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Trustee, and 
under present law do not and will not contravene the charter or by-laws of the Trustee or 
conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under any law, administrative regulation, 
consent decree or any agreement or instrument to which the Trustee is subject; (iii) all 
approvals, consents and orders of any governmental authority or agency having jurisdiction 
in the matter which would constitute a condition precedent to the performance by the 
Trustee of its duties and obligations under the Indenture and its duties and obligations 
(including its duties and obligations as Dissemination Agent) under the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement have been obtained and are in full force and effect; (iv) the 
Indenture and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement have been duly entered into and 
delivered by the Trustee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the 
Trustee, enforceable against the Trustee in accordance with their terms, except as the 
enforceability thereof may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general equity 
principles; (v) the Trustee has taken all action necessary for the acceptance of, and has duly 
accepted the office of, Trustee under the Indenture and has the requisite trust powers to 
carry out its obligations under the Indenture; and (vi) no litigation has been served on the 
Trustee or, to the knowledge of such officer, threatened in any way contesting or affecting 
the existence of powers (including trust powers) of the Trustee or the Trustee’s ability to 
fulfill its duties and obligations under the Indenture and its duties and obligations 
(including its duties and obligations as Dissemination Agent) under the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement; 

(f) the Underwriter shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and 
signed by an authorized representative of the Issuer, to the effect that: (i) none of the 
adoption of the Resolution or the execution or delivery by the Issuer of the Bonds or the 
Issuer Agreements, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby, will 
result in the material violation of any constitutional provisions, statute, regulation, order or 
resolution applicable to the Issuer or conflict with any indenture, loan agreement, bond, 
note, order, resolution, contract, agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a 
party or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, is otherwise subject or bound; (ii) no material 
consent, approval, authorization, license or order of any governmental agency or body is 
required for the execution and delivery by the Issuer of, or performance by the Issuer of its 
obligations under, the Issuer Agreements, except such consents, approvals, authorizations, 
licenses or orders as already have been obtained and except such consents, approvals, 
authorizations, licenses or orders as may be required by the Attorney General of the State 
of Texas or under the state securities or “blue sky” laws of any jurisdiction in connection 
with the offer and sale of the Bonds; (iii) no litigation or other proceeding is pending or, to 
the knowledge of the Issuer, threatened in any state or federal court or other tribunal of 
competent jurisdiction, in any material way: (a) restraining or enjoining the issuance, sale 
or delivery of the Bonds; (b) questioning or affecting the validity of the Resolution, the 
Issuer Agreements, the Bonds, the collection, application and pledge to the Bondholders 

135



-12- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

of any moneys or other security provided for the payment of the Bonds under the Indenture, 
and Lender Agreements or the Servicing Agreement, or any other transaction referred to 
in the Official Statement; (c) questioning or affecting the validity of any of the proceedings 
for the authorization, sale, execution, issuance or delivery of the Bonds; (d) questioning or 
affecting the organization or existence of the Issuer or the title to office of any officer 
thereof; (e) questioning or affecting the power and authority of the Issuer to issue the Bonds 
or to execute and deliver the Issuer Agreements; (f) questioning the accuracy or 
completeness of the Official Statement; or (g) which would adversely affect the exclusion 
from gross income of interest paid on the 2024A Bonds for federal income tax purposes; 
(iv) the Issuer has complied with or will on the Closing Date be in compliance with all the 
material agreements and satisfied all the material conditions on its part to be performed or 
satisfied at or prior to the Closing Date, and the representations of the Issuer as to all 
material facts contained herein and in the Issuer Agreements are true, complete and correct 
as of the Closing Date; and (v) the statements and information contained in the Official 
Statement under the captions “THE ISSUER” and “NO LITIGATION” with respect to the Issuer 
do not contain any untrue statements of a material fact or omit to state any material fact 
necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (vi) to its knowledge, the 
Issuer has not failed to comply, in all material respects, with any continuing disclosure 
undertaking during the five-year period preceding the date of the Official Statement; 

(g) the Underwriter shall have received a certificate or agreement of the Issuer 
concerning arbitrage and certain other federal income tax matters with respect to the 2024A 
Bonds, dated the Closing Date and signed by an authorized officer of the Issuer, in form 
and substance satisfactory to Bond Counsel; 

(h) the Issuer shall have received an opinion of Ballard Spahr LLP, as 
Disclosure Counsel, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Issuer (with a reliance 
letter to the Underwriter), to the effect that (given appropriate assumptions) (i) the 
information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement as of its date and as of the date 
of this Purchase Agreement and the Official Statement , as of its date and as of the Closing 
Date, under the captions “THE ISSUER” and “THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT” 
present a fair and accurate summary of the matters referred to therein and does not contain 
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 
the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading and (ii) no information came to Disclosure Counsel’s attention that leads them 
to believe that the Preliminary Official Statement as of its date, or as the date of this 
Purchase Agreement, or the Official Statement as of its date and as of the Closing Date 
contains or contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material 
fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which 
they were made, not misleading, provided, however, Disclosure Counsel expresses no view 
as to any financial, numerical, demographic, economic, engineering or statistical data; any 
statements of trends, forecasts, estimates, projections, assumptions, or expressions of 
opinion; any information relating to CUSIP numbers and information about CUSIP Global 
Services; any statements of expectation of the Issuer; information concerning The 
Depository Trust Company contained in the Official Statement, and any information under 

136



-13- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

the sections of the Official Statement titled “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS,” “GNMA 
MORTGAGE-BACKED CERTIFICATE PROGRAM,” “TAX MATTERS,” “ELIGIBILITY FOR 
INVESTMENT,” “FINANCIAL ADVISOR,” “UNDERWRITING,” and “RATING,” and any 
appendices to the Official Statement other than “APPENDIX A – DEFINITIONS”; 

(i) the Issuer and the Underwriter shall have received a verification report of 
Causey Demgen & Moore P.C. dated the Closing Date, and addressed to the Issuer, the 
Trustee, the Underwriter and Bond Counsel, to the effect that the arbitrage yield 
calculations provided by the Underwriter are mathematically accurate; 

(j) the Underwriter shall have received an opinion, dated the Closing Date and 
addressed to the Issuer, the Trustee and the Underwriter, of counsel to the Servicer, or in 
lieu of an opinion, a certificate executed by an authorized officer of the Servicer, to the 
effect that: (i) the Servicer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, and is duly qualified and in 
good standing to transact in the State any and all business contemplated by the Servicing 
Agreement to be conducted by it and possesses all requisite power, licenses, permits and 
franchises to conduct any and all business contemplated by the Servicing Agreement to be 
conducted by it and to execute, deliver and comply with its obligations under the terms of 
the Servicing Agreement; (ii) the execution, delivery and performance of the Servicing 
Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action; (iii) the Servicer 
is an FHA-approved, VA-approved, and USDA-RHS-approved mortgagee and meets all 
requirements of applicable laws so as to be eligible to purchase FHA-insured, 
VA-guaranteed and USDA-RHS-guaranteed mortgage loans; (iv) the Servicer has been 
approved by GNMA to issue mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by GNMA; (v) the 
Servicing Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Servicer enforceable 
against the Servicer in accordance with its terms (except as enforceability may be limited 
by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws or equitable principles relating 
to or limiting creditors’ rights generally and by public policy limitations on the 
enforceability of indemnities and provided that no opinion need be expressed as to the 
availability of equitable remedies); (vi) the execution and delivery of the Servicing 
Agreement by the Servicer and the performance and compliance with its terms in the 
manner contemplated therein will not violate (a) its certificate of incorporation or bylaws 
or (b) any laws in existence at the time of execution which could have any material adverse 
effect whatsoever upon the validity, performance or enforceability of any of the terms of 
the Servicing Agreement applicable to the Servicer and will not constitute a material 
default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material 
default) under, or result in the material breach of, any material contract, agreement or other 
instrument to which the Servicer is a party or which may be applicable to it or any of its 
assets; (vii) there is no litigation pending or to such counsel’s or authorized officer’s 
knowledge, threatened, that would adversely affect the execution or validity of the 
Servicing Agreement by the Servicer, and there are no other legal or governmental 
proceedings other than ordinary routine litigation incident to the business conducted by the 
Servicer pending (or to the best of such counsel’s or authorized officer’s knowledge, 
threatened or contemplated by governmental authority or others) to which the Servicer is a 
party or by which the Servicer or any property of the Servicer is subject, which, if 

137



-14- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

determined adversely to the Servicer would individually or, in the aggregate, have a 
material adverse effect on the financial position or results of the operations of the Servicer; 
and (viii) the statements under the heading “The Servicer” in the Official Statement do not 
include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material facts necessary 
to make the statements under such heading, in the light of the circumstances under which 
they are made, not misleading; 

(k) the Underwriter shall have received the (A) opinion of Hawkins 
Delafield & Wood LLP, counsel to the Underwriter (“Underwriter’s Counsel”), dated the 
Closing Date, and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect that under existing laws, (i) 
the Bonds are not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended or subject to qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, 
as amended and (ii) the Continuing Disclosure Agreement provides a suitable basis for the 
Underwriters, and any other broker, dealer, or municipal securities dealer acting as a 
Participating Underwriter (as defined in the Rule) in connection with the offering of the 
Bonds, to make a reasonable determination that the Issuer has met the qualification of 
paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule; and (B) a negative assurance letter from Hawkins 
Delafield & Wood LLP, counsel for the Underwriter, dated the date of the Closing, and 
addressed to the Underwriter to the effect that, without having undertaken to determine 
independently the accuracy or completeness of the statements contained in the Preliminary 
Official Statement and the Official Statement, but on the basis of their conferences with 
the representatives of the Issuer, Bond Counsel and the Underwriter and their examination 
of certain documents referred to in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official 
Statement, no information has come to the attention of the attorneys in such firm rendering 
legal services in connection with their representation of the Underwriter in this matter that 
would cause them to believe that the Preliminary Official Statement as of its date or as of 
the date of this Purchase Agreement (other than information permitted to be omitted from 
the Preliminary Official Statement pursuant to the Rule), or the Official Statement as of  its 
date or as of the date of the Closing, contains or contained any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omits or omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or 
that is necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading; it being understood that in rendering such opinion 
and providing such negative assurance letter, counsel for the Underwriter are not required 
to express an opinion or provide negative assurance with respect to financial statements 
and other financial, statistical, numerical, forecast, technical, operating, demographic or 
accounting statements and data contained therein included in the Preliminary Official 
Statement or the Official Statement or any information concerning the GNMA Mortgage-
Backed Certificate Program, the book-entry system for registration of the Bonds or the 
Depository Trust Company, or the Appendices to the Preliminary Official Statement or 
Official Statement (as to which no view is expressed). 

(l) the Underwriter shall have received written evidence satisfactory to it that 
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. has assigned a rating of at least “Aa1” to the Bonds; 

(m) the Underwriter shall have received (i) evidence satisfactory to it of the 
approval of the Bonds by the Texas Bond Review Board (the “Board”), or the Board’s 

138



-15- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

Executive Director or his designee, and (ii) an unqualified opinion or certificate, dated on 
or prior to the Closing Date, of the Attorney General of the State approving the Bonds to 
the extent required by law, accompanied by the certificate of the Comptroller of the Public 
Account of the State of Texas as to official registration of the Bonds; and 

(n) the Issuer shall furnish or cause to be furnished by such additional legal 
opinions, securities, instruments and other documents, as the Issuer, the Underwriter, Bond 
Counsel or Disclosure Counsel may reasonably request, to enable such counsel to render 
their respective opinions or to evidence compliance with legal requirements, the truth and 
accuracy, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, of the representations contained 
herein and of the statements and information contained in the Official Statement and the 
due performance or satisfaction on or prior to the Closing Date of all agreements then to 
be performed and all conditions then to be satisfied. 

All the opinions, letters, securities, instruments and other documents mentioned above or 
elsewhere in this Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with the provisions 
hereof if, but only if, they are in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Underwriter, 
and the Underwriter shall have the right to waive any condition set forth in this Section 7. 

9. Termination.  The Underwriter may terminate its obligations hereunder by written 
notice to the Issuer if, at any time subsequent to the date hereof and on or prior to the Closing Date: 

(a) (i) legislation shall have been enacted by the Congress, or introduced in the 
Congress, or recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United 
States or the United States Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service or 
any member of the United States Congress, or favorably reported for passage to either 
House of Congress by any Committee of such House to which such legislation has been 
referred for consideration, or (ii) a decision shall have been rendered by a court established 
under Article III of the Constitution of the United States or the United States Tax Court, or 
(iii) an order, ruling, regulation or communication (including a press release) shall have 
been issued by the United States Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue 
Service, or (iv) any action shall be taken or statement made by or on behalf of the President 
of the United States or the United States Department of the Treasury or the Internal 
Revenue Service or any member of the United States Congress which indicates or implies 
that legislation will be introduced in the United States Congress, in each case referred to in 
clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv), with the purpose or effect, directly or indirectly, of imposing 
federal income taxation upon interest to be received by any holder of Bonds; or 

(b) legislation shall be enacted or any action shall be taken by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission which, in the opinion of counsel to the Underwriter, has the 
effect of requiring the offer or sale of the Bonds, to be registered under the Securities Act 
of 1933 or the Indenture to be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 or any event 
shall have occurred or shall exist which, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, 
makes untrue or incorrect in any material respect any statement or information contained 
in the Official Statement or is not reflected in the Official Statement but should be reflected 
therein in order to make the statements or information contained therein not misleading in 
any material respect; or 

139



-16- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

(c)  (i) in the Underwriter’s reasonable judgment, the market price of the Bonds 
is adversely affected because: (a) additional material restrictions not in force as of the 
effective date hereof shall have been imposed upon trading in securities generally by any 
governmental authority or by any national securities exchange; (b) the New York Stock 
Exchange or other national securities exchange, or any governmental authority, shall 
impose, as to the Bonds or similar obligations, any material restrictions not now in force, 
or increase materially those now in force, with respect to the extension of credit by, or the 
charge to the net capital requirements of, the Underwriter; (c) a general banking 
moratorium shall have been established by federal, New York or State authorities; or (d) a 
war involving the United States of America shall have been declared, or any other national 
or international calamity, including any act of terrorism, shall have occurred (economic or 
otherwise), or any conflict involving the armed forces of the United States of America shall 
have escalated to such a magnitude as to materially affect the Underwriter’s ability to 
market, take delivery of or redeliver Bonds; (ii) there shall have occurred any material 
change, or any other event in the securities or debt markets, which, in the Underwriter’s 
opinion, materially adversely affects the marketability of the Bonds or the market price 
thereof, or any material development involving a prospective change in, or affecting 
particularly the economy of the geographic areas constituting the program area with respect 
to the Bonds, or the mortgage market of said jurisdiction, which, in the Underwriter’s 
reasonable judgment, materially impairs the investment quality of the Bonds, or, in the 
Underwriter’s reasonable judgment, materially impairs the ability of the Underwriter to 
market, take delivery of, or redeliver the Bonds; (iii) any litigation shall be instituted, 
pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds or in 
any way contesting or affecting any authority for or the validity of the Bonds, any of the 
proceedings of the Issuer taken with respect to the issuance, sale, release or delivery 
thereof, the pledge or application of any moneys or Certificates provided for the payment 
of the Bonds or the existence or powers of the Issuer; or (iv) any written notice shall have 
been given by the Rating Agency of any intended downgrading, suspension or withdrawal 
of the credit rating of the Bonds by the Rating Agency. 

10. Expenses.  If a Closing shall take place hereunder, the Issuer shall pay the 
Underwriter’s Fee, the fees and expenses (including any legal expenses) of the Trustee, the fees 
and expenses of Bond Counsel, the fees and expenses of Disclosure Counsel, the fees and expenses 
of the Financial Advisor, the rating agency fee, printing and electronic posting costs, the 
verification fee (if any), and all other costs of issuing the Bonds, but only from money deposited 
in the Cost of Issuance Fund established under the Indenture. 

The Underwriter shall pay its own fees and expenses, unless otherwise agreed by the Issuer.  
The Servicer and the Lenders executing the Servicing Agreement and the Lender Agreements, 
respectively, shall pay their own expenses, including the fees and expenses of their respective 
counsels. 

In the event that a closing does not take place, the Issuer shall not be responsible for any 
fees or expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated under this Purchase 
Agreement. 

140



-17- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

11. Notices.  Any notice or other communication to be given to the Issuer under this 
Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing to the Issuer at its address set 
forth above, and any notice or other communication to be given to the Underwriter under this 
Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing to Raymond James & 
Associates, Inc., 5820 Patterson Avenue, Suite 100, Richmond, Virginia 23226; Attention: Chris 
Spelbring. 

12. Successors.  This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the Issuer 
and the Underwriter (including their successors or assigns) and no other person shall acquire or 
have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof.  All the representations, covenants and agreements 
contained herein shall remain operative and in full force and effect and shall survive delivery of 
and payment for the Bonds hereunder, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the 
Underwriter. 

13. Governing Law.  This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the 
State of Texas. 

14. Counterparts.  This Purchase Agreement may be executed in one or more 
counterparts each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

141



-18- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

15. Effectiveness.  This Purchase Agreement shall become effective upon the execution 
of the acceptance hereof by the Issuer. 

Very truly yours, 

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By: ____________________________________ 
Christopher Spelbring 

Managing Director 

Accepted on _______, 2024: 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

By: _______________________________  
                      David Long 
                       President 

 

142



-19- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

SCHEDULE I 
 

MATURITY SCHEDULE 

 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
$YY,000,000 Series 2023A (Non-AMT) 

$ZZ,000,000 Series 2024B (Taxable) 
 
 
 

[Pricing Wires to be inserted] 
  

143



-20- 
3848300.5  047192  ABPA 

NOTE: The 10% Test was met for each maturity of the 2024A Bonds except the following 
maturities, which are subject to the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule: 

[“TO COME” OR “NONE’] 
 

144



 

A-1 
 

 
Exhibit A 

 
Certificate of Purchaser 

$YY,000,000 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
Series 2024A (Non-AMT) 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned, on behalf of Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the “Purchaser”), 
hereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned 
obligations (the “Bonds”) of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Issuer”). 

1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this certificate, for each 
Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity was 
sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A. 

2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.   

(a) The Purchaser offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for 
purchase at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering Prices”) 
on or before the Sale Date.  A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Bonds 
is attached to this certificate as Schedule B. 

(b) As set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser agreed in writing on 
or prior to the Sale Date that, (i) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, it 
would neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher 
than the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the 
“hold-the-offering-price rule”), and (ii) any selling group agreement shall contain the agreement 
of each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and any retail or other third-party distribution 
agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail or other 
third-party distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule.  Pursuant to 
such agreement, no Underwriter (as defined below) offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-the-
Offering-Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective Initial Offering Price for that 
Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period. 

3. Defined Terms.   

(a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in Schedule A 
hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.” 

(b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in 
Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 

145



 

A-2 
 

(c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the 
period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day 
after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which the Purchaser sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-
Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for 
such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 

(d) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms.  Bonds with 
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, 
are treated as separate maturities. 

(e) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 
association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an 
Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or 
more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

(f) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the 
sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is _____________, 2024. 

(h) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with 
the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the 
initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract 
directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the 
initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail 
or other third-party distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the 
Public). 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing 
in this certificate represents the Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically 
Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury 
Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied 
upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the tax certificate with 
respect to the Bonds and with respect to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the 
Bonds, and by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the 
interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the 
preparation of the Internal Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice 
that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Bonds.  Except as expressly set forth 
above, the certifications set forth herein may not be relied upon or used by any third party or for 
any other purpose. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein, the Purchaser is not engaged in the 
practice of law. Accordingly, the Purchaser makes no representation as to the legal sufficiency of 
the factual matters set forth herein. 

146



 

A-3 
 

Dated: ______, 2024 

Very truly yours, 

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

By: ____________________________________ 
Name:_____________________________ 
Title: ______________________________ 

  

147



 

A-4 
 

 
SCHEDULE A 

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES AND 
INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

 
(Attached) 

148



 

A-5 
 

SCHEDULE B 

PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 
 

(Attached) 

149



   
 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED JANUARY [__], 2024 

NEW ISSUE—BOOK ENTRY ONLY Expected Rating: Moody’s “Aa1” 
(See “Rating”) 

Under applicable law, subject to continuing compliance by the Issuer and others with certain covenants in the 
Agreements and the Indenture and related financing documents, and in reliance upon representations and conclusions in 
certificates, studies and reports of the Issuer and certain other participants in the financing, interest on the 2024A Bonds is 
not includable in gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes, and is not a specific preference item 
for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. See “Tax Matters—Series 2024A Bonds.” 
Interest on the 2024B is includable in gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. See “Tax 
Matters—(Taxable) Series 2024B Bonds.” 

$__,000,000* 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
$__,___,___* Series 2024A (Non-AMT) 

$__,___,___* Series 2024B (Taxable) 

Dated: March __, 2024 (Interest Accrues from Delivery Date) Due: See Inside Front Cover 

The above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”) will be issued in book-entry, fully registered form in denominations of 
$5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will bear interest from the delivery date to their maturity 
date or prior redemption date at the rates set forth herein and will be payable on each March 1 and September 1, commencing 
September 1, 2024, by Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), to Cede & Co., as nominee of The 
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York. See “The Bonds—Payment, Transfer and Exchange.” 

The Bonds will be issued and secured under the terms of a Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 2024 (the 
“Indenture”), between the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Issuer”) and the Trustee. The Bonds will be 
issued to make funds available to finance qualifying mortgage loans for single family residences located in the State of Texas 
through the purchase by the Trustee on behalf of the Issuer of fully-modified mortgage-backed securities (the “Certificates”). 
The Certificates will be guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by the Government National Mortgage 
Association (“GNMA”). See “Introduction,” “Security for the Bonds” and “GNMA Mortgage-Backed Certificate Program.” 

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described herein. It is expected that the Bonds of each 
maturity will be redeemed prior to the stated maturity date thereof. See “The Bonds—Redemption of Bonds” and 
“Structuring Assumptions and Risks.” 

The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely out of the revenues, receipts and 
security pledged therefor under the Indenture. The Bonds do not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of 
the Issuer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision or limitation. The Bonds do not constitute 
a debt or obligation of the State of Texas, or any political subdivision, agency or instrumentality thereof, and shall 
not constitute a lien on or pledge of any property of the Issuer except as provided in the Indenture. The Issuer has no 
taxing power. The Bonds are not obligations of, or guaranteed by, the United States of America, GNMA, or any other 
agency of the United States of America. 

The Bonds are offered, when, as and if issued, subject to the approval by the Issuer, and the approval of certain 
legal matters by the Attorney General of the State of Texas, and Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Dallas, Texas, Bond 
Counsel. CSG Advisors will act as financial advisor to the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. Certain legal 
matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by Ballard Spahr LLP, Disclosure Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed 
upon for the Underwriter by its counsel, Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP. It is expected that the Bonds will be available for 
delivery through the facilities of DTC on or about March __, 2024. 

 
February __, 2024

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

Th
is 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

O
ffi

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t a

nd
 th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 a

re
 su

bj
ec

t t
o 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

or
 a

m
en

dm
en

t. 
Th

es
e 

se
cu

rit
ie

s m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

so
ld

 n
or

 m
ay

 o
ffe

rs
 to

 b
uy

 b
e 

ac
ce

pt
ed

 p
rio

r t
o 

th
e 

tim
e 

th
e 

O
ffi

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
t i

s 
de

liv
er

ed
 in

 fi
na

l f
or

m
. U

nd
er

 n
o 

ci
rc

um
sta

nc
es

 s
ha

ll 
th

is
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
O

ffi
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

t c
on

sti
tu

te
 a

n 
of

fe
r t

o 
se

ll 
or

 a
 so

lic
ita

tio
n 

of
 a

n 
of

fe
r t

o 
bu

y 
no

r s
ha

ll 
th

er
e 

be
 a

ny
 s

al
e 

of
 th

es
e 

se
cu

rit
ie

s i
n 

an
y 

ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

in
 w

hi
ch

 
su

ch
 o

ffe
r, 

so
lic

ita
tio

n 
or

 sa
le

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
un

la
w

fu
l p

rio
r t

o 
re

gi
str

at
io

n 
or

 q
ua

lif
ic

at
io

n 
un

de
r t

he
 se

cu
rit

ie
s l

aw
s o

f a
ny

 su
ch

 ju
ris

di
ct

io
n.

 

150



 

 

MATURITY SCHEDULE* 

 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
$__,___,___* Series 2024A (Non-AMT) 

 
 

$_,___,000* Principal Amount of Serial Bonds (Price of Each Serial Bond Maturity: 100%) 

Maturity Date 
Principal 
Amount Interest Rate CUSIP† 

September 1, 2025    
March 1, 2026    
September 1, 2026    
March 1, 2027    
September 1, 2027    
March 1, 2028    
September 1, 2028    
March 1, 2029    
September 1, 2029    
March 1, 2030    
September 1, 2030    
March 1, 2031    
September 1, 2031    
March 1, 2032    
September 1, 2032    
March 1, 2033    
September 1, 2033    
March 1, 2034    
September 1, 2034    
March 1, 2035    
September 1, 2035    
March 1, 2036    

 
$__,___,000 Principal Amount of Term Bonds 

$_,___,000  [____]%  Term Bonds Due March 1, 2039 (Price: 100.000%) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 
$_,___,000  [____]%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2044 (Price: [____]%‡) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 
$_,___,000  [____]%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2049 (Price: [____]%‡) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 

$__,___,000  [____]%  Premium Term Bonds Due March 1, 2054 (Price: [____]%‡) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 
$__,___,000  [____]%  Premium PAC Bonds Due September 1, 2054 (Price: [____]%‡) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Neither the Issuer nor the Underwriter takes responsibility for the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers, which are being provided 
solely for the convenience of the owners of the Bonds. 
‡ Priced to first optional call date of March 1, 203_. 

151



 

  

MATURITY SCHEDULE 

 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
$__,___,___* Series 2024B (Taxable) 

 
 

$_,___,000* Principal Amount of Serial Bonds (Price of Each Serial Bond Maturity: 100%) 

Maturity Date 
Principal 
Amount Interest Rate CUSIP† 

September 1, 2025    
March 1, 2026    
September 1, 2026    
March 1, 2027    
September 1, 2027    
March 1, 2028    
September 1, 2028    
March 1, 2029    
September 1, 2029    
March 1, 2030    
September 1, 2030    
March 1, 2031    
September 1, 2031    
March 1, 2032    
September 1, 2032    
March 1, 2033    
September 1, 2033    
March 1, 2034    

 
$__,___,000 Principal Amount of Term Bonds 

$_,___,000  [____]%  Term Bonds Due March 1, 2039 (Price: 100.000%) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 
$_,___,000  [____]%  Term Bonds Due March 1, 2044 (Price: 100.000%‡) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 
$_,___,000  [____]%  Term Bonds Due March 1, 2049 (Price: 100.000%‡) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 
$__,___,000  [____]%  Term Bonds Due March 1, 2054 (Price: 100.000%‡) (CUSIP: [_________]†) 

$__,___,000  [____]%  Premium PAC Bonds Due September 1, 2054 (Price: [____]%‡) (CUSIP: 
[_________]†) 

 

 

 

 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Neither the Issuer nor the Underwriter takes responsibility for the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers, which are being 
provided solely for the convenience of the owners of the Bonds. 
‡ Priced to first optional call date of March 1, 203_. 

152



 

  

No broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the Issuer to give any information or 
to make any representations, other than as contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such 
other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the 
foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, 
nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such 
person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information set forth herein by the Issuer has been 
obtained from sources which are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or 
completeness. The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, 
and as part of, their responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and 
circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
such information. All summaries herein of documents and agreements are qualified in their entirety by 
reference to such documents and agreements, and all summaries herein of the Bonds are qualified in their 
entirety by reference to the form thereof included in the Indenture and the provisions with respect thereto 
included in the aforesaid documents and agreements. The information and expressions of opinion herein 
are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made 
hereunder shall under any circumstances create any implication that there has been no change in the 
information or opinions set forth herein after the date of this Official Statement. 

THE BONDS ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION WITH THE SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION AND CONSEQUENTLY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED 
THEREWITH. THE REGISTRATION, QUALIFICATION OR EXEMPTION OF THE BONDS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW PROVISIONS OF ANY JURISDICTION IN 
WHICH THESE SECURITIES HAVE BEEN QUALIFIED OR EXEMPTED SHOULD NOT BE 
REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF.

153



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page  Page 
 

 i 

INTRODUCTION.............................................................. 1 
THE ISSUER ..................................................................... 2 
THE BONDS ..................................................................... 2 

General ........................................................................ 2 
Book-Entry Only System ............................................ 2 
Payment, Transfer and Exchange ................................ 3 
Redemption of Bonds.................................................. 3 
Selection of Bonds for Redemption ............................ 9 
Notice of Redemption ............................................... 11 
Purchase of Bonds in Lieu of Redemption ................ 11 
Additional Bonds ...................................................... 12 

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS ............................... 12 
SECURITY FOR THE BONDS ...................................... 12 

General ...................................................................... 12 
GNMA MORTGAGE-BACKED CERTIFICATE 

PROGRAM................................................................. 13 
FLOW OF FUNDS .......................................................... 14 

Program Fund ............................................................ 14 
Capitalized Interest Fund .......................................... 15 
Cost of Issuance Fund ............................................... 15 
Revenue Fund ........................................................... 15 
Interest Funds ............................................................ 16 
Principal Funds ......................................................... 17 
Redemption Fund ...................................................... 17 
Program Expense Fund ............................................. 17 
Excess Interest Portion Fund ..................................... 17 
Rebate Fund .............................................................. 17 

STRUCTURING ASSUMPTIONS AND RISKS ........... 17 
General ...................................................................... 18 
Risks of Nonorigination ............................................ 18 
Risks of Remedies and Loss of Tax-Exemption on 

Bonds ................................................................... 19 
Average Life of Bonds .............................................. 20 

THE PROGRAM ............................................................. 24 
General ...................................................................... 24 
Origination and Purchase of Mortgage Loans ........... 25 
Down Payment Assistance ........................................ 25 
Mortgage Loan Terms ............................................... 25 
Servicing ................................................................... 26 
Servicer Information ................................................. 27 

THE INDENTURE .......................................................... 27 
Investment of Funds .................................................. 28 
Certain Tax Covenants .............................................. 28 
Defaults and Remedies; Rights of Bondholders ........ 28 
Supplemental Indentures ........................................... 30 
The Trustee ............................................................... 31 
Defeasance ................................................................ 31 

THE LENDER AGREEMENTS...................................... 32 
Lender Qualifications ................................................ 32 
Covenants Relating to the Tax-Exempt Status of 

Bonds ................................................................... 32 
Origination and Closing of Mortgage Loans ............. 32 
Mortgage Loan Terms ............................................... 32 
Verification of Mortgage Eligibility Requirements .. 33 
Approval and Purchase ............................................. 33 
Fees and Charges at Mortgage Loan Closing ............ 33 
Defects ...................................................................... 33 

 
 

THE SERVICING AGREEMENT .................................. 33 
Covenants Relating to the Tax-Exempt Status of the 

Series 2024A Bonds ............................................. 34 
Servicing Duties ........................................................ 34 
Review of Mortgage Loans ....................................... 34 
Compensation of Servicer ......................................... 34 
Assumption Agreements ........................................... 34 

TAX MATTERS – SERIES 2024A BONDS .................. 35 
General ...................................................................... 35 
Mortgage Eligibility Requirements ........................... 36 
Arbitrage Requirements ............................................. 37 
Compliance with Tax Requirements ......................... 37 
Tax Accounting Treatment of Premium and Discount 

on Certain Series 2024A Bonds ........................... 38 
TAX MATTERS – (TAXABLE) SERIES 2024B BONDS

 .................................................................................... 39 
Payments of Stated Interest on the Series 2024B 

Bonds ................................................................... 40 
Original Issue Discount of the Series 2024B Bonds .. 40 
Premium on Series 2024B Bonds .............................. 40 
Medicare Contribution Tax ....................................... 40 
Disposition of Series 2024B Bonds and Market 

Discount ............................................................... 41 
Legal Defeasance ...................................................... 41 
Backup Withholding .................................................. 41 
Withholding on Payments to Nonresident Alien 

Individuals and Foreign Corporations .................. 42 
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ...................... 42 
Reporting of Interest Payments ................................. 42 

THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT .... 43 
Definitions ................................................................. 43 
Provision of Annual Bond Disclosure ....................... 43 
Content of Annual Bond Disclosure Reports ............ 43 
Reporting of Significant Events ................................ 44 
Termination of Reporting Obligation ........................ 45 
Dissemination Agent ................................................. 45 
Amendment; Waiver ................................................. 45 
Additional Information .............................................. 46 
Default ....................................................................... 46 
Beneficiaries .............................................................. 46 
Past Compliance ........................................................ 46 

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT............................... 47 
NO LITIGATION............................................................ 47 
LEGAL MATTERS ........................................................ 47 
FINANCIAL ADVISOR ................................................. 47 
UNDERWRITING .......................................................... 48 
RATING .......................................................................... 48 
MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................ 49 
 
APPENDIX A DEFINITIONS ...................................... A-1 
APPENDIX B BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM ........ B-1 
APPENDIX C-1 FORM OF BOND COUNSEL  

OPINION FOR THE SERIES 2024A BONDS ....... C-1 
APPENDIX C-2 FORM OF BOND COUNSEL  

OPINION FOR THE SERIES 2024B BONDS ........ C-2 
APPENDIX D TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND 

AMOUNTS .............................................................. D-1 

154



 

 

$__,000,000* 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds 
$__,___,000* Series 2024A (Non-AMT) 

$__,___,000* Series 2024B (Taxable) 

INTRODUCTION 

This Official Statement (including the cover page and appendices) sets forth certain information 
relating to the sale and issuance by the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Issuer”) of its 
$__,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-
AMT) (the “Series 2024A Bonds”) and Series 2024B (Taxable) (the “Series 2024B Bonds”) (collectively 
the “Bonds”). The Bonds will be issued pursuant to Subchapter Y of Chapter 2306 of the Texas Government 
Code, as amended (the “Act”), and one or more resolutions adopted by the Issuer. The Bonds will be issued 
and secured under a Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 2024 (the “Indenture”), between the Issuer and 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”). Certain provisions of the Indenture are 
summarized below in “Flow of Funds” and “The Indenture.” Capitalized terms used in this Official 
Statement and not otherwise defined are defined in “Appendix A—Definitions.” 

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described herein. Purchasers of the Bonds 
(and particularly the purchasers of the Premium PAC Bonds and the Premium Term Bonds) should 
understand that under certain circumstances described herein the Bonds are subject to mandatory 
redemption at 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest. See “The Bonds—Redemption 
of Bonds” and “Structuring Assumptions and Risks.” 

Under the Issuer’s single family mortgage loan program (the “Program”), the Issuer is permitted to 
issue the Bonds to finance single family mortgage loans to certain borrowers whose annual income does 
not exceed 80% of the greater of the state or local median family income. Further, to qualify for a Mortgage 
Loan, the Eligible Borrowers must also meet all the requirements of the Act, Section 143 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the Issuer. See “The Program” for a detailed 
description of these requirements. 

The Mortgage Loans will be originated under the Program by participating lenders (each a 
“Lender” and collectively the “Lenders”) pursuant to the terms of a Mortgage Origination Agreement 
between each Lender and the Issuer (each a “Lender Agreement” and collectively the “Lender 
Agreements”), the Program Guidelines and other Program Documents. The Mortgage Loans are required 
to meet all Program requirements, which include the requirement that each Mortgage Loan be (i) insured 
by the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”), pursuant to the National Housing Act, as amended, 
(ii) guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs (“VA”), pursuant to the Servicemen’s Readjustment 
Act of 1944, as amended, or (iii) guaranteed by the Rural Housing Service of the United States Department 
of Agriculture (“USDA-RHS”), pursuant to the Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act of 
1990, as amended. After origination, the Lenders will sell the Mortgage Loans on a servicing-released basis 
to the Servicer (as defined below).  

The Lenders and the Issuer will review the Mortgage Loans and the borrower information, and 
other matters as necessary to determine compliance with the requirements of the Program, as more fully set 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

155



 

 2 

forth in the Lender Agreements and the Program Guidelines. The Issuer will act as compliance agent for 
the Program. 

The servicer under the Program is Lakeview Loan Servicing, LLC (the “Servicer”). Pursuant to the 
terms of a Servicing and Sale Agreement dated as of February 1, 2019, as amended, between the Issuer and 
Servicer (the “Servicing Agreement”), the Servicer will purchase the Mortgage Loans from the Lenders, 
and pool the Mortgage Loans into pass-through certificates (the “GNMA Certificates”) backed by Mortgage 
Loans and guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by the Government National Mortgage 
Association (“GNMA”), and issued by the Servicer. The Servicer will service all of the Mortgage Loans. 
The Servicer is a GNMA-approved servicer of FHA-insured, VA-guaranteed and USDA-RHS-guaranteed 
mortgage loans, and an authorized issuer of GNMA Certificates.  

Following issuance of the GNMA Certificates, the Servicer will sell the GNMA Certificates to the 
Trustee. The GNMA Certificates will be pledged under the Indenture to provide for the payment of the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds. See “Security for the Bonds.” 

Brief descriptions of the Issuer, the Bonds, the GNMA mortgage-backed certificate program, the 
Program, together with summaries of certain provisions of the Indenture, and the Agreements, follow in 
this Official Statement. All summaries herein of documents and agreements are qualified in their entirety 
by reference to such documents and agreements, and all summaries herein of the Bonds are qualified in 
their entirety by reference to the form thereof included in the Indenture and the provisions with respect 
thereto included in the aforesaid documents and agreements. 

THE ISSUER 

Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation was incorporated in May 1994 under the Texas Non-
Profit Corporation Act, Article 1396-1.01 et seq., Vernon’s Annotated Texas Civil Statutes, as amended 
(now codified as V.T.C.A. Business Organizations Code, Chapter 22, as amended). The Issuer is a public 
non-profit corporation created by statute. The members of the Board of Directors are appointed by the 
Governor of the State, with the advice and consent of the State Senate. The Issuer is subject to significant 
state oversight, including audit by the State Auditor and debt issuance review and approval by the Texas 
Bond Review Board. The enabling legislation for the Issuer, as amended, may be found at Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 2306, Subchapter Y, Sections 2306.551 et seq.  

The Issuer is governed by a Board of Directors with five members. The current members of the 
Board of Directors are:

Name Position Term Expires 
William H. Dietz, Jr. Chairperson February 1, 2025 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson  February 1, 2025 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director February 1, 2027 
David Rassin Director February 1, 2029 
Lemuel Williams Director February 1, 2027 

 
David Long serves as President of the Issuer. Mr. Long has been employed by the Issuer since 

October 2001. Janie Taylor serves as Executive Vice President of the Issuer. Ms. Taylor has been employed 
by the Issuer since August 2006. Melinda Smith serves as Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer and has 
been employed by the Issuer since August 2001. Rebecca DeLeon serves as Acting Corporate Secretary of 
the Issuer and has been employed by the Issuer since March 2018.  

156



 

 

The Issuer is organized, operated and administered in accordance with the Issuer’s enabling 
legislation. The Issuer has received a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service recognizing 
the Issuer as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”). The Issuer’s Articles of Incorporation provide, among other things, that the public 
purpose of the Issuer is to perform such activities and services that the Issuer’s Board of Directors 
determines will promote the public health, safety and welfare through the provision of adequate, safe and 
sanitary housing primarily for individuals and families of low, very low and extremely low income, 
including single family mortgage revenue bond programs such as the program described herein. See “The 
Program.” 

The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely out of the revenues, 
receipts, and security pledged therefor under the Indenture. The Bonds do not constitute a general 
obligation or indebtedness of the Issuer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory 
provision or limitation. The Bonds do not constitute a debt or obligation of the State of Texas, or any 
political subdivision, agency or instrumentality thereof, and shall not constitute a lien on or pledge of 
any property of the Issuer except as provided in the Indenture. The Issuer has no taxing power. The 
Bonds are not obligations of, or guaranteed by, the United States of America, GNMA or any other 
agency of the United States of America. 

Like virtually all Texas state agencies, the Issuer is subject to the Texas Sunset Act (Chapter 325, 
Texas Government Code, as amended) and is subject to “sunset” (abolishment) on September 1, 2027. If 
sunset were to occur, the Texas Sunset Act provides for the continued payment of the Issuer’s bonds in 
accordance with their terms and the designation of an appropriate state agency to carry out all covenants 
with respect to such bonds. 

THE BONDS 

General 

The Bonds will be issued in fully registered, book-entry form in denominations of $5,000 principal 
amount or any integral multiple thereof. Principal on the Bonds will be paid on March 1 and September 1 
as shown on the Maturity Schedules shown on the inside front cover pages. Interest on the Bonds will be 
payable on each March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2024 (each an “Interest Payment 
Date”) until maturity or earlier redemption. 

Interest on the Bonds will be calculated on a 30/360 basis and any interest due on an Interest 
Payment Date which is not a Business Day will be paid on the next succeeding Business Day (but interest 
will not accrue between such Interest Payment Date and the date of payment). 

Book-Entry Only System 

The Bonds will be issued in book-entry only form through The Depository Trust Company 
(“DTC”). Payments with respect to the Bonds will be made by the Trustee to DTC only. A description of 
certain provisions relating to the DTC book-entry system is set forth in Appendix B. 

157



 

 3 

Payment, Transfer and Exchange 

The following provisions apply only if the Bonds are converted from book-entry to certificated 
form. 

Principal of the Bonds and interest on the Bonds will be payable by check of the Trustee mailed on 
the Interest Payment Date thereof to the person in whose name the Bonds (or any predecessor Bonds) are 
registered on the registration books of the Trustee on the Record Date with respect to each Interest Payment 
Date; provided, however, that payment of such interest will be made by wire transfer to any Owner of any 
Bonds in an aggregate principal amount of at least $1,000,000 at the risk and expense of the Owner, if such 
Owner has requested in writing payment by such method and has provided the Trustee with an account 
number and other necessary information for such purposes at least five Business Days before the applicable 
Record Date; and provided further that the final payment of principal will be made upon presentation of the 
Bond at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee. 

The transfer of any Bond is registerable on the bond register maintained by the Trustee upon the 
surrender of such Bond for cancellation and registration of transfer at the designated corporate trust office 
of the Trustee, accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee duly 
executed by the Owner or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, provided, however, that the Trustee is 
not required to register the transfer of or exchange any Bond during the period between the Record Date 
and the next Interest Payment Date or during the three days next preceding any date established by the 
Trustee for the selection of Bonds for redemption nor to register the transfer of or exchange any Bonds 
called for redemption after the call for redemption and prior to the redemption date. 

Redemption of Bonds* 

Mandatory Redemption Due to Nonorigination. The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption 
in whole or in part on September 1, 2024* from moneys in the Program Fund that have not been applied to 
the purchase of GNMA Certificates by August 23, 2024*, at the applicable redemption prices set forth 
below, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest 
to the redemption date; provided that the foregoing dates (and the final GNMA Certificate purchase date) 
may be extended one or more times, at the option of the Issuer, if the conditions set forth in the Indenture 
are met. 

Series 2024A Bonds 

Bond Maturity Date* Redemption Price* 
Serial Bonds 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 100.000% 
Premium Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 [_____]% 
Premium Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 [_____]% 
Premium Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 [_____]% 
Premium PAC Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 [_____]% 

 
Series 2024B Bonds 

Bond Maturity Date* Redemption Price* 
Serial Bonds 100.000% 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

158



 

 4 

Bond Maturity Date* Redemption Price* 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 100.000% 
Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 100.000% 
Premium PAC Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 [_____]% 

 
Mandatory Redemption from Prepayments and Surplus Revenues. The Bonds are subject to 

mandatory redemption in whole or in part on the first day of each month, commencing May 1, 2024, from 
amounts in the Redemption Fund (representing Prepayments from GNMA Certificates and surplus 
revenues), if amounts in the Redemption Fund exceed $25,000 on such date, at a redemption price equal to 
100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

Series 2024A Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Series 2024A Term Bonds are subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption from amounts deposited in the 2024A Principal Fund on the 
applicable dates, and in the applicable principal amounts, set forth below at a redemption price equal to 
100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be so redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date: 

Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2036 $ March 1, 2038 $ 
March 1, 2037  September 1, 2038  
September 1, 2037  March 1, 2039†  

 
Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2039 $ March 1, 2042 $ 
March 1, 2040  September 1, 2042  
September 1, 2040  March 1, 2043  
March 1, 2041  September 1, 2043  
September 1, 2041  March 1, 2044†  

 
Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2044 $ March 1, 2047 $ 
March 1, 2045  September 1, 2047  
September 1, 2045  March 1, 2048  
March 1, 2046  September 1, 2048  
September 1, 2046  March 1, 2049†  

 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Maturity Date 

 

159



 

 5 

Series 2024A Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2049  $  March 1, 2052 $ 
March 1, 2050  September 1, 2052  
September 1, 2050  March 1, 2053  
March 1, 2051  September 1, 2053  
September 1, 2051  March 1, 2054†  

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

  

160



 

 6 

 
Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2025 $ September 1, 2040 $  
March 1, 2026  March 1, 2041  
September 1, 2026  September 1, 2041  
March 1, 2027  March 1, 2042  
September 1, 2027  September 1, 2042  
March 1, 2028  March 1, 2043  
September 1, 2028  September 1, 2043  
March 1, 2029  March 1, 2044  
September 1, 2029  September 1, 2044  
March 1, 2030  March 1, 2045  
September 1, 2030  September 1, 2045  
March 1, 2031  March 1, 2046  
September 1, 2031  September 1, 2046  
March 1, 2032  March 1, 2047  
September 1, 2032  September 1, 2047  
March 1, 2033  March 1, 2048  
September 1, 2033  September 1, 2048  
March 1, 2034  March 1, 2049  
September 1, 2034  September 1, 2049  
March 1, 2035  March 1, 2050  
September 1, 2035  September 1, 2050  
March 1, 2036  March 1, 2051  
September 1, 2036  September 1, 2051  
March 1, 2037  March 1, 2052  
September 1, 2037  September 1, 2052  
March 1, 2038  March 1, 2053  
September 1, 2038  September 1, 2053  
March 1, 2039  March 1, 2054  
September 1, 2039  September 1, 2054†  
March 1, 2040    

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

 

 

 

 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Maturity Date 

161



 

 7 

Series 2024B Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Series 2024B Term Bonds are subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption from amounts deposited in the 2024B Principal Fund on the 
applicable dates, and in the applicable principal amounts, set forth below at a redemption price equal to 
100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be so redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date: 

Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2039 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2034 $ March 1, 2037 $ 
March 1, 2035  September 1, 2037  
September 1, 2035  March 1, 2038  
March 1, 2036  September 1, 2038  
September 1, 2036  March 1, 2039†  

 
Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2044 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2039 $ March 1, 2042 $ 
March 1, 2040  September 1, 2042  
September 1, 2040  March 1, 2043  
March 1, 2041  September 1, 2043  
September 1, 2041  March 1, 2044†  

 
Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2049 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2044 $ March 1, 2047 $ 
March 1, 2045  September 1, 2047  
September 1, 2045  March 1, 2048  
March 1, 2046  September 1, 2048  
September 1, 2046  March 1, 2049†  

 
Series 2024B Term Bonds Maturing March 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2049  $  March 1, 2052 $ 
March 1, 2050  September 1, 2052  
September 1, 2050  March 1, 2053  
March 1, 2051  September 1, 2053  
September 1, 2051  March 1, 2054†  

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

  

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Maturity Date 

 

162



 

 8 

Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054 

Redemption Date 
Principal 
Amount* Redemption Date 

Principal 
Amount* 

September 1, 2025 $ September 1, 2040 $  
March 1, 2026  March 1, 2041  
September 1, 2026  September 1, 2041  
March 1, 2027  March 1, 2042  
September 1, 2027  September 1, 2042  
March 1, 2028  March 1, 2043  
September 1, 2028  September 1, 2043  
March 1, 2029  March 1, 2044  
September 1, 2029  September 1, 2044  
March 1, 2030  March 1, 2045  
September 1, 2030  September 1, 2045  
March 1, 2031  March 1, 2046  
September 1, 2031  September 1, 2046  
March 1, 2032  March 1, 2047  
September 1, 2032  September 1, 2047  
March 1, 2033  March 1, 2048  
September 1, 2033  September 1, 2048  
March 1, 2034  March 1, 2049  
September 1, 2034  September 1, 2049  
March 1, 2035  March 1, 2050  
September 1, 2035  September 1, 2050  
March 1, 2036  March 1, 2051  
September 1, 2036  September 1, 2051  
March 1, 2037  March 1, 2052  
September 1, 2037  September 1, 2052  
March 1, 2038  March 1, 2053  
September 1, 2038  September 1, 2053  
March 1, 2039  March 1, 2054  
September 1, 2039  September 1, 2054†  
March 1, 2040    

 
If Term Bonds are subject to redemption in part (other than by mandatory sinking fund redemption) 

or purchased in part, for each maturity of Term Bonds: (i) for any redemption in part due to unexpended 
moneys in the Program Fund, the sinking fund payments shall be reduced on a pro rata basis; and (ii) for 
optional redemption in part or mandatory redemption in part from Prepayments and surplus revenues, or 
for purchases in part: (a) for the Premium PAC Bonds, sinking fund payments shall be reduced in 
chronological order, and (b) for all other Term Bonds, sinking fund payments shall be reduced on a pro-
rata basis. 

 

 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
† Maturity Date 

163



 

 9 

Optional Redemption. The Bonds maturing on and after September 1, 2034* are subject to 
redemption, at the option of the Issuer, on or after March 1, 2034*, in whole or in part on any such date, at 
a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be so redeemed, together with 
accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption from any source (provided that such moneys are not, as 
established by an opinion of nationally recognized bankruptcy counsel selected by the Issuer and acceptable 
to the Trustee, recoverable as preferences under the United States Bankruptcy Code). 

The Issuer is permitted to direct the Trustee to sell or otherwise dispose of some or all of the GNMA 
Certificates and redeem the Bonds, in whole or in part, but such redemption must be undertaken as an 
optional redemption of the Bonds as described above, and the conditions of the Indenture must be met, 
including, if such redemption is in part, that the Trustee shall have received written confirmation from the 
Rating Agency that the rating of the remaining Outstanding Bonds will not be adversely affected. 

Selection of Bonds for Redemption  

Selection Procedure for Mandatory Redemption Due to Nonorigination. If Bonds are subject 
to mandatory redemption due to nonorigination in part from unexpended moneys in the Program Fund, such 
moneys will be applied to redeem Bonds (including Premium PAC Bonds) on a pro rata basis. 

Selection Procedure for Mandatory Redemption from Prepayments and Surplus Revenues. 
Amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund (representing Prepayments with respect to the GNMA 
Certificates and surplus revenues) shall be allocated to redeem Series 2024A Bonds and Series 2024B 
Bonds on a pro rata basis.  

Amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund (representing Prepayments with respect to the 2024A 
proportionate share of the GNMA Certificates and surplus revenues) and allocated to redeem the Series 
2024A Bonds shall be applied in the following order of priority: 

FIRST, such amounts shall be applied to redeem the Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds down to 
the 100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds; 

SECOND, after applying the amounts as described in clause FIRST above, and until the 
outstanding principal amount of all Series 2024A Bonds has been reduced to the applicable 400% PSA 
Outstanding Bond Amount for all Series 2024A Bonds, any remaining amounts shall be applied to redeem 
all Series 2024A Bonds, except the Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds, on a pro rata basis; provided that 
all amounts so allocable to the redemption of the Series 2024A Term Bonds shall be applied (i) first to 
redeem the Series 2024A Term Bonds maturing March 1, 2039*, until such Series 2024A Bonds are no 
longer Outstanding, and (ii) second, to redeem all other Series 2024A Term Bonds on a pro rata basis; and 

THIRD, after applying the amounts as described in clauses FIRST and SECOND above, any 
remaining amounts shall be applied to redeem all Series 2024A Bonds, including the Series 2024A 
Premium PAC Bonds, on a pro rata basis; provided that all amounts so allocable to the redemption of the 
Series 2024A Term Bonds shall be applied (i) first to redeem the Series 2024A Term Bonds maturing 
March 1, 2039*, until such Series 2024A Bonds are no longer Outstanding, and (ii) second, to redeem all 
other Series 2024A Term Bonds on a pro rata basis. 

The applicable “100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds” is 
the amount set forth in the second column of Appendix D for the Interest Payment Date on which the 
redemption of Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds could occur. The amounts in the column for each Interest 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

164



 

 10 

Payment Date have been calculated based on the principal amount of Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds 
projected to remain outstanding, after taking into account scheduled principal payments and projected 
redemptions (including monthly redemptions) of the Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds from Prepayments 
and surplus revenues. The projected Outstanding Bond Amounts are based on various assumptions, 
including (i) the assumptions stated under “Structuring Assumptions and Risks,” (ii) an expected purchase 
schedule for the GNMA Certificates, and (iii) Prepayments and surplus revenues resulting from a constant 
100% PSA prepayment speed for the GNMA Certificates. See generally “Structuring Assumptions and 
Risks.” 

The applicable “400% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for All Series 2024A Bonds” is the amount 
set forth in the third column of Appendix D for the Interest Payment Date on which the redemption of the 
Series 2024A Bonds could occur. The amounts in the column for each such date have been calculated based 
on the principal amount of all Series 2024A Bonds (including Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds) 
projected to be outstanding, after taking into account scheduled principal payments and projected 
redemptions (including monthly redemptions) of Series 2024A Bonds from Prepayments and surplus 
revenues. The projected Outstanding Bond Amounts are based on various assumptions, including (i) the 
assumptions stated under “Structuring Assumptions and Risks,” (ii) an expected purchase schedule for the 
GNMA Certificates, and (iii) Prepayments with respect to the GNMA Certificates and surplus revenues 
resulting from a constant 400% PSA prepayment rate. See generally “Structuring Assumptions and Risks.” 

Amounts deposited in the Redemption Fund (representing Prepayments with respect to the 2024B 
proportionate share of the GNMA Certificates and surplus revenues) and allocated to redeem the Series 
2024B Bonds shall be applied in the following order of priority: 

FIRST, such amounts shall be applied to redeem the Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds down to 
the 100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds; 

SECOND, after applying the amounts as described in clause FIRST above, and until the 
outstanding principal amount of all Series 2024B Bonds has been reduced to the applicable 400% PSA 
Outstanding Bond Amount for all Series 2024B Bonds, any remaining amounts shall be applied to redeem 
all Series 2024B Bonds, except the Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds, on a pro rata basis; and 

THIRD, after applying the amounts as described in clauses FIRST and SECOND above, any 
remaining amounts shall be applied to redeem all Series 2024B Bonds, including the Series 2024B Premium 
PAC Bonds, on a pro rata basis. 

The applicable “100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds” is 
the amount set forth in the fourth column of Appendix D for the Interest Payment Date on which the 
redemption of Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds could occur. The amounts in the column for each Interest 
Payment Date have been calculated based on the principal amount of Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds 
projected to remain outstanding, after taking into account scheduled principal payments and projected 
redemptions (including monthly redemptions) of the Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds from Prepayments 
and surplus revenues. The projected Outstanding Bond Amounts are based on various assumptions, 
including (i) the assumptions stated under “Structuring Assumptions and Risks,” (ii) an expected purchase 
schedule for the GNMA Certificates, and (iii) Prepayments and surplus revenues resulting from a constant 
100% PSA prepayment rate. See generally “Structuring Assumptions and Risks.” 

The applicable “400% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for All Series 2024B Bonds” is the amount 
set forth in the fifth column of Appendix D for the Interest Payment Date on which the redemption of the 
Series 2024A Bonds could occur. The amounts in the column for each such date have been calculated based 
on the principal amount of all Series 2024B Bonds (including Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds) projected 

165



 

 11 

to be outstanding, after taking into account scheduled principal payments and projected redemptions 
(including monthly redemptions) of Series 2024B Bonds from Prepayments and surplus revenues. The 
projected Outstanding Bond Amounts are based on various assumptions, including (i) the assumptions 
stated under “Structuring Assumptions and Risks,” (ii) an expected purchase schedule for the GNMA 
Certificates, and (iii) Prepayments with respect to the GNMA Certificates and surplus revenues resulting 
from a constant 400% PSA prepayment rate. See generally “Structuring Assumptions and Risks.” 

The Outstanding Bond Amounts in Appendix D are subject to reduction if Bonds are subject to 
mandatory redemption from unexpended moneys in the Program Fund (as described above). In such case, 
the amounts in the table shall be reduced, on a pro rata basis, by the principal amount of Bonds so redeemed. 
In addition, the Bonds are subject to redemption on a monthly basis from amounts in the Redemption Fund 
as described above (see “The Bonds—Redemption of Bonds—Mandatory Redemption from Prepayments 
and Surplus Revenues”), and the Indenture sets forth the Outstanding Bond Amounts as of the first day of 
each month. 

Selection Procedure for Optional Redemption. If Bonds are subject to optional redemption in 
part, the Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected on a pro rata basis.  

Other Selection Provisions. Bonds (or portions thereof) shall be redeemed in a principal amount 
equal to $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, with each $5,000 of principal amount to be redeemed 
considered as one Bond. For purposes of determining Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed within a 
single maturity, Bonds shall be selected by lot in a manner chosen by the Trustee. 

If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being redeemed, DTC’s current practice is to 
determine by lot the amount of the interest of each DTC Lender (as hereinafter defined) in such maturity to 
be called for redemption and each DTC Lender is then to select by lot the ownership interests in such 
maturity to be redeemed. See “Appendix B—Book Entry Only System” herein. 

Notice of Redemption 

Notice of redemption of the Bonds shall be sent not less than twenty (20) days, but not more than 
sixty (60) days, prior to the redemption date, except that in the case of a mandatory redemption due to 
nonorigination, such notice shall be sent not less than five (5) days prior to the redemption date. 

Neither the failure of an Owner to receive notice of redemption nor any defect in any notice so 
mailed will affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for the redemption of any Bond of such Owner; and 
neither the failure to mail a redemption notice to a particular Owner nor any defect in any such notice so 
mailed will affect the sufficiency of any of the proceedings for the redemption of any Bond. 

Purchase of Bonds in Lieu of Redemption  

If at any time Bonds are subject to redemption, in lieu of such redemption the Issuer may direct the 
Trustee to purchase Bonds which would otherwise be subject to redemption, at a purchase price equal to or 
less than the related redemption price. Any such purchase must be completed prior to the time notice would 
otherwise be required to be given to redeem the Bonds and may not occur, without the consent of the 
Trustee, after a Record Date. All Bonds so purchased shall be canceled by the Trustee and the face amount 
of the Bonds so purchased shall be applied as a credit against the Issuer’s obligation to redeem such Bonds 
from such moneys. 

166



 

 12 

Additional Bonds 

No additional bonds may be issued under the Indenture. 

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS∗ 

Upon issuance of the Bonds, the proceeds of the Bonds, together with other money from the sources 
described below, will be applied as follows: 

Sources  
  
Series 2024A Bond Principal $ 
Series 2024A Bond Premium  
Series 2024B Bond Principal  
Series 2024B Bond Premium  
Issuer Funds  
TOTAL $ 
  
Uses  
  
Program Fund1 $ 
Capitalized Interest Fund  
Cost of Issuance Fund2  

TOTAL $ 
_______________________ 
1 Amounts deposited in the Program Fund will be initially invested in Investment Securities; the proceeds of such securities will 
be used to purchase GNMA Certificates at the Certificate Sale Price, which includes a premium portion to finance down payment 
and closing cost assistance for the Mortgagors. 

2 Amounts deposited in the Cost of Issuance Fund will be applied to pay costs of issuance, including, but not limited to, the fees 
and expenses of the Issuer, the Financial Advisor, the Underwriter, Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel, the rating agency fee, 
the verification fee, the Trustee’s initial fees and expenses, and other costs relating to the issuance of the Bonds. 

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 

General 

The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely out of the revenues, 
receipts, and security pledged therefor under the Indenture. The Bonds do not constitute a general 
obligation or indebtedness of the Issuer within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory 
provision or limitation. The Bonds do not constitute a debt or obligation of the State of Texas, or any 
political subdivision, agency or instrumentality thereof, and shall not constitute a lien on or pledge of 
any property of the Issuer except as provided in the Indenture. The Issuer has no taxing power. The 
Bonds are not obligations of, or guaranteed by, the United States of America, GNMA or any other 
agency of the United States of America. 

Under the Indenture, the Bonds are secured by an assignment and pledge of, and security interest 
in, (i) all right, title and interest of the Issuer in the GNMA Certificates, (ii) all right, title and interest of the 

 
∗ Preliminary, subject to change. 

167



 

 13 

Issuer in the Servicing Agreement and the Lender Agreements, (iii) any moneys and securities (including 
Investment Securities) held in any Fund established under the Indenture (except the Excess Interest Portion 
Fund, the Program Expense Fund, the Cost of Issuance Fund or any Rebate Amount in any Fund), (iv) right, 
title and interest of the Issuer to the Revenues, and (v) any and all property held by the Trustee as additional 
security under the Indenture. 

The Servicer is obligated to pay the principal of and interest on the GNMA Certificates in an 
amount equal to (i) the scheduled principal and interest due on the underlying Mortgage Loans (less the 
related servicing and guaranty fees), whether or not the Servicer has received such principal and interest 
payments on the underlying Mortgage Loans, and (ii) prepayments on the underlying Mortgage Loans 
received by the Servicer. GNMA guarantees the timely payment of principal of and interest on the GNMA 
Certificates. See “GNMA Mortgage-Backed Certificate Program.” 

Moneys in the Program Fund (pending purchase of GNMA Certificates) and the Capitalized 
Interest Fund will be invested in Investment Securities and all amounts so invested will be pledged as 
security for the Bonds. 

GNMA MORTGAGE-BACKED CERTIFICATE PROGRAM 

The summary of the GNMA Mortgage-Backed Certificate Program, GNMA Certificates and other 
documents referred to herein does not purport to be comprehensive and is qualified in its entirety by 
reference to the applicable GNMA guide or guides and to the GNMA Certificates and other documents for 
full and complete statements of their provisions.  

None of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Underwriter, the Financial Advisor, Bond Counsel, Disclosure 
Counsel or counsel to the Underwriter has independently verified such information, and none assumes 
responsibility for the accuracy of such information.  

GNMA is a wholly owned corporate instrumentality of the United States within the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), with its principal office in Washington, D.C. GNMA is 
authorized by Section 306(g) of Title III of the National Housing Act, as amended (the “Housing Act”), to 
guarantee the timely payment of the principal of, and interest on, certificates which represent an undivided 
interest in a pool of mortgage loans insured by FHA under the Housing Act or Title V of the Housing Act 
of 1949, or guaranteed by VA under the Servicemen’s Readjustment Act of 1944, as amended, of Chapter 
37 of Title 38, United States Code. Section 306(g) further provides that “the full faith and credit of the 
United States is pledged to the payment of all amounts which may be required to be paid under any guaranty 
under this subsection.” An opinion, dated October 12, 1969, of an Assistant Attorney General of the United 
States, states that such guaranties under Section 306(g) of mortgage-backed certificates of the type to be 
delivered to the Trustee on behalf of the Issuer are authorized to be made by GNMA and “would constitute 
general obligations of the United States backed by its full faith and credit.” In order to meet its obligations 
under such guaranties, GNMA, in its corporate capacity under Section 306(d) of Title III of the Housing 
Act, may issue its general obligations to the United States Treasury Department in an amount outstanding 
at any one time sufficient to enable GNMA, with no limitations as to amount, to perform its obligations 
under its guaranties of the timely payment of the principal of or interest on all GNMA Certificates. The 
Treasury is authorized to purchase any obligations so issued by GNMA and has indicated in a letter dated 
February 13, 1970, from the Secretary of the Treasury to the Secretary of HUD that the Treasury will make 
loans to GNMA, if needed, to implement GNMA’s guaranties. Under the terms of its guaranties, GNMA 
warrants that, in the event it is called upon at any time to make payment on its guaranties, it will, if 
necessary, in accordance with Section 306(d) of Title III of the Housing Act, apply to the Treasury 
Department of the United States for a loan or loans in amounts sufficient to make payments of principal 
and interest. 

168



 

 14 

To issue GNMA Certificates, the Servicer is required first to apply to and receive from GNMA a 
Commitment to Guarantee Mortgage-Backed Securities (“GNMA Commitment”). A GNMA Commitment 
authorizes the Servicer to issue GNMA Certificates up to a stated amount during a one-year period 
following the date thereof. The Servicer is obligated to pay the GNMA commitment fees. The Servicer is 
also obligated to pay the monthly GNMA guaranty fees. 

Each GNMA Certificate is to be backed by a mortgage pool consisting of Mortgage Loans in a 
minimum aggregate amount approved by GNMA. Each GNMA I Certificate will be a “mortgage loan pass-
through” certificate which will require the Servicer to pass through to the paying and transfer agent therefor 
(the “GNMA Paying Agent”) by the fifteenth day of each month (or the sixteenth day, if such day is not a 
business day, provided that, if neither the fifteenth nor the sixteenth day is a business day, then the first 
business day prior to the fifteenth day of the month), the regular monthly payments on the Mortgage Loans 
(less the GNMA guaranty fee and the Servicer’s servicing fee), whether or not the Servicer receives such 
payments, plus any prepayments of principal of the Mortgage Loans received by the Servicer in the previous 
month. Each GNMA II Certificate will require the Servicer to pass through to the GNMA Paying Agent, 
by the nineteenth day of each month (or the twentieth day, if such day is not a business day; provided that, 
if neither the nineteenth nor the twentieth day is a business day, then the first business day prior to the 
nineteenth day of the month), the regular monthly payments on the Mortgage Loans (less the GNMA 
guaranty fee and the Servicer’s servicing fee), whether or not the Servicer receives such payments, plus any 
prepayments of principal of the Mortgage Loans received by the Servicer in the previous month. The 
GNMA Paying Agent is then required to pass through to the Trustee on or before the third business day 
following the nineteenth day of each month the scheduled payments received from the Servicer. GNMA 
guarantees timely payment of principal of and interest with respect to the GNMA Certificate. 

GNMA, upon execution of the GNMA Guaranty Agreement, issuance of a GNMA Certificate by 
the Servicer, and subsequent sale of such GNMA Certificate to the Trustee, will have guaranteed to the 
Trustee as holder of such GNMA Certificate the timely payment of principal of and interest on such GNMA 
Certificate. 

FLOW OF FUNDS 

The Trustee will create the following funds under the Indenture: (i) Program Fund; (ii) Capitalized 
Interest Fund; (iii) Revenue Fund; (iv) 2024A Interest Fund; (v) 2024B Interest Fund; (vi) 2024A Principal 
Fund; (vii) 2024B Principal Fund; (viii) Redemption Fund; (ix) Excess Interest Portion Fund; (x) Program 
Expense Fund; (xi) Rebate Fund and (xii) Cost of Issuance Fund. The Excess Interest Portion Fund, the 
Program Expense Fund, the Rebate Fund and the Cost of Issuance Fund will not be pledged as security for 
the Bonds.  

Interest earnings on the Program Fund, the Capitalized Interest Fund, the Revenue Fund, the 2024A 
Interest Fund, the 2024B Interest Fund, the 2024A Principal Fund, the 2024B Principal Fund and the 
Redemption Fund will be deposited in the Revenue Fund. The Excess Interest Portion Fund, the Program 
Expense Fund, the Rebate Fund and the Cost of Issuance Fund will each retain its interest earnings. 

Program Fund  

See “Sources and Uses of Funds” for a description of the moneys to be initially deposited in the 
Program Fund. All moneys initially deposited in the Program Fund and the Capitalized Interest Fund will 
be invested in Investment Securities.  

169



 

 15 

Moneys in the Program Fund are to be applied as follows: 

(i) to purchase Investment Securities; 

(ii) to purchase GNMA Certificates at the Certificate Sale Price on each Certificate 
Sale Date during the Certificate Purchase Period; and 

(iii) to apply any remaining balance in the Program Fund to the redemption of Bonds 
on the Nonorigination Redemption Date (see “The Bonds—Redemption of Bonds—Mandatory 
Redemption Due to Nonorigination”). 

Any unexpended Issuer contributions after the application as set forth above shall be returned to 
the Issuer. 

Moneys in the Program Fund will be used only to purchase GNMA Certificates meeting the 
requirements set forth in the Indenture and the Agreements. 

Capitalized Interest Fund 

See “Sources and Uses of Funds” for a description of the moneys to be initially deposited in the 
Capitalized Interest Fund. Amounts in the Capitalized Interest Fund shall be used to pay interest on the 
Bonds and Program Expenses and make any required transfer to the Rebate Fund, to the extent insufficient 
amounts are available for such purpose in the Revenue Fund or the Rebate Fund. Amounts remaining in the 
Capitalized Interest Fund on December 1, 2024∗ (or such later date established in connection with an 
extension of the Nonorigination Redemption Date) that are not required to be transferred to the Rebate Fund 
shall be released from the lien of the Indenture and transferred to the Issuer. 

Cost of Issuance Fund 

Amounts deposited in the Cost of Issuance Fund will be used to pay for the costs of issuing the 
Bonds and for any other purpose set forth in the Indenture; any balance remaining in the Cost of Issuance 
Fund will be paid to the Issuer in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture. Amounts deposited in 
the Cost of Issuance Fund will not be pledged as security for the Bonds. 

Revenue Fund 

Upon receipt of each GNMA Certificate interest payment, the Trustee shall calculate the Issuer’s 
Excess Interest Portion relating to such payment and shall deposit such amount in the Excess Interest 
Portion Fund. 

All Revenues as and when received shall be deposited in the Revenue Fund (except as described in 
the Indenture with respect to a portion of the first payment of interest with respect to each GNMA Certificate 
which shall be remitted to the Servicer).  

 
∗ Preliminary, subject to change. 

170



 

 16 

On or before the first Business Day of a month, the Trustee shall transfer, from amounts deposited 
in the Revenue Fund during the prior month, the following amounts to the following Funds, in the following 
order of priority: 

(a) to the 2024A Interest Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the interest due and payable on the Series 2024A Bonds on the next Interest 
Payment Date;  

(b) to the 2024B Interest Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the interest due and payable on the Series 2024B Bonds on the next Interest 
Payment Date; 

(c) to the 2024A Principal Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the principal due and payable on the Series 2024A Bonds (by maturity or by 
sinking fund redemption) on the next Interest Payment Date; 

(d) to the 2024B Principal Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the principal due and payable on the Series 2024B Bonds (by maturity or by 
sinking fund redemption) on the next Interest Payment Date; 

(e) to the Rebate Fund, any Rebate Amount specified by the Rebate Analyst; 

(f) to the Program Expense Fund, the amount necessary, together with any moneys then on 
deposit in such Fund, to pay the Program Expenses due and payable on the next Interest Payment Date; and 

(g) any balance shall be transferred to the Redemption Fund; provided that a minimum balance 
of $5,000 shall be retained in the Revenue Fund.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph (including clauses (a) through (g)), on and before 
September 1, 2024∗, all GNMA Certificate principal payments, including scheduled principal payments 
and Prepayments, shall be transferred directly from the Revenue Fund to the Redemption Fund. The 
September 1, 2024* date may be extended one or more times, by written notice from the Issuer to the 
Trustee, in connection with any extension of the Nonorigination Redemption Date. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the optional redemption of the Bonds, amounts for such 
redemptions shall be deposited in special accounts of the Revenue Fund and applied to the redemption of 
Bonds on the applicable redemption date. 

Interest Funds 

Amounts in the 2024A Interest Fund and 2024B Interest Fund are required to be used to pay the 
interest due and payable on the Bonds. 

If at any time the amount in the 2024A Interest Fund or 2024B Interest Fund is insufficient to pay 
interest on the Bonds when due, the Trustee is required to transfer to the 2024A Interest Fund or 2024B 
Interest Fund, as applicable, the amount of such deficiency by withdrawing said amount from the following 
Funds in the following order of priority: (i) the Capitalized Interest Fund, (ii) the Revenue Fund, (iii) the 
Redemption Fund (but not for amounts for which notice of redemption has been given), and (iv) the 2024A 

 
∗ Preliminary, subject to change. 

171



 

 17 

Principal Fund and 2024B Principal Fund, as applicable, proportionally (based on the respective 
Outstanding Bonds). 

Principal Funds 

The Trustee is required to apply amounts on deposit in the 2024A Principal Fund and 2024B 
Principal Fund to pay principal of the Bonds as the same shall become due and payable (including payment 
due by maturity or by sinking fund redemption). 

In the event that the amount in the 2024A Principal Fund or 2024B Principal Fund is insufficient 
to pay the principal of the Bonds when due, the Trustee shall transfer to the 2024A Principal Fund or 2024B 
Principal Fund, as applicable, the amount of such deficiency by withdrawing said amount from the 
following Funds in the following order of priority: (i) the Revenue Fund and (ii) the Redemption Fund (but 
not with respect to amounts for which notice of redemption has been given). 

Redemption Fund 

Amounts in the Redemption Fund are required to be applied to pay the principal of, and premium, 
if any, on the Bonds as described under “The Bonds—Redemption of Bonds.” 

Program Expense Fund 

Amounts in the Program Expense Fund are required to be used and withdrawn by the Trustee for 
the purpose of paying Program Expenses relating to the Bonds when due. Amounts deposited in the 
Program Expense Fund will not be pledged as security for the Bonds. 

Excess Interest Portion Fund 

Amounts in the Excess Interest Portion Fund are required to be used and withdrawn by the Trustee 
for the purpose of paying the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion when due. Amounts deposited in the Excess 
Interest Portion Fund will not be pledged as security for the Bonds. 

Rebate Fund 

The Rebate Analyst is required to calculate the Rebate Amount no later than the 5th anniversary of 
the date of delivery of the Series 2024A Bonds (and every five years thereafter) and upon retirement of the 
last Series 2024A Bond. No later than 60 days after the 5th anniversary of the delivery date of the Bonds 
(and every five years thereafter), there is required to be paid to the United States an amount that ensures 
that 90% of the Rebate Amount will have been paid to the United States. Not later than 60 days after 
retirement of the Bonds any unpaid Rebate Amount shall be paid to the United States. Any Rebate Amount 
will not be pledged as security for the Bonds. 

STRUCTURING ASSUMPTIONS AND RISKS 

The foregoing is intended only as a summary of certain risk factors attendant to an investment in 
the Bonds. In order for potential investors to identify risk factors and make an informed investment decision, 
potential investors should be thoroughly familiar with this entire Official Statement and the documents 
referred to herein. 

172



 

 18 

General 

The Premium PAC Bonds and the Premium Term Bonds will be sold at a price in excess of 
their principal amount. Each Bond purchaser (including secondary market purchasers) should 
consider that the Bonds of each maturity are subject to redemption (or purchase in lieu of 
redemption) at par (except for mandatory redemptions of the Premium PAC Bonds and the Premium 
Term Bonds from unexpended funds in the Program Fund on the Nonorigination Redemption Date) 
from various sources, including mandatory sinking fund payments, amounts in the Redemption Fund 
(which represent Prepayments and surplus revenues), and from optional redemptions described 
herein. See “The Bonds—Redemption of Bonds.” 

The ability of the Issuer to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds depends upon the receipt of 
sufficient and timely payments of principal of and interest on the GNMA Certificates and the investment 
of moneys held under the Indenture in Investment Securities. Timely payment of principal and interest on 
the Bonds is anticipated to occur based on numerous assumptions, including, but not limited to, the 
following assumptions: 

1. GNMA Certificates with an aggregate principal balance equal to $[_____]*, and bearing 
interest at the Pass-Through Rate of [____]% per annum will be acquired by the Trustee during the 
Certificate Purchase Period from moneys in the Program Fund. The Mortgage Loans will have terms of 30 
years and bear interest at the rate of [____]% per annum. The Mortgage Loan Rate and the Pass-Through 
Rate are subject to increase or decrease if the conditions set forth in the Indenture are met. 

2. Payments on the GNMA Certificates will be made on a timely basis. 

3. Timely payment of interest and principal of Investment Securities purchased with moneys 
on deposit in the Program Fund, the Capitalized Interest Fund, the Revenue Fund and the Redemption Fund.  

4. The Trustee will redeem Bonds on a timely basis in accordance with the provisions of the 
Indenture. 

5. The Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion and the Program Expenses will be paid on a timely 
basis and in the correct amounts. 

The assumptions set forth above are only assumptions, are not complete, and subsequent events 
may not correspond to such assumptions. Moneys in the Cost of Issuance Fund, the Excess Interest Portion 
Fund, the Program Expense Fund and any Rebate Amount will not be available to pay the Bonds.  

Risks of Nonorigination 

There are numerous reasons why Mortgage Loans may not be originated. One significant risk is 
the availability of other loan programs, including programs offered by other housing finance agencies, 
corporations, authorities or other profit or nonprofit entities in the State of Texas, that have loan terms 
which are more attractive than those offered by the Program, such as lower mortgage rates or greater down 
payment and closing cost assistance. Another significant risk is that prevailing mortgage interest rates could 
decline sufficiently to make the terms of the Mortgage Loans unattractive to potential homebuyers. If 
interest rates decline and the Program is rendered less attractive, the Issuer may determine to issue a new 
series of bonds that would offer more attractive Mortgage Loan terms. No assurance can be given that the 
interest rate and payment assistance offered by the Program on the Mortgage Loans will be competitive, or 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

173



 

 19 

will remain competitive, with other mortgage loans available to eligible mortgagors, including other 
programs offered by the Issuer. 

It is also possible that administrative problems relating to the Program could occur, such as the 
failure of Lenders to timely submit loan files or sell Mortgage Loans to the Servicer, defective loan files, 
or the failure of the Servicer to timely purchase Mortgage Loans from Lenders. In addition, the Servicer 
could fail to pool the Mortgage Loans on a timely basis, fail to convert such pools into GNMA Certificates, 
or fail to sell the GNMA Certificates to the Trustee on a timely basis. 

Further, GNMA could take actions relating to their guaranty or change existing procedure that 
would result in an inability to timely deliver GNMA Certificates to the Trustee. Under the Program, the 
Servicer is required to pool Mortgage Loans into GNMA Certificates only, and therefore any changes in 
the GNMA Certificate program could adversely affect origination of the Mortgage Loans and the delivery 
of GNMA Certificates for purchase by the Trustee. See “The Program—General.” 

If for any reason described in the preceding three paragraphs, or for any other reason, moneys in 
the Program Fund are not applied to the purchase of GNMA Certificates, unexpended moneys in such Fund 
will be applied to the mandatory redemption of Bonds on the Nonorigination Redemption Date. See “The 
Bonds—Redemption of Bonds—Mandatory Redemption Due to Nonorigination.” 

The dollar amount of commitments to guarantee securities that GNMA can approve and the dollar 
amount that FHA, VA and USDA-RHS can insure or guarantee in any federal fiscal year are limited by 
statute and administrative procedures. If an appropriation act is not passed in any federal fiscal year or if 
GNMA, FHA, VA or USDA-RHS reaches the limit of its authority, or if the FHA maximum loan limit is 
reduced, or if GNMA, in its sole discretion, or the federal government, alters or amends the GNMA I or II 
mortgage-backed securities program in such a way as to prevent the Lenders from originating Mortgage 
Loans, the Lenders might not be able to originate Mortgage Loans and the Servicer may not be able to issue 
and deliver GNMA Certificates in the anticipated principal amount. In addition, the Servicer may become 
unqualified to issue GNMA Certificates and a successor Servicer may have to be appointed. The failure to 
originate Mortgage Loans, or the inability of the Servicer or any other person to issue GNMA Certificates, 
or the failure to deliver GNMA Certificates to the Trustee in the anticipated amount, would result in the 
mandatory redemption of Bonds. See “The Bonds—Redemption of Bonds—Mandatory Redemption Due 
to Nonorigination.” 

Risks of Remedies and Loss of Tax-Exemption on Bonds 

The remedies available upon an Event of Default under the Indenture, the Servicing Agreement, 
the Lender Agreements, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement or other documents or agreements relating 
to the Bonds or the Program, or if a default occurs with respect to any Investment Security, are in many 
respects dependent upon regulatory and judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay. 
Under existing constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, including specifically Title 11 of the 
United States Code, the remedies specified by the applicable documents may not be readily available or 
may be limited. 

The various legal opinions to be delivered with respect to the Bonds and the Program will be 
qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, 
reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. 

Under certain circumstances, interest on the Bonds may be subject to federal income taxation, 
including on a retroactive basis. See “Tax Matters.” 

174



 

 20 

Average Life of Bonds 

The maturities of the Bonds have been fixed based in part on the assumption that there will be no 
principal prepayments of the GNMA Certificates; however, it is anticipated that significant prepayments of 
the Mortgage Loans backing the related GNMA Certificates will in fact occur so that the Bonds will be 
paid in advance of their stated maturity dates. “Weighted average life” refers to the average amount of time 
that will elapse from the date of issuance of a security until each dollar of principal of such security will be 
repaid to the investor. The weighted average life of each maturity of the Bonds will be influenced by the 
rate of principal payment of the Mortgage Loans underlying the GNMA Certificates. Principal payments 
may be in the form of scheduled principal payments or prepayments (for this purpose, the term 
“prepayment” includes prepayments and liquidations due to default or other disposition of the Mortgage 
Loans, including payments on the FHA Insurance, the USDA-RHS guaranty or the VA guaranty). 
Prepayments on loans such as the Mortgage Loans underlying the GNMA Certificates are commonly 
measured by a prepayment standard or months. The model used in the following discussion is The Bond 
Market Association (formerly the Public Security Association) prepayment standard or model (the “PSA 
Prepayment Model”). The PSA Prepayment Model is based on an assumed rate of prepayment each month 
of the then unpaid principal balance of the mortgage loans. 100% of the PSA Prepayment Model assumes 
a prepayment rate of .2% per annum of the unpaid principal balance of the mortgage loans for the first 
month of the life of the related Mortgage Loans, increasing by .2% each month for the next 29 months of 
the life of the related mortgage loans, and then assumes a constant prepayment rate of 6% per annum of the 
unpaid principal balance for the remaining life of the related mortgage loans. 

As used in the following tables, “0% PSA” assumes no prepayments on the principal of the GNMA 
Certificates. “25% PSA” assumes the principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate .25 times as 
fast as the prepayment rates for the 100% PSA Prepayment Model. “50% PSA” assumes the principal of 
the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate .5 times as fast as the prepayment rates for 100% of the PSA 
Prepayment Model. “75% PSA” assumes the principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate .75 
times as fast as the prepayment rates for 100% the PSA Prepayment Model. “100% PSA” assumes the 
principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate equal to the prepayment rate for 100% of the PSA 
Prepayment Model. “150% PSA” assumes the principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate 1.5 
times as fast as the prepayment rates for 100% of the PSA Prepayment Model. “200% PSA” assumes the 
principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate 2 times as fast as the prepayment rates for 100% 
of the PSA Prepayment Model. “300% PSA” assumes the principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay 
at a rate 3 times as fast as the prepayment rates for the 100% of PSA Prepayment Model. “350% PSA” 
assumes the principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate 3.5 times as fast as the prepayment 
rates for the 100% of PSA Prepayment Model. “400% PSA” assumes the principal of the GNMA 
Certificates will prepay at a rate 4 times as fast as the prepayment rates for 100% of the PSA Prepayment 
Model. “450% PSA” assumes the principal of the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate 4.5 times as fast 
as the prepayment rates for 100% of the PSA Prepayment Model. “500% PSA” assumes the principal of 
the GNMA Certificates will prepay at a rate 5 times as fast as the prepayment rates for 100% of the PSA 
Prepayment Model. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

 

175



 

 21 

The figures in the tables set forth below were computed using the assumptions previously listed and 
various additional assumptions, including an assumption that GNMA Certificates are purchased by the 
Trustee in accordance with an expected draw schedule with a weighted average midpoint purchase date of 
approximately May 15, 2024, and that the Bonds are not optionally redeemed. There can be no assurance 
that such assumptions will in fact prove accurate.  

Table of Projected Weighted Average Lives for Series 2024A Term Bonds (in Years)∗ 

Prepayment 
Assumption 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2039 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2044 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2049 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2054 

Premium PAC 
Bonds Due 

September 1, 
2054 

0% PSA      
25% PSA      
50% PSA      
75% PSA      

100% PSA      
150% PSA      
200% PSA      
300% PSA      
350% PSA      
400% PSA      
450% PSA      
500% PSA      

 
Table of Projected Weighted Average Lives for Series 2024B Term Bonds (in Years)∗ 

Prepayment 
Assumption 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2039 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2044 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2049 

Bonds Due 
March 1, 2054 

Premium PAC 
Bonds Due 

September 1, 
2054 

0% PSA      
25% PSA      
50% PSA      
75% PSA      

100% PSA      
150% PSA      
200% PSA      
300% PSA      
350% PSA      
400% PSA      
450% PSA      
500% PSA      

 
There is no assurance that prepayment of the GNMA Certificate principal will conform to any level 

of the PSA Prepayment Model. The rate of principal payments on pools of single family mortgage loans 
(such as the Mortgage Loans backing the GNMA Certificates) is influenced by a variety of economic, 
geographic, social and other factors, including the level of mortgage interest rates and the rate at which 
homeowners sell their homes or default on their mortgage loans. In general, if prevailing interest rates fall 

 
∗ Preliminary, subject to change. 

176



 

 22 

significantly, mortgage loans are likely to be subject to higher prepayment rates than if prevailing rates 
remain at or above the interest rates on such mortgage loans. Conversely, if interest rates rise, the rate of 
prepayment would be expected to decrease. Other factors affecting prepayment of mortgage loans include 
changes in mortgagors’ housing needs, job transfers, unemployment and mortgagors’ net equity in the 
mortgaged properties. In addition, as homeowners move or default on their mortgage loans, the houses are 
generally sold and the mortgage loans prepaid, although under certain circumstances the mortgage loans 
may be assumed by a new buyer. Mortgage Loans may also be terminated prior to final maturity as a result 
of condemnation, casualty loss or noncompliance with the Program. There is no reliable statistical base 
with which to predict the level of prepayment in full or other early termination of the Mortgage Loans and 
the resulting effect on the average life of the Bonds. Because of the foregoing and since the rate of 
prepayment of principal of each Bond will depend on the rate of repayment (including prepayments) of the 
GNMA Certificates (which are backed by the Mortgage Loans), the actual maturity of any Bond cannot be 
predicted, but is likely to occur earlier than its stated maturity. 

Prepayment and Redemption Considerations 

The Trustee will receive scheduled payments and prepayments of the principal of each of the 
GNMA Certificates. Prepayments consist of all principal payments in excess of the regularly scheduled 
principal payments on the GNMA Certificates, including, but not limited to, payments representing: (i) 
optional prepayments of Mortgage Loans, (ii) casualty insurance proceeds or condemnation awards applied 
to the prepayment of Mortgage Loans following a partial or total destruction or condemnation of a 
residence, (iii) mortgage insurance or guaranty proceeds or other amounts received with respect to 
Mortgage Loans following acceleration thereof upon the occurrence of an event of default thereunder, 
(iv) prepayments of the Mortgage Loans required pursuant to applicable rules, regulations, policies and 
procedures of FHA, USDA/RD, VA or GNMA, (v) prepayments of the Mortgage Loans without notice 
while under supervision of a trustee in bankruptcy, and (vi) prepayments of the Mortgage Loans in 
connection with the modification of such loans that results in the removal of Mortgage Loans from the pool 
of loans backing the related GNMA Certificates (see “Developments in the Residential Mortgage Market 
May Adversely Affect Bond Yield” below). Prepayments are usually the result of the resale of the premises 
securing a Mortgage Loan or the refinancing of a Mortgage Loan due to changes in mortgage interest rates. 
Therefore, economic and financial market conditions may have a significant effect on the rate of 
prepayments. The Issuer is not aware of any means which would allow it to accurately predict the actual 
level of prepayments it will receive from the GNMA Certificates. Prepayments with respect to the GNMA 
Certificates allocated to the Bonds will be applied to the special redemption from revenues of the Bonds at 
the price and in accordance with the procedures described under the heading “THE BONDS – Redemption 
of Bonds” herein.  

Developments in the Residential Mortgage Market May Adversely Affect Bond Yield 

The residential mortgage market in the United States has experienced a variety of difficulties and 
changed economic conditions that may adversely affect the performance and market value of mortgage 
revenue bonds. In response to increased delinquencies and losses with respect to residential mortgage loans, 
the federal government, state governments, consumer advocacy groups and others have urged aggressive 
action to modify mortgage loans to avoid foreclosures and, in response, certain mortgage servicers have 
established foreclosure avoidance programs for borrowers. In addition, numerous laws, regulations and 
rules relating to mortgage loans generally, and foreclosure actions particularly, have been enacted by 
federal, state and local governmental authorities and it is likely that additional laws, regulations and rules 
will be proposed. These laws, regulations and rules, together with judicial decisions, may result in delays 
in the foreclosure process, reduced payments by borrowers, modification of the original terms of the 
mortgage loans (including the Mortgage Loans), including permanent forgiveness of debt, increased 
prepayments due to the availability of government-sponsored refinancing initiatives and/or increased 

177



 

 23 

reimbursable mortgage servicing expenses. Several courts have also taken unprecedented steps to slow the 
foreclosure process or prevent foreclosure altogether. 

Any modification of a Mortgage Loan may result in the removal of such Mortgage Loan from the 
pool of loans backing the related GMNA Certificate. The principal balance of the removed Mortgage Loan 
will be distributed on the related GNMA Certificate and will affect expected timing of distributions of 
principal on the GNMA Certificates, and, therefore, the Bonds. Bondholders bear the risk that modifications 
of the Mortgage Loans may reduce the yield on any Bonds purchased at a premium. 

Yield and Prepayment Considerations 

The Bonds will be sensitive to the rate and the timing of principal payments and prepayments on 
the respective Mortgage Loans. As a result, actual weighted average lives of the Bonds may vary 
substantially over the lives of such Bonds. The yield to the holders of Bonds purchased at a discount or 
premium will be affected by the actual rate of principal prepayments on the Mortgage Loans to the extent 
such prepayments affect principal payments on the GNMA Certificates. A lower rate of principal 
prepayments than expected on the GNMA Certificates would negatively affect the yield on the Bonds sold 
at a discount, and a higher rate of prepayments than expected would negatively affect the yield on the Bonds 
sold at a premium. Because it is impossible to predict with any accuracy the timing and dollar amount of 
principal prepayments that will be made on the GNMA Certificates, investors may find it difficult to analyze 
the effect of prepayments on the yield on the Bonds. 

Rating Downgrade 

Because the GNMA Certificates are guaranteed by GNMA, any downgrade in the sovereign credit 
rating of the United States of America by Moody’s (see “RATING” herein) likely would result in a 
downgrade of the Bonds by Moody’s. Any reduction of the rating in effect for the Bonds may adversely 
affect their market price. See “RATING” herein.  

Substitution of Rating Agencies 

The Bonds have been assigned a long-term credit rating as more fully described under “RATING” 
herein. Pursuant to the Indenture, the Issuer may substitute such long-term rating with a substantially 
equivalent rating provided by another nationally recognized statistical rating organization providing long-
term ratings with respect to obligations similar to the Bonds. No consent of the holders of any Bonds shall 
be required in connection with such substitution.  

Business Disruption Risk  

General. Certain external events, such as pandemics, natural disasters, severe weather, 
technological emergencies, riots, acts of war or terrorism or other circumstances, could potentially disrupt 
the Issuer’s ability to conduct its business. A prolonged disruption in the Issuer’s operations could have an 
adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations. To plan for and mitigate the 
impact such an event may have on its operations, the Issuer has developed an Emergency Management Plan 
(the “Plan”). The Plan is designed to aid the Issuer in (i) taking all reasonable and practical steps to minimize 
possible exposure to a disaster or potentially damaging event, (ii) initiating reasonable and appropriate 
recovery steps in the event of a disaster or potentially damaging event, and (iii) providing for continuity of 
operations in the event of a disaster or potentially damaging event. No assurances can be given that the 
Issuer’s efforts to mitigate the effects of a disaster or potentially damaging event will be successful in 
preventing any and all disruptions to its operations should such a disaster or potentially damaging event 
occur.     

178



 

 24 

Cybersecurity. The Issuer relies on a complex technology environment to conduct its operations. 
As a recipient and provider of personal, private and sensitive information, the Issuer faces multiple cyber 
threats including, but not limited to, hacking, viruses, malware, ransomware, phishing, business email 
compromise, and other attacks on computers and other sensitive digital networks, systems, and 
assets. Housing finance authorities and other public finance entities have been targeted by outside third 
parties, including technically sophisticated and well-resourced actors, attempting to misappropriate assets 
or information or cause operational disruption and damage. Further, third parties, such as hosted solution 
providers, that provide services to the Issuer, could also be a source of security risk in the event of a failure 
of their own security systems and infrastructure.  

The Issuer uses a layered approach that employs sound operational strategies and security 
technology solutions to secure against, detect, and mitigate the effects of cyber threats on its infrastructure 
and information assets. The Issuer conducts regular information security and privacy awareness training 
that is mandatory for all Issuer staff and regularly conducts risk assessments and tests of its cybersecurity 
systems and infrastructure. The Issuer’s [Senior Director of Information Technology] focuses on and leads 
the efforts of the Issuer to keep its cyber assets secure. 

Despite its efforts, no assurances can be given that the Issuer’s security and operational control 
measures will be successful in guarding against any and each cyber threat and attack, especially because 
the techniques used are increasingly sophisticated, change frequently, are complex, and are often not 
recognized until launched. To date, cyber attacks have not had a material impact on the financial condition, 
results or business of the Issuer; however, the Issuer is not able to predict the severity of these attacks. The 
results of any attack on the Issuer’s computer and information technology systems could impact its 
operations for an unknown period of time, damage the Issuer’s digital networks and systems, and damage 
the Issuer’s reputation, financial performance, and customer or vendor relationships. Such an attack could 
also result in litigation or regulatory investigations or actions, including regulatory actions by state and 
federal governmental authorities. The costs of remedying any such damage could be substantial and such 
damage to the Issuer’s reputation and relationships could adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to make loans 
and issue Bonds in the future. 

THE PROGRAM 

General 

The Issuer has established the Program pursuant to the Act as a means of financing the cost of 
single family residential housing which will provide affordable housing for Eligible Borrowers within the 
Eligible Loan Area. Reservations for Mortgage Loans under the Program will commence on or about 
February [__], 2024*. 

The Lenders have agreed to originate and sell Mortgage Loans to the Servicer according to the 
terms and conditions set forth in the Lender Agreements. See “The Lender Agreements.” The Servicer will 
service all the Mortgage Loans in accordance with the terms of the Servicing Agreement. See “Servicing” 
below and “The Servicing Agreement.” The Servicer will pool the FHA-guaranteed, VA-guaranteed and 
USDA-RHS-guaranteed Mortgage Loans and will issue GNMA Certificates the payments of principal and 
interest of which are guaranteed by GNMA. See “GNMA Mortgage-Backed Certificate Program.” 

The Lenders will originate the Mortgage Loans on a first-come, first-served basis in accordance 
with the terms of a Notice of Availability of Funds issued by the Issuer to the Lenders on or before the 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

179



 

 25 

beginning of the Mortgage Loan reservation period. The Issuer may issue additional Notices of Availability 
of Funds during the reservation period. 

Under the Program, the Lenders may only originate Mortgage Loans to Eligible Borrowers whose 
annual income does not exceed 80% of the greater of the state or local median family income. 

The Issuer has covenanted to make funds continuously available for a 12-month period to finance 
Mortgage Loans for Residences located in Targeted Areas, in the total principal amount of $[_____]*. The 
12-month period begins on the first day Mortgage Loans are available for Targeted Areas under the 
Program. 

Origination and Purchase of Mortgage Loans 

Each Lender will be required to use its best efforts to originate Mortgage Loans in accordance with 
the requirements of the Lender Agreement, the Program Guidelines and other applicable Program 
Documents, including the applicable loan origination, eligibility, credit underwriting and appraisal 
standards of FHA, VA or USDA-RHS for mortgage loans which are FHA-insured, VA-guaranteed or 
USDA-RHS guaranteed, respectively. Each Lender is required to deliver all documents specified in the 
Lender Agreement, the Program Guidelines and other applicable Program Documents that are required for 
the review and approval of the Mortgage Loans, to the Servicer and the Issuer (as compliance agent) prior 
to the date the Mortgage Loans are to be purchased by the Servicer.  

Each Lender may collect from each Eligible Borrower or Seller, or both, as permitted by law and 
applicable federal regulations, at the time any Mortgage Loan is made an origination fee in an amount not 
to exceed 1.00% of the original principal amount of the Mortgage Loan. Lenders also may collect certain 
other reasonable and customary fees in accordance with the Agreement. 

Down Payment Assistance 

The Issuer will initially make funds available to provide down payment and closing cost assistance 
equal to 4% of initial total Mortgage Loan principal (including mortgage insurance premium) for each 
Mortgage Loan. The assistance will be provided to each Mortgagor at the closing of the Mortgage Loan in 
the form of a three-year deferred forgivable second lien. The assistance may be used only to pay all or a 
portion of the down payment and closing costs associated with the related Mortgage Loan or for reductions 
in principal of such Mortgage Loan. No portion of the assistance is permitted to be paid to the Mortgagor. 
Upon sale, transfer or refinance of the senior lien or failure to occupy property as principal residence during 
the 3-year term, the terms require repayment in full. 

Mortgage Loan Terms 

Each Mortgage Loan will have a term of 30 years, will provide for substantially level monthly 
payments of principal and interest to be made on the first day of each month and will be in such principal 
amounts as conform to the eligibility and credit underwriting standards in the Agreements and the 
limitations of the FHA, VA or USDA-RHS, as applicable, as of the closing date on the Mortgage Loan. 
Mortgage Loans purchased by the Servicer also must be current in payments of principal and interest, and 
must be in compliance with the requirements of the GNMA guidelines. 

The Mortgage Loan Rate will be initially established at [____]% per annum. The Mortgage Loan 
Rate may be increased or decreased from the initial rate if the conditions of the Indenture and the 
Agreements are met. Any increase or decrease in the Mortgage Loan Rate will result in a corresponding 
increase or decrease in the Pass-Through Rate of the related GNMA Certificates.  

180



 

 26 

Moneys in the Program Fund will be used to purchase GNMA Certificates backed by Mortgage 
Loans evidenced by promissory notes secured by deeds of trust on Residences within the Eligible Loan 
Area. Mortgage Loans originated by Lenders must meet the origination standards set forth in the Lender 
Agreements and all other Program Documents, including all applicable federal tax requirements. 

The acquisition cost of a Residence may not exceed 90% or, in the case of a Residence in a Targeted 
Area, 110%, of the applicable area purchase price for single family residences in the area in which the 
Residence is located (the “Maximum Purchase Price”). The initial Maximum Purchase Price limits are 
based on the safe harbor guidelines set forth in the applicable Internal Revenue Service Revenue Procedure. 

In addition, Mortgage Loans will be made only to Eligible Borrowers whose Family Income does 
not exceed the applicable Maximum Family Income. The Maximum Family Income limits are subject to 
adjustment from time to time. 

Eligible Borrowers are also required to be First-Time Homebuyers except for Residences in 
Targeted Areas or for qualifying veterans. Further, Mortgage Loans may not be used to refinance existing 
mortgage loans. 

In order to qualify for purchase by the Servicer under the Program, each Mortgage Loan must be 
FHA-insured, VA-guaranteed or USDA-RHS-guaranteed, and the principal amount of such Mortgage Loan 
cannot be in excess of the applicable limit imposed by FHA, VA or USDA-RHS, as applicable. 

Upon submission of each Mortgage Loan for purchase by the Servicer, the Lender will make certain 
warranties as to each Mortgage Loan. Further, with respect to each Mortgage Loan, the Eligible Borrower, 
the Seller and the related Lender are required to submit affidavits (or in the case of the Lender, a 
certification) regarding compliance with the mortgage eligibility requirements of the Code (and any other 
requirements of the Program). The Lender Agreements and the Program Guidelines prescribe various 
procedures to be followed by the Lenders and the Issuer (as compliance agent) in reviewing and verifying 
the affidavits and information provided by the Eligible Borrower and the Seller. 

Servicing 

The Servicer will service all Mortgage Loans originated by Lenders and purchased by the Servicer. 
The Servicer is a GNMA-approved servicer of FHA-insured, VA-guaranteed and USDA-RHS guaranteed 
mortgage loans. The Servicer will pool the Mortgage Loans into GNMA Certificates and sell them to the 
Trustee or the Issuer. The Servicing Agreement governs the servicing responsibilities (and other 
responsibilities) of the Servicer under the Program. The Servicer is required to service the Mortgage Loans 
in conformity with the applicable GNMA guidelines for servicing. See “The Servicing Agreement.” 

In addition to its obligations as described under the caption “GNMA Mortgage-Backed Certificate 
Program,” the Servicer is required to account for and manage escrows of sums paid by the Mortgagors for 
payment of taxes, assessments, mortgage and hazard insurance premiums, guaranty premiums and other 
expenses. Escrows established by the Lenders will be transferred to the Servicer upon purchase of the 
Mortgage Loans. As compensation for the performance of its servicing duties under the Agreements, the 
Servicer is entitled to receive a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 0.44% of the outstanding principal 
amount of each Mortgage Loan serviced which backs a GNMA Certificate. Under the Program as it relates 
to the Bonds, the Servicer will pool the Mortgage Loans exclusively into GNMA Certificates. The Servicer 
also is entitled to retain assumption fees and late charges. 

Under the GNMA Certificates, the Servicer is obligated to make monthly advances, regardless of 
whether principal and interest payments on the Mortgage Loans or any insurance or guaranty proceeds are 

181



 

 27 

actually received by the Servicer, which, with respect to any calendar month, are the aggregate amounts of 
payments of principal and interest on the Mortgage Loans which were due and payable on or before the 
first day of such month and which were delinquent as of the close of business on the business day next 
preceding the remittance date of such month. 

The Servicer may be reimbursed for such advance payments made on a Mortgage Loan either from 
insurance proceeds, guaranty proceeds, liquidation proceeds or collections from Mortgagors. If such 
reimbursements are not made from such sources, neither the Issuer nor the Trustee is obligated to make 
such reimbursements. If the Servicer fails to make the payments under the GNMA Certificates, GNMA is 
obligated to make such payments. 

The Servicer must maintain in effect at all times and at its expense a blanket fidelity bond and an 
errors and omissions insurance policy covering all officers, employees and other persons acting on behalf 
of the Servicer. 

Assumption of Mortgage Loans and transfers of Residences are permitted subject to the conditions 
described in the Agreements. See “The Servicing Agreement.” Prepayments of the Mortgage Loans in 
whole or in part are permitted under the Program without penalty; any such prepayments will be passed 
through under the GNMA Certificates. The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption to the extent the 
Trustee receives amounts under the GNMA Certificates representing Prepayments. See “The Bonds—
Redemption of Bonds—Mandatory Redemption from Prepayments and Surplus Revenues.” 

Servicer Information 

The following information relates to and was supplied by Lakeview Loan Servicing, LLC 
(“Lakeview”). Such information has not been verified by the Issuer, the Underwriter, the Financial Advisor, 
Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel or counsel to the Underwriter, and is not guaranteed as to completeness 
or accuracy.  

As of September 30, 2023, Lakeview was the servicer of more than 2.49 million single-family 
mortgage loans with an aggregate principal balance in excess of $637 billion. Lakeview is the servicer of 
single-family mortgage loans for GNMA, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and certain state and local housing 
finance authorities, among others. Lakeview contracts with multiple subservicers to perform the servicing 
of mortgage loans on its behalf. Lakeview (i) is approved by FHA, USDA-RD and VA to service mortgage 
loans insured or guaranteed by such agencies, and is in good standing with each such agency, (ii) has all 
requisite approvals as a GNMA issuer of mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by GNMA, and to be the 
servicer of the mortgage loans included in such securities, and (iii) is approved as a servicer for Fannie Mae 
and Freddie Mac.  

The information set forth in the preceding paragraph was supplied by Lakeview and has not been 
verified by the Issuer or the Underwriter. While Lakeview has supplied the information in the preceding 
paragraph, it is not otherwise responsible for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or the 
payment of the Bonds. 

THE INDENTURE 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Indenture. The summary does not purport 
to be comprehensive or definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Indenture. For a 
description of certain other provisions of the Indenture relating to the Bonds, see “The Bonds,” “Security 
for the Bonds” and “Flow of Funds.” 

182



 

 28 

Investment of Funds 

All amounts held under the Indenture are required to be continuously invested in Investment 
Securities, and such Investment Securities shall pay interest and mature not later than the dates on which it 
is estimated that such moneys will be required by the Trustee. For the purpose of determining the amount 
in any such Fund, all Investment Securities credited to such Fund are required to be valued in the manner 
described in the Indenture. 

Certain Tax Covenants 

The Issuer covenants in the Indenture that it will not use or permit the use of any proceeds of the 
Series 2024A Bonds or any other funds of the Issuer, directly or indirectly, to acquire any securities or 
obligations, and will not use or permit the use of any amounts received by the Issuer or the Trustee with 
respect to the GNMA Certificates and underlying Mortgage Loans relating to the Series 2024A Bonds in 
any manner, and will not take or permit to be taken, to the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, any other action 
or actions, which would cause any Series 2024A Bond to be an “arbitrage bond” under Section 148 of the 
Code or violate the requirements of Section 143(g) of the Code. The Issuer further covenants under the 
Indenture that it will not use or permit the use of any proceeds of the Series 2024A Bonds or any other 
funds of the Issuer, directly or indirectly, or in any manner, and will not take or permit to be taken any other 
action or actions, which would result in any of the Series 2024A Bonds being treated as an obligation not 
described in Section 103(a) of the Code. See “Tax Matters.” 

Defaults and Remedies; Rights of Bondholders 

Each of the following events is an “Event of Default” under the Indenture: 

(A) default in the due and punctual payment of the principal amount or redemption price of any 
Bond when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity as therein expressed or by 
proceedings for redemption or by declaration of acceleration or otherwise; 

(B) default in the due and punctual payment of any installment of interest on any Bond when 
and as such interest installment shall become due and payable; 

(C) default by the Issuer in the observance of any of the covenants, agreements or conditions 
on its part contained in the Indenture or in the Bonds (other than in clauses (A) or (B) above), if such default 
has continued for a period of 60 days after written notice thereof, specifying such default and requiring the 
same to be remedied, shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee, or to the Issuer and the Trustee by 
the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time outstanding; 
or 

(D) certain acts of bankruptcy or insolvency on the part of the Issuer as described in the 
Indenture. 

If an event of default under clause (A) or (B) above occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may, and 
upon written direction of the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
at the time outstanding will, upon notice in writing to the Issuer, declare the principal of and interest on all 
the Bonds then outstanding due and payable immediately. If an Event of Default under clause (C) or (D) 
occurs, the Trustee, upon written direction of the Owners of 100% in aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds then outstanding will, upon notice in writing to the Issuer, declare the principal of and interest on all 
the Bonds then outstanding due and payable immediately. 

183



 

 29 

Any such declaration, however, is subject to the condition that if, at any time after such declaration 
and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due has been obtained or entered, the 
Issuer deposits, or causes to be deposited, with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay the principal amount or 
redemption price of and installments of interest on the Bonds the payment of which is overdue, with interest 
on such overdue principal at the rate borne by the respective Bonds, and the reasonable charges and 
expenses of the Trustee, and the other conditions of the Indenture are met, then the Owners of not less than 
a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, by written notice to the Issuer and 
to the Trustee, may, on behalf of the Owners of all the Bonds, rescind and annul such declaration and its 
consequences and waive such default, but no such rescission and annulment will extend to or affect any 
subsequent default, or impair or exhaust any right or power consequent thereon. 

If an event of default under the Indenture occurs and is continuing, all Revenues and any other 
amounts then held or thereafter received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of the Indenture 
(excluding amounts held in [the Program Expense Fund,] the Cost of Issuance Fund or any Rebate Amount 
held in any Fund and money held by the Trustee for the payment of the interest, principal amount or 
redemption price on and after the date such payment is due while pending such payment) are required to be 
applied by the Trustee in order of priority set forth in the Indenture. 

If an event of default under the Indenture shall occur and be continuing, then the Trustee may, and 
upon the written request of the Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
then outstanding, and upon being indemnified to its satisfaction, is required to, proceed by suit or suits, at 
law or in equity, or by any other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, to enforce payment of the principal 
of and interest on the Bonds under a judgment or decree of a court or courts of competent jurisdiction or by 
the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, as the Trustee determines to be most 
effective to protect and enforce any of its rights or the rights of the Owners under the Indenture. 

Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owners of a majority in aggregate 
principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding have the right, by an instrument or concurrent instruments 
in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the method of conducting all remedial proceedings 
taken by the Trustee under the Indenture, provided that the Trustee has been indemnified to its satisfaction 
and such direction will not be otherwise than in accordance with the law and the provisions of the Indenture, 
and that the Trustee will have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of 
counsel rendered to the Trustee would be unjustly prejudicial to Owners not parties to such direction. 

No Owner of any Bond has the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, 
for the protection or enforcement of any right or remedy under the Indenture, the Act or any other applicable 
law with respect to such Bond, unless (A) such Owner has given to the Trustee written notice of the 
occurrence of an event of default under the Indenture; (B) the Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate 
principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding have made written request upon the Trustee to exercise the 
powers granted under the Indenture or to institute such suit, action or proceeding in its own name; (C) such 
Owner or said Owners have tendered to the Trustee indemnity satisfactory to it against the costs, expenses 
and liabilities to be incurred in compliance with such request; and (D) the Trustee has refused or omitted to 
comply with such request for a period of 60 days after such written request has been received by, and said 
tender of indemnity has been made to, the Trustee. No one or more Owners of Bonds has any right to affect, 
disturb or prejudice the security of the Indenture or the rights of any other Owners of Bonds, or to enforce 
any right under the Indenture, the Act, or other applicable law with respect to the Bonds, except in the 
manner therein provided and all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any such right shall be instituted, 
had and maintained in the manner therein provided and for the benefit and protection of all Owners of the 
outstanding Bonds, subject to the provisions of the Indenture. 

184



 

 30 

Supplemental Indentures 

The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the Issuer and of the Owners of the Bonds and of 
the Trustee may be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Indenture which will become 
effective when the written consent of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 
then outstanding has been filed with the Trustee. No such modification or amendment will (1) extend the 
stated maturity of any Bond, or reduce the amount or principal thereof, or reduce the rate of interest thereon, 
or extend the time of payment of interest thereof without the consent of the Owner of each Bond so affected, 
or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds the consent of which the Owners of which is required to 
effect any such modification or amendment, or (3) permit the creation of any lien on the Revenues or any 
other assets pledged under the Indenture that is on a parity with or superior to the lien created by the 
Indenture, or deprive the Owners of the Bonds of the lien created by the Indenture upon the Revenues and 
other assets, or (4) authorize the sale or other disposition of the GNMA Certificates after their acquisition, 
except as otherwise permitted under the Indenture, without the consent of the Owners of all the Bonds then 
outstanding. 

The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the Issuer and of the Owners of the Bonds may also 
be modified or amended at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, which will become effective upon 
execution by the Issuer and the Trustee (or such later date as may be specified in such Supplemental 
Indenture), without the consent of any Owners, but only to the extent permitted by the Act and only for any 
one or more of the following purposes: 

(1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Issuer in the Indenture, other covenants and 
agreements thereafter to be observed, to pledge or assign additional security for the Bonds, or to surrender 
any right or power reserved to or conferred upon the Issuer under the Indenture; 

(2) to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, inconsistency or 
omission, or of curing or correcting any defective provision contained in the Indenture, or in regard to any 
matter or question arising under the Indenture, as the Issuer may deem necessary or desirable, which, in 
any such case, in the opinion of the Trustee, will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Owners 
of the Bonds; 

(3) to modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as to permit the qualification 
thereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in effect, 
and to add such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be permitted by said act or similar federal 
statute, and which will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Owners of the Bonds; 

(4) to modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as in the opinion of Bond 
Counsel is necessary to preserve the excludability of interest on any Series 2024A Bond from federal gross 
income and which will not materially adversely affect the interests of the Owner of any Bond; or 

(5) to obtain or maintain a rating from a Rating Agency. 

In connection with the execution and delivery of a Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee is required 
to receive an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the Supplemental Indenture is authorized under the 
Act and by proper action of the Issuer, that the Supplemental Indenture is authorized or permitted by the 
Indenture and that execution and delivery of the Supplemental Indenture will not adversely affect the 
exclusion of interest on any Series 2024A Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

185



 

 31 

The Trustee 

The Issuer may remove the Trustee at any time with or without cause unless an event of default 
under the Indenture has occurred and is continuing. The Issuer is required to remove the Trustee if at any 
time requested to do so in writing by the registered owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal 
amount of all the Bonds then outstanding under the Indenture or if at any time the Trustee ceases to be 
eligible in accordance with the Indenture, or if the Trustee becomes incapable of acting, or commits certain 
acts of bankruptcy or insolvency, in each case by giving written notice of such removal to the Trustee, and 
the Issuer is required to appoint a successor Trustee, provided that the Rating Agency is notified in writing 
that any such successor trustee has been appointed. 

The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice of such resignation to the Issuer and 
by giving the Owners written notice of such resignation sent by first-class mail, but such resignation will 
not be effective until the successor Trustee has been appointed and has accepted such appointment as 
provided in the Indenture and has been approved. Upon receiving such notice of resignation, the Issuer is 
required to promptly appoint a successor Trustee. 

Any removal or resignation of the Trustee and appointment of a successor Trustee will become 
effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee and the payment to the predecessor of 
its compensation and reasonable expenses due to it. Promptly upon such acceptance, the Issuer will give 
written notice thereof to the Owners in writing. If no successor Trustee has been appointed and has accepted 
appointment within 45 days of giving notice of removal or notice of resignation as aforesaid, the resigning 
Trustee or any bond owner (on behalf of himself and all other bond owners) may petition any court of 
competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee, and such court may thereupon, after such 
notice (if any) as it may deem proper, appoint such successor Trustee. 

Defeasance 

If the Issuer pays and discharges the entire indebtedness on all Bonds outstanding in any one or 
more of the following ways by: 

(i) paying or causing to be paid the principal amount or redemption price of and interest on 
the Bonds outstanding, as and when the same become due and payable; 

(ii) depositing, in trust, at or before maturity, money or securities in the necessary amount (as 
provided in the Indenture) to pay or redeem all Bonds outstanding; or 

(iii) delivering to the Trustee, for cancellation by it, all of the Bonds outstanding; 

and if the Issuer also pays or causes to be paid all other sums payable under the Indenture by the Issuer 
(including Trustee’s fees and expenses and other Program Expenses), then and in that case, at the election 
of the Issuer, and notwithstanding that any Bonds have not been surrendered for payment, the Indenture 
and the pledge of Revenues and other assets made under the Indenture and all covenants, agreements and 
other obligations of the Issuer under the Indenture will cease, terminate, become void and be completely 
discharged and satisfied. 

Upon the deposit with the Trustee, in trust, at or before maturity, of money or securities in the 
necessary amount (as provided in the Indenture) to pay or redeem any outstanding Bond (whether upon or 
prior to its maturity or the redemption date of such Bond), provided that, if such Bond is to be redeemed 
prior to maturity, notice of such redemption has been given as provided in the Indenture or provision 
satisfactory to the Trustee has been made for the giving of such notice, then all liability of the Issuer in 

186



 

 32 

respect of such Bond will cease, terminate and be completely discharged, and the Owner thereof will 
thereafter be entitled only to payment from such money or securities deposited with the Trustee for their 
payment, subject, however, to the provisions of the Indenture. 

THE LENDER AGREEMENTS 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Lender Agreements; the summary is 
qualified in its entirety by references to the Lender Agreements. 

Lender Qualifications 

Lenders must qualify to be participating Lenders under the Program and must be approved by the 
Issuer and the Servicer. Each Lender must execute a Lender Agreement with the Issuer. Each Lender must 
also execute a Loan Correspondent Purchase and Sale Agreement with the Servicer. 

Each Lender originating FHA Mortgage Loans, USDA-RHS Mortgage Loans or VA Mortgage 
Loans is required to be an FHA-approved, USDA-RHS-approved or VA-approved mortgagee, respectively.  

Covenants Relating to the Tax-Exempt Status of Bonds 

The Issuer and the Lenders have covenanted in the Lender Agreements not to knowingly take, 
permit, or fail to take any action if such action or inaction would impair the excludability of the interest on 
the Series 2024A Bonds from gross income for federal tax purposes pursuant to the Code. 

Origination and Closing of Mortgage Loans 

Each Lender agrees to use its best efforts to originate Mortgage Loans under the Program for sale 
to the Servicer. Each Lender will sell the Mortgage Loans to the Servicer at the applicable Mortgage Loan 
Sale Price. The Lenders will be notified of the availability of funds under the Program, and various Program 
terms, by a Notice of Availability of Funds provided by the Issuer to the Lenders. 

Mortgage Loan Terms 

All Mortgage Loans are to be originated in accordance with the loan origination, eligibility and 
credit underwriting standards in effect under the Program Documents, including the Lender Agreement, the 
Program Guidelines and the GNMA guidelines. In addition, each Mortgage Loan: (1) must be made to an 
Eligible Borrower to finance a Residence which is the principal residence of the Eligible Borrower; (2) must 
be evidenced by a Mortgage Note and secured by a Mortgage creating a first lien on such Residence, subject 
to permitted encumbrances; (3) must bear interest at the applicable rate, which interest will be payable in 
arrears and which includes amounts equal to the servicing fee; (4) must have a term of 30 years and must 
provide for level monthly payments and full amortization over the term thereof; (5) must provide for 
payments to be due on the first day of each month and for an initial principal payment not later than the 
first day of the second month following the Mortgage Loan closing date, and may include provision for a 
grace period not exceeding 15 days and late payment charges in amounts not in excess of the customary 
charges permitted by FHA, VA or USDA-RHS and GNMA, as applicable; (6) must be in a principal amount 
not exceeding such amount as conforms to the eligibility and credit underwriting standards specified in the 
Agreements and the limitations of FHA, VA, USDA-RHS and/or GNMA, as applicable, as of the date of 
Mortgage Loan closing; (7) must be the subject of FHA Insurance, a VA guaranty or a USDA-RHS 
guaranty; (8) must restrict the assumption of the Mortgage Loan as required under the Program Documents; 
(9) must be the subject of a title insurance policy or have a valid commitment therefor; (10) must be current 
in payments of principal, interest, taxes and insurance; (11) must relate to a Residence the Purchase Price 

187



 

 33 

of which is not in excess of the Maximum Purchase Price; (12) must comply in all respects with the GNMA 
guidelines and FHA, VA and USDA-RHS rules and regulations, as applicable, and all Program Documents; 
and (13) must be eligible for pooling into GNMA Certificates. 

Verification of Mortgage Eligibility Requirements 

The Issuer will act as compliance agent under the Program and will be responsible for approving 
the qualification of each Eligible Borrower under the applicable Program rules. In connection with the 
Issuer’s determination, the Lender must do the following: (1) obtain affidavits of the Mortgagor, the Seller 
and Lender in the forms prescribed by the Program Guidelines, evidencing compliance by the borrower 
with the eligibility requirements of the Program; (2) review the contents of the Mortgagor’s affidavit with 
the Mortgagor prior to the execution thereof; (3) obtain the Mortgagor’s federal tax returns to verify that 
the Mortgagor did not claim deductions on the residence; (4) perform such additional verification 
procedures as required under the Program Guidelines to enable the Issuer to verify that the borrower 
eligibility requirements of the Program are satisfied as of the date of execution of the Mortgage Loan; and 
(5) review the draft settlement statement to assure that all fees and charges and settlement and financing 
costs comply with the requirements of the Program Documents. 

Approval and Purchase  

Any Mortgage Loan with respect to which the related Mortgage Loan file is deemed to be defective, 
or any Mortgage Loan which is otherwise not acceptable for purchase in accordance with the terms of the 
Program Documents, may be returned to the Lender to be cured, if possible, or may be held by the Servicer 
pending correction of such defect. The Servicer is only required to purchase non-defective Mortgage Loans. 
The purchase of an approved Mortgage Loan by the Servicer from the Lender will take place on a Mortgage 
Loan purchase date designated by the Servicer and at the applicable Mortgage Loan sales price. 

Fees and Charges at Mortgage Loan Closing 

At the Mortgage Loan closing, a Lender may collect from the Eligible Borrower or Seller on behalf 
of Eligible Borrower a 1% origination fee, and retain all reasonable and customary closing charges, 
including insurance premiums and warehouse fees, to the extent that such charges are permitted by law and 
do not exceed the reasonable and customary amounts charged by the Lender for mortgage loans not funded 
from the proceeds of tax-exempt bonds. Any amounts collected prior to the Mortgage Loan closing will be 
credited to the proper party at such closing. 

Defects  

Each Lender agrees to repurchase any defective Mortgage Loan from the Servicer in accordance 
with the provisions of the Loan Correspondent Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Lender Agreement and 
any other applicable Program Document. Additionally, each Lender agrees to reimburse the Issuer the down 
payment and closing cost assistance provided for each such defective Mortgage Loan in accordance with 
the terms of the Lender Agreement. 

THE SERVICING AGREEMENT 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Servicer Agreement; the summary is 
qualified in its entirety by references to the Servicer Agreement. 

188



 

 34 

Covenants Relating to the Tax-Exempt Status of the Series 2024A Bonds 

The Issuer and the Servicer have covenanted in the Servicing Agreement not to knowingly take, 
permit, or fail to take any action if such action or inaction would impair the excludability of the interest on 
the Series 2024A Bonds from gross income for federal tax purposes pursuant to the Code. 

Servicing Duties 

See “The Program—Servicing” for a summary of certain of the servicing duties of the Servicer 
under the Program. 

The Servicer will service all Mortgage Loans purchased from Lenders and will have the authority 
to do all things in connection with such servicing which it deems necessary or desirable. The Lender 
Agreements require the Lenders to sell the Mortgage Loans to the Servicer on a servicing-released basis. 
The Servicer will pay a servicing release amount to the Issuer in the amount set forth in the Servicing 
Agreement. Additional servicing compensation in the form of late payment charges or otherwise may be 
received by the Servicer to the extent permitted by law and not contrary to the terms of the Servicing 
Agreement. 

The Servicer is required to pay all expenses incurred by it in connection with its servicing activities 
under the Servicing Agreement (including maintenance of an errors and omissions insurance policy and 
fidelity bond) and is not entitled to reimbursement, except as specifically provided in the Servicing 
Agreement. 

The Servicer is required to service Mortgage Loans in accordance with the servicing standards as 
set forth in the Servicing Agreement and the loan servicing requirements of GNMA and FHA, VA or 
USDA-RHS, as applicable. 

Review of Mortgage Loans 

The Issuer is responsible for the review of each Mortgage Loan to determine compliance with the 
Program requirements under the Act and the Code. In performing such review, the Issuer is required to use 
reasonable efforts to satisfy itself that the mortgagor, mortgage loan and residence eligibility requirements 
of the Program (including the requirements of the Code) are met with respect to each Mortgage Loan, and 
that the Lender originating such Mortgage Loan has complied with the verification requirements of the 
Lender Agreement and the Program Guidelines. 

The Servicer is responsible for establishing compliance of the Lender and the Mortgage Loan with 
the terms of the Loan Correspondent Purchase and Sale Agreement. 

Compensation of Servicer 

As compensation for the performance of its servicing duties under the Agreements, the Servicer is 
entitled to receive a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 0.44% of the outstanding principal amount of each 
Mortgage Loan serviced which backs a GNMA Certificate. 

Assumption Agreements 

The Servicer will not permit the assumption of any Mortgage Loan unless an assumption agreement 
is entered into by the assuming Mortgagor which provides for the assumption of the indebtedness by such 
person. Assumptions also are not permitted unless the assuming Mortgagor qualifies as an Eligible 

189



 

 35 

Borrower under the Lender Agreement and the Program Guidelines, and the Mortgage Loan remains 
insured or guaranteed under all applicable insurance or guarantees. In such event, the Servicer may release 
the original Mortgagor from liability under the Mortgage and the Mortgage Note. The interest rate on the 
Mortgage Note may not be changed in connection with any assumption. 

TAX MATTERS – SERIES 2024A BONDS 

General 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under applicable law, subject to continuing compliance by the 
Issuer and others with certain covenants in the Agreements and the Indenture and related financing 
documents, and in reliance upon representations and conclusions in certificates, studies and reports of the 
Issuer and certain other participants in the financing, interest on the Series 2024A Bonds is not includable 
in gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purpose and is not a specific preference item 
for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals.  

In expressing its opinion with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds, Bond Counsel will rely on certain 
representations of the Issuer and others as to matters solely within the knowledge of such persons. No 
independent investigation will be made by Bond Counsel with respect to certain of those matters. 

For taxable years beginning after 2022, the Code imposes a minimum tax of fifteen percent (15%) 
of the adjusted financial statement income of certain large corporations, generally consisting of corporations 
(other than S corporations, regulated investment companies and real estate investment trusts) with more 
than $1 billion in average annual adjusted financial statement income, determined over a three year period. 
For this purpose, adjusted financial statement income generally consists of the net income or loss of the 
taxpayer set forth on the taxpayer’s applicable financial statement for the taxable year, subject to various 
adjustments, but is not reduced for interest earned on tax exempt obligations, such as the Series 2024A 
Bonds. Prospective purchasers that could be subject to this minimum tax should consult with their own tax 
advisors regarding the potential impact of owning the Series 2024A Bonds. 

Bond Counsel’s opinion with respect to the Series 2024A Bonds is not a guarantee of a result, but 
represents its legal judgment based upon its review of existing statutes, regulations, published rulings and 
court decisions and representations and covenants of the Issuer described above. No ruling has been sought 
from the Internal Revenue Service (the “Service”) with respect to the matters addressed in the opinion of 
Bond Counsel and such opinion is not binding on the Service. The Service has an ongoing program of 
auditing the tax-exempt status of the interest on tax-exempt obligations, which may include bonds such as 
the Series 2024A Bonds. If an audit of such Series 2024A Bonds is commenced, under current procedures 
the Service is likely to treat the Issuer as the “taxpayer,” and the owners of the Series 2024A Bonds would 
have no right to participate in the audit process. In responding to or defending an audit of the tax-exempt 
status of the interest on the Series 2024A Bonds, the Issuer may have different or conflicting interests from 
the owners of such Series 2024A Bonds. Public awareness of any future audit of the Series 2024A Bonds 
could adversely affect the value and liquidity of the Bonds during the pendency of the audit, regardless of 
its ultimate outcome. 

Ownership of the Series 2024A Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to 
certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United 
States, financial institutions, life insurance companies, property and casualty insurance companies, S 
corporations with subchapter C earnings and profits, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad 
Retirement benefits, owners of an interest in a financial asset securitization investment trust, individuals 
otherwise qualifying for the earned income credit, corporations subject to the alternative minimum tax on 
adjusted financial statement income and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred (or continued) 

190



 

 36 

indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt 
obligations. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2024A Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the 
applicability of any such collateral consequences. 

Existing law may change to reduce or eliminate the benefit to bondholders of the exclusion of 
interest on the Series 2024A Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Any proposed 
legislation or administrative action, whether or not taken, could also affect the value and marketability of 
the Series 2024A Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the 2024A Bonds should consult with their own tax 
advisors with respect to any proposed or future changes in tax law. 

Sections 143 and 146 through 150 of the Code and applicable regulations provide that the interest 
on an issue of bonds (such as the Series 2024A Bonds), the proceeds of which are used to provide mortgages 
on owner-occupied residences, is not includable in gross income of the owners thereof for federal income 
tax purposes pursuant to section 103(a) of the Code if such bonds are “qualified mortgage bonds,” and, 
among other requirements, are issued in fully registered form. The term “qualified mortgage bonds” means 
bonds that are part of an issue that meet the requirements summarized below. The Series 2024A Bonds are 
intended to qualify as “qualified mortgage bonds.” 

Mortgage Eligibility Requirements 

Residence Requirements. All the residences for which financing is provided with the proceeds of 
an issue of qualified mortgage bonds must be located within the jurisdiction of the Issuer and must be single 
family residences which, at the time of execution or assumption of the respective mortgages, can reasonably 
be expected to become the principal residences of the respective mortgagors within a reasonable time after 
the financing is provided. 

Prior Homeownership Limitations. At least 95% of the net proceeds of an issue of qualified 
mortgage bonds must be for mortgagors who did not have a present ownership interest in a principal 
residence at any time during the three-year period ending on the date of execution of the mortgage. 
However, this limitation does not apply to loans for “targeted area” residences and loans to Qualified 
Veterans. 

Purchase Price Requirements. Each residence for which financing is provided with the proceeds 
of an issue of qualified mortgage bonds must have an acquisition cost not exceeding 90% of the average 
area purchase price. However, in the case of a targeted area residence, the acquisition cannot exceed 110% 
of the average area purchase price. The applicable regulations permit an issuer to rely upon average area 
purchase price limitations published by the Internal Revenue Service as safe harbor limitations or to utilize 
other limitations if the issuer has more accurate and comprehensive data than the safe harbor limitations. 

The Maximum Purchase Price limits are set forth in the Program Guidelines and are based on limits 
set forth in revenue procedures published from time to time by the Internal Revenue Service, and other 
sources. 

Income Limitations. Under applicable federal tax law, the maximum family income of the persons 
who are provided financing under an issuance of qualified mortgage bonds cannot exceed 100% (for 
families of 2 or less) or 115% (for families of 3 or more) of the greater of the state or local median family 
income. In the case of any financing provided for targeted area residences in qualified census tracts or areas 
of chronic economic distress, the maximum family income is unlimited for one-third of the mortgage loans, 
and the limit for the remaining two-thirds is 120% (for families of 2 or less) or 140% (for families of 3 or 
more) of the applicable median family income. The maximum family income limits are set forth in the 

191



 

 37 

Agreements. Under the Program, Eligible Borrower’s annual family income cannot exceed 80% of the 
greater of the state or local median family income. 

New Mortgage Requirement. No part of the proceeds of an issue of qualified mortgage bonds may 
be used to acquire or replace an existing mortgage. All the lendable proceeds of an issue must be used to 
provide new mortgages to persons who did not have an existing mortgage (whether or not paid off) on the 
residence at any time prior to the execution of the new mortgage. An exception from the new mortgage 
requirement is provided for the replacement of construction period loans, bridge loans and other similar 
temporary initial financing having a term not exceeding 24 months or for qualified subprime loans. 

Assumption Requirements. In the event of the assumption of a mortgage financed with the proceeds 
of a qualified mortgage bond issue, the residence requirements, prior homeownership limitation, purchase 
price requirements and income limitations must be satisfied at the time of the assumption as if the loan were 
being made for the first time. 

Volume Cap Limitations. Section 146 of the Code provides that the aggregate amount of “private 
activity bonds,” including qualified mortgage bonds, issued by an issuer during the calendar year may not 
exceed the allocated portion of the State’s volume cap. The Issuer has obtained allocation of volume cap 
from the Texas Bond Review Board in an amount sufficient to permit the issuance of the Bonds as qualified 
mortgage bonds. 

Targeted Area Requirements. An amount equal to at least 20% of the Series 2024A Bond proceeds 
must be made available for owner financing in Targeted Areas for at least one year from the time such 
owner financing is first made available for Targeted Area loans.  

Arbitrage Requirements 

An issue of qualified mortgage bond (such as the Series 2024A Bonds) must satisfy the arbitrage 
requirements of sections 143 and 148 of the Code. In part, such requirements are as follows: (i) the effective 
rate of interest on mortgages provided with proceeds of qualified mortgage bonds may not exceed the yield 
on such bonds by more than 1.125% and, in calculating the effective interest rate on the mortgages, there 
must be taken into account all amounts borne by the mortgagor either directly or indirectly and (ii) arbitrage 
earned on nonmortgage investments must be paid to the United States. 

Compliance with Tax Requirements 

Section 143 of the Code and the applicable regulations provide that, with respect to each issue of 
qualified mortgage bonds, the targeted area requirements and clause (i) of the arbitrage requirements 
discussed above are met if the issuer attempts in good faith to meet such requirements by taking all 
reasonable steps to assure compliance and if any failure to meet such requirements is due to inadvertent 
error. With respect to the mortgage eligibility requirements, section 143 of the Code and the applicable 
regulations provide that such requirements are met, with respect to each issue of qualified mortgage bonds, 
if (i) the issuer attempts in good faith to meet such requirements before the mortgages are originated 
including establishing reasonable procedures and conducting reasonable investigations, (ii) at least 95% of 
the proceeds of the issue used for mortgages are used for mortgages which meet all of the mortgage 
eligibility requirements at the time of execution or assumption, and (iii) any failure to meet such 
requirements is corrected within a reasonable period of time after such failure is discovered or should have 
been discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence. Consequently, a failure to satisfy the 
mortgage eligibility requirements at any time during the term of each issue of tax-exempt bonds could result 
in the interest on such bonds being includable in gross income for federal tax purposes retroactively to the 
date of issuance (as determined for federal tax purposes). 

192



 

 38 

Certain procedures and safeguards have been incorporated into the Agreements and the Indenture 
to ensure compliance with the requirements of section 143 of the Code with respect to the Series 2024A 
Bonds. Furthermore, the Issuer, the Servicer, each Lender and the Trustee have each covenanted in the 
Agreements to follow such procedures toward compliance with such requirements. The Issuer and the 
Trustee have also made certain representations and covenants relevant to the tax status of interest on the 
Series 2024A Bonds in the Indenture and the Agreements.  

Subject to the condition that the parties continuously comply with the above-referenced covenants 
and in reliance upon certain representations of the Issuer and others in certain certificates and any required 
verification report, Bond Counsel will provide its opinion to the effect that, under applicable law, interest 
on the Bonds will not be includable in gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income 
taxation, and that interest on such Series 2024A Bonds will not be a specific preference item for purposes 
of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. Failure to comply with certain of such 
covenants and representations could cause interest on the Series 2024A Bonds to become includable in 
gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of the Series 2024A 
Bonds. 

Tax Accounting Treatment of Premium and Discount on Certain Series 2024A Bonds 

The initial public offering price of certain Series 2024A Bonds, which include the Premium Term 
Bonds and the Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds (collectively the “Series 2024A Premium Bonds”), may 
be greater than the amount payable on such Series 2024A Premium Bonds at maturity. An amount equal to 
the difference between the initial public offering price of Series 2024A Premium Bonds (assuming that a 
substantial amount of the Series 2024A Premium Bonds of that maturity are sold to the public at such price) 
and the amount payable at maturity constitutes premium to the initial purchaser of such Series 2024A 
Premium Bonds. The basis for federal income tax purposes of a Series 2024A Premium Bond in the hands 
of such initial purchaser must be reduced each year by the amortizable bond premium, although no federal 
income tax deduction is allowed as a result of such reduction in basis for amortizable bond premium. Such 
reduction in basis will increase the amount of any gain (or decrease the amount of any loss) to be recognized 
for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or other taxable disposition of a Series 2024A Premium Bond. 
The amount of premium which is amortizable each year by an initial purchaser is determined by using such 
purchaser’s yield to maturity. 

Purchasers of the Series 2024A Premium Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with 
respect to the determination of amortizable bond premium on such Series 2024A Premium Bonds for federal 
income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of 
Series 2024B Premium Bonds. 

The initial public offering price of certain Series 2024A Bonds (the “Discount Series 2024A 
Bonds”) may be less than the amount payable on such Bonds at maturity. An amount equal to the difference 
between the initial public offering price of a Discount Series 2024A Bond (assuming that a substantial 
amount of the Discount Series 2024A Bonds of that maturity are sold to the public at such price) and the 
amount payable at maturity constitutes original issue discount to the initial purchaser of such Discount 
Series 2024A Bond. A portion of such original issue discount allocable to the holding period of such 
Discount Series 2024A Bond by the initial purchaser will, upon the disposition of such Discount Series 
2024A Bond (including by reason of its payment at maturity), be treated as interest excludable from gross 
income, rather than as taxable gain, for federal income tax purposes, on the same terms and conditions as 
those for other interest on the Series 2024A Bonds described above. Such interest is considered to be 
accrued actuarially in accordance with the constant interest method over the life of a Discount Series 2024A 
Bond, taking into account the semiannual compounding of accrued interest, at the yield to maturity on such 
Discount Series 2024A Bond and generally will be allocated to an initial purchaser in a different amount 

193



 

 39 

from the amount of the payment denominated as interest actually received by the initial purchaser during 
the tax year. 

However, such interest may be required to be taken into account in determining the amount of the 
branch profits tax applicable to certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, even 
though there will not be a corresponding cash payment. In addition, the accrual of such interest may result 
in certain other collateral federal income tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions, life 
insurance companies, property and casualty insurance companies, S corporations with subchapter C 
earnings and profits, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals 
otherwise qualifying for the earned income tax credit, owners of an interest in a financial asset securitization 
investment trust, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase 
or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations. Moreover, in 
the event of the redemption, sale or other taxable disposition of a Discount Series 2024A Bond by the initial 
owner prior to maturity, the amount realized by such owner in excess of the basis of such Discount Series 
2024A Bond in the hands of such owner (adjusted upward by the portion of the original issue discount 
allocable to the period for which such Discount Series 2024A Bond was held) is includable in gross income. 

Owners of Discount Series 2024A Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with respect 
to the determination of accrued original issue discount on Discount Series 2024A Bonds for federal income 
tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of Discount 
Series 2024A Bonds. It is possible that, under applicable provisions governing determination of state and 
local income taxes, accrued interest on Discount Series 2024A Bonds may be deemed to be received in the 
year of accrual even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment. 

TAX MATTERS – (TAXABLE) SERIES 2024B BONDS 

The following is a general summary of the United States federal income tax consequences of the 
purchase and ownership of the Series 2024B Bonds. The discussion is based upon laws, Treasury 
Regulations, rulings and decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change or possibly differing 
interpretations. No assurances can be given that future changes in the law will not alter the conclusions 
reached herein. The discussion below does not purport to deal with United States federal income tax 
consequences applicable to all categories of investors. Further, this summary does not discuss all aspects 
of United States federal income taxation that may be relevant to a particular investor in the Series 2024B 
Bonds in light of the investor’s particular personal investment circumstances or to certain types of investors 
subject to special treatment under United States federal income tax laws (including insurance companies, 
tax exempt organizations, financial institutions, brokers-dealers, and persons who have hedged the risk of 
owning the Series 2024B Bonds). The summary is therefore limited to certain issues relating to initial 
investors who will hold the Series 2024B Bonds as “capital assets” within the meaning of section 1221 of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and acquire such Series 2024B Bonds for 
investment and not as a dealer or for resale. Prospective investors should note that no rulings have been or 
will be sought from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) with respect to any of the U.S. federal income 
tax consequences discussed below, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not take contrary 
positions. 

INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS IN DETERMINING THE 
FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN AND ANY OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM 
FROM THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF THE SERIES 2024B BONDS. 

194



 

 40 

Payments of Stated Interest on the Series 2024B Bonds 

The stated interest paid on the Series 2024B Bonds will be included in the gross income, as defined 
in section 61 of the Code, of the beneficial owners thereof and be subject to U.S. federal income taxation 
when received or accrued, depending on the tax accounting method applicable to the beneficial owners 
thereof. 

Original Issue Discount of the Series 2024B Bonds 

If a substantial amount of the Series 2024B Bonds of any stated maturity is purchased at original 
issuance for a purchase price (the “Issue Price”) that is less than their stated redemption price at maturity 
by more than one quarter of one percent times the number of complete years to maturity, the Series 2024B 
Bonds of such maturity will be treated as being issued with “original issue discount.” The amount of the 
original issue discount will equal the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity of such Series 2024B 
Bonds over its Issue Price, and the amount of the original issue discount on the Series 2024B Bonds will 
be amortized over the life of the Series 2024B Bonds using the “constant yield method” provided in the 
Treasury Regulations. As the original issue discount accrues under the constant yield method, the beneficial 
owners of the Series 2024B Bonds, regardless of their regular method of accounting, will be required to 
include such accrued amount in their gross income as interest. This can result in taxable income to the 
beneficial owners of the Series 2024B Bonds that exceeds actual cash distributions to the beneficial owners 
in a taxable year. 

The amount of the original issue discount that accrues on the Series 2024B Bonds each taxable year 
will be reported annually to the IRS and to the beneficial owners. The portion of the original issue discount 
included in each beneficial owner’s gross income while the beneficial owner holds the Series 2024B Bonds 
will increase the adjusted tax basis of the Series 2024B Bonds in the hands of such beneficial owner. 

Premium on Series 2024B Bonds 

If a beneficial owner purchases a Series 2024B Bond for an amount that is greater than its stated 
redemption price at maturity, such beneficial owner will be considered to have purchased the Series 2024B 
Bond with “amortizable bond premium” equal in amount to such excess. A beneficial owner may elect to 
amortize such premium using a constant yield method over the remaining term of the Series 2024B Bond 
and may offset interest otherwise required to be included in respect of the Series 2024B Bond during any 
taxable year by the amortized amount of such excess for the taxable year. Series 2024B Bond premium on 
a Series 2024B Bond held by a beneficial owner that does not make such an election will decrease the 
amount of gain or increase the amount of loss otherwise recognized on the sale, exchange, redemption or 
retirement of a Series 2024B Bond. However, if the Series 2024B Bond may be optionally redeemed after 
the beneficial owner acquires it at a price in excess of its stated redemption price at maturity, special rules 
would apply under the Treasury Regulations which could result in a deferral of the amortization of some 
bond premium until later in the term of the Series 2024B Bond. Any election to amortize bond premium 
applies to all taxable debt instruments held by the beneficial owner on or after the first day of the first 
taxable year to which such election applies and may be revoked only with the consent of the IRS. 

Medicare Contribution Tax 

Pursuant to Section 1411 of the Code, as enacted by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation 
Act of 2010, an additional tax is imposed on individuals beginning January 1, 2013. The additional tax is 
3.8% of the lesser of (i) net investment income (defined as gross income from interest, dividends, net gain 
from disposition of property not used in a trade or business, and certain other listed items of gross income), 
or (ii) the excess of “modified adjusted gross income” of the individual over $200,000 for unmarried 

195



 

 41 

individuals ($250,000 for married couples filing a joint return and a surviving spouse). Holders of the Series 
2024B Bonds should consult with their tax advisor concerning this additional tax, as it may apply to interest 
earned on the Series 2024B Bonds as well as gain on the sale of a Series 2024B Bond. 

Disposition of Series 2024B Bonds and Market Discount 

A beneficial owner of Series 2024B Bonds will generally recognize gain or loss on the redemption, 
sale or exchange of a Series 2024B Bond equal to the difference between the redemption or sales price 
(exclusive of the amount paid for accrued interest) and the beneficial owner’s adjusted tax basis in the 
Series 2024B Bonds. Generally, the beneficial owner’s adjusted tax basis in the Series 2024B Bonds will 
be the beneficial owner’s initial cost, increased by the original issue discount previously included in the 
beneficial owner’s income to the date of disposition. Any gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss 
and will be long-term or short-term, depending on the beneficial owner’s holding period for the Series 
2024B Bonds. 

Under current law, a purchaser of a Series 2024B Bond who did not purchase the Series 2024B 
Bonds in the initial public offering (a “subsequent purchaser”) generally will be required, on the disposition 
of the Series 2024B Bonds, to recognize as ordinary income a portion of the gain, if any, to the extent of 
the accrued “market discount.” Market discount is the amount by which the price paid for the Series 2024B 
Bonds by a subsequent purchaser is less than the sum of Issue Price and the amount of original issue 
discount previously accrued on the Series 2024B Bonds. The Code also limits the deductibility of interest 
incurred by a subsequent purchaser on funds borrowed to acquire Series 2024B Bonds with market 
discount. As an alternative to the inclusion of market discount in income upon disposition, a subsequent 
purchaser may elect to include market discount in income currently as it accrues on all market discount 
instruments acquired by the subsequent purchaser in that taxable year or thereafter, in which case the 
interest deferral rule will not apply. The re-characterization of gain as ordinary income on a subsequent 
disposition of Series 2024B Bonds could have a material effect on the market value of the Series 2024B 
Bonds.  

Legal Defeasance 

If the Borrower elects to defease the Series 2024B Bonds by depositing in escrow sufficient cash 
and/or obligations to pay when due outstanding Series 2024B Bonds (a “legal defeasance”), under current 
tax law, a beneficial owner of Series 2024B Bonds may be deemed to have sold or exchanged its Series 
2024B Bonds. In the event of such a legal defeasance, a beneficial owner of Series 2024B Bonds generally 
would recognize gain or loss in the manner described above. Ownership of the Series 2024B Bonds after a 
deemed sale or exchange as a result of a legal defeasance may have tax consequences different from those 
described above, and each beneficial owner should consult its own tax advisor regarding the consequences 
to such beneficial owner of a legal defeasance of the Series 2024B Bonds. 

Backup Withholding 

Under section 3406 of the Code, a beneficial owner of the Series 2024B Bonds who is a United 
States person, as defined in section 7701(a)(30) of the Code, may, under certain circumstances, be subject 
to “backup withholding” on payments of current or accrued interest on the Series 2024B Bonds. This 
withholding applies if such beneficial owner of Series 2024B Bonds: (i) fails to furnish to payor such 
beneficial owner’s social security number or other taxpayer identification number (“TIN”); (ii) furnishes 
the payor an incorrect TIN; (iii) fails to report properly interest, dividends, or other “reportable payments” 
as defined in the Code; or (iv) under certain circumstances, fails to provide the payor with a certified 
statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that the TIN provided to the payor is correct and that such 
beneficial owner is not subject to backup withholding. 

196



 

 42 

Backup withholding will not apply, however, with respect to payments made to certain beneficial 
owners of the Series 2024B Bonds. Beneficial owners of the Series 2024B Bonds should consult their own 
tax advisors regarding their qualification for exemption from backup withholding and the procedures for 
obtaining such exemption. 

Withholding on Payments to Nonresident Alien Individuals and Foreign Corporations  

Under sections 1441 and 1442 of the Code, nonresident alien individuals and foreign corporations 
are generally subject to withholding at the rate of 30% on periodic income items arising from sources within 
the United States, provided such income is not effectively connected with the conduct of a United States 
trade or business. Assuming the interest received by the beneficial owners of the Series 2024B Bonds is not 
treated as effectively connected income within the meaning of section 864 of the Code, such interest will 
be subject to 30% withholding, or any lower rate specified in an income tax treaty, unless such income is 
treated as portfolio interest. Interest will be treated as portfolio interest if: (i) the beneficial owner provides 
a statement to the payor certifying, under penalties of perjury, that such beneficial owner is not a United 
States person and providing the name and address of such beneficial owner; (ii) such interest is treated as 
not effectively connected with the beneficial owner’s United States trade or business; (iii) interest payments 
are not made to a person within a foreign country which the IRS has included on a list of countries having 
provisions inadequate to prevent United States tax evasion; (iv) interest payable with respect to the Series 
2024B Bonds is not deemed contingent interest within the meaning of the portfolio debt provision; (v) such 
beneficial owner is not a controlled foreign corporation, within the meaning of section 957 of the Code; 
and (vi) such beneficial owner is not a bank receiving interest on the Series 2024B Bonds pursuant to a loan 
agreement entered into in the ordinary course of the bank’s trade or business. 

Assuming payments on the Series 2024B Bonds are treated as portfolio interest within the meaning 
of sections 871 and 881 of the Code, then no backup withholding under section 1441 and 1442 of the Code 
and no backup withholding under section 3406 of the Code is required with respect to beneficial owners or 
intermediaries who have furnished Form W-8 BEN, Form W-8 EXP or Form W-8 IMY, as applicable, 
provided the payor does not have actual knowledge that such person is a United States person. 

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code impose a 30% withholding tax on certain types of 
payments made to a foreign or U.S.-owned entities, annually report certain information about such 
accounts, and withhold 30% on payments to account holders whose actions prevent it from complying with 
these and other reporting requirements, or unless the foreign financial institution is otherwise exempt from 
those requirements. In addition, the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”) imposes a 30% 
withholding tax on the same types of payments to a non-financial foreign entity unless the entity certifies 
that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or the entity furnishes identifying information regarding 
each substantial United States owner. Failure to comply with the additional certification, information 
reporting and other specified requirements imposed under FATCA could result in the 30% withholding tax 
being imposed on payments of interest and principal under the Series 2024B Bonds and sales proceeds of 
Series 2024B Bonds held by or through a foreign entity. Prospective investors should consult their own tax 
advisors regarding FATCA and its effect on them. 

Reporting of Interest Payments 

Subject to certain exceptions, interest payments made to beneficial owners with respect to the Series 
2024B Bonds will be reported to the IRS. Such information will be filed each year with the IRS on Form 
1099 which will reflect the name, address, and TIN of the beneficial owner. A copy of Form 1099 will be 
sent to each beneficial owner of a Series 2024B Bond for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

197



 

 43 

THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

Definitions 

“Annual Bond Disclosure Report” means any Annual Bond Disclosure Report provided by the 
Issuer pursuant to, and as described in, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

“Dissemination Agent” means the Trustee, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in 
writing by the Issuer and which has filed with the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation. 

“Financial Obligation” means a (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument entered into in 
connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; 
or (c) guarantee of (a) or (b) in this definition; provided, however, the term “Financial Obligation” shall not 
include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent 
with the Rule. 

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed below under “Reporting of Significant Events.” 

“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any “participating underwriter” within the meaning of the 
Rule required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

Provision of Annual Bond Disclosure  

The Issuer shall cause the Dissemination Agent to provide, not later than six months after the end 
of the Issuer’s fiscal year (which currently ends August 31), commencing with the report for the fiscal year 
ending August 31, 2024, to the MSRB (in the electronic format prescribed by the MSRB) an Annual Bond 
Disclosure Report which is consistent with the requirements of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

If the Trustee is able to verify that an Annual Bond Disclosure Report has not been provided to the 
MSRB by the date specified in the preceding paragraph, the Trustee shall promptly send a notice to the 
MSRB stating that such Annual Bond Disclosure Report has not been timely completed and, if known, 
stating the date by which the Trustee anticipates such Annual Bond Disclosure Report will be filed. 

Content of Annual Bond Disclosure Reports 

Each Annual Bond Disclosure Report of the Issuer shall contain or incorporate by reference the 
following: 

1. If prepared, the audited financial statements for the Issuer for the most recently ended fiscal 
year, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable from time to time to 
the Issuer. 

2. Tables setting forth the following information, as of the end of such fiscal year: 

a. For each maturity of the Bonds, the maturity date, the interest rate, the original 
aggregate principal amount and the principal amount remaining outstanding. 

198



 

 44 

b. During the Certificate Purchase Period, the total principal amount of GNMA 
Certificates to be purchased and the total principal amount of GNMA Certificates 
purchased by the Trustee. This information will not be provided after the 
Certificate Purchase Period is completed. 

c. The amounts in the funds and account securing the Bonds and a description of the 
related investments. 

d. The aggregate principal amount of GNMA Certificates purchased, the aggregate 
principal balance of GNMA Certificates remaining outstanding, and the aggregate 
principal balance of GNMA Certificates at each pass through rate remaining 
outstanding. 

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, 
including disclosure documents of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities, which have been 
submitted to the MSRB or the Securities and Exchange Commission. If the document included by reference, 
it must be in a document available to the public on the MSRB internet website or filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission. The Issuer shall clearly identify each such other document so included by 
reference. 

Reporting of Significant Events 

Any of the following events shall be considered a Listed Event with respect to the Bonds: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the IRS of proposed or final determinations of 
taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or 
determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other material events affecting 
the tax status of the Bonds; 

7. Modifications to rights of bondholders, if material; 

8. Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

9. Defeasances; 

10. Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material; 

11. Rating changes; 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer; 

199



 

 45 

(For the purposes of the event identified in paragraph 12 of this section, the event is 
considered to occur when any of the following occur: The appointment of a receiver, fiscal 
agent or similar officer for the Issuer in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or 
in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental 
authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the 
Issuer, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and 
officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or 
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, 
arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or 
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Issuer.) 

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the Issuer, or the sale of 
all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the ordinary course of 
business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such action or the termination 
of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if 
material; 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee under the Indenture or the change of name 
of a trustee, if material; 

15. Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, if material, or agreement to covenants, 
events of default, remedies, priority rights or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation 
of the obligated person, any of which affect bondholders, if material; and 

16. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar 
events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Issuer, any of which reflect financial 
difficulties. 

Whenever the Issuer obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, it shall promptly notify 
the Trustee in writing and shall timely file (not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of such 
event) a notice of such occurrence with the MSRB. 

Termination of Reporting Obligation 

The Issuer’s obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the 
defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. 

Dissemination Agent 

The Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying 
out its obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge any such Agent, with 
or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. The initial Dissemination Agent shall be the 
Trustee. 

Amendment; Waiver 

The Issuer and the Trustee may amend the Continuing Disclosure Agreement (and the Trustee shall 
not unreasonably withhold its consent to any amendment requested by the Issuer), and any provision of the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement may be waived, but only upon satisfaction of the applicable provisions 
of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

200



 

 46 

Additional Information 

Nothing in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Issuer from 
disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any 
Annual Bond Disclosure Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is 
required by the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. If the Issuer chooses to include any information in any 
Annual Bond Disclosure Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is 
specifically required by the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer shall have no obligation under 
the Continuing Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual Bond 
Disclosure Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

Default 

In the event of a failure of the Issuer or the Trustee to comply with any provision of the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee may (and, at the request of any Participating Underwriter or the holders 
of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of outstanding Bonds, shall, upon being indemnified as provided 
in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement), or any Owner or beneficial owner may, take such actions as may 
be necessary and appropriate to cause the Issuer or Trustee, as the case may be, to comply with its 
obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. A default under the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the Issuer or the Trustee to comply with the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel performance. 

Beneficiaries 

The Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the Issuer, the Trustee, 
the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and Owners or beneficial owners from time to 
time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES 
SHALL THE ISSUER, THE TRUSTEE, OR THE DISSEMINATION AGENT BE LIABLE TO A 
BONDHOLDER OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY BOND OR ANY OTHER PERSON, IN 
CONTRACT OR IN TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM ANY 
BREACH BY THE ISSUER, THE TRUSTEE, OR THE DISSEMINATION AGENT, RESPECTIVELY 
UNDER THE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT 
FAULT ON ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS AGREEMENT. EVERY RIGHT 
AND REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF 
ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR “MANDAMUS” OR SPECIFIC 
PERFORMANCE. THE TRUSTEE IS UNDER NO OBLIGATION NOR IS IT REQUIRED TO BRING 
SUCH AN ACTION. 

Past Compliance 

[During the past five years the Issuer did not make timely filings on EMMA of two bond upgrade 
notice from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (the “Rating Agency”) dated May 4, 2021 related to the 
Issuer’s Series 2011A and Series 2013A single family bond issues and the Issuer’s Series 2011B single 
family bond issue. On January 4, 2023, the Issuer filed notice of such upgrades on the currently outstanding 
bonds. Additionally, the Dissemination Agent did not always make timely filings on EMMA of bond calls 
resulting from mortgage loan prepayments.] [NTD: UPDATE IF NEEDED] 

201



 

 47 

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

Under the authority of the Act, the Bonds are legal and authorized investments for any banks, 
savings banks, trust companies, building and loan associations, insurance companies, fiduciaries, trustees 
and guardians and sinking funds of cities, towns, villages, counties, school districts and other political 
corporations or subdivisions of the State of Texas. The Bonds are also declared eligible under the terms of 
the Act to secure the deposit of any and all public funds of the State of Texas and any and all public funds 
of cities, towns, villages, counties, school districts and other political corporations or subdivisions of the 
State of Texas, and are deemed to be lawful and sufficient security for such deposits at their face value. The 
Issuer has not made any investigation of any other rules, regulations or laws which may affect eligibility of 
the Bonds for investment or to secure the deposit of public funds. 

NO LITIGATION 

There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any 
court, public board or body, pending or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, threatened against the Issuer, which 
affects the existence of the Issuer or its governing body or the titles of its officers to their respective offices 
or seeks to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the sale of the Bonds, or the revenues or assets pledged to the payment 
of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, or the pledge thereof, or in any 
way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the Indenture, the Agreements or 
the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

All legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds by the Issuer 
are subject to the approving opinion of the Attorney General of the State of Texas and the approval of 
certain legal matters by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel. The form of the approving opinion 
of Bond Counsel is set forth in Appendix C hereto. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Issuer 
by Ballard Spahr LLP, Disclosure Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter 
by its counsel, Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

CSG Advisors (the “Financial Advisor”) is employed by the Issuer as an independent financial 
advisor in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. The Financial Advisor’s fee for services rendered 
with respect to the sale of the Bonds is contingent upon the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. CSG 
Advisors, in its capacity as Financial Advisor, has not verified and does not assume any responsibility for 
the information, covenants and representations contained in any of the legal documents with respect to the 
federal, state or local tax status of the Bonds, or the possible impact of any present, pending or future actions 
taken by any legislative or judicial bodies or rating agencies. 

CSG Advisors has provided the following for inclusion in this Official Statement: CSG Advisors 
has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities 
to the Issuer with respect to the issuance of the Bonds, but it does not guarantee the accuracy or 
completeness of such information. CSG Advisors did not participate in the underwriting of the Bonds. The 
participation of CSG Advisors should not be seen as a recommendation to buy or sell the Bonds, and 
investors should seek the advice of their accountants, lawyers and registered representatives as appropriate. 
Fees payable to the Financial Advisor are contingent upon the issuance of the Bonds. 

202



 

 48 

UNDERWRITING 

Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the “Underwriter”) has agreed to purchase from the Issuer all 
the Bonds at a total purchase price equal to the sum of the products of the principal amount of each maturity 
times the related offering price set forth on the inside cover page hereof. The Issuer has agreed to pay the 
Underwriter $[______] for its fees and expenses relating to the Bonds (including the fees and expenses of 
its counsel). The Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers and others at prices lower than the initial 
public offering price, and such initial offering price may be changed from time to time. 

The Underwriter and its affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities, 
which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment 
management, principal management, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. The Underwriter and its 
affiliates, from time to time, may have performed, and may in the future perform, various investment 
banking services for the Issuer, for which they received or will receive customary fees and expenses. In the 
ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriter and its affiliates may make or hold a 
broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) 
and financial instruments (which may include bank loans and/or credit default swaps) for their own account 
and for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold long and short positions in such securities 
and instruments. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and instruments of the 
Issuer. 

RATING 

It is a condition to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds that the Bonds have been assigned a 
rating of “Aa1” by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (the “Rating Agency”). No application has or will be 
made to any other rating agency for a rating on the Bonds. The assigned rating reflects only the views of 
the Rating Agency at the time such rating is given, and the Issuer makes no representation as to the 
appropriateness of such rating. An explanation of the significance of a rating may be obtained from the 
Rating Agency. 

The Issuer has provided the Rating Agency information and materials relating to the Bonds, 
including information and materials that have not been included in this Official Statement. Generally, a 
rating agency bases its rating on such information and materials and on investigations, studies and 
assumptions by such rating agency. There is no assurance that the rating initially assigned to the Bonds will 
continue for any period of time or that such rating will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by 
the Rating Agency, if in its sole judgment, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or 
withdrawal of the rating can be expected to have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

  

203



 

 49 

MISCELLANEOUS 

This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds and 
may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. This Official Statement is not to 
be construed as a contract with the purchaser or the Owner of any Bond. Any statements herein involving 
matters of opinion or estimates, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as such and not as 
representations of fact. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 
 
 
 
By:    

President 

204



 

 A-1 

APPENDIX A 

DEFINITIONS 

Certain capitalized terms used in this Official Statement and not otherwise defined under 
“Introduction” or elsewhere herein are set forth below. In some cases such definitions represent a 
condensed or otherwise modified form of the definition set forth in the Indenture or the Agreements. 
Reference is made to the Indenture and the Agreements for the complete definitions of such terms and for 
other capitalized terms that are not defined in this Official Statement. 

“Act” means Subchapter Y of Chapter 2306, Texas Government Code, as amended. 

“Agreements” means the Servicing Agreement and the Lender Agreements. 

 “Bond Counsel” means Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, or such other legal counsel selected by 
the Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee, of recognized standing on the subject of municipal bonds and 
federal arbitrage regulations, and whose legal opinions on such bonds are acceptable in national bond 
markets. 

“Bond Year” means each one-year period that ends at the close of business on the day selected by 
the Issuer. The first and last Bond Years may be short periods. If no day is selected by the Issuer before the 
earlier of the date the last Bond is discharged or the date that is five years after the Issuance Date, the Bond 
Year will end on the day before each anniversary of the Issuance Date and on the date the last Bond is 
discharged. 

“Bonds” means collectively the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation Single Family 
Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT) and Series 2024B (Taxable). 

“Business Day” means any day other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) a day on which banking 
institutions are closed in New York, New York, or in the state in which either the Principal Office or the 
Operations Office of the Trustee is located, or (iii) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed. 

“Certificate” means a GNMA Certificate.  

“Certificate Purchase Period” means the period from the Issuance Date through August 23, 2024*, 
during which the Servicer or the Corporation can sell Certificates to the Trustee at the Certificate Sale Price; 
provided that the last date of such period may be extended in connection with an extension of the 
Nonorigination Redemption Date. 

“Certificate Sale Date” means any date on which the Servicer or the Issuer sells a Certificate to the 
Trustee during the Certificate Purchase Period. 

“Certificate Sale Price” means [_____]% of the outstanding principal balance of the Mortgage 
Loans in the pool backing the applicable Certificate. No accrued interest shall be paid at the time of the 
purchase of a Certificate by the Trustee. The Certificate Sale Price may be increased or decreased based on 
the written instructions of the Issuer to the Trustee; provided that no increase in the Certificate Sale Price 
shall occur unless the Issuer has deposited in the Program Fund sufficient moneys to fund the increased 
Certificate Sale Price for all Certificates subject to such increased price.  

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

205



 

 A-2 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, together with the corresponding 
and applicable final, temporary or proposed regulations and revenue rulings issued or amended with respect 
thereto by the United States Treasury Department or the Internal Revenue Service, to the extent applicable 
to the Series 2024A Bonds. 

“Eligible Borrower” means a person or persons:  

(a) who resides in the State of Texas on the Mortgage Loan application date; 

(b) whose Family Income does not exceed the Maximum Family Income then in effect 
for such jurisdiction;  

(c) who intends to occupy the Residence to be financed with a Mortgage Loan as his 
or her principal residence within a reasonable period (not to exceed 60 days) following the closing 
of such Mortgage Loan;  

(d) who (except in the case of a person who is a qualified veteran or who is obtaining 
a Mortgage Loan in a Targeted Area) has not had a present ownership interest in a principal 
residence (except for the Residence being financed with the Mortgage Loan) at any time during the 
three year period ending on the loan closing date; and 

(e) who has not had an existing mortgage (including a deed of trust, conditional sales 
contract, pledge, agreement to hold title in escrow, or any other form of owner financing), whether 
or not paid off, on the Residence to be financed with such Mortgage Loan at any time prior to the 
execution of the Mortgage, other than an existing mortgage securing a construction period loan, 
construction bridge loan, or similar temporary initial construction financing initially incurred 
within 24 months of the Mortgage Loan closing date, having an original term not exceeding 24 
months, and not providing for scheduled payments of principal during such term. 

“Eligible Loan Area” means the State of Texas.  

“Event of Default” means any event of default as described above in “The Indenture—Defaults and 
Remedies; Rights of Bondholders” or otherwise specified in the Indenture. 

“Family Income” means, with respect to a person, the “gross monthly income,” multiplied by 
twelve, of such person and of any other person who is expected to live in the Residence being financed and 
is liable on the Mortgage, all as determined in accordance with such person’s Program affidavit relating to 
the Mortgage Loan. For purposes of this definition, “gross monthly income” includes the sum of monthly 
gross pay, any additional income from overtime, part time employment, bonuses, dividends, interest, 
royalties, pensions, VA compensation, and net rental income, etc. and other income (such as alimony, child 
support, public assistance, sick pay, social security benefits, unemployment compensation, income received 
from trusts, and income received from business activities or investments). 

“FHA Insurance” means insurance on mortgage loans presently issued by FHA under the National 
Housing Act of 1934, as amended, pursuant to one of the following FHA Insurance programs: 

(a) FHA Section 203(b), Home Unsubsidized; 

(b) FHA Section 203(b)(2), Veterans Status; 

(c) FHA Section 234(c), Condominium Ownership; 

206



 

 A-3 

(d) FHA Section 203(h), Disaster Victims; or 

(e) any other FHA insurance program acceptable to the Issuer and the Servicer. 

“First-Time Homebuyer” means a Mortgagor who has not had an ownership interest in a principal 
residence at any time during the three-year period prior to the closing of the related Mortgage Loan. 

“Fund” means any of the funds established pursuant to the Indenture.  

“GNMA” means the Government National Mortgage Association, a wholly-owned corporate 
instrumentality of the United States of America within the Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
whose powers are prescribed generally by Title III of the National Housing Act of 1934, as amended (12 
U.S.C. § 1716 et seq.), and any successor thereto.  

“GNMA Certificate” means a certificate (in either physical or book-entry form) purchased by the 
Trustee, issued by the Servicer and guaranteed by GNMA pursuant to GNMA’s GNMA II Mortgage-
Backed Securities program under Section 306(g) and other related provisions of the National Housing Act 
of 1934, as amended, and based on and backed by Mortgage Loans referred to in the GNMA Guaranty 
Agreement and shall unconditionally obligate the Servicer to remit monthly to J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., 
as Central Paying and Transfer Agent (“CPTA”) its pro rata share of (x) principal payments and 
prepayments made with respect to the pool of Mortgage Loans represented by the GNMA Certificate and 
(y) interest received in an amount equal to the principal balance of the GNMA Certificate multiplied by the 
applicable Pass-Through Rate. GNMA shall guarantee to the holder of each GNMA Certificate such 
holder’s pro rata share of (i) the timely payment of interest at the applicable Pass-Through Rate on the 
unpaid principal balance of the Mortgage Loans represented by the GNMA Certificate and (ii) the timely 
payment of principal in accordance with the terms of the principal amortization schedule applicable to the 
Mortgage Loans represented by such GNMA Certificate.  

 “Governmental Obligations” means obligations of, or obligations guaranteed as to the full and 
timely payment of principal and interest by, the United States of America or any agency or instrumentality 
thereof when such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America. 

“Indenture” means the Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 2024, as originally executed between 
the Issuer and the Trustee, or as it may from time to time be supplemented, modified, or amended by any 
Supplemental Indenture.  

“Interest Payment Date” means each March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2024. 

“Investment Agreement” means a guaranteed investment contract or agreement (or similar 
arrangement), between the Trustee and the provider of such contract or agreement, which meets any 
applicable requirements of the Rating Agency and bears a rating that is sufficient to maintain a rating on 
the Bonds of “Aa1” or higher. 

“Investment Securities” means any of the following which at the time of investment are legal 
investments under the laws of the State of Texas for moneys held under the Indenture and then proposed to 
be invested:  

(a) Governmental Obligations; 

(b) Federal Housing Administration debentures which must not be redeemable prior 
to their stated maturity; 

207



 

 A-4 

(c) obligations of the Farm Credit System; 

(d) obligations of Federal Home Loan Banks; 

(e) certificates of deposit having a stated maturity of 90 days or fewer from the date 
of its issuance, that are issued by a state or national bank domiciled in the State of Texas (including 
those of the Trustee) or a savings and loan association domiciled in the State, provided that such 
certificate of deposit is fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or its successor 
and that such banking institution is rated not less than P-1 by the Rating Agency; 

(f) bankers’ acceptance which (i) have a stated maturity of 90 days or fewer from the 
date of its issuance, (ii) will be, in accordance with their terms, liquidated in full at maturity, (iii) are 
eligible collateral for borrowing from a Federal Reserve Bank, and (iv) are issued by a bank 
organized and existing under the laws of the United States or of any state, if the short-term 
obligations of the bank, or of a bank holding company of which the bank is the largest subsidiary, 
are rated not less than P-1 by the Rating Agency;  

(g) deposits which are fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(“FDIC”); provided that such deposits are with a banking institution rated not less than P-1 by the 
Rating Agency;  

(h) commercial paper which (i) has a stated maturity of 90 days or fewer from the date 
of its issuance and (ii) is rated not less than P-1 by the Rating Agency; 

(i) U.S. Treasury STRIPS, REFCORP STRIPS (stripped by the Federal Reserve Bank 
of New York), and any other U.S. Treasury stripped securities assessed or rated in the highest 
applicable rating category by the Rating Agency at the time of such purchase; 

(j) an Investment Agreement; 

(k) a money market fund of the Trustee or its affiliates that is rated by the Rating 
Agency in its highest rating category; and  

(l) any other investment which in the opinion of Bond Counsel is at the time permitted 
by then applicable law for the investment of the Issuer’s funds and to the extent such investments 
are rated by a Rating Agency in its highest rating category. 

“Issuer” means the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation, or its successor. 

“Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion” means an amount equal to the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion 
Percentage of each interest payment received by the Trustee with respect to each GNMA Certificate 
(including any amounts received as interest payments pursuant to the GNMA guaranty). Such amount is 
payable on the first Business Day of each calendar month, commencing May 1, 2024, based upon the 
payments received on the GNMA Certificates during the prior month. 

“Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion Percentage” means a percentage equal to [___]% divided by the 
Pass-Through Rate. The Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion Percentage applicable to the GNMA Certificates 
shall be equal to [____]% ([____]%/[____]%). The Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion Percentage may be 
increased or decreased pursuant to the written instructions of the Issuer to the Trustee; provided that any 
such increase or decrease shall correspond to the increase or decrease, respectively, of the Pass-Through 
Rate.  

208



 

 A-5 

“Lender” means a mortgage lending institution participating in the Program and executing a Lender 
Agreement. 

“Lender Agreement” means each Mortgage Origination Agreement between the Issuer and a 
Lender, as amended from time to time. 

“Loan Correspondent Purchase and Sale Agreement” means the agreement between the Servicer 
and each Lender setting forth the terms and conditions under which the Servicer will purchase a Mortgage 
Loan from a Lender and the duties, obligations, representations, warranties and covenants of the Lender to 
the Servicer. 

“Maximum Family Income” means the applicable maximum family income amount set forth in the 
Program Guidelines (meeting the requirements of the Code, the Act and any other Program requirement), 
subject to adjustment from time to time based on notice from the Issuer to the Lenders. In all cases the 
Maximum Family Income cannot exceed 80% of the greater of the state or local median family income. 

“Maximum Purchase Price” means the applicable maximum purchase price amount set forth in the 
Program Guidelines (meeting the requirements of the Code, the Act and any other Program requirement), 
subject to adjustment from time to time based on notice from the Issuer to the Lenders. 

“Mortgage” means the deed of trust, including any riders, securing a Mortgage Loan that creates a 
first lien on a Residence subject to permitted encumbrances, and that shall be in form acceptable to FHA, 
VA or USDA-RHS, as applicable. 

“Mortgage Loan” means a mortgage loan made to an Eligible Borrower evidenced by a Mortgage 
Note secured by a related Mortgage on a Residence located in the Eligible Loan Area, satisfying the terms 
of the Lender Agreement. 

“Mortgage Loan Rate” means the interest rate per annum with respect to each Mortgage Loan. The 
initial Mortgage Loan Rate for all Mortgage Loans[, except for the Mortgage Loans originated after 
October 24, 2023 and before the Issuance Date which bear interest at ___%,]  shall be 5.75%; provided that 
the Mortgage Loan Rate may be increased or decreased in conjunction with a permitted increase or 
decrease, respectively, of the Pass-Through Rate, but only if the percentage increase or decrease in the 
Mortgage Loan Rate is the same as the percentage increase or decrease in the Pass-Through Rate, 
respectively. 

“Mortgage Note” means the promissory note evidencing the obligation to repay a Mortgage Loan, 
that shall be in the form acceptable to FHA, VA or USDA-RHS, as applicable, depending on whether the 
Mortgage Note evidences an FHA-insured Mortgage Loan, a VA-guaranteed Mortgage Loan, or a USDA-
RHS-guaranteed Mortgage Loan, respectively, with such additions or modifications as may be required 
hereunder as approved by the Issuer and the Servicer and provided to Lenders by the Servicer. 

“Mortgagor” means any person who has a present ownership interest in the Residence and is the 
obligor(s) on a Mortgage Note, or a subsequent owner of a Residence who has assumed the Mortgage in 
accordance with the Agreements (but does not include a person who is liable on the Mortgage Note solely 
as a guarantor or co-signer, who does not have a present ownership interest in the Residence). 

“Nonorigination Redemption Date” means the redemption date set forth in the Indenture upon 
which Bonds may be redeemed from unexpended moneys in the Program Fund, or any extended date 
established pursuant to the conditions provided in the Indenture. 

209



 

 A-6 

“Notice of Availability of Funds” means a notice issued by the Issuer to the Lenders with respect 
to the availability of funds to originate Mortgage Loans under the Program and certain terms of the 
Mortgage Loans. 

“Outstanding,” when used as of any particular time with reference to the Bonds, means (subject to 
the provisions on disqualified Bonds in the Indenture) all of the Bonds theretofore, or thereupon being, 
authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under the Indenture except (1) the Bonds theretofore canceled 
by the Trustee or surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation; (2) the Bonds with respect to which all liability 
of the Issuer shall have been discharged in accordance with the Indenture, including the Bonds (or portions 
of the Bonds) referred to as disqualified bonds in the Indenture; and (3) the Bonds for the transfer or 
exchange of or in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated and 
delivered by the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture. 

“Outstanding Bond Amounts” means the amounts set forth in Appendix D as the 100% PSA 
Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds, the 400% PSA Outstanding Amount 
for all Series 2024A Bonds, the 100% PSA Outstanding Bond Amount for Series 2024B Premium PAC 
Bonds and the 400% PSA Outstanding Amount for all Series 2024B Bonds, as applicable. 

“Owner” means a registered owner of a Bond. 

“Pass-Through Rate” means the interest rate per annum with respect to each GNMA Certificate, 
which is equal to the Mortgage Loan Rate of the Mortgage Loans backing the GNMA Certificate less the 
related servicing and guaranty fees. The initial Pass-Through Rate for the GNMA Certificates[, except for 
the Pass-Through Rate associated with the Mortgage Loans originated after October 24, 2023 and before 
the Issuance Date which is __% per annum,]  shall be 5.25% per annum; provided that (i) the Pass-Through 
Rate may be increased upon written notice from the Issuer to the Trustee and the delivery of an opinion of 
Bond Counsel to the Trustee to the effect that such increase shall not adversely affect the exclusion of 
interest on the Series 2024A Bonds from gross income for federal tax purposes; and (ii) the Pass-Through 
Rate may be decreased upon written notice from the Issuer to the Trustee, except that if a corresponding 
reduction is not made to the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion, then the Issuer shall be required to provide 
written evidence to the Trustee from the Rating Agency that the rating on the Bonds will not be adversely 
affected as a result of such reduction of the Pass-Through Rate. 

“Premium PAC Bonds” means, collectively, the Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds and the 
Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds. 

“Premium Term Bonds” means the Series 2024A Bonds maturing March 1, 2044*, March 1, 2049*, 
and March 1, 2054*. 

“Prepayments” means principal payments in addition to regularly scheduled principal payments on 
the GNMA Certificates. 

“Principal Office” means (i) when used with respect to the Trustee, the corporate trust office of the 
Trustee at which the Indenture is administered, which at the date of this Indenture is located in Minneapolis, 
Minnesota, and (ii) if used with respect to any paying agent, the office of such paying agent as designated 
by written notice given by the Trustee to the Owners. 

“Program” means the Issuer’s program of purchasing mortgage-backed certificates backed by 
qualifying single family mortgage loans pursuant to the Act, the Indenture and the Agreements. 

210



 

 A-7 

“Program Documents” means the Indenture, the Servicing Agreement, the Lender Agreements, the 
Program Guidelines, the Loan Correspondent Purchase and Sale Agreement and all other documents 
relating to the Program. 

“Program Expenses” means the fees and expenses payable to the Trustee and the Rebate Analyst 
in the amounts set forth in the Indenture. 

“Program Guidelines” means the written guidelines for the Program established by the Issuer, 
which are subject to amendment from time to time. 

“Purchase Price” means the cost to a Mortgagor of acquiring a Residence from the Seller as a 
completed residential unit as set forth in the Lender Agreement. 

“Qualified Veteran” means a person who is a “veteran” (as defined in 38 U.S.C. Section 101) who 
has not previously obtained a loan financed by single family mortgage revenue bonds utilizing the veteran’s 
exception to the 3-year requirement set forth in Section 143(d)(2)(D) of the Code. 

“Rating Agency” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., its successors and assigns, or any other 
national rating agency which has assigned and is maintaining a credit rating on the Bonds. 

“Rebate Amount” means the amount required to be paid to the United States Government, as 
determined under Code Section 148 and Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-3. 

“Rebate Analyst” means initially BLX Group LLC, or its successors or assigns.  

“Record Date” means the close of business on the 25th day of the calendar month preceding each 
Interest Payment Date, whether or not such 25th day is a Business Day. 

“Residence” means real property and improvements permanently affixed thereon (but does not 
include property not constituting “fixtures” under State of Texas law) (i) that is located within the Eligible 
Loan Area; (ii) that consists of a single family detached or attached structure consisting of not more than 
four connected dwelling units intended for residential housing for one family or a single unit in a 
Condominium Development, Planned Unit Development, or de minimus PUD (as each term is defined in 
the Lender Agreement), a single unit in a duplex, triplex, or fourplex, or an entire duplex, triplex, or fourplex 
to be financed, provided that one of the units will be occupied by the Mortgagor and the Residence was 
first occupied for residential purposes at least five years prior to origination of the Mortgage Loan (however, 
this five year requirement does not apply to the extent described in the next sentence) or a single unit in a 
duplex (but not including a mobile home or any personal property); and (iii) the Purchase Price (as defined 
in the Lender Agreement) of which does not exceed the Maximum Purchase Price (as defined in the Lender 
Agreement); provided, however, that land appurtenant to a Residence shall be considered as part of such 
Residence only if such land reasonably maintains the basic liability of such Residence and does not provide, 
other than incidentally, a source of income to the Mortgagor. The requirement that a multiple unit building 
have first been occupied for residential purposes at least five years prior to the closing of the Mortgage 
Loan does not apply in the case of a two-family Residence that is a Residence located in a Targeted Area. 
No portion of a Residence shall consist of a health club facility, a facility primarily used for gambling, or a 
store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises. 

“Revenues” means all income, revenues, proceeds and other amounts received by the Trustee from 
or on behalf of the Issuer, including all amounts received in connection with the GNMA Certificates except 
the Issuer’s Excess Interest Portion, and any and all interest, profits or other income derived from the 

211



 

 A-8 

investment of amounts in any Fund (except the Program Expense Fund, the Cost of Issuance Fund, the 
Excess Interest Portion Fund and any Rebate Amount in any Fund). 

“Seller” means, with respect to a Mortgage Loan, the seller of the Residence being financed with 
such Mortgage Loan. 

“Serial Bonds” means the Series 2024A Bonds maturing on each Interest Payment Date from 
September 1, 2024* through March 1, 2036* and the Series 2024B Bonds maturing on each Interest Payment 
Date from September 1, 2024* through March 1, 2034* which are not subject to mandatory sinking fund 
redemption.  

“Series 2024A Premium PAC Bonds” means the Series 2024A Bonds maturing September 1, 
2054*. 

“Series 2024B Premium PAC Bonds” means the Series 2024B Bonds maturing September 1, 2054*. 

“Servicer” means Lakeview Loan Servicing, LLC, or any successor to its duties under the Servicing 
Agreement. 

“Servicing Agreement” means the Servicing and Sale Agreement (Relating to Bond-Financed 
Programs) dated as of February 1, 2019, between the Issuer and the Servicer, as amended from time to time.  

“Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture hereafter duly authorized under and in compliance 
with the Act and this Indenture, and entered into between the Issuer and the Trustee, which supplements, 
modifies, or amends this Indenture.  

“Targeted Area” means that part of the Eligible Loan Area that has been or may be designated from 
time to time as a qualified census tract or an area of chronic economic distress in accordance with 
Section 143(j) of the Code. The list of Targeted Areas for the Eligible Loan Area are set forth in the Program 
Guidelines. 

“Term Bonds” means, collectively, the Series 2024A Bonds and the Series 2024B Bonds subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption.  

“Trustee” means Computershare Trust Company, N.A., or any successor Trustee appointed or 
otherwise permitted under the Indenture. 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

212



 

 B-1 

APPENDIX B 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, acts as securities depository for the 
Bonds (for purposes of this section, the Bonds will be referred to as the “Securities”). The Securities will 
be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) 
or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered 
certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Securities and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under 
the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, 
a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York 
Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues 
of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments 
(from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also 
facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in 
deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct 
Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct 
Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust 
& Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing 
Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC 
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others 
such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing 
corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly 
or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules 
applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information 
about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Securities on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Security (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. 
Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the 
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through 
which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Securities 
are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of 
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in 
Securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Securities is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested 
by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the 
name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC 
has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Securities; DTC’s records reflect only the identity 
of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Securities are credited, which may or may not be the 
Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of 
their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

213



 

 B-2 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements 
as may be in effect from time to time. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC by the Trustee. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
Securities unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual 
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The 
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts the Securities are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus 
Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be made to Cede 
& Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice 
is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detailed 
information from the Issuer or the Trustee, on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings 
shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing 
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in 
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, 
DTC’s nominee, the Trustee, or the Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in 
effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & 
Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the 
responsibility of the Issuer or the Trustee; disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the 
responsibility of DTC; and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the 
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

A Beneficial Owner shall give notice to elect to have its Securities purchased or tendered, through 
its Participant, to the Tender Agent, and shall effect delivery of such Securities by causing the Direct 
Participant to transfer the Participant’s interest in the Securities, on DTC’s records, to the Tender Agent. 
The requirement for physical delivery of Securities in connection with an optional tender or a mandatory 
purchase will be deemed satisfied when the ownership rights in the Securities are transferred by Direct 
Participants on DTC’s records and followed by a book-entry credit of tendered Securities to the Tender 
Agent’s DTC account. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Securities 
at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event 
that a successor securities depository is not obtained, Security certificates are required to be printed and 
delivered. 

Portions of the foregoing information regarding the book-entry only system have been provided by 
DTC. Accordingly, neither the Issuer nor the Underwriters are making any representation concerning these 
matters and neither the DTC Participants nor the Beneficial Owners should rely on the foregoing 
information with respect to such matters, but should instead confirm the same with DTC or the DTC 
Participants, as the case may be. There can be no assurance that DTC or the DTC Participants will abide by 
the procedures described herein or that such procedures will not be changed from time to time. In the event 
a successor securities depository is designated, it may establish different procedures. 

214



 

 C-1-1 

APPENDIX C-1 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION FOR THE SERIES 2024A BONDS 

[Bond Closing Date]  

 

WE HAVE ACTED AS BOND COUNSEL for the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Issuer”) for the purpose of rendering our opinion with respect to the matters discussed herein in connection 
with the issuance of $_______* aggregate principal amount of the Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024A (Non-AMT) (the “Bonds”). We 
express no opinion and make no comment with respect to the sufficiency of the security for or the 
marketability of the Bonds. The Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the sources 
described therein. 

WE HAVE EXAMINED the Bonds and have also examined, and in expressing the opinions hereinafter 
described we rely upon, original or certified copies of the proceedings of the Board of Directors of the 
Issuer authorizing issuance of the Bonds; certificates of the Issuer relating to the expected use of proceeds 
of the Bonds and certain other funds of the Issuer and to other material facts within the sole knowledge of 
the Issuer and a Trust Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2024, between the Issuer and Computershare Trust 
Company, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”) (collectively, the “Bond Documents”); and such 
other documents and material and such matters of law as we deem relevant to the matters discussed below. 
In such examination, we have assumed the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the 
conformity to original copies of all documents submitted to us as certified copies, and the accuracy of the 
statements contained in such certificates. 

WE ARE OF THE OPINION, based upon such examination, that under applicable laws of the United 
States of America and of the State of Texas in force and effect on the date hereof, the Bonds have been duly 
authorized, executed, and delivered and constitute valid and legally binding limited obligations of the Issuer 
payable from the sources, and enforceable in accordance with the terms and conditions, described therein, 
except to the extent that the enforcement thereof may be limited by laws of general application relating to 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors 
or the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general principles of equity. 

IT IS FURTHER OUR OPINION THAT, assuming continuing compliance after the date hereof by the 
Issuer and the Trustee with the applicable provisions of the Bond Documents, and in reliance upon 
representations and certifications of the Issuer made in a certificate of even date herewith pertaining to the 
use, expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the Bonds, interest on the Bonds will be excludable 
from gross income, as defined in section 61 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), 
of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes pursuant to sections 103 and 143 of the Code and 
existing regulations, published rules and court decisions thereunder and will not be an item of tax preference 
for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax on individuals. 

WE EXPRESS NO OTHER OPINION with respect to the legal or beneficial ownership of the Bonds for 
federal income tax purposes or any other federal, state, or local tax consequences under present law or any 
proposed legislation resulting from the receipt or accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or disposition of 
the Bonds. Ownership of tax exempt obligations such as the Bonds may result in collateral federal tax 
consequences to, among others, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, life 
insurance companies, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, S corporations with 
subchapter C earnings and profits, owners of interest in a financial asset securitization investment trust, 

 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 

215



 

 C-1-2 

corporations subject to the alternative minimum tax on adjusted financial statement income, individual 
recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otherwise qualifying for the 
earned income tax credit, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to 
purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax exempt obligations. 

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinions are further 
based on our knowledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update or supplement our 
opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our attention or to reflect any 
changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective. Moreover, our opinions are not a 
guarantee of result and are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service; rather, such opinions represent our 
legal judgment based upon our review of existing law that we deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance 
upon the representations and covenants referenced above. 

216



 

 C-2-1 

APPENDIX C-2 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION FOR THE SERIES 2024B BONDS 

WE HAVE ACTED AS BOND COUNSEL for the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Issuer”) for the purpose of rendering our opinion with respect to the matters discussed herein in connection 
with the issuance of $________ aggregate principal amount of the Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2024B (Taxable) (the “Bonds”). We express 
no opinion and make no comment with respect to the sufficiency of the security for or the marketability of 
the Bonds. The Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the sources described 
therein. 

WE HAVE EXAMINED the Bonds and have also examined, and in expressing the opinions hereinafter 
described we rely upon, original or certified copies of the proceedings of the Board of Directors of the 
Issuer authorizing issuance of the Bonds; certificates of the Issuer relating to material facts within the sole 
knowledge of the Issuer and a Trust Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2024, between the Issuer and 
Computershare Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”) (collectively, the “Bond 
Documents”); and such other documents and material and such matters of law as we deem relevant to the 
matters discussed below. In such examination, we have assumed the authenticity of all documents submitted 
to us as originals, the conformity to original copies of all documents submitted to us as certified copies, and 
the accuracy of the statements contained in such certificates. 

WE ARE OF THE OPINION, based upon such examination, that under applicable laws of the State of 
Texas in force and effect on the date hereof, the Bonds have been duly authorized, executed, and delivered 
and constitute valid and legally binding limited obligations of the Issuer payable from the sources, and 
enforceable in accordance with the terms and conditions, described therein, except to the extent that the 
enforcement thereof may be limited by laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors or the exercise of judicial 
discretion in accordance with general principles of equity. 

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinions are further 
based on our knowledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update or supplement our 
opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our attention or to reflect any 
changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective. Moreover, our opinions are not a 
guarantee of result; rather, such opinions represent our legal judgment based upon our review of existing 
law that we deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance upon the representations and covenants 
referenced above. 

 

 

217



 

 D-1 

APPENDIX D 

TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS† 

Date 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024A 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for  
All Series 2024A 

Bonds ($) 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024B 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
All Series 2024B 

Bonds ($) 

3/[6]/2024     
4/1/2024     
5/1/2024     
6/1/2024     
7/1/2024     
8/1/2024     
9/1/2024     

10/1/2024     
11/1/2024     
12/1/2024     
1/1/2025     
2/1/2025     
3/1/2025     
4/1/2025     
5/1/2025     
6/1/2025     
7/1/2025     
8/1/2025     
9/1/2025     

10/1/2025     
11/1/2025     
12/1/2025     
1/1/2026     
2/1/2026     
3/1/2026     
4/1/2026     
5/1/2026     
6/1/2026     
7/1/2026     
8/1/2026     
9/1/2026     

10/1/2026     
11/1/2026     
12/1/2026     
1/1/2027     
2/1/2027     

 
† The Outstanding Bond Amounts in each column are subject to reduction if Bonds are subject to mandatory 
redemption due to failure to purchase GNMA Certificates from moneys in the Program Fund. 

218



APPENDIX D 

TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS (continued)† 

 D-2 

Date 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024A 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for  
All Series 2024A 

Bonds ($) 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024B 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
All Series 2024B 

Bonds ($) 

3/1/2027     
4/1/2027     
5/1/2027     
6/1/2027     
7/1/2027     
8/1/2027     
9/1/2027     

10/1/2027     
11/1/2027     
12/1/2027     
1/1/2028     
2/1/2028     
3/1/2028     
4/1/2028     
5/1/2028     
6/1/2028     
7/1/2028     
8/1/2028     
9/1/2028     

10/1/2028     
11/1/2028     
12/1/2028     
1/1/2029     
2/1/2029     
3/1/2029     
4/1/2029     
5/1/2029     
6/1/2029     
7/1/2029     
8/1/2029     
9/1/2029     

10/1/2029     
11/1/2029     
12/1/2029     
1/1/2030     
2/1/2030     
3/1/2030     
4/1/2030     
5/1/2030     
6/1/2030     
7/1/2030     
8/1/2030     

219



APPENDIX D 

TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS (continued)† 

 D-3 

Date 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024A 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for  
All Series 2024A 

Bonds ($) 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024B 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
All Series 2024B 

Bonds ($) 

9/1/2030     
10/1/2030     
11/1/2030     
12/1/2030     
1/1/2031     
2/1/2031     
3/1/2031     
4/1/2031     
5/1/2031     
6/1/2031     
7/1/2031     
8/1/2031     
9/1/2031     

10/1/2031     
11/1/2031     
12/1/2031     
1/1/2032     
2/1/2032     
3/1/2032     
4/1/2032     
5/1/2032     
6/1/2032     
7/1/2032     
8/1/2032     
9/1/2032      

10/1/2032      
11/1/2032      
12/1/2032      
1/1/2033      
2/1/2033      
3/1/2033      
4/1/2033      
5/1/2033      
6/1/2033      
7/1/2033      
8/1/2033      
9/1/2033      

10/1/2033      
11/1/2033      
12/1/2033      
1/1/2034      

220



APPENDIX D 

TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS (continued)† 

 D-4 

Date 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024A 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for  
All Series 2024A 

Bonds ($) 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024B 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
All Series 2024B 

Bonds ($) 

2/1/2034      
3/1/2034      
4/1/2034      
5/1/2034      
6/1/2034      
7/1/2034      
8/1/2034      
9/1/2034      

10/1/2034      
11/1/2034      
12/1/2034      
1/1/2035      
2/1/2035      
3/1/2035      
4/1/2035      
5/1/2035      
6/1/2035      
7/1/2035      
8/1/2035      
9/1/2035      

10/1/2035      
11/1/2035      
12/1/2035      
1/1/2036      
2/1/2036      
3/1/2036      
4/1/2036      
5/1/2036      
6/1/2036      
7/1/2036      
8/1/2036      
9/1/2036      

10/1/2036      
11/1/2036      
12/1/2036      
1/1/2037      
2/1/2037      
3/1/2037      
4/1/2037      
5/1/2037      

221



APPENDIX D 

TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS (continued)† 

 D-5 

Date 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024A 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for  
All Series 2024A 

Bonds ($) 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024B 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
All Series 2024B 

Bonds ($) 

6/1/2037      
7/1/2037      
8/1/2037      
9/1/2037      

10/1/2037      
11/1/2037      
12/1/2037      
1/1/2038      
2/1/2038      
3/1/2038      
4/1/2038      
5/1/2038      
6/1/2038      
7/1/2038      
8/1/2038      
9/1/2038      

10/1/2038      
11/1/2038      
12/1/2038      
1/1/2039      
2/1/2039      
3/1/2039      
4/1/2039      
5/1/2039      
6/1/2039      
7/1/2039      
8/1/2039      
9/1/2039      

10/1/2039      
11/1/2039      
12/1/2039      
1/1/2040      
2/1/2040      
3/1/2040      
4/1/2040      
5/1/2040      
6/1/2040      
7/1/2040      
8/1/2040      
9/1/2040      

222



APPENDIX D 

TABLE OF OUTSTANDING BOND AMOUNTS (continued)† 

 D-6 

Date 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024A 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for  
All Series 2024A 

Bonds ($) 

100% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
Series 2024B 

Premium PAC 
Bonds ($) 

400% PSA 
Outstanding 

Bond Amount for 
All Series 2024B 

Bonds ($) 

10/1/2040      
11/1/2040      
12/1/2040      
1/1/2041      
2/1/2041      
3/1/2041      
4/1/2041      
5/1/2041        
6/1/2041     
7/1/2041     
8/1/2041     
9/1/2041     

10/1/2041     
11/1/2041     
12/1/2041     
1/1/2042     
2/1/2042     
3/1/2042     
4/1/2042     
5/1/2042 

and 
thereafter 

 -   

 

223



Tab 3 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution 
Authorizing Request for Unencumbered State Ceiling; the Conversion to 
Mortgage Credit Certificates and Containing Other Provisions Relating 
to the Subject. 

224



70122080.3/1000089567 

MINUTES AND CERTIFICATION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
 § 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE § 
HOUSING CORPORATION § 

 
I, the undersigned officer of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation, do hereby 

certify as follows: 

1. The Board of Directors of said corporation convened on December 19, 2023, at the 
designated meeting place in Austin, Texas, and the roll was called of the duly constituted 
members of said Board, to wit: 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Name 
 

Office 

William H. Dietz Chairperson 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director 
Lemuel Williams Director 
David Rassin Director 
  

and all of said persons were present during the meeting except                                        , thus 
constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted, to-wit:  
a written resolution (the “Resolution”) bearing the following caption was introduced: 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION Authorizing Request for Unencumbered State 
Ceiling; the Conversion to Mortgage Credit Certificates and 
Containing Other Provisions Relating to the Subject 

was duly introduced for the consideration of said Board.  It was duly moved and seconded that 
said Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, said motion was adopted by the following 
vote: 

         AYES            NOES             ABSTENTIONS 
 

2. That a true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid Resolution adopted at the 
meeting described in the above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this certificate; 
that said Resolution has been duly recorded in said Board's minutes of said meeting; that the 
above and foregoing paragraph is a true, full and correct excerpt from said Board's minutes of 
said meeting pertaining to the adoption of said Resolution; that the persons named in the above 
and foregoing paragraph are the duly chosen, qualified and acting officers and members of said 
Board as indicated therein; that each of the officers and members of said Board was duly and 
sufficiently notified officially and personally, in advance, of the time, place and purpose of the 
aforesaid meeting, and that said Resolution would be introduced and considered for adoption at 
said meeting, and each of said officers and members consented, in advance, to the holding of 
said meeting for such purpose.  

225



70122080.3/1000089567 2 

SIGNED this December 19, 2023. 

 
 
 
  
Secretary, Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 

226



70122080.3/1000089567 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION Authorizing Request for Unencumbered State 
Ceiling; the Conversion to Mortgage Credit Certificates and 
Containing Other Provisions Relating to the Subject 

WHEREAS, the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Corporation”) has been 
duly created and organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of the Texas Non-
Profit Corporation Act, Article 1396-1.01 et seq. Vernon’s Annotated Texas Civil Statutes, as 
amended, and under the authority of Subchapter Y of Chapter 2306, Texas Government Code, 
as amended (the “Act”), for the public purpose of performing activities and services that the 
Corporation's Board of Directors (the “Board”) determines will promote the public health, safety, 
and welfare through the provision of adequate, safe, and sanitary housing primarily for individuals 
and families of low, very low, and extremely low income and for persons who are eligible for loans 
under the home loan program provided by Section 2306.5621 of the Act; and 

WHEREAS, Section 146(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”) requires that certain “private activity bonds” (as defined in Section 141(a) of the Code) 
must come within the issuing authority’s private activity bond limit for the applicable calendar year 
in order to be treated as obligations the interest on which is excludable from the gross income of 
the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes; and  

WHEREAS, the private activity bond “State ceiling” (as defined in Section 146(d) of the 
Code) applicable to the State is subject to allocation, in the manner authorized by Section 146(e) 
of the Code, pursuant to Chapter 1372, Texas Government Code, as amended (the “Allocation 
Act”); and 

WHEREAS, the Allocation Act provides that on the last business day of the year the Texas 
Bond Review Board (the “Bond Review Board”) may assign as carryforward to a state agency or 
to an issuer that was created to act on behalf of the State, at their request, any State ceiling that 
is not reserved or designated as carryforward and for which no application for carryforward is 
pending (referred to herein as “Unencumbered State Ceiling”); and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) desires to request that 
Unencumbered State Ceiling for the year 2023 be assigned to the Corporation as carryforward; 

WHEREAS, should Issuer receive Unencumbered State Ceiling, the Board of Directors of 
the Issuer desires to convert all or a portion of such Unencumbered State Ceiling to mortgage 
credit certificates pursuant to one or more qualified mortgage credit certificate programs within 
the meaning of section 25(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended (“qualified 
mortgage credit certificate programs”); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION: 

1.  The Corporation is authorized to submit a request to the Bond Review Board for 
assignment as carryforward to the Corporation of all remaining Unencumbered State Ceiling for 
the year 2023 in an aggregate amount not to exceed $600,000,000. 

2.  The Corporation hereby authorizes an election to be made by any officer of the 
Corporation to convert all or any portion of the Unencumbered State Ceiling to mortgage credit 
certificates pursuant to qualified mortgage credit certificate programs. 

227



70122080.3/1000089567 

3.  Any officer of the Corporation is authorized and directed to execute and deliver to the 
Texas Bond Review Board applications for allocation and any related certificates or documents 
to apply for any portion of the 2023 Unencumbered State Ceiling to be used for qualified mortgage 
credit certificate programs or qualified mortgage bonds. 

4.  The following persons are hereby named as authorized representatives of the 
Corporation for purposes of executing, attesting and delivering the documents and instruments 
and taking the other actions referred to in this Resolution:  the Chairperson or Vice Chairperson 
of the Board, the President, the Executive Vice President and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary 
to the Board.  Such persons are referred to herein collectively as the “Authorized 
Representatives.” Any one of the Authorized Representatives is authorized to act individually as 
set forth in this Resolution. 

5.  The Authorized Representatives of the Corporation named in this Resolution are 
hereby authorized to take such actions on behalf of the Corporation as may be necessary to carry 
out the purposes of this Resolution. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this 19th day of December, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

228



Tab 4 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible approval of a Resolution 
regarding the submission of one or more Applications for Allocation of 
Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State 
Bond Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of 
Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures with proceeds of future debt for 
Bluffs at Nelms. 

229



138151758.1 / 1001232415  

MINUTES AND CERTIFICATION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
 § 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE § 
HOUSING CORPORATION § 

The Board of Directors of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Corporation”) convened on December 19, 2023, at the designated meeting place in Austin, 
Texas, and roll was called of the duly constituted members of said Board of Directors, to-wit: 

Name Office 
William H. Dietz Chairperson 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director 
Lemuel Williams Director 
David Rassin Director 
  

and all of said persons were present during the meeting except                                          , thus 
constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted, to-wit:  
a written resolution (the “Resolution”) bearing the following caption was introduced for the 
consideration of said Board: 

“RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 

RESOLUTION Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of 
Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to the Texas 
Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse 
Expenditures with Proceeds of Future Debt for Bluffs at Nelms” 

Upon motion duly made and seconded, the Resolution was finally passed and adopted by 
the following vote: 

             AYES               NOES               ABSTENTIONS 

 

MINUTES APPROVED AND CERTIFIED TO BE TRUE AND CORRECT and to reflect 
accurately the duly constituted officers and members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, 
and the attached and following copy of such Resolution is hereby certified to be a true and correct 
copy of an official copy thereof on file among the official records of the Corporation. 

230



138151758.1 / 1001232415 2 

SIGNED this December 19, 2023. 

 
 
 
 
  
Secretary, Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 

231



138151758.1 / 1001232415  

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
RESOLUTION Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of 
Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to the Texas 
Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse 
Expenditures with Proceeds of Future Debt for Bluffs at Nelms 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
(the “Corporation”) desires to submit one or more calendar year 2024 Applications for Allocation 
of Private Activity Bonds, a calendar year 2024 Application for Carryforward for Private Activity 
Bonds, one or more calendar year 2025 Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds 
and/or a calendar year 2025 Application for Carryforward for Private Activity Bonds (collectively, 
the “Application”) to the Texas Bond Review Board in connection with tax-exempt obligations in 
a principal amount not to exceed $31,000,000 (the “Bonds”) relating to a qualified residential 
rental housing project to be located at or about 1609 Nelms Drive, Austin, Texas 78744, Travis 
County (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Corporation intends to issue the Bonds and loan the proceeds to 
Bluffs at Nelms, LP or another affiliate of Blue Ridge Atlantic Development, LLC (the “Borrower”), 
which will be the initial legal owner and will use the proceeds for acquiring, constructing and 
equipping the Project; 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the Borrower will make certain capital expenditures with 
respect to the Project and currently desires and expects to reimburse the capital expenditures 
with proceeds of such debt; 

WHEREAS, under Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2 (the “Regulation”), to fund such reimbursement 
with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations, the Corporation must declare its expectation to make 
such reimbursement; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to preserve the ability of the Borrower to reimburse 
the capital expenditures with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to make all other appropriate filings and requests to the 
Texas Bond Review Board to enable the Corporation to issue the Bonds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION: 

1. That the President, Executive Vice President or any officer of the Corporation is hereby 
authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Application to the Texas Bond Review Board 
in connection with requesting allocation in the maximum amount of $31,000,000 for the Bonds, 
together with any documents, certificates or instruments related thereto. 

2. That the President, Executive Vice President or any other officer of the Corporation is 
hereby authorized and directed to file with the Texas Bond Review Board one or more notices of 
intent to issue bonds and/or one or more state debt bond applications in connection with the 
Bonds and such officers are further authorized and directed to request that the application(s) be 
approved by the Texas Bond Review Board in accordance with Chapter 181 of the Texas 
Administrative Code, as amended. 

232



138151758.1 / 1001232415 2 

3. That the President, Executive Vice President or any other officer of the Corporation is 
hereby authorized and directed to take any and all other actions necessary or incidental to 
securing the private activity bond allocation(s), the approval of the Bonds from the Texas Bond 
Review Board and requesting non-traditional carryforward of private activity bond allocation if 
needed. 

4. That the Corporation reasonably expects that the Borrower will reimburse capital 
expenditures with respect to the Project with proceeds of debt hereafter to be incurred by the 
Corporation, and that this resolution shall constitute a declaration of official intent under the 
Regulation.  The maximum principal amount of obligations expected to be issued for the Project 
by the Corporation is $31,000,000. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this December 19, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING CORPORATION 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

233



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Multifamily Private Activity Bond Project Summary 

Page 1 of 2 

Agenda: 

Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond 
Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures 
with Proceeds of Future Debt for Bluffs at Nelms. 

Summary: 

TSAHC received an application from Blue Ridge Atlantic 
Development, LLC, on October 2, 2023, proposing the 
construction of a 165-unit affordable senior apartment 
community located in Austin to be called Bluffs at Nelms.  

Public Benefit: 

Bluffs at Nelms will create 165-units of affordable rental 
housing targeted for low-income senior households. 
Currently, 60 units will be reserved for households earning 
up to 40% of the area median income (AMI), 52 units for 50% 
AMI households, 18 units for 60% AMI households and 35 units for 80% AMI households. The project 
qualifies under TSAHC’s targeted housing need for seniors.  

Financial Summary: 

Bluffs at Nelms has a total budget of approximately $57.1 million. The proposed financing includes tax-
exempt bonds, a deferred repayable loan, interest income on the bonds and 4% housing tax credits. The 
project’s direct costs include $3.1 million for acquisition and $36.1 million for hard construction (approx. 
$219,000 per unit). Soft costs of $2.9 million, financing costs of $6.5 million, reserve accounts at $1.04 
million and developer fees at $7.5 million round out total costs.  

The anticipated maximum par amount of the bonds is $31 million. A long-term Freddie Mac Tax Exempt 
Loan (TEL) structure is planned to provide $16.7 million of permanent financing. Housing tax credit equity 
is anticipated to be $23.4 million. A deferred repayable loan from the City of Austin has been applied for 
in the amount of $11.7 million. The final permanent sources include income from the reinvestment of 
bond proceeds during construction estimated at $2.3 million and deferred developer fees of $2.9 million.  

TSAHC has been asked to form a joint venture with the Developer and become a member of the ownership 
entity. TSAHC’s involvement in the owner entity provides the project a property tax exemption, and the 
City of Austin is in support of the project with the tax exemption. Staff believes the property tax exemption 
is critical to the project reaching feasibility due to the number of extremely low-income households being 
served and the high cost of construction and operations in the Austin market.  

Market Conditions: 

Bluffs at Nelms will be located east of IH35 between Stassney and William Cannon Blvd. It is adjacent to 
the Franklin Park neighborhood and two blocks from the Williamson Creek Greenbelt. The site has 

Map of Project Area 

 

234



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Multifamily Private Activity Bond Project Summary 

Page 2 of 2 

excellent transportation access and is less than one-quarter mile from a full-service grocery. The 
surrounding properties to the west include automobile dealerships, restaurants and a charter school. The 
property is surrounded to the east by garden style apartments.  

The project is also close to a number of recreational facilities including McKinney Falls State Park, Jimmy 
Clay public golf course and the George Morales Recreation Center.  The site is located within five minutes 
of Austin Fire Station 24, is two blocks from the Texas Department of Public Safety’s William Cannon 
service center and ten minutes from the St. David’s South Medical Center.  

Developer Summary: 

Blue Ridge Atlantic Development is made up of two key parties: Shelter Resources Inc., a for-profit 
affordable housing developer based in Olympia, Washington and Blue Ridge President, Chris Eisenzimmer, 
a developer and registered CPA based in North Carolina. The combined companies currently have over 25 
projects under development or in pre-development stages.  

Shelter Resources Inc., (SRI) has developed affordable housing in the Pacific Northwest for over 30 years. 
With more than 6,000 units currently operating in Washington and Oregon, they are among the largest 
affordable housing providers in the Northwest, and have development, construction and property 
management services in-house. Blue Ridge Atlantic Development is a newer enterprise that gains from 
SRI’s experience.  However, Mr. Eisenzimmer brings more than 20 years of experience in affordable 
housing.   

TSAHC has been asked to partner in Bluffs at Nelms through a joint venture agreement. TSAHC’s 
involvement in the ownership entity will provide us with a higher degree of oversight and control over the 
project’s operations and success. TSAHC will be represented by Coats Rose as Joint Venture Counsel, and 
we intend to structure the project similar to the recently closed Juniper Creek project that also received 
private activity bond volume cap through TSAHC. TSAHC closed on financing for two initial joint venture 
projects in 2023 that included Juniper Creek (Austin) and the Park on 14th (Plano). 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution Regarding the Submission of one or more Applications for 
Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to 
the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures with Proceeds 
of Future Debt for the Bluffs at Nelms Apartments. 

 

 

235



Bluffs at Nelms ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Project Summary

Project Summary

Applicant Blue Ridge Atlantic Development, LLC

Project Name Bluffs at Nelms

Location
Address 1609 Nelms Drive City Austin
County: Travis State Texas 78744

Census Tract: 48453002419

Bonds
Max. Par Amount: 31,000,000$          Bond Type: PAB

Term of Bonds: 35 years Allocation Year: 2024

Perm Funding Souces Amount % of Total

TSAHC Bonds ‐ Freddie TEL 16,700,000$       29.22%
‐$                     0.00%

HTC Equity 23,407,834$       40.95%
AHFC RHDA Loan 11,760,000$       20.57%
Investment Income 2,312,157$         4.04%
Deferred Dev Fee 2,981,837$         5.22%
Totals 57,161,828$       100%
* not included in total

Market Summary City County State Census Tract

Population: 961,855               1,290,188           29,145,505         4,839                  
Median Age: 34                        35                        35                        28                       

Diversity Index: 65                        64                        ‐                       48                       

% Hispanic: 32% 33% 39% 67%

% Persons with Disability: 9% 8% 11% 15%

% Households that Rent: 55% 47% 38% 100%

Median Rents: 1,415                   1,422                   1,146                   1,153                  

% Renters Who are Cost Burdened: 29% 29% 30% 31%

Median Home Price: 381,400$            368,000$            202,600$            ‐$                    

Median Household Income: 78,965$               85,043$               67,321$               44,020$              

Unemployment: 2.70% 2.80% 3.90% 0.00%

Persons w/o Insurance: 13% 12% 18% 26%

Medically Underserved Area: NA NA NA NA

% Attending Public Schools: 89% 90% 92% 95%

Graduation Rate (Austin ISD) > = 90%

CRA Eligible Census Tract: Low Income

# of LI Projects and Units: 4 960

1 of 4

236



Bluffs at Nelms ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Summary Sources and Uses

Applicant Blue Ridge Atlantic Development, LLC

Project Name Bluffs at Nelms

Number of Units 165

Sources Amount Amount Per Unit Percentage of Total

TSAHC Bonds ‐ Freddie TEL 16,700,000$                         101,212$                              29%

‐$                                       ‐$                                       0%

HTC Equity 23,407,834$                         141,866$                              41%

AHFC RHDA Loan 11,760,000$                         71,273$                                21%

Investment Income 2,312,157$                           14,013$                                4%

Deferred Dev Fee 2,981,837$                           18,072$                                5%

Total Sources 57,161,828$                         346,435$                              100%

Uses

Acquisition 3,130,925$                           18,975.30$                           5%

Off‐Site Construction ‐$                                       0%

On‐Site Work 5,154,200$                           31,237.58$                           9%

Site Amenities 345,000$                              2,090.91$                             1%

Building Costs 24,674,588$                         149,542.96$                         43%

Other Const/Contingency 5,944,455$                           36,027.00$                           10%

Soft Costs 2,943,269$                           17,837.99$                           5%

Financing Costs 6,470,035$                           39,212.33$                           11%

Developer Fees 7,455,286$                           45,183.55$                           13%

Reserve Accounts 1,044,070$                           6,327.70$                             2%

Total Uses 57,161,828$                         346,435.32$                         100%

(Gap) / Reserve ‐$                                      

Percent of Developer Fee Deferred 40.00%

Summary of Sources and Uses

2 of 4
237



Bluffs at Nelms ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

Operating Proforma

Applicant Blue Ridge Atlantic Development, LLC

Project Name Bluffs at Nelms

Total Units: 165                         30% AMI ‐                           % at 30% AMI 0% 80% AMI 35 % at 80% AMI: 21%

Min. Set Aside Election: 40% @ 60% AMI 40% AMI 60                             % at 40% AMI 36% MR: 0 % at MR: 0%

Min. Afford. Units: 66 50% AMI 52                             % at 50% AMI 32%

Afford. Units: 165                         60% AMI 18                             % at 60% AMI 11% Rental Assist: Yes ‐ Partial

% Affordable: 100% 70% AMI ‐                           % at 70% AMI 0% Accessible Unit Min: 9

Residential Income

Unit Type Unit Sq. Ft. Net Sq. Ft.  # units Rent Mo. Income  Inflator Rent Limiter Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

1/1 642 19,260                     30 812$                        24,360$                   1.02                     40% AMI 292,320$                 298,166$                 304,130$                 310,212$                 316,417$                 349,349$                  385,710$                    

1/1 642 17,334                     27 1,031$                     27,837$                   1.02                     50% AMI 334,044$                 340,725$                 347,539$                 354,490$                 361,580$                 399,214$                  440,764$                    

1/1 642 5,136                       8 1,250$                     10,000$                   1.02                     60% AMI 120,000$                 122,400$                 124,848$                 127,345$                 129,892$                 143,411$                  158,337$                    

1/1 642 10,272                     16 1,425$                     22,800$                   1.02                     80% AMI 273,600$                 279,072$                 284,653$                 290,347$                 296,153$                 326,977$                  361,009$                    

2/2 960 28,800                     30 967$                        29,010$                   1.02                     40% AMI 348,120$                 355,082$                 362,184$                 369,428$                 376,816$                 416,036$                  459,337$                    

2/2 960 24,000                     25 1,230$                     30,750$                   1.02                     50% AMI 369,000$                 376,380$                 383,908$                 391,586$                 399,417$                 440,989$                  486,888$                    

2/2 960 9,600                       10 1,493$                     14,930$                   1.02                     60% AMI 179,160$                 182,743$                 186,398$                 190,126$                 193,929$                 214,113$                  236,398$                    

2/2 960 18,240                     19 1,820$                     34,580$                   1.02                     80% AMI 414,960$                 423,259$                 431,724$                 440,359$                 449,166$                 495,916$                  547,531$                    

‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                             

Subtotals: 132,642                   165                          194,267$               

Other income: 30.00$                     4,950$                     1.02                     59,400.00$              60,588$                   61,800$                   63,036$                   64,296$                   70,988$                    78,377$                      

Potential gross income 2,390,604$              2,438,416$              2,487,184$              2,536,928$              2,587,667$              2,856,993$              3,154,351$                 

Residential vacancy loss 7.50% (179,295)$                (182,881)$                (186,539)$                (190,270)$                (194,075)$                (214,274)$                (236,576)$                   

Effective Gross Residential Income 2,211,309$              2,255,535$              2,300,646$              2,346,658$              2,393,592$              2,642,719$              2,917,775$                 

Operating Expenses TSAHC est. Borrower Yr 1 % EGI Variance Per Unit Inflator

General & Administrative 87,450$                   63,005$                   2.85 ‐28% 382$                    1.03 63,005$                   64,895$                   66,842$                   68,847$                   70,913$                   82,207$                    95,301$                      

Management Fee 80,190$                   65,127$                   2.95 ‐19% 395$                    1.03 65,127$                   67,081$                   69,093$                   71,166$                   73,301$                   84,976$                    98,510$                      

Payroll and Related 229,515$                298,510$                13.50 30% 1,809$                 1.03 298,510$                 307,465$                 316,689$                 326,190$                 335,976$                 389,488$                  451,523$                    

Maintenance & Repair 134,640$                103,893$                4.70 ‐23% 630$                    1.03 103,893$                 107,010$                 110,220$                 113,527$                 116,932$                 135,557$                  157,147$                    

Utilities 170,775$                165,296$                7.48 ‐3% 1,002$                 1.03 165,296$                 170,255$                 175,363$                 180,623$                 186,042$                 215,674$                  250,025$                    

Insurance 76,725$                   114,535$                5.18 49% 694$                    1.03 114,535$                 117,971$                 121,510$                 125,155$                 128,910$                 149,442$                  173,244$                    

Tax Exempt 0.00 #DIV/0! ‐$                     1.03 ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                             

Operating Debt Service Reserves 0.00 #DIV/0! ‐$                     1.03 ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                             

Replacement reserves 41,250$                   41,250$                   1.87 0% 250$                    1.03 41,250$                   42,488$                   43,762$                   ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                             

HTC/HOME Compliance Fees 6,600$                     6,600$                     0.30 0% 40$                      1.03 6,600$                      6,798$                      7,002$                      7,212$                      7,428$                      8,612$                      9,983$                        

Bond Compliance Fees 7,425$                     7,425$                     0.34 0% 45$                      1.03 7,425$                      7,648$                      7,877$                      8,113$                      8,357$                      9,688$                      11,231$                      

Other (specify): 0.00 #DIV/0! ‐$                     1.03 ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                             

Total Operating Expenses 834,570$                865,641$                4% 5,246.31$           865,641$                 891,610$                 918,359$                 900,834$                 927,859$                 1,075,643$              1,246,965$                 

Regaional Avg 5,922.00$                per unit 5,246$                     5,404$                     5,566$                     5,460$                     5,623$                     6,519$                     7,557$                        

    Operating Expenses as a percentage of Effective Gross Income 39.1% 39.5% 39.9% 38.4% 38.8% 40.7% 42.7%

NET OPERATING INCOME 1,345,668$              1,363,925$              1,382,287$              1,445,824$              1,465,732$              1,567,075$              1,670,810$                 

3 of 4
238



Bluffs at Nelms ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

NET OPERATING INCOME 1,345,668$              1,363,925$              1,382,287$              1,445,824$              1,465,732$              1,567,075$              1,670,810$                 

PRIMARY DEBT SERVICE Principal Rate Amort Term Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

TSAHC Bonds ‐ Freddie TEL 16,700,000$           6.00% 35 35 1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$                 

Total Primary Debt 16,700,000$           1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$              1,142,660$                 

16,700$                   98.00% 16,700$                   16,700$                   16,700$                   16,700$                   16,700$                   16,700$                    16,700$                      

Net Cashflow After Primary Debt 186,308$                 204,564$                 222,927$                 286,464$                 306,372$                 407,715$                  511,449$                    

DSCR Primary Debt 1.16 1.18 1.19 1.25 1.26 1.35 1.44

SOFT SUBORDINATE DEBT & EQUITY

HTC Equity 23,407,834$           93,154$                   102,282$                 111,463$                 143,232$                 153,186$                 203,858$                  255,725$                    

AHFC RHDA Loan 11,760,000$           ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                          ‐$                             

Investment Income 2,312,157$            

Deferred Dev Fee 2,981,837$            

Total Secondary Debt 40,461,828$           Net Cash Flow of Secondary Debts 186,308$                 204,564$                 222,927$                 286,464$                 306,372$                 407,715$                  511,449$                    

Total sources 57,161,828$          

TSAHC Issuer Fee

4 of 4
239



Tab 5 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution 
Authorizing the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation to take 
preliminary action to carry out the financing of Bluffs at Nelms located 
in Austin, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance 
documents, and filing applications to obtain debt and grant financing for 
the Project. 

240



4854-9005-5062.v2 

CERTIFICATION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
 § 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE § 
HOUSING CORPORATION § 

I, the undersigned officer of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Corporation”), do hereby certify as follows: 

1. The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) convened on December 19, 
2023, at the Corporation’s offices in Austin, Texas, and the roll was called of the duly 
constituted members of said Board, who are as follows: 

Name Office 
  
William H. Dietz  Chairperson 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director 
Lemuel Williams Director 
David A. Rassin Director 
  

2. The officers of the Corporation (who are not Board members) are as follows: 

Name Office 
  
David Long President   
Janie Taylor Executive Vice President  
Melinda Smith Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
Rebecca DeLeon Secretary   
Cynthia Gonzales Assistant Secretary  
  

All Board members were present except ______________________________, thus constituting a 
quorum.  All of the officers of the Corporation were present at the meeting. 

3. Whereupon, among other business, the following written resolution (the “Resolution”) 
bearing the following caption: 

“RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TEXAS STATE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION TO TAKE 
PRELIMINARY ACTION TO CARRY OUT THE FINANCING 
OF BLUFFS AT NELMS LOCATED IN AUSTIN, TEXAS, 
INCLUDING CREATING ENTITIES, NEGOTIATING 

241



 - 2 - 
4854-9005-5062.v2 

FINANCE DOCUMENTS, AND FILING APPLICATIONS TO 
OBTAIN DEBT AND GRANT FINANCING FOR THE 
PROJECT.” 

was duly introduced for the consideration of said Board and read in full. It was then duly moved 
and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion and request for comments, 
said motion prevailed and was carried by the following vote: 

_ AYES _ NOS _ ABSTENTIONS 

4. That a true, full and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the meeting described in the 
above is attached to this certificate; that the adoption of the Resolution will be duly 
recorded in the Board’s minutes of the meeting; that the persons named above are the duly 
chosen, qualified and acting members of the Board and the officers of the Corporation, as 
indicated; that each member of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and 
personally, in advance, of the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and that 
the Resolution would be introduced and considered for adoption at said meeting.  

SIGNED this 19th day of December, 2023. 

  
Rebecca DeLeon,  
Secretary, Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 

242



 - 3 - 
4854-9005-5062.v2 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TEXAS STATE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION TO TAKE 
PRELIMINARY ACTION TO CARRY OUT THE FINANCING 
OF BLUFFS AT NELMS LOCATED IN AUSTIN, TEXAS, 
INCLUDING CREATING ENTITIES, NEGOTIATING 
FINANCE DOCUMENTS, AND FILING APPLICATIONS TO 
OBTAIN DEBT AND GRANT FINANCING FOR THE 
PROJECT. 

WHEREAS, the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Corporation”) has 
been duly created and organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 22 
of the Texas Business Organizations Code, and under the authority of Subchapter Y of Chapter 
2306 of the Texas Government Code, in each case, as amended; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will negotiate and enter into a Memorandum of 
Understanding (“MOU”) with Blue Ridge Atlantic Development, LLC to set forth the terms of 
the agreement for the acquisition, development, construction, equipment, operation, and leasing of 
a 165-unit senior affordable multifamily housing project to be located at approximately 1701 
Nelms Drive, Austin, Texas, 78744, to be known as Bluffs at Nelms (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will form a Texas limited partnership or limited liability 
company (the “Partnership”) to develop, construct, equip, operate, and lease the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will form and serve as the sole member of a Texas limited 
liability company (the “General Partner”), which will serve as the general partner of the 
Partnership;  

WHEREAS, the Project is intended to be constructed upon real property to be owned by 
the Corporation and ground leased to the Partnership, pursuant to a long-term ground lease 
between the Corporation, as landlord, and the Partnership, as tenant; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation may serve as a co-developer of the Project; 

WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Project, the Partnership plans to 
submit or has submitted a 4% housing tax credit application (the “Application”) to the Texas 
Department of Housing and Community Affairs (“TDHCA”); 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Partnership’s preparation and submission of the 
Application, the Corporation desires to participate as nonprofit sponsor, co-developer, and as sole 
member of the General Partner; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Corporation 
(the “Board”): 

243



 - 4 - 
4854-9005-5062.v2 

Section 1. Authorization for the Negotiation and Entrance into the MOU.  That the 
Board hereby authorizes the Corporation to participate in the negotiation and entrance into the 
MOU.  

Section 2. Authorization of the Formation of the Partnership and General Partner.  
That the Board hereby authorizes the Corporation to form the Partnership and General Partner and 
be admitted to the General Partner as the sole member thereof. 

Section 3. Authorization of the Participation in the Application.  That the Board hereby 
authorizes the Corporation, General Partner, and/or Partnership to participate in the filing of the 
Application for the Project. 

Section 4. Execution and Delivery of Certain Documents.  That the Board hereby 
authorizes David Long, as the President of the Corporation, Janie Long, as the Executive Vice 
President of the Corporation, and any and all Board Members of the Corporation listed on the 
certificate accompanying this Resolution, to consent to, accept, execute and attest to formation 
documents and such other certificates, documents, instruments, letters of instruction, written 
requests and other papers, whether or not mentioned herein, as may be necessary or convenient to 
carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution, to the extent the President or 
Executive Vice President or any such Board Member concludes such documents are in the best 
interest of the Corporation. 

Section 5. Taking of Ancillary Actions.  The President and the Executive Vice 
President are each, in the name and on behalf of the Corporation (on its own behalf and in the 
representative capacity identified in these resolutions), authorized by the Board of Directors, in 
consultation with counsel, to do or cause to be done any and all such acts and things as may be 
necessary or convenient to carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution, to the 
extent the President or Executive Vice President or any such Board Member concludes such 
actions are in the best interest of the Corporation. 

Section 6. Ratification of Prior Actions.  That all prior actions taken by any officer of 
the Corporation in the name and on behalf of the Corporation in connection with the matters 
described herein are hereby authorized, ratified, confirmed and approved. 

Section 7. Purposes of Resolution.  That the Board has expressly determined and 
hereby confirms that the matters described herein accomplish a valid public purpose of the 
Corporation. 

Section 8. Conflicting Prior Actions.  That all orders, resolutions, or any actions or 
parts thereof of the Board in conflict herewith are hereby expressly repealed to the extent of any 
such conflict. 

Section 9. Severability.  That any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 
Resolution shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

244



 - 5 - 
4854-9005-5062.v2 

Section 10. Effective Date.  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from 
and upon its adoption. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

245



4854-9005-5062.v2 

APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this 19th day of December, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 

Valerie Cardenas, Vice Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

Rebecca DeLeon, Secretary 
Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 

246



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

 

Page 1 of 2 

Agenda: 

Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable 
Housing Corporation to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Bluffs at Nelms located in 
Austin, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to obtain 
debt and grant financing for the Project. 

Summary: 

TSAHC received an ACT Joint Venture application from Blue 
Ridge Atlantic Development, LLC, on October 2, 2023, 
proposing the construction of a 165-unit affordable senior 
apartment community located in Austin to be called Bluffs 
at Nelms. TSAHC is being asked to form a joint venture 
partnership with the Developer and become a member of 
the ownership entity that will own and oversee operations 
of the project.  

Public Benefit: 

Bluffs at Nelms will create 165-units of affordable rental 
housing targeted for low-income senior households. Currently, 60 units will be reserved for households 
earning up to 40% of the area median income (AMI), 52 units for 50% AMI households, 18 units for 60% 
AMI households and 35 units for 80% AMI households. The project qualifies under TSAHC’s ACT Joint 
Venture Guidelines Targeted Housing Needs for reserving 20% or more of its units for seniors earning 50% 
or less of the AMI.  

Financial Summary: 

Bluffs at Nelms has a total budget of approximately $57.1 million. The proposed financing includes tax-
exempt bonds, a deferred repayable loan, interest income on the bonds and 4% housing tax credits. The 
project’s direct costs include $3.1 million for acquisition and $36.1 million for hard construction (approx. 
$219,000 per unit). Soft costs of $2.9 million, financing costs of $6.5 million, reserve accounts at $1.04 
million and developer fees at $7.5 million round out total costs.  

The anticipated maximum par amount of the bonds is $31 million. A long-term Freddie Mac Tax Exempt 
Loan (TEL) structure is planned to provide $16.7 million of permanent financing. Housing tax credit equity 
is anticipated to be $23.4 million. A deferred repayable loan from the City of Austin has been applied for 
in the amount of $11.7 million. The final permanent sources include income from the reinvestment of 
bond proceeds during construction estimated at $2.3 million and deferred developer fees of $2.9 million.  

TSAHC has been asked to form a joint venture with the Developer and become a member of the ownership 
entity. TSAHC’s involvement in the owner entity provides the project a property tax exemption, and the 
City of Austin is in support of project with the tax exemption.  Letters of support for the project have been 
received from Travis County Judge Andy Brown, Counsel Member Venessa Fuentes and The Southeast 

Map of Project Area 

 

 

247



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

 

Page 2 of 2 

Combined Neighborhood Plan Contact Team. Staff believes the property tax exemption is critical to the 
project reaching feasibility, due to the number of low-income households being served and the high cost 
of construction and operations in the Austin market.  

Market Conditions: 

Bluffs at Nelms will be located east of IH35 between Stassney and William Cannon Blvd. It is adjacent to 
the Franklin Park neighborhood and two blocks from the Williamson Creek Greenbelt. The site has 
excellent transportation access and is less than one-quarter mile from a full-service grocery.  The 
surrounding properties to the west include automobile dealerships, restaurants and a charter school. The 
property is surrounded to the east by garden style apartments.  

The project is also close to a number of recreational facilities including McKinney Falls State Park, Jimmy 
Clay public golf course and the George Morales Recreation Center.  The site is located within five minutes 
of Austin Fire Station 24, is two blocks from the Texas Department of Public Safety’s William Cannon 
service center and ten minutes from the St. David’s South Medical Center.  

Developer Summary: 

Blue Ridge Atlantic Development is made up of two key parties: Shelter Resources Inc., a for-profit 
affordable housing developer based in Olympia, Washington and Blue Ridge President, Chris Eisenzimmer, 
a developer and registered CPA based in North Carolina. The combined companies currently have over 25 
projects under development or in pre-development stages.  

Shelter Resources Inc., (SRI) has developed affordable housing in the Pacific Northwest for over 30 years. 
With more than 6,000 units currently operating in Washington and Oregon, they are among the largest 
affordable housing providers in the Northwest, and have development, construction and property 
management services in-house. Blue Ridge Atlantic Development is a newer enterprise that gains from 
SRI’s experience.  However, Mr. Eisenzimmer brings more than 20 years of experience in affordable 
housing.   

TSAHC’s involvement in the ownership entity will provide us with a higher degree of oversight and control 
over the project’s operations and success. TSAHC will be represented by Coats Rose as Joint Venture 
Counsel, and we intend to structure the project similar to the recently closed Juniper Creek project that 
also received private activity bond volume cap through TSAHC. TSAHC closed on financing for two initial 
joint venture projects in 2023 that included Juniper Creek (Austin) and the Park on 14th (Plano). 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Bluffs at Nelms located in Austin, Texas, including 
creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to obtain debt and grant financing 
for the Project. 

 

248



Tab 6 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution 
regarding the submission of one or more Applications for Allocation of 
Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State 
Bond Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of 
Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures with proceeds of future debt for 
Cairn Point at Montopolis. 

249



138151730.3 / 1001277773  

MINUTES AND CERTIFICATION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
 § 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE § 
HOUSING CORPORATION § 

The Board of Directors of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Corporation”) convened on December 19, 2023, at the designated meeting place in Austin, 
Texas, and roll was called of the duly constituted members of said Board of Directors, to-wit: 

Name Office 
William H. Dietz Chairperson 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director 
Lemuel Williams Director 
David Rassin Director 
  

and all of said persons were present during the meeting except                                          , thus 
constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted, to-wit:  
a written resolution (the “Resolution”) bearing the following caption was introduced for the 
consideration of said Board: 

“RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 

RESOLUTION Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of 
Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to the Texas 
Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse 
Expenditures with Proceeds of Future Debt for Cairn Point 
Montopolis” 

Upon motion duly made and seconded, the Resolution was finally passed and adopted by 
the following vote: 

             AYES               NOES               ABSTENTIONS 

 

MINUTES APPROVED AND CERTIFIED TO BE TRUE AND CORRECT and to reflect 
accurately the duly constituted officers and members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, 
and the attached and following copy of such Resolution is hereby certified to be a true and correct 
copy of an official copy thereof on file among the official records of the Corporation. 

250



138151730.3 / 1001277773 2 

SIGNED this December 19, 2023. 

 
 
 
 
  
Secretary, Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 

251



138151730.3 / 1001277773  

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
RESOLUTION Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of 
Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to the Texas 
Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse 
Expenditures with Proceeds of Future Debt for Cairn Point 
Montopolis 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
(the “Corporation”) desires to submit one or more calendar year 2024 Applications for Allocation 
of Private Activity Bonds, a calendar year 2024 Application for Carryforward for Private Activity 
Bonds, one or more calendar year 2025 Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds 
and/or a calendar year 2025 Application for Carryforward for Private Activity Bonds (collectively, 
the “Application”) to the Texas Bond Review Board in connection with tax-exempt obligations in 
a principal amount not to exceed $23,500,000 (the “Bonds”) relating to a qualified residential 
rental housing project to be located at or about 1013 Montopolis Drive, Austin, Texas 78741, 
Travis County (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Corporation intends to issue the Bonds and loan the proceeds to 
Cairn Point Montopolis, LP or another affiliate of Vecino Bond Group, LLC (the “Borrower”), which 
will be the initial legal owner and will use the proceeds for acquiring, constructing and equipping 
the Project; 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the Borrower will make certain capital expenditures with 
respect to the Project and currently desires and expects to reimburse the capital expenditures 
with proceeds of such debt; 

WHEREAS, under Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2 (the “Regulation”), to fund such reimbursement 
with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations, the Corporation must declare its expectation to make 
such reimbursement; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to preserve the ability of the Borrower to reimburse 
the capital expenditures with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to make all other appropriate filings and requests to the 
Texas Bond Review Board to enable the Corporation to issue the Bonds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION: 

1. That the President, Executive Vice President or any officer of the Corporation is hereby 
authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Application to the Texas Bond Review Board 
in connection with requesting allocation in the maximum amount of $23,500,000 for the Bonds, 
together with any documents, certificates or instruments related thereto. 

2. That the President, Executive Vice President or any other officer of the Corporation is 
hereby authorized and directed to file with the Texas Bond Review Board one or more notices of 
intent to issue bonds and/or one or more state debt bond applications in connection with the 
Bonds and such officers are further authorized and directed to request that the application(s) be 
approved by the Texas Bond Review Board in accordance with Chapter 181 of the Texas 
Administrative Code, as amended. 

252



138151730.3 / 1001277773 2 

3. That the President, Executive Vice President or any other officer of the Corporation is 
hereby authorized and directed to take any and all other actions necessary or incidental to 
securing the private activity bond allocation(s), the approval of the Bonds from the Texas Bond 
Review Board and requesting non-traditional carryforward of private activity bond allocation if 
needed. 

4. That the Corporation reasonably expects that the Borrower will reimburse capital 
expenditures with respect to the Project with proceeds of debt hereafter to be incurred by the 
Corporation, and that this resolution shall constitute a declaration of official intent under the 
Regulation.  The maximum principal amount of obligations expected to be issued for the Project 
by the Corporation is $23,500,000. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this December 19, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING CORPORATION 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

253



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Multifamily Private Activity Bond Project Summary 

Page 1 of 3 

Agenda: 

Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond 
Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures 
with Proceeds of Future Debt for Cairn Point Montopolis. 

Summary: 

TSAHC  received  an  application  from  Vecino  Group,  on 
October 2, 2023, proposing  the construction of a 150‐unit 
affordable  apartment  community  located  in  Austin  to  be 
called Cairn Point Montopolis.  

Public Benefit: 

Cairn Point Montopolis will  create 150‐units of affordable 
rental  housing  targeted  for  low‐income  households. 
Currently, 23 units will be reserved for households earning 
up to 30% of the area median income (AMI), 87 units for 50% 
AMI  households,  and  40  units  for  60% AMI  households.  The  project  qualifies  under  TSAHC’s  service 
enriched  targeted  housing  need  for  reserving  more  than  10%  of  total  units  for  families  facing 
homelessness and earning less than 30% AMI.  

Financial Summary: 

Cairn Point Montopolis has a total budget of approximately $46.2 million. The proposed financing includes 
tax‐exempt bonds, deferred repayable loans, grants and 4% housing tax credits. The project’s direct costs 
include $8.2 million for acquisition and $24.3 million for hard construction (approx. $162,000 per unit). 
Soft costs of $2.9 million, financing costs of $5.3 million, reserve accounts at $1.1 million and developer 
fees at $4.6 million round out total costs.  

The anticipated maximum par amount of  the bonds  is $23.5 million. This amount will be used during 
construction. Citi Community Capital has been identified to provide a permanent tax‐exempt loan in the 
amount of $14.6 million. Housing tax credit equity is anticipated to be $15.7 million. Deferred repayable 
loans from the City of Austin and the Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs add $6 million 
each, or $12 million total to the financing.  The final permanent sources include a Federal Home Loan Bank 
grant of $1 million and deferred developer fees of $2.9 million.  

TSAHC has been asked to form a joint venture with the Developer and become a member of the ownership 
entity. TSAHC’s involvement in the owner entity provides the project a property tax exemption, and the 
City of Austin is in support of the project with the tax exemption. Staff believes the property tax exemption 

Map of Project Area 

 

254



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Multifamily Private Activity Bond Project Summary 

Page 2 of 3 

is critical to the project reaching feasibility due to the number of extremely low‐income households being 
served and the high cost of construction and operations in the Austin market.  

Market Conditions: 

Cairn Point Montopolis will be located on Montopolis Drive in the heart of the Montopolis Neighborhood. 
The surrounding area  is predominately single‐family homes, although the site  is currently a vacant  lot. 
Directly south of the site is the Nuestra Senora de los Dolores Catholic church, and directly north is the 
Circulo de Amistad housing community developed by Habitat for Humanity with support from the City of 
Austin.  

Staff reviews educational options for all projects serving families. The project will be served primarily by 
Allison Elementary School, which received a School Progress grade of A from the Texas Education Agency 
(TEA)  in 2022. Allison  is also part of  the Eastside Early College High School  family, which  is a  focused 
program accelerating opportunities in science and technology careers for students. Eastside Early College 
High  School  participates  in  the  Johns  Hopkins  University  Secondary  Education  Talent  Development 
program and received a School Progress grade of B from the TEA in 2022.  

The project  is also close to a number of recreational facilities  including the Montopolis Recreation and 
Community Center, Roy G Guerrero Metropolitan Park, and the Colorado River Wildlife Sanctuary. Public 
transportation will be located directly in front of the project site by Capital Metro.  

The site has excellent access  to  the city’s central business district, manufacturing  facilities and Austin 
Bergstrom International Airport. Technical and job training facilities are located within two miles of the 
project site at the Austin Community College Montopolis campus. The project is also within .5 miles of the 
planned Yellow Line light rail project that will begin construction in 2024.  

Developer Summary: 

The Vecino Group was  formed  in 2011  and  specializes  in  the  financial  structure  and underwriting of 
affordable real estate development. Their real estate portfolio has grown to more than 3,200 units in nine 
states.  Not  only  has  the  company worked  in  traditional  housing  tax  credit  projects,  but  they  have 
expanded housing  and  services  through  the utilization of  Federal Home  Loan Bank AHP  grants, New 
Market Tax Credits, Shelter Plus Care and Project‐Based Vouchers, along with other  federal and state 
funding initiatives.  

The Vecino Group  is  led by J. Matthew Miller, CEO, and Rick Manzardo, President. Each has worked  in 
commercial and residential development for more than 20 years. Mr. Miller oversees the company’s daily 
operations, strategy and overall vision, while Mr. Manzardo  leads the company’s development teams, 
identifying new projects and maintaining their portfolio.   

TSAHC’s involvement in the ownership entity will provide us with a higher degree of oversight and control 
over  the project’s operations and  success. TSAHC will be  represented by Coats Rose as  Joint Venture 
Counsel, and we intend to structure the project similar to the recently closed Juniper Creek project, that 

255



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Multifamily Private Activity Bond Project Summary 

Page 3 of 3 

also received private activity bond volume cap through TSAHC. TSAHC closed on financing for two initial 
joint venture projects in 2023 that included Juniper Creek (Austin) and the Park on 14th (Plano). 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution Regarding the Submission of one or more Applications for 
Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to 
the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures with Proceeds 
of Future Debt for Cairn Point Montopolis. 

 

 

256



Cairn Point ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Project Summary

Project Summary

Applicant Cairn Point at Montopolis, LP

Project Name Cairn Point

Location
Address 1013 Montopolis Dr. City Austin
County: Travis State Texas 78741

Census Tract: 48453002321

Bonds
Max. Par Amount: 23,500,000$          Bond Type: PAB

Term of Bonds: 15 Allocation Year: 2021

Perm Funding Souces Amount % of Total

Citi ‐ Tax Exmpt Loan 14,636,000$       31.65%
‐$                     0.00%

HTC Equity 15,689,198$       33.93%
TDHCA NHTF 6,000,000$         12.98%
City of Austin RHDA 6,000,000$         12.98%
FHLB Dallas 1,000,000$         2.16%
Deferred Dev Fee 2,912,740$         6.30%
Totals 46,237,938$       100%
* not included in total

Market Summary City County State Census Tract

Population: 961,855               1,290,188           29,145,505         4,725                  
Median Age: 34                        35                        35                        33                       

Diversity Index: 65                        64                        ‐                       42                       

% Hispanic: 32% 33% 39% 80%

% Persons with Disability: 9% 8% 11% 15%

% Households that Rent: 55% 47% 38% 47%

Median Rents: 1,415                   1,422                   1,146                   1,092                  

% Renters Who are Cost Burdened: 29% 29% 30% 58%

Median Home Price: 381,400$            368,000$            202,600$            212,200$           

Median Household Income: 78,965$               85,043$               67,321$               38,602$              

Unemployment: 2.70% 2.80% 3.90% NA

Persons w/o Insurance: 13% 12% 18% 13%

Medically Underserved Area: NA NA NA NA

% Attending Public Schools: 89% 90% 92% 100%

Graduation Rate (Austin ISD) > = 90%

CRA Eligible Census Tract: Low Income

# of LI Projects and Units: 4 807

1 of 4

257



Cairn Point ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Summary Sources and Uses

Applicant Cairn Point at Montopolis, LP

Project Name Cairn Point

Number of Units 150

Sources Amount Amount Per Unit Percentage of Total

Citi ‐ Tax Exmpt Loan 14,636,000$                         97,573$                                32%

‐$                                       ‐$                                       0%

HTC Equity 15,689,198$                         104,595$                              34%

TDHCA NHTF 6,000,000$                           40,000$                                13%

City of Austin RHDA 6,000,000$                           40,000$                                13%

FHLB Dallas 1,000,000$                           6,667$                                   2%

Deferred Dev Fee 2,912,740$                           19,418$                                6%

Total Sources 46,237,938$                         308,252.92$                         100%

Uses

Acquisition 8,150,000$                           54,333.33$                           18%

Off‐Site Construction 115,000$                              766.67$                                0%

On‐Site Work 2,500,000$                           16,666.67$                           5%

Site Amenities 615,000$                              4,100.00$                             1%

Building Costs 17,038,750$                         113,591.67$                         37%

Other Const/Contingency 3,992,944$                           26,619.63$                           9%

Soft Costs 2,875,286$                           19,168.57$                           6%

Financing Costs 5,256,394$                           35,042.63$                           11%

Developer Fees 4,581,372$                           30,542.48$                           10%

Reserve Accounts 1,113,192$                           7,421.28$                             2%

Total Uses 46,237,938$                         308,252.92$                         100%

(Gap) / Reserve ‐$                                      

Percent of Developer Fee Deferred 63.58%

Summary of Sources and Uses

2 of 4
258



Cairn Point ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

Operating Proforma

Applicant Cairn Point at Montopolis, LP

Project Name Cairn Point

Total Units: 150                        30% AMI 23 % at 30% AMI 15% 80% AMI 0 % at 80% AMI: 0%

Min. Set Aside Election: 40% @ 60% AMI 40% AMI ‐                         % at 40% AMI 0% MR: 0 % at MR: 0%

Min. Afford. Units: 60                          50% AMI 87 % at 50% AMI 58%

Afford. Units: 150                        60% AMI 40 % at 60% AMI 27% Rental Assist: Yes ‐ Partial

% Affordable: 100% 70% AMI 0 % at 70% AMI 0% Accessible Unit Min: 8

Residential Income

Unit Type Unit Sq. Ft. Net Sq. Ft.  # units Rent Mo. Income  Inflator Rent Limiter Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

1/1 650 14,950                   23 657$                       15,111$                 1.02                    30% AMI 181,332$                184,959$                188,658$                192,431$                196,280$                216,709$                 239,264$                   

1/1 650 24,050                   37 1,095$                   40,515$                 1.02                    50% AMI 486,180$                495,904$                505,822$                515,938$                526,257$                581,030$                 641,504$                   

1/1 PBRA 650 32,500                   50 1,799$                   89,950$                 1.02                    50% AMI 1,079,400$             1,100,988$             1,123,008$             1,145,468$             1,168,377$             1,289,983$             1,424,245$               

1/1 650 26,000                   40 1,314$                   52,560$                 1.02                    60% AMI 630,720$                643,334$                656,201$                669,325$                682,712$                753,769$                 832,222$                   

Subtotals: 97,500                   150                         198,136$              

Other income: 10.00$                   1,500$                   1.02                    18,000.00$             18,360$                  18,727$                  19,102$                  19,484$                  21,512$                   23,751$                     

Potential gross income 2,395,632$             2,443,545$             2,492,416$             2,542,264$             2,593,109$             2,863,002$             3,160,986$               

Residential vacancy loss 7.50% (179,672)$               (183,266)$               (186,931)$               (190,670)$               (194,483)$               (214,725)$               (237,074)$                 

Effective Gross Residential Income 2,215,960$             2,260,279$             2,305,484$             2,351,594$             2,398,626$             2,648,277$             2,923,912$               

Operating Expenses TSAHC est. Borrower Yr 1 % EGI Variance Per Unit Inflator

General & Administrative 79,500$                 39,450$                 1.78 ‐50% 263$                   1.03 39,450$                  40,634$                  41,853$                  43,108$                  44,401$                  51,473$                   59,672$                     

Management Fee 72,900$                 110,798$               5.00 52% 739$                   1.03 110,798$                114,122$                117,546$                121,072$                124,704$                144,566$                 167,592$                   

Payroll and Related 208,650$               225,135$               10.16 8% 1,501$                1.03 225,135$                231,889$                238,846$                246,011$                253,391$                293,750$                 340,537$                   

Maintenance & Repair 122,400$               110,500$               4.99 ‐10% 737$                   1.03 110,500$                113,815$                117,229$                120,746$                124,369$                144,177$                 167,141$                   

Utilities 155,250$               240,085$               10.83 55% 1,601$                1.03 240,085$                247,288$                254,706$                262,347$                270,218$                313,256$                 363,150$                   

Insurance 69,750$                 250,000$               11.28 258% 1,667$                1.03 250,000$                257,500$                265,225$                273,182$                281,377$                326,193$                 378,147$                   

Tax Exempt 0.00 #DIV/0! ‐$                   1.03 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Operating Debt Service Reserves 0.00 #DIV/0! ‐$                   1.03 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Replacement reserves 37,500$                 37,500$                 1.69 0% 250$                   1.03 37,500$                  38,625$                  39,784$                  ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

HTC/HOME Compliance Fees 6,000$                   6,000$                   0.27 0% 40$                     1.03 6,000$                    6,180$                    6,365$                    6,556$                    6,753$                    7,829$                     9,076$                       

Bond Compliance Fees 6,750$                   6,750$                   0.30 0% 45$                     1.03 6,750$                    6,953$                    7,161$                    7,376$                    7,597$                    8,807$                     10,210$                     

Other (specify): Trustee Fee 30,000$                 20,000$                 0.90 ‐33% 133$                   1.03 20,000$                  20,600$                  21,218$                  21,855$                  22,510$                  26,095$                   30,252$                     

Total Operating Expenses 788,700$               1,046,218$            33% 6,974.79$          1,046,218$             1,077,605$             1,109,933$             1,102,253$             1,135,321$             1,316,148$             1,525,776$               

state avg 5,922.00$               per unit 6,975$                   7,184$                   7,400$                   7,348$                   7,569$                   8,774$                    10,172$                    

    Operating Expenses as a percentage of Effective Gross Income 47.2% 47.7% 48.1% 46.9% 47.3% 49.7% 52.2%

NET OPERATING INCOME 1,169,742$             1,182,674$             1,195,552$             1,249,341$             1,263,305$             1,332,129$             1,398,135$               

3 of 4
259



Cairn Point ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

NET OPERATING INCOME 1,169,742$             1,182,674$             1,195,552$             1,249,341$             1,263,305$             1,332,129$             1,398,135$               

PRIMARY DEBT SERVICE Principal Rate Amort Term Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

Citi ‐ Tax Exmpt Loan 14,636,000$          6.25% 40 17 997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                 997,132$                   

Total Primary Debt 14,636,000$          997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                997,132$                 997,132$                   

14,636$                 98.00% 14,636$                  14,636$                  14,636$                  14,636$                  14,636$                  14,636$                   14,636$                     

Net Cashflow After Primary Debt 157,973$                170,906$                183,783$                237,572$                251,537$                320,360$                 386,367$                   

DSCR Primary Debt 1.16 1.17 1.18 1.23 1.25 1.32 1.38

SOFT SUBORDINATE DEBT & EQUITY

HTC Equity 15,689,198$         

TDHCA NHTF 6,000,000$            ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

City of Austin RHDA 6,000,000$           

FHLB Dallas 1,000,000$           

Deferred Dev Fee 2,912,740$           

Total Secondary Debt 31,601,938$          Net Cash Flow of Secondary Debts 157,973$                170,906$                183,783$                237,572$                251,537$                320,360$                 386,367$                   

Total Sources 46,237,938$         

TSAHC Issuer Fee

4 of 4
260



Tab 7 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution 
Authorizing the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation to take 
preliminary action to carry out the financing of Cairn Point at 
Montopolis located in Austin, Texas, including creating entities, 
negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to obtain debt and 
grant financing for the Project. 

261



4885-7883-1254.v2 

CERTIFICATION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
 § 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE § 
HOUSING CORPORATION § 

I, the undersigned officer of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Corporation”), do hereby certify as follows: 

1. The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) convened on December 19, 
2023, at the Corporation’s offices in Austin, Texas, and the roll was called of the duly 
constituted members of said Board, who are as follows: 

Name Office 
  
William H. Dietz  Chairperson 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director 
Lemuel Williams Director 
David A. Rassin Director 
  

2. The officers of the Corporation (who are not Board members) are as follows: 

Name Office 
  
David Long President   
Janie Taylor Executive Vice President  
Melinda Smith Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
Rebecca DeLeon Secretary   
Cynthia Gonzales Assistant Secretary  
  

All Board members were present except ______________________________, thus constituting a 
quorum.  All of the officers of the Corporation were present at the meeting. 

3. Whereupon, among other business, the following written resolution (the “Resolution”) 
bearing the following caption: 

“RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TEXAS STATE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION TO TAKE 
PRELIMINARY ACTION TO CARRY OUT THE FINANCING 
OF CAIRN POINT MONTOPOLIS LOCATED IN AUSTIN, 
TEXAS, INCLUDING CREATING ENTITIES, NEGOTIATING 

262



- 2 - 
4885-7883-1254.v2 

FINANCE DOCUMENTS, AND FILING APPLICATIONS TO 
OBTAIN DEBT AND GRANT FINANCING FOR THE 
PROJECT.” 

was duly introduced for the consideration of said Board and read in full. It was then duly moved 
and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion and request for comments, 
said motion prevailed and was carried by the following vote: 

_ AYES _ NOS _ ABSTENTIONS 

4. That a true, full and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the meeting described in the 
above is attached to this certificate; that the adoption of the Resolution will be duly 
recorded in the Board’s minutes of the meeting; that the persons named above are the duly 
chosen, qualified and acting members of the Board and the officers of the Corporation, as 
indicated; that each member of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and 
personally, in advance, of the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and that 
the Resolution would be introduced and considered for adoption at said meeting.  

SIGNED this 19th day of December, 2023. 

  
Rebecca DeLeon,  
Secretary, Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 

263



- 3 - 
4885-7883-1254.v2 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TEXAS STATE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION TO TAKE 
PRELIMINARY ACTION TO CARRY OUT THE FINANCING 
OF CAIRN POINT MONTOPOLIS LOCATED IN AUSTIN, 
TEXAS, INCLUDING CREATING ENTITIES, NEGOTIATING 
FINANCE DOCUMENTS, AND FILING APPLICATIONS TO 
OBTAIN DEBT AND GRANT FINANCING FOR THE 
PROJECT. 

WHEREAS, the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Corporation”) has 
been duly created and organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 22 
of the Texas Business Organizations Code, and under the authority of Subchapter Y of Chapter 
2306 of the Texas Government Code, in each case, as amended; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will negotiate and enter into a Memorandum of 
Understanding (“MOU”) with Vecino Group to set forth the terms of the agreement for the 
acquisition, development, construction, equipment, operation, and leasing of a 150-unit affordable 
multifamily housing project to be located at approximately 1013 Montopolis Drive, Austin, Texas, 
78741, to be known as CAIRN POINT MONTOPOLIS (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will form a Texas limited partnership or limited liability 
company (the “Partnership”) to develop, construct, equip, operate, and lease the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will form and serve as the sole member of a Texas limited 
liability company (the “General Partner”), which will serve as the general partner of the 
Partnership;  

WHEREAS, the Project is intended to be constructed upon real property to be owned by 
the Corporation and ground leased to the Partnership, pursuant to a long-term ground lease 
between the Corporation, as landlord, and the Partnership, as tenant; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation may serve as a co-developer of the Project; 

WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Project, the Partnership plans to 
submit or has submitted a 4% housing tax credit application (the “Application”) to the Texas 
Department of Housing and Community Affairs (“TDHCA”); 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Partnership’s preparation and submission of the 
Application, the Corporation desires to participate as nonprofit sponsor, co-developer, and as sole 
member of the General Partner; 

WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Project, the Partnership may apply 
for and/or obtain a loan from TDHCA (a “TDHCA Loan”) as additional funding for the Project, 

264



- 4 - 
4885-7883-1254.v2 

and in connection therewith may be required to review, negotiate, and/or enter into various 
documents; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Corporation 
(the “Board”): 

Section 1. Authorization for the Negotiation and Entrance into the MOU.  That the 
Board hereby authorizes the Corporation to participate in the negotiation and entrance into the 
MOU.  

Section 2. Authorization of the Formation of the Partnership and General Partner.  
That the Board hereby authorizes the Corporation to form the Partnership and General Partner and 
be admitted to the General Partner as the sole member thereof. 

Section 3. Authorization of the Participation in the Application.  That the Board hereby 
authorizes the Corporation, General Partner, and/or Partnership to participate in the filing of the 
Application for the Project. 

Section 4. Authorization to Obtain a TDHCA Loan.  That the Board hereby authorizes 
the Corporation, General Partner, and/or Partnership to obtain a TDHCA Loan, execute any 
writings and documentation as the Partnership may deem advisable or necessary to carry into effect 
the intent of these resolutions and to take such steps as the Partnership deems necessary in 
connection with obtaining a TDHCA Loan.  

Section 5. Execution and Delivery of Certain Documents.  That the Board hereby 
authorizes David Long, as the President of the Corporation, Janie Long, as the Executive Vice 
President of the Corporation, and any and all Board Members of the Corporation listed on the 
certificate accompanying this Resolution, to consent to, accept, execute and attest to formation 
documents and such other certificates, documents, instruments, letters of instruction, written 
requests and other papers, whether or not mentioned herein, as may be necessary or convenient to 
carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution, to the extent the President or 
Executive Vice President or any such Board Member concludes such documents are in the best 
interest of the Corporation. 

Section 6. Taking of Ancillary Actions.  The President and the Executive Vice 
President are each, in the name and on behalf of the Corporation (on its own behalf and in the 
representative capacity identified in these resolutions), authorized by the Board of Directors, in 
consultation with counsel, to do or cause to be done any and all such acts and things as may be 
necessary or convenient to carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution, to the 
extent the President or Executive Vice President or any such Board Member concludes such 
actions are in the best interest of the Corporation. 

Section 7. Ratification of Prior Actions.  That all prior actions taken by any officer of 
the Corporation in the name and on behalf of the Corporation in connection with the matters 
described herein are hereby authorized, ratified, confirmed and approved. 

265



- 5 - 
4885-7883-1254.v2 

Section 8. Purposes of Resolution.  That the Board has expressly determined and 
hereby confirms that the matters described herein accomplish a valid public purpose of the 
Corporation. 

Section 9. Conflicting Prior Actions.  That all orders, resolutions, or any actions or 
parts thereof of the Board in conflict herewith are hereby expressly repealed to the extent of any 
such conflict. 

Section 10. Severability.  That any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 
Resolution shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

Section 11. Effective Date.  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from 
and upon its adoption. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

266



4885-7883-1254.v2 

APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this 19th day of December, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 

Valerie Cardenas, Vice Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

Rebecca DeLeon, Secretary 
Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 

267



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

Page 1 of 3 

Agenda: 

Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing  the Texas State Affordable 
Housing Corporation  to  take preliminary  action  to  carry out  the  financing of Cairn  Point Montopolis 
located in Austin, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications 
to obtain debt and grant financing for the Project. 

Summary: 

TSAHC  received  an  ACT  Joint  Venture  application  from 
Vecino  Group,  on  October  2,  2023,  proposing  the 
construction of a 150‐unit affordable apartment community 
located  in  Austin  to  be  called  Cairn  Point  at Montopolis. 
TSAHC  is being asked  to  form a  joint  venture partnership 
with the Developer and become a member of the ownership 
entity that will own and oversee operations of the project.  

Public Benefit: 

Cairn Point Montopolis will  create 150‐units of affordable 
rental housing targeted for low‐income households. Currently, 23 units will be reserved for households 
earning up to 30% of the area median income (AMI), 87 units for 50% AMI households, and 40 units for 
60% AMI households. The project qualifies under TSAHC’s ACT Joint Venture Guidelines Targeted Housing 
Needs for reserving 10% or more of its units for families earning 30% or less of the AMI.  

Financial Summary: 

Cairn Point Montopolis has a total budget of approximately $46.2 million. The proposed financing includes 
tax‐exempt bonds, deferred repayable loans, grants and 4% housing tax credits. The project’s direct costs 
include $8.2 million for acquisition and $24.3 million for hard construction (approx. $162,000 per unit). 
Soft costs of $2.9 million, financing costs of $5.3 million, reserve accounts at $1.1 million and developer 
fees at $4.6 million round out total costs.  

The anticipated maximum par amount of  the bonds  is $23.5 million. This amount will be used during 
construction. Citi Community Capital has been identified to provide a permanent tax‐exempt loan in the 
amount of $14.6 million. Housing tax credit equity is anticipated to be $15.7 million.  Deferred repayable 
loans from the City of Austin and the Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs add $6 million 
each, or $12 million total to the financing.  The final permanent sources include a Federal Home Loan Bank 
grant of $1 million and deferred developer fees of $2.9 million.  

TSAHC has been asked to form a joint venture with the Developer and become a member of the ownership 
entity. TSAHC’s involvement in the owner entity provides the project a property tax exemption, and the 
City of Austin is in support of the project with the tax exemption.  Letters of support for the project have 
been received from the Austin Housing Finance Corporation and Housing Authority of the City of Austin. 
Staff believes the property tax exemption is critical to the project reaching feasibility, due to the number 

Map of Project Area 

268



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

Page 2 of 3 

of extremely low‐income households being served and the high cost of construction and operations in the 
Austin market.  

Market Conditions: 

Cairn Point Montopolis will be located on Montopolis Drive in the heart of the Montopolis Neighborhood. 
The surrounding area  is predominately single‐family homes, although the site  is currently a vacant  lot. 
Directly south of the site is the Nuestra Senora de los Dolores Catholic church, and directly north is the 
Circulo de Amistad housing community developed by Habitat for Humanity with support from the City of 
Austin.  

Staff reviews educational options for all projects serving families. The project will be served primarily by 
Allison Elementary School, which received a School Progress grade of A from the Texas Education Agency 
(TEA)  in 2022. Allison  is also part of  the Eastside Early College High School  family, which  is a  focused 
program accelerating opportunities in science and technology careers for students. Eastside Early College 
High  School  participates  in  the  Johns  Hopkins  University  Secondary  Education  Talent  Development 
program and received a School Progress grade of a B from the TEA in 2022.  

The project  is also close to a number of recreational facilities  including the Montopolis Recreation and 
Community Center, Roy G Guerrero Metropolitan Park, and the Colorado River Wildlife Sanctuary. Public 
transportation will be located directly in front of the project site by Capital Metro.  

The site has excellent access  to  the city’s central business district, manufacturing  facilities and Austin 
Bergstrom International Airport. Technical and job training facilities are located within two miles of the 
project site at the Austin Community College Montopolis campus. The project is also within .5 miles of the 
planned Yellow Line light rail project, that will begin construction in 2024.  

Developer Summary: 

The Vecino Group was  formed  in 2011  and  specializes  in  the  financial  structure  and underwriting of 
affordable real estate development. Their real estate portfolio has grown to more than 3,200 units in nine 
states.  Not  only  has  the  company worked  in  traditional  housing  tax  credit  projects,  but  they  have 
expanded housing  and  services  through  the utilization of  Federal Home  Loan Bank AHP  grants, New 
Market Tax Credits, Shelter Plus Care and Project‐Based Vouchers, along with other  federal and state 
funding initiatives.  

The Vecino Group  is  led by J. Matthew Miller, CEO, and Rick Manzardo, President. Each has worked  in 
commercial and residential development for more than 20 years. Mr. Miller oversees the company’s daily 
operations, strategy and overall vision, while Mr. Manzardo  leads the company’s development teams, 
identifying new projects and maintaining their portfolio.   

TSAHC’s involvement in the ownership entity will provide us with a higher degree of oversight and control 
over  the project’s operations and  success. TSAHC will be  represented by Coats Rose as  Joint Venture 
Counsel, and we intend to structure the project similar to the recently closed Juniper Creek project, that 

269



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

Page 3 of 3 

also received private activity bond volume cap through TSAHC. TSAHC closed on financing for two initial 
joint venture projects in 2023 that included Juniper Creek (Austin) and the Park on 14th (Plano). 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Cairn Point Montopolis located in Austin, Texas, 
including creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to obtain debt and grant 
financing for the Project. 

 

270



Tab 8 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution 
regarding the submission of one or more Applications for Allocation of 
Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State 
Bond Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of 
Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures with proceeds of future debt for 
Burleson Studios. 

271



138151552.2 / 1001277871 

MINUTES AND CERTIFICATION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE § 
HOUSING CORPORATION § 

The Board of Directors of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Corporation”) convened on December 19, 2023, at the designated meeting place in Austin, 
Texas, and roll was called of the duly constituted members of said Board of Directors, to-wit: 

Name Office 
William H. Dietz Chairperson 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director 
Lemuel Williams Director 
David Rassin Director 

and all of said persons were present during the meeting except                                          , thus 
constituting a quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted, to-wit:  
a written resolution (the “Resolution”) bearing the following caption was introduced for the 
consideration of said Board: 

“RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 

RESOLUTION Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of 
Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to the Texas 
Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse 
Expenditures with Proceeds of Future Debt for Burleson Studios” 

Upon motion duly made and seconded, the Resolution was finally passed and adopted by 
the following vote: 

  AYES   NOES   ABSTENTIONS 

MINUTES APPROVED AND CERTIFIED TO BE TRUE AND CORRECT and to reflect 
accurately the duly constituted officers and members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, 
and the attached and following copy of such Resolution is hereby certified to be a true and correct 
copy of an official copy thereof on file among the official records of the Corporation. 

272



138151552.2 / 1001277871 2

SIGNED this December 19, 2023. 

Secretary, Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 

273



138151552.2 / 1001277871 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 
RESOLUTION Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of 
Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to the Texas 
Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse 
Expenditures with Proceeds of Future Debt for Burleson Studios 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
(the “Corporation”) desires to submit one or more calendar year 2024 Applications for Allocation 
of Private Activity Bonds, a calendar year 2024 Application for Carryforward for Private Activity 
Bonds, one or more calendar year 2025 Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds 
and/or a calendar year 2025 Application for Carryforward for Private Activity Bonds (collectively, 
the “Application”) to the Texas Bond Review Board in connection with tax-exempt obligations in 
a principal amount not to exceed $21,600,000 (the “Bonds”) relating to a qualified residential 
rental housing project to be located at or about 7905 Burleson Road, Austin, Texas 78744, Travis 
County (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the Corporation intends to issue the Bonds and loan the proceeds to 
FC Burleson Housing, LP or another affiliate of Foundation Communities, Inc. (the “Borrower”), 
which will be the initial legal owner and will use the proceeds for acquiring, constructing and 
equipping the Project subject to a ground lease between Mobile Loaves and Fishes, Inc. and the 
Borrower; 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the Borrower will make certain capital expenditures with 
respect to the Project and currently desires and expects to reimburse the capital expenditures 
with proceeds of such debt; 

WHEREAS, under Treas. Reg. § 1.150-2 (the “Regulation”), to fund such reimbursement 
with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations, the Corporation must declare its expectation to make 
such reimbursement; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to preserve the ability of the Borrower to reimburse 
the capital expenditures with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to make all other appropriate filings and requests to the 
Texas Bond Review Board to enable the Corporation to issue the Bonds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION: 

1. That the President, Executive Vice President or any officer of the Corporation is hereby
authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Application to the Texas Bond Review Board 
in connection with requesting allocation in the maximum amount of $21,600,000 for the Bonds, 
together with any documents, certificates or instruments related thereto. 

2. That the President, Executive Vice President or any other officer of the Corporation is
hereby authorized and directed to file with the Texas Bond Review Board one or more notices of 
intent to issue bonds and/or one or more state debt bond applications in connection with the 
Bonds and such officers are further authorized and directed to request that the application(s) be 
approved by the Texas Bond Review Board in accordance with Chapter 181 of the Texas 
Administrative Code, as amended. 

274



138151552.2 / 1001277871 2

3. That the President, Executive Vice President or any other officer of the Corporation is
hereby authorized and directed to take any and all other actions necessary or incidental to 
securing the private activity bond allocation(s), the approval of the Bonds from the Texas Bond 
Review Board and requesting non-traditional carryforward of private activity bond allocation if 
needed. 

4. That the Corporation reasonably expects that the Borrower will reimburse capital
expenditures with respect to the Project with proceeds of debt hereafter to be incurred by the 
Corporation, and that this resolution shall constitute a declaration of official intent under the 
Regulation.  The maximum principal amount of obligations expected to be issued for the Project 
by the Corporation is $21,600,000. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this December 19, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING CORPORATION 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

275



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Multifamily Private Activity Bond Project Summary 

Page 1 of 2 

Agenda: 

Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Regarding the Submission of one or more 
Applications for Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond 
Applications to the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures 
with Proceeds of Future Debt for Burleson Studios. 

Summary: 

TSAHC received an application from Foundation 
Communities (FC) on October 2, 2023, proposing the 
construction of a 100-unit Single Residency Occupancy (SRO) 
community located in Austin to be called Burleson Studios.  

Public Benefit: 

Burleson Studios will create 100 affordable SRO apartment 
units targeted to extremely low-income single adults, many 
of which will be exiting homelessness. The units will be located within a Community First Village under 
development by fellow nonprofit Mobile Loaves and Fishes. Currently, 50-units will be reserved for 
households earning up to 30% of the area median income (AMI) and 50-units will be reserved for 
households earning up to 50% AMI. The project qualifies under TSAHC’s service enriched targeted housing 
need because the units serving those at 30% AMI and persons facing homelessness exceeds 10% of total 
project units.  

Financial Summary: 

Burleson Studios has a total budget of approximately $36.1 million. The proposed financing includes tax-
exempt bonds, deferred forgivable loans, grants, fundraising, and 4% housing tax credits. Property 
acquisition costs are minimal ($10,000) since the land is being leased from Mobile Loaves and Fishes under 
a 99-year ground lease agreement with a $0 lease payment. Total construction costs are estimated at 
$26.3 million, or $262,800 per unit. Soft costs of $1.6 million, financing costs of $3.5 million, reserve 
accounts at $600,000, and developer fees at $4.1 million round out total costs.  

The anticipated maximum par amount of the bonds is $21.6 million. FC is coordinating an RFP process to 
select a construction lender, bond purchaser, underwriter, and investor. FC has provided a letter of intent 
from Wells Fargo for these services. In order to reach extremely low-income households, the project will 
not include permanent debt. Other soft subordinate debt includes $12.2 million in housing tax credits, 
$15 million in American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) loan funds from Travis County, a $1.85 million FHLB loan, 
a $1 million grant from the Dell Foundation, $ 1.5 million in Capital Magnet loan funds, a $ 1.95 million FC 
sponsor loan and a $500,000 grant from the St. David’s foundation. The financing also includes deferred 
developer fees of $2 million.  

Market Conditions: 

Burleson Studios will be located in Southeast Austin within a Community First Village under development 
by Mobile Loaves and Fishes. The site is surrounded by light commercial/industrial activity and is bordered 

Map of Project Area 

276



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
Multifamily Private Activity Bond Project Summary 

Page 2 of 2 

by McKinney Falls Parkway and Hwy 183. The property is situated between McKinney Falls State Park and 
Austin Bergstrom International Airport.  Both are five miles away.   

Residents at Burleson Studios will have access to FC’s extensive services which will include case 
management, fitness classes, healthy food pantry, etc., and will have access to the community-oriented 
amenities within the Community First Village. Fifty future tenants will be referred from the local 
Coordinated Entry system for the homeless and receive subsidies via project-based vouchers.  

Developer Summary: 

Foundation Communities (FC) is a nationally recognized Austin based nonprofit, developing affordable 
housing and providing community services for 30+ years. FC currently owns and manages 24 affordable 
housing communities in Austin and serves over 7,000 residents. FC is known for serving the full spectrum 
of economic groups from providing rental housing for low- and moderate-income families and seniors, to 
owning and operating several single room occupancy apartments that target extremely low-income 
persons at risk of becoming or who are formerly homeless.  

FC has received several Texas Foundation Fund grant awards from TSAHC for the provision of service 
enriched housing. In addition to housing, FC provides numerous services including after school care, 
educational programs, tax preparation workshops, community meeting space and much more. Their 
family self-sufficiency program has helped hundreds of families save for college, build small businesses, 
make down payments to purchase a home and improve family wealth through financial education and 
savings programs. 

TSAHC is currently working with FC as bond issuer on the Normon Crossing apartments project set to close 
in December 2023.  In July of 2023, TSAHC closed on FC’s Juniper Creek apartments, serving as bond issuer 
and joint venture partner. The project is currently under construction.   

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution Regarding the Submission of one or more Applications for 
Allocation of Private Activity Bonds, Notices of Intention to Issue Bonds and State Bond Applications to 
the Texas Bond Review Board and Declaration of Expectation to Reimburse Expenditures with Proceeds 
of Future Debt for Burleson Studios. 

 

 

277



Burleson ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Project Summary

Project Summary

Applicant Foundation Communities

Project Name Burleson Studios

Location
Address 7905 Burleson Road City Austin
County: Travis State Texas 78744

Census Tract: 48453002432

Bonds
Max. Par Amount: 21,600,000$          Bond Type: PAB

Term of Bonds: 30 mos Allocation Year: 2021

Perm Funding Souces Amount % of Total

No Perm Debt ‐$                     0.00%
‐$                     0.00%

HTC Equity 12,167,636$       33.78%
Travis County 15,000,000$       41.65%
FHLB ‐ Loan 1,850,000$         5.14%
FC Sponsor Loan 1,948,872$         5.41%
Dell Foundation 1,000,000$         2.78%
CMF Loan  1,500,000$         4.16%
St. David's Grant 500,000$             1.39%
Deferred Dev Fee 2,050,000$         5.69%
Totals 36,016,508$       100%
* not included in total

Market Summary City County State Census Tract

Population: 961,855               1,290,188           29,145,505         4,097                  

Median Age: 34                         35                         35                         34                        

Diversity Index: 65                         64                         ‐                       53                        

% Hispanic: 32% 33% 39% 54%

% Persons with Disability: 9% 8% 11% 9%

% Households that Rent: 55% 47% 38% 14%

Median Rents: 1,415                   1,422                   1,146                   1,761                  

% Renters Who are Cost Burdened: 29% 29% 30% 31%

Median Home Price: 381,400$             368,000$             202,600$             303,200$            

Median Household Income: 78,965$               85,043$               67,321$               103,047$            

Unemployment: 2.70% 2.80% 3.90% NA

Persons w/o Insurance: 13% 12% 18% 23%

Medically Underserved Area: NA NA NA NA

% Attending Public Schools: 89% 90% 92% 90%

Graduation Rate (Austin ISD) > = 90%

CRA Eligible Census Tract: Not Eligible

# of LI Projects and Units: 3 745

1 of 4
278



Burleson ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Summary Sources and Uses

Applicant Foundation Communities

Project Name Burleson Studios

Number of Units 100

Sources Amount Amount Per Unit Percentage of Total

No Perm Debt ‐$                                       ‐$                                       0%

‐$                                       ‐$                                       0%

HTC Equity 12,167,636$                         121,676$                              34%

Travis County 15,000,000$                         150,000$                              42%

FHLB ‐ Loan 1,850,000$                           18,500$                                5%

FC Sponsor Loan 1,948,872$                           19,489$                                5%

Dell Foundation 1,000,000$                           10,000$                                3%

CMF Loan  1,500,000$                           15,000$                                4%

St. David's Grant 500,000$                              5,000$                                   1%

Deferred Dev Fee 2,050,000$                           20,500$                                6%

Total Sources 36,016,508$                         360,165.08$                         100%

Uses

Acquisition 5,000$                                   50.00$                                   0%

Off‐Site Construction ‐$                                       ‐$                                       0%

On‐Site Work 2,747,971$                           27,479.71$                           8%

Site Amenities 436,308$                              4,363.08$                             1%

Building Costs 18,806,964$                         188,069.64$                         52%

Other Const/Contingency 4,285,007$                           42,850.07$                           12%

Soft Costs 1,556,100$                           15,561.00$                           4%

Financing Costs 3,504,841$                           35,048.41$                           10%

Developer Fees 4,100,000$                           41,000.00$                           11%

Reserve Accounts 574,317$                              5,743.17$                             2%

Total Uses 36,016,508$                         360,165.08$                         100%

(Gap) / Reserve ‐$                                      

Percent of Developer Fee Deferred 24.39%

Summary of Sources and Uses

2 of 4
279



Burleson ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

Operating Proforma

Applicant Foundation Communities

Project Name Burleson Studios

Total Units: 100                        30% AMI 50                           % at 30% AMI 50% 80% AMI 0 % at 80% AMI: 0

Min. Set Aside Election: 40% @ 60% AMI 40% AMI ‐                         % at 40% AMI 0% MR: 0 % at MR: 0

Min. Afford. Units: 40 50% AMI 50                           % at 50% AMI 50%

Afford. Units: 100 60% AMI ‐                         % at 60% AMI 0% Rental Assist: Yes ‐ Partial

% Affordable: 100% 70% AMI ‐                         % at 70% AMI 0% Accessible Unit Min: 5

Residential Income

Unit Type Unit Sq. Ft. Net Sq. Ft.  # units Rent Mo. Income  Inflator Rent Limiter Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

0/1 PBRA 481 24,050                   50 1,378$                   68,900$                 1.02                    30% AMI 826,800$                843,336$                860,203$                877,407$                894,955$                988,103$                 1,090,945$               

0/1 481 20,683                   43 657$                       28,251$                 1.02                    50% AMI 339,012$                345,792$                352,708$                359,762$                366,957$                405,151$                 447,319$                   

0/1 479 3,353                      7 657$                       4,599$                   1.02                    50% AMI 55,188$                  56,292$                  57,418$                  58,566$                  59,737$                  65,955$                   72,819$                     

Subtotals: 48,086                   100                         101,750$              

Other income: 13.76$                   1,376$                   1.02                    16,512.00$             16,842$                  17,179$                  17,523$                  17,873$                  19,733$                   21,787$                     

Potential gross income 1,237,512$             1,262,262$             1,287,507$             1,313,258$             1,339,523$             1,478,941$             1,632,871$               

Residential vacancy loss 7.50% (92,813)$                 (94,670)$                 (96,563)$                 (98,494)$                 (100,464)$               (110,921)$               (122,465)$                 

Effective Gross Residential Income 1,144,699$             1,167,593$             1,190,944$             1,214,763$             1,239,059$             1,368,021$             1,510,405$               

Operating Expenses TSAHC est. Borrower Yr 1 % EGI Variance Per Unit Inflator

General & Administrative 53,000$                 55,047$                 4.81 4% 550$                   1.03 55,047$                  56,698$                  58,399$                  60,151$                  61,956$                  71,824$                   83,264$                     

Management Fee 48,600$                 68,682$                 6.00 41% 687$                   1.03 68,682$                  70,742$                  72,865$                  75,051$                  77,302$                  89,614$                   103,888$                   

Payroll and Related 139,100$               451,560$               39.45 225% 4,516$                1.03 451,560$                465,107$                479,060$                493,432$                508,235$                589,183$                 683,025$                   

Maintenance & Repair 81,600$                 85,672$                 7.48 5% 857$                   1.03 85,672$                  88,242$                  90,889$                  93,616$                  96,425$                  111,783$                 129,587$                   

Utilities 103,500$               95,512$                 8.34 ‐8% 955$                   1.03 95,512$                  98,377$                  101,329$                104,369$                107,500$                124,621$                 144,470$                   

Insurance 46,500$                 67,125$                 5.86 44% 671$                   1.03 67,125$                  69,139$                  71,213$                  73,349$                  75,550$                  87,583$                   101,533$                   

Taxes 30,000$                 2.62 #DIV/0! 300$                   1.03 30,000$                  30,900$                  31,827$                  32,782$                  33,765$                  39,143$                   45,378$                     

Operating Debt Service Reserves 0.00 #DIV/0! ‐$                   1.03 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Replacement reserves 50,000$                 50,000$                 4.37 0% 500$                   1.03 50,000$                  51,500$                  53,045$                  ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

HTC/HOME Compliance Fees 4,000$                   4,000$                   0.35 0% 40$                     1.03 4,000$                    4,120$                    4,244$                    4,371$                    4,502$                    5,219$                     6,050$                       

Bond Compliance Fees 4,500$                   4,500$                   0.39 0% 45$                     1.03 4,500$                    4,635$                    4,774$                    4,917$                    5,065$                    5,871$                     6,807$                       

Other (specify): Trustee Fee 36,036$                 36,036$                 3.15 0% 360$                   1.03 36,036$                  37,117$                  38,231$                  39,378$                  40,559$                  47,019$                   54,508$                     

Total Operating Expenses 566,836$               948,134$               67% 9,481.34$          948,134$                976,578$                1,005,875$             981,415$                1,010,858$             1,171,861$             1,358,508$               

state avg 5,922.00$               per unit 9,481$                   9,766$                   10,059$                 9,814$                   10,109$                 11,719$                  13,585$                    

    Operating Expenses as a percentage of Effective Gross Income 82.8% 83.6% 84.5% 80.8% 81.6% 85.7% 89.9%

NET OPERATING INCOME 196,565$                191,015$                185,069$                233,348$                228,201$                196,160$                151,897$                  

3 of 4
280



Burleson ‐ Underwriting Draft.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

NET OPERATING INCOME 196,565$                191,015$                185,069$                233,348$                228,201$                196,160$                151,897$                  

PRIMARY DEBT SERVICE Principal Rate Amort Term Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

No Perm Debt ‐$                       0.00% 0 0 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Total Primary Debt ‐$                       ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

5,000$                   98.00% 5,000$                    5,000$                    5,000$                    5,000$                    5,000$                    5,000$                     5,000$                       

Net Cashflow After Primary Debt 191,565$                186,015$                180,069$                228,348$                223,201$                191,160$                 146,897$                   

DSCR Primary Debt 39.31 38.20 37.01 46.67 45.64 39.23 30.38

SOFT SUBORDINATE DEBT & EQUITY Rate Cash Flow After CF % of CF

HTC Equity 12,167,636$          No No

Travis County 15,000,000$          0.00% No No

FHLB ‐ Loan 1,850,000$            3.00% Yes Yes 0.5 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         73,449$                     

FC Sponsor Loan 1,948,872$            3.00% Yes Yes 0.5 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         73,449$                     

Dell Foundation 1,000,000$            No No

CMF Loan  1,500,000$            No No

St. David's Grant 500,000$               No No

Deferred Dev Fee 2,050,000$            Balance Dev Fee: 0$                       191,565$                186,015$                180,069$                228,348$                223,201$                191,160$                

Total Secondary Debt 36,016,508$          Net Cash Flow After Secondary Debts: ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

TSAHC Issuer Fee

4 of 4
281



Tab 9 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution 
Authorizing the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation to take 
preliminary action to carry out the financing of Boulevard 61 located in 
Houston, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance 
documents, and filing applications to obtain debt and grant financing for 
the Project. 

282



4831-2913-2214.v1 

CERTIFICATION 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE § 
HOUSING CORPORATION § 

I, the undersigned officer of the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the 
“Corporation”), do hereby certify as follows: 

1. The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) convened on December 19,
2023, at the Corporation’s offices in Austin, Texas, and the roll was called of the duly
constituted members of said Board, who are as follows:

Name Office 

William H. Dietz Chairperson 
Valerie Vargas Cardenas Vice Chairperson 
Courtney Johnson-Rose Director 
Lemuel Williams Director 
David A. Rassin Director 

2. The officers of the Corporation (who are not Board members) are as follows:

Name Office 

David Long President   
Janie Taylor Executive Vice President  
Melinda Smith Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
Rebecca DeLeon Secretary   
Cynthia Gonzales Assistant Secretary  

All Board members were present except ______________________________, thus constituting a 
quorum.  All of the officers of the Corporation were present at the meeting.

3. Whereupon, among other business, the following written resolution (the “Resolution”)
bearing the following caption:

“RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TEXAS STATE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION TO TAKE 
PRELIMINARY ACTION TO CARRY OUT THE FINANCING 
OF BOULEVARD 61 LOCATED IN HOUSTON, TEXAS, 
INCLUDING CREATING ENTITIES, NEGOTIATING 

283



- 2 -
4831-2913-2214.v1 

FINANCE DOCUMENTS, AND FILING APPLICATIONS TO 
OBTAIN DEBT AND GRANT FINANCING FOR THE 
PROJECT.” 

was duly introduced for the consideration of said Board and read in full. It was then duly moved 
and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion and request for comments, 
said motion prevailed and was carried by the following vote: 

_ AYES _ NOS _ ABSTENTIONS 

4. That a true, full and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the meeting described in the
above is attached to this certificate; that the adoption of the Resolution will be duly
recorded in the Board’s minutes of the meeting; that the persons named above are the duly
chosen, qualified and acting members of the Board and the officers of the Corporation, as
indicated; that each member of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and
personally, in advance, of the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and that
the Resolution would be introduced and considered for adoption at said meeting.

SIGNED this 19th day of December, 2023. 

Rebecca DeLeon,  
Secretary, Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation 

284



- 3 -
4831-2913-2214.v1 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-___ 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TEXAS STATE 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION TO TAKE 
PRELIMINARY ACTION TO CARRY OUT THE FINANCING 
OF BOULEVARD 61 LOCATED IN HOUSTON, TEXAS, 
INCLUDING CREATING ENTITIES, NEGOTIATING 
FINANCE DOCUMENTS, AND FILING APPLICATIONS TO 
OBTAIN DEBT AND GRANT FINANCING FOR THE 
PROJECT. 

WHEREAS, the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (the “Corporation”) has 
been duly created and organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 22 
of the Texas Business Organizations Code, and under the authority of Subchapter Y of Chapter 
2306 of the Texas Government Code, in each case, as amended; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will negotiate and enter into a Memorandum of 
Understanding (“MOU”) with DMA Development Company, LLC, a Texas limited liability 
company (“DMA”), to set forth the terms of the agreement for the acquisition, development, 
construction, equipment, operation, and leasing of a 100-unit affordable multifamily housing 
project to be located at approximately 6101 Richmond Avenue, Houston, Texas, 77057, to be 
known as Boulevard 61 (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, Houston DMA Housing III, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (the 
“Company”), was formed to develop, construct, equip, operate, and lease the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation will form and serve as the managing member of TSAHC 
Boulevard 61, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (the “Managing Member”), which will 
serve as the managing member of the Company;  

WHEREAS, the Project is intended to be constructed upon real property to be owned by 
the Corporation and ground leased to the Company, pursuant to a long-term ground lease between 
the Corporation, as landlord, and the Company, as tenant; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation may serve as a co-developer of the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Corporation and/or Managing Member will assist in the Company’s filing 
of an ownership transfer application with the Texas Department of Housing and Community 
Affairs (“TDHCA”) and other documents as may be required (the “Application”), in connection 
with the Project’s previous allocation of 2021 9% low income housing tax credits and approved 
supplements; 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Company’s preparation and submission of the 
Application, the Corporation desires to participate as nonprofit sponsor, developer, and as 
managing member of the Managing Member; 

285



- 4 -
4831-2913-2214.v1 

WHEREAS, to facilitate the Company’s financing of the acquisition and development of 
the Project, the Corporation and/or Managing Member will review and negotiate any documents 
in connection with financing sources for the Project, including, but not limited to, an equity 
investment from an investor, 9% low income housing tax credits from TDHCA, a multifamily 
direct loan from TDHCA, a 221(d)(4) loan from Capital One, National Association, a national 
banking association, and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, and a sponsor 
loan (“Financing Documents”); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Corporation 
(the “Board”): 

Section 1. Authorization for the Negotiation and Entrance into the MOU.  That the 
Board hereby authorizes the Corporation to participate in the negotiation and entrance into the 
MOU.  

Section 2. Authorization of the Formation of the Managing Member.  That the Board 
hereby authorizes the Corporation to form the Managing Member and be admitted to the Managing 
Member as the managing member thereof. 

Section 3. Authorization of the Participation in the Project.  That the Board hereby 
authorizes the Corporation and/or Managing Member to participate in the filing of the Application 
and review and negotiation of Financing Documents for the Project. 

Section 4. Execution and Delivery of Certain Documents.  That the Board hereby 
authorizes David Long, as the President of the Corporation, Janie Long, as the Executive Vice 
President of the Corporation, and any and all Board Members of the Corporation listed on the 
certificate accompanying this Resolution, to consent to, accept, execute and attest to formation 
documents and such other certificates, documents, instruments, letters of instruction, written 
requests and other papers, whether or not mentioned herein, as may be necessary or convenient to 
carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution, to the extent the President or 
Executive Vice President or any such Board Member concludes such documents are in the best 
interest of the Corporation. 

Section 5. Taking of Ancillary Actions.  The President and the Executive Vice 
President are each, in the name and on behalf of the Corporation (on its own behalf and in the 
representative capacity identified in these resolutions), authorized by the Board of Directors, in 
consultation with counsel, to do or cause to be done any and all such acts and things as may be 
necessary or convenient to carry out or assist in carrying out the purposes of this Resolution, to the 
extent the President or Executive Vice President or any such Board Member concludes such 
actions are in the best interest of the Corporation. 

Section 6. Ratification of Prior Actions.  That all prior actions taken by any officer of 
the Corporation in the name and on behalf of the Corporation in connection with the matters 
described herein are hereby authorized, ratified, confirmed and approved. 

Section 7. Purposes of Resolution.  That the Board has expressly determined and 
hereby confirms that the matters described herein accomplish a valid public purpose of the 
Corporation. 

286



- 5 -
4831-2913-2214.v1 

Section 8. Conflicting Prior Actions.  That all orders, resolutions, or any actions or 
parts thereof of the Board in conflict herewith are hereby expressly repealed to the extent of any 
such conflict. 

Section 9. Severability.  That any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 
Resolution shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 
unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause, or provision shall not affect any of the 
remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

Section 10. Effective Date.  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from 
and upon its adoption. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

287



4831-2913-2214.v1 

APPROVED AND EFFECTIVE this 19th day of December, 2023. 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
CORPORATION 

Valerie Cardenas, Vice Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

Rebecca DeLeon, Secretary 
Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 

288



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

Page 1 of 3 

Agenda: 

Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable 
Housing Corporation to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Boulevard 61 located in 
Houston, Texas, including creating entities, negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to 
obtain debt and grant financing for the Project. 

Summary: 

TSAHC received an ACT Joint Venture application from DMA 
Development Company, LLC (DMA) on November 10, 2023, 
proposing the construction of a 100-unit affordable 
apartment community located in Houston to be called 
Boulevard 61. TSAHC is being asked to form a joint venture 
partnership with the Developer and become a member of 
the ownership entity that will own and oversee operations 
of the project.  

Public Benefit: 

Boulevard 61 will create 100 units of affordable rental housing targeted for low-income households. 
Currently, 38 units will be reserved for households earning up to 30% of the area median income (AMI), 
six units for 50% AMI households, 38 units for 60% AMI households, eight units for 80% AMI households 
and ten market rate units. The project qualifies under TSAHC’s ACT Joint Venture Guidelines Targeted 
Housing Needs for reserving 10% or more of its units for families earning 30% or less of the AMI.  

Financial Summary: 

In 2021, Boulevard 61 received a 9% Housing Tax Credit (HTC) allocation and initially partnered with the 
Houston Housing Authority (HHA) as its joint venture partner in order to make the project 100% property 
tax exempt. However, HHA encountered 9% HTC limit issues that required that they decline the 
partnership. In an effort to keep the project viable, TSAHC is being asked to form a joint venture with DMA 
and become a member of the ownership entity so that the project can benefit from TSAHC’s property tax 
exemption. Site control is already vested with DMA and the project was approved for an HTC supplement 
this year with a financing closing targeted for May of 2024. 

Boulevard 61 has a total budget of approximately $32.8 million. The proposed financing includes a Capital 
One HUD 221(d)(4) loan, 9% housing tax credits, a TDHCA multifamily direct loan, a Seller Sponsor Note, 
deferred developer fee, and match funds. The project’s direct costs include $7,910,000 for acquisition and 
$19.1 million for hard construction (approx. $191,000 per unit). Soft costs of $1.6 million, financing costs 
of $1.7 million, reserve accounts at $550,000 and developer fees at $1.94 million round out total costs.  

The project financing includes $15 million in equity from 9% housing tax credits, approximately $7.1 in 
permanent debt through a Capital One HUD 221(d)(4) loan, a soft TDHCA multifamily direct loan in the 

Map of Project Area 

289



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

Page 2 of 3 

amount of $7.1 million, a Seller Sponsor Note of approximately $2.1 million, $600,000 in donated services 
from the general contractor and architect, and a deferred developer fees of approximately $900,000.  

TSAHC has been asked to form a joint venture with the Developer and become a member of the ownership 
entity. TSAHC’s involvement in the owner entity provides the project a property tax exemption, and the 
City of Houston is in support of project with the tax exemption.  Letters of support for the project have 
been received from State Representative Gene Wu and City of Houston Mayor, Sylvester Turner. Staff 
believes the property tax exemption is critical to the project reaching feasibility due to the number of 
extremely low-income households being served and the high cost of construction and operations in the 
Houston market.  

Market Conditions: 

The Boulevard 61 site is in southwest Houston. The property is located along a commercial portion of 
Richmond Avenue near the Southwest Freeway. Surrounding buildings include a mixture of office, retail, 
restaurant and parking. Galleria shopping, the Westchase Business District and Uptown Park are nearby 
amenities. According to TDHCA’s underwriting report, there are no family projects or market rate 
multifamily projects under construction, none proposed, and none un-stabilized in the primary market. 
Existing multifamily housing is minimal and the demand for affordable rental housing through the Houston 
metro region continues to be very high. In fact, 91% of households in the project’s census tract are renters 
and maintain a median household income that is roughly $9,000 less than the City’s median household 
income. However, median rents for this census tract are on par with City of Houston rents.  

Developer Summary: 

DMA Development Company, LLC (DMA) is an Austin-based real estate development company with more 
than a quarter of a century of experience in affordable housing and is widely recognized in Texas as the 
“go to” firm for creative, mixed-income living communities. DMA has developed more than 34 properties 
in two states (Texas and Georgia) and in the District of Columbia, and currently has a portfolio of more 
than 2,500 units which it self-manages. In recent years, DMA has developed a singular reputation for the 
quality of its product and a track record of successfully developing award-winning, mixed-use, mixed-
income developments. DMA is TSAHC’s joint venture development partner at the Park on 14th (Plano) 
that is under construction as of September 2023. 

TSAHC’s involvement in the ownership entity will provide us with a higher degree of oversight and control 
over the project’s operations and success. TSAHC will be represented by Coats Rose as Joint Venture 
Counsel, and we intend to structure the project similar to the recently closed Juniper Creek project. TSAHC 

290



Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
ACT Joint Venture Project Summary 

Page 3 of 3 

closed on financing for two initial joint venture projects in 2023 that included Juniper Creek (Austin) and 
the Park on 14th (Plano). 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution Authorizing the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation 
to take preliminary action to carry out the financing of Boulevard 61, including creating entities, 
negotiating finance documents, and filing applications to obtain debt and grant financing for the Project.  

 

 

291



Blvd 61 ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Project Summary

Project Summary

Applicant: Houston DMA Housing III, LLC

Project Name: Boulevard 61

Location
Address: 6101 Richmond Avenue City: Houston
County: Harris State Texas 77057

Census Tract: 48201432704

Project
Number of Units: 100
Targeted Housing: Service Enriched Housing w/ 30% AMI Target

Perm Funding Souces Amount % of Total

Capital One Conventional Loan/FHA 7,110,000$         21.67%
TDHCA Loan 7,100,000$         21.64%
Match 600,000$            1.83%
Seller Sponsor Note 15,005,999$       45.74%
Deferred Dev Fee 932,193$            2.84%
Seller Sponsor Note 2,060,539$         6.28%
Totals 32,808,731$       100%
* not included in total

Market Summary City County State Census Tract

Population: 2,304,580           4,731,145           29,145,505         1,724                  
Median Age: 34                        34                        35                        27                       

Diversity Index: 69                        69                        ‐                       41                       

% Hispanic: 44% 43% 39% 68%

% Persons with Disability: 10% 10% 11% 3%

% Households that Rent: 58% 45% 38% 92%

Median Rents: 1,136                   1,164                   1,146                   1,115                  

% Renters Who are Cost Burdened: 49% 48% 45% 40%

Median Home Price: 200,700$            201,200$            202,600$            333,900$           

Median Household Income: 56,019$               65,788$               67,321$               47,254$              

Unemployment: 4.10% 4.20% 3.90% 0.00%

Persons w/o Insurance: 24% 21% 18% 40%

Medically Underserved Area: NA NA NA NA

% Attending Public Schools: 92% 92% 92% 83%

Graduation Rate (Houston ISD) 70% ‐ 79%

CRA Eligible Census Tract:Moderate Income

# of LI Projects and Units: 4 725

1 of 4

292



Blvd 61 ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Summary Sources and Uses

Applicant Houston DMA Housing III, LLC

Project Name Boulevard 61

Number of Units 100

Sources Amount Amount Per Unit Percentage of Total

Capital One Conventional Loan/FHA 7,110,000$                           71,100$                                22%

TC Equity 15,005,999$                         150,060$                              46%

TDHCA Loan 7,100,000$                           71,000$                                22%

Seller Sponsor Note 2,060,539$                           20,605$                                6%

Match 600,000$                              6,000$                                   2%

Deferred Dev Fee 932,193$                              9,322$                                   3%

Total Sources 32,808,731$                         328,087.31$                         100%

Uses

Acquisition 7,911,656$                           79,116.56$                           24%

Off‐Site Construction ‐$                                       ‐$                                       0%

On‐Site Work 1,824,300$                           18,243.00$                           6%

Site Amenities 306,000$                              3,060.00$                             1%

Building Costs 13,793,924$                         137,939.24$                         42%

Other Const/Contingency 3,173,061$                           31,730.61$                           10%

Soft Costs 1,607,900$                           16,079.00$                           5%

Financing Costs 1,711,890$                           17,118.90$                           5%

Developer Fees 1,935,000$                           19,350.00$                           6%

Reserve Accounts 545,000$                              5,450.00$                             2%

Total Uses 32,808,731$                         328,087.31$                         100%

(Gap) / Reserve ‐$                                      

Percent of Developer Fee Deferred 48.18%

Summary of Sources and Uses

2 of 4
293



Blvd 61 ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

Operating Proforma

Applicant Houston DMA Housing III, LLC

Project Name Boulevard 61

Total Units: 100                           30% AMI: 38 % at 30% AMI: 38% 80% AMI: 8 % at 80% AMI: 8%

Min. Set Aside Election: 40% @ 60% AMI 40% AMI: 0 % at 40% AMI: 0% MR: 10 % at MR: 10%

Min. Afford. Units: 40                             50% AMI: 6 % at 50% AMI: 6%

Afford. Units: 100 60% AMI: 38 % at 60% AMI: 38% Rental Assist: Yes ‐ Partial

% Affordable: 90% 70% AMI: 0 % at 70% AMI: 0% Accessible Req.: 5

Residential Income

Unit Type Unit Sq. Ft. Net Sq. Ft.  # units Rent Mo. Income  Inflator Rent Limiter Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

1/1  TC 30% NHTF 30% 713 4,278                        6 479$                         2,874$                      1.02                    30% AMI 34,488$                  35,178$                  35,881$                  36,599$                  37,331$                  41,216$                   45,506$                     

1/1  TC 50% NHTF 30% 713 7,843                        11 479$                         5,269$                      1.02                    30% AMI 63,228$                  64,493$                  65,782$                  67,098$                  68,440$                  75,563$                   83,428$                     

1/1 TC 50% PBV 713 3,565                        5 1,050$                      5,250$                      1.02                    50% AMI 63,000$                  64,260$                  65,545$                  66,856$                  68,193$                  75,291$                   83,127$                     

1/1 TC 60% PBV 713 4,278                        6 1,050$                      6,300$                      1.02                    60% AMI 75,600$                  77,112$                  78,654$                  80,227$                  81,832$                  90,349$                   99,753$                     

1/1 TC 60% 713 1,426                        2 1,004$                      2,008$                      1.02                    60% AMI 24,096$                  24,578$                  25,069$                  25,571$                  26,082$                  28,797$                   31,794$                     

1/1 TC 60% 783 5,481                        7 1,004$                      7,028$                      1.02                    60% AMI 84,336$                  86,023$                  87,743$                  89,498$                  91,288$                  100,789$                 111,280$                   

1/1 TC 80% 783 3,132                        4 1,354$                      5,416$                      1.02                    80% AMI 64,992$                  66,292$                  67,618$                  68,970$                  70,349$                  77,671$                   85,756$                     

1/1 MR 783 3,915                        5 1,575$                      7,875$                      1.02                    MR 94,500$                  96,390$                  98,318$                  100,284$                102,290$                112,936$                 124,691$                   

2/2 TC 30% NHTF 30% 960 2,880                        3 569$                         1,707$                      1.02                    30% AMI 20,484$                  20,894$                  21,312$                  21,738$                  22,173$                  24,480$                   27,028$                     

2/2 TC 50% NHTF 30% 960 5,760                        6 569$                         3,414$                      1.02                    30% AMI 40,968$                  41,787$                  42,623$                  43,476$                  44,345$                  48,961$                   54,056$                     

2/2 TC 50% NHTF 30% 960 6,720                        7 569$                         3,983$                      1.02                    30% AMI 47,796$                  48,752$                  49,727$                  50,721$                  51,736$                  57,121$                   63,066$                     

2/2 TC 60% PBV 960 9,600                        10 1,247$                      12,470$                    1.02                    60% AMI 149,640$                152,633$                155,685$                158,799$                161,975$                178,834$                 197,447$                   

2/2 TC 60% 960 6,720                        7 1,198$                      8,386$                      1.02                    60% AMI 100,632$                102,645$                104,698$                106,791$                108,927$                120,265$                 132,782$                   

2/2 TC 80% 960 3,840                        4 1,618$                      6,472$                      1.02                    80% AMI 77,664$                  79,217$                  80,802$                  82,418$                  84,066$                  92,816$                   102,476$                   

2/2 MR 960 4,800                        5 1,735$                      8,675$                      1.02                    MR 104,100$                106,182$                108,306$                110,472$                112,681$                124,409$                 137,358$                   

3/2 TC 50% NHTF 30% 1163 5,815                        5 741$                         3,705$                      1.02                    30% AMI 44,460$                  45,349$                  46,256$                  47,181$                  48,125$                  53,134$                   58,664$                     

3/2 TC 50% PBV 1163 1,163                        1 1,649$                      1,649$                      1.02                    50% AMI 19,788$                  20,184$                  20,587$                  20,999$                  21,419$                  23,648$                   26,110$                     

3/2 TC 60% PBV 1163 3,489                        3 1,649$                      4,947$                      1.02                    60% AMI 59,364$                  60,551$                  61,762$                  62,998$                  64,258$                  70,945$                   78,330$                     

3/2 TC 60%  1163 3,489                        3 1,381$                      4,143$                      1.02                    60% AMI 49,716$                  50,710$                  51,725$                  52,759$                  53,814$                  59,415$                   65,599$                     

‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Subtotals: 88,194                      100                           101,571$                  1,218,852$             1,243,229$             1,268,094$             1,293,455$             1,319,325$             1,456,641$             1,608,249$               

Other income: 25.00$                      2,500$                      1.02                    30,000.00$             30,600$                  31,212$                  31,836$                  32,473$                  35,853$                   39,584$                     

Potential gross income 1,248,852$             1,273,829$             1,299,306$             1,325,292$             1,351,798$             1,492,494$             1,647,834$               

Residential vacancy loss 7.50% (93,664)$                 (95,537)$                 (97,448)$                 (99,397)$                 (101,385)$               (111,937)$               (123,588)$                 

Effective Gross Residential Income 1,155,188$             1,178,292$             1,201,858$             1,225,895$             1,250,413$             1,380,557$             1,524,246$               

3 of 4
294



Blvd 61 ‐ Underwriting.xlsx ‐ Operating Proforma

Operating Expenses TSAHC est. Borrower Yr 1 % EGI Variance Per Unit Inflator

General & Administrative 44,600$                    40,500$                    3.51 ‐9% 405$                   1.03 40,500$                  41,715$                  42,966$                  44,255$                  45,583$                  52,843$                   61,260$                     

Management Fee 44,500$                    34,656$                    3.00 ‐22% 347$                   1.03 34,656$                  35,696$                  36,767$                  37,870$                  39,006$                  45,218$                   52,420$                     

Payroll and Related 137,800$                  160,000$                  13.85 16% 1,600$                1.03 160,000$                164,800$                169,744$                174,836$                180,081$                208,764$                 242,014$                   

Maintenance & Repair 75,200$                    52,000$                    4.50 ‐31% 520$                   1.03 52,000$                  53,560$                  55,167$                  56,822$                  58,526$                  67,848$                   78,655$                     

Utilities 95,300$                    85,000$                    7.36 ‐11% 850$                   1.03 85,000$                  87,550$                  90,177$                  92,882$                  95,668$                  110,906$                 128,570$                   

Insurance 63,900$                    160,000$                  13.85 150% 1,600$                1.03 160,000$                164,800$                169,744$                174,836$                180,081$                208,764$                 242,014$                   

Taxes ‐$                          ‐$                          0.00 ‐$                   1.03 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Operating Debt Service Reserves 0.00 ‐$                   1.03 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Replacement reserves 25,000$                    25,000$                    2.16 0% 250$                   1.03 25,000$                  25,750$                  26,523$                  ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

HTC/HOME Compliance Fees 3,600$                      3,600$                      0.31 0% 36$                     1.03 3,600$                    3,708$                    3,819$                    3,934$                    4,052$                    4,697$                     5,445$                       

0.00 ‐$                   1.03 ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Other (specify): 22,600$                    22,600$                    1.96 0% 226$                   1.03 22,600$                  23,278$                  23,976$                  24,696$                  25,436$                  29,488$                   34,185$                     

Total Operating Expenses 512,500$                  583,356$                  14% 5,833.56$          583,356$                600,857$                618,882$                610,131$                628,435$                728,528$                 844,564$                   

state avg 5,922.00$               per unit 14,584$                 15,021$                 15,472$                 15,253$                 15,711$                 18,213$                  21,114$                    

    Operating Expenses as a percentage of Effective Gross Income 50.5% 51.0% 51.5% 49.8% 50.3% 52.8% 55.4%

NET OPERATING INCOME 571,832$                577,435$                582,975$                615,764$                621,978$                652,029$                679,683$                  

NET OPERATING INCOME 571,832$                577,435$                582,975$                615,764$                621,978$                652,029$                679,683$                  

PRIMARY DEBT SERVICE Principal Rate Amort Term Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15

Capital One Conventional Loan/FHA $7,110,000 6.45% 40 40 496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                 496,476$                   

Total Primary Debt $7,110,000 496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                496,476$                 496,476$                   

98.00% ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                         ‐$                           

Net Cashflow After Primary Debt 75,356$                  80,959$                  86,500$                  119,288$                125,502$                155,553$                 183,207$                   

DSCR Primary Debt 1.15 1.16 1.17 1.24 1.25 1.31 1.37

SOFT SUBORDINATE DEBT & EQUITY Rate Cash Flow After CF % of CF

TC Equity $15,005,999 n/a

TDHCA Loan $7,100,000 2.00% No No

Seller Sponsor Note $2,060,539

Match $600,000

Deferred Dev Fee $932,193

Balance Dev Fee: 0$                       75,356$                  80,959$                  86,500$                  119,288$                125,502$               

Total Secondary Debt 25,698,731$             Net Cash Flow After Secondary Debts: ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        ‐$                        155,553$                 183,207$                   

4 of 4
295



Tab 10 
Presentation, Discussion and Possible Approval for Publication and 
Public Comment of the Draft of the Texas State Affordable Housing 
Corporation’s 2024 Annual Action Plan. 

296



 

1 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION  

2024 ANNUAL ACTION PLAN 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

297



 

2 
 

TEXAS STATE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CORPORATION 
2024 ANNUAL ACTION PLAN 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This plan is prepared in accordance with Texas Government Code, Section 2306.566, 
which requires the Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation (“TSAHC”) to develop a 
plan to address the state’s housing needs. Texas Government Code, Section 
2306.0721(g) requires TSAHC’s Annual Action Plan to be included in the State Low 
Income Housing Plan (“SLIHP”) prepared by the Texas Department of Housing and 
Community Affairs (“TDHCA”). 

 
TSAHC OVERVIEW 

 
The Texas State Affordable Housing Corporation, created in 1994 at the direction of the 
Texas State Legislature, is a self-sustaining nonprofit entity whose mission is to facilitate, 
preserve, and expand affordable housing opportunities for Texans. TSAHC’s enabling 
legislation can be found in Texas Government Code, Chapter 2306, Subchapter Y, 
Sections 2306.551 et seq. 
 
TSAHC’s office is located in Austin, Texas. A five-member volunteer Board of Directors, 
appointed by the Governor of Texas, oversees the policies and business of TSAHC. None 
of TSAHC’s programs or operations are funded through the State’s budget appropriations 
process. 
 
TSAHC is statutorily authorized to issue mortgage revenue bonds and other tax-exempt 
bonds to finance the purchase and creation of affordable housing. TSAHC also has the 
authority to use loans from banks, private mortgage companies, nonprofit organizations 
and other financial institutions to assist primarily low, very low, and extremely low-
income Texans. Over the course of its history, TSAHC has utilized approximately $4 billion 
in single family bonding authority and approximately $1.8 billion in multifamily private 
activity bonds.1 Bond issuances are used to finance the creation and preservation of 
affordable multifamily housing and the following home buyer programs: 

 
 Homes for Texas Heroes Home Loan Program 

 
 Home Sweet Texas Home Loan Program 

 
 Mortgage Credit Certificate Program 

 
1 2023 TSAHC bond activity includes the closing of $60,000,000 in Mortgage Revenue Bonds and $115,448,000 in Multifamily 
Private Activity Bonds.  

298



3 

 

 

Using its statutory purpose and powers as guidance, TSAHC has developed the following 
additional programs, services, and initiatives to help meet the need for affordable housing in 
Texas: 
 
 Home Buyer and Financial Education  

 
 Texas Housing Impact Fund 

 
 Affordable Communities of Texas 

 
 Asset Oversight and Compliance 

 
 Single Family Rental Program 

 
 Multifamily Rental Program 

 
 Texas Foundations Fund Including Grants for Disaster Recovery 

 
 Texas Supportive Housing Institute and Permanent Supportive Housing Symposium 

 
TSAHC MISSION AND OBJECTIVE 

 
TSAHC’s mission is to facilitate, preserve, and expand affordable housing opportunities for 
Texans. TSAHC accomplishes this mission by helping developers build housing for working 
families, and helping Texans achieve and sustain the dream of homeownership and improve 
their financial situation. TSAHC’s programs and initiatives reflect our core belief that every 
Texan deserves the opportunity to live in safe, decent and affordable housing.  

As Texas’ population grows and the housing industry changes, the programs and services 
TSAHC administers continue to evolve and expand to meet these changing dynamics. TSAHC 
remains committed to the populations it has historically served but is also active in responding 
to new challenges like creating supportive housing developments for Texas’ most vulnerable 
residents, preserving housing in rural areas, expanding housing opportunities for Texans with 
complex health needs, helping Texans rebuild after natural disasters, and helping Texans 
remain stably housed during difficult times like the pandemic. 
 
TSAHC’s objective in 2024 is to serve the evolving housing needs of Texans by implementing 
innovative solutions through its current programs and adapting those programs where 
necessary to respond to changes in the housing market. TSAHC also remains committed to 
exploring opportunities to establish new programs and initiatives when appropriate to better 
achieve our mission.  

 

 

299



4 

 

 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTIONS AND IMPLEMENTATION PLANS 
 
HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAMS 
 
Over the last decade, research has consistently shown that homeownership has a positive 
impact on the socioeconomic status of a household and their community. The most recent data 
from the Federal Reserve highlights the economic benefits of homeownership as the average 
household wealth of a homeowner is $255,000 while the average wealth of a renter is $6,300.2 
 
In addition to financial benefits, there are social benefits to homeownership. Stable housing 
created by homeownership can lead to better educational achievement, health benefits, 
reduced crime, and improved civic participation.3 
 
TSAHC currently administers the Homes for Texas Heroes and Home Sweet Texas Home Loan 
Programs, which provide 30-year fixed-rate mortgage loans, tax credits, and down payment 
assistance to low and moderate-income families and individuals.  
 
The Homes for Texas Heroes Home Loan Program was established by the Legislature in 2003 for 
the purpose of making mortgage loans with down payment assistance to: 
 
 Public School Classroom Teachers 
 Public School Teacher’s Aides 
 Public School Librarians 
 Public School Nurses 
 Public School Counselors 
 Faculty Members of an Allied Health or Professional Nursing Program 
 Paid Firefighters 
 Emergency Medical Services Personnel 
 Peace Officers 
 Corrections Officers 
 Juvenile Corrections Officers 
 County Jailers 
 Veterans and Active-Duty Military Personnel 
 Public Security Officers 

 
In 2006, TSAHC created the Home Sweet Texas Home Loan Program to serve home buyers not 
eligible for the Homes for Texas Heroes Home Loan Program. The Home Sweet Texas Home 
Loan Program serves Texans of all professions.   
 
 
 

 
2 Source: Brett Holzhauer, “Here’s the average wealth of homeowners and renters,” CNBC, August 24, 2021  
3 Source: “Social Benefits of Homeownership and Stable Housing,” Richard J. Rosenthal Center for Real Estate Studies, October 2017  

300



5 

 

 

Down Payment Assistance Options 
 
TSAHC offers down payment assistance (DPA) through both the Homes for Texas Heroes and 
Home Sweet Texas Home Loan Programs because a primary barrier for prospective buyers is 
accumulating sufficient funds for a down payment.4  
 
This problem has worsened recently as increasing rents and inflation make it harder to save 
money and transition into homeownership. This is having a profound impact on middle-income 
households who are increasingly becoming rent cost-burdened and having a difficult time 
making the leap from renting to homeownership.5  
 
Additionally, the median home price in Texas remains at very high levels at $333,000 as of 
October 2023. That’s down from the record high of $360,000 set in June 2022 as high interest 
rates have brought home prices down slightly. For context, the median home price in Texas was 
$330,490 at the end of 2022 and $320,900 at the end of 2021.6  On average, home values 
appreciate 4% annually. Therefore, home values continue to outpace national averages 
underscoring the need for home buying assistance across the state. 
 
To ensure low and moderate-income Texans can continue to achieve the dream of 
homeownership, TSAHC increased the income limits for our Homes for Texas Heroes and Home 
Sweet Texas Home Loan Programs from 115% of the area median family income to 125% of the 
area median family income in October 2021.7 
 
TSAHC’s down payment assistance continues to be available on a first-come, first-served 
basis and is provided either in the form of a grant that does not require repayment or a three-
year deferred forgivable second lien. The products TSAHC offers are always contingent on 
market conditions and interest rate trends, and TSAHC consistently explores opportunities to 
expand and improve the assistance options we offer.  For example, in late 2022 we adjusted 
our lender compensation structure, which enabled us to offer more loan and down payment 
assistance options.  
 
Home buyers must meet income and purchase price limits set by federal guidelines, while 
demonstrating creditworthiness and meeting standard mortgage underwriting requirements. 
Home buyers must also occupy the purchased home as their primary residence. The 
programs are accessible to eligible borrowers by directly contacting a participating mortgage 
lender. 
 

 
4 Source: “Elevated Home Prices and Mortgage Rates, Limited Inventory are Home Buying Barriers, According to Realtors® and 
Prospective Home Buyers Across Races and Ethnicities,” https://www.nar.realtor/newsroom/elevated-home-prices-and-mortgage-rates-
limited-inventory-are-home-buying-barriers, September 14, 2023  
5 Source: “Soaring rental prices make it even more difficult to save for a house, https://www.cnbc.com/2022/02/09/soaring-rent-prices-
make-it-even-more-difficult-to-save-for-a-house.html, February 9, 2022 
6 Source: https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/data/housing-activity/, accessed November 27, 2023. 
7 The income limits for the Mortgage Credit Certificate program continue to be set at 115% AMFI per federal guidelines.  

301

https://www.nar.realtor/newsroom/elevated-home-prices-and-mortgage-rates-limited-inventory-are-home-buying-barriers
https://www.nar.realtor/newsroom/elevated-home-prices-and-mortgage-rates-limited-inventory-are-home-buying-barriers
https://www.cnbc.com/2022/02/09/soaring-rent-prices-make-it-even-more-difficult-to-save-for-a-house.html
https://www.cnbc.com/2022/02/09/soaring-rent-prices-make-it-even-more-difficult-to-save-for-a-house.html
https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/data/housing-activity/


6 

 

 

Homeownership Programs Financing Mechanisms 
 
TSAHC funds its mortgage loans with down payment assistance in two ways: by issuing 
mortgage revenue bonds available under its statutory authority, and by pooling loans on a 
regular basis and selling the mortgage-backed securities (known in the industry as the TBA 
program). TSAHC both issued mortgage revenue bonds and funded mortgage loans with down 
payment assistance through the TBA program in 2023. 
 
Mortgage Credit Certificate Program 
 
In 2008, TSAHC established the Mortgage Credit Certificate (MCC) Program as another way to 
assist first-time home buyers. The MCC Program is made possible under IRS rules that allow the 
conversion of single-family mortgage revenue bonds into MCCs. TSAHC’s MCC Program serves 
the same populations eligible for the Homes for Texas Heroes and Home Sweet Texas Home 
Loan Programs; however, the program is only available to first-time home buyers (defined as 
those who have not owned a home in three years). 
 
Under the MCC Program, the home buyer can take a portion of the annual interest paid on the 
mortgage loan as a special federal income tax credit. An MCC has the potential of saving the 
home buyer thousands of dollars over the life of the loan. And although the MCC Program is 
not a home loan program, TSAHC requires the home buyer to obtain a fixed-rate mortgage 
loan. Home buyers can combine the MCC Program with down payment assistance provided 
under the Homes for Texas Heroes and Home Sweet Texas Home Loan Programs. 
 
The MCC option has been available either as a stand-alone MCC issuance or an issuance that is 
combined with DPA. On November 1, 2023, TSAHC temporarily suspended the MCC program in 
response to limited bond funding availability. TSAHC may continue to make adjustments to the 
MCC program depending on market conditions and future funding availability.  
 
Home Buyer Education Requirement 
 
Every home buyer who utilizes one of TSAHC’s homeownership programs must complete an 
approved home buyer education course offered by a provider listed on the Texas Financial 
Toolbox website.8 The providers listed are generally nonprofit organizations or government 
entities who are either HUD-approved or certified to provide home buyer education.  
 
TSAHC requires home buyer education to ensure households are well prepared for the 
responsibilities of owning a home. Research by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) revealed that home buyer education empowers individuals with the ability 
to make better financial decisions, understand their home buying options, improve their credit, 
save more money, and lower housing costs.9   

 
8 Texas Financial Toolbox, http://www.texasfinancialtoolbox.com/home-buyer-education  
9 Source: Evidence Matters, “The Evidence on Homeownership Education and Counseling,” Spring 2016 

302

http://www.texasfinancialtoolbox.com/home-buyer-education


7 

 

 

 
Moreover, according to that same HUD publication, home buyer education can help mortgage 
borrowers avoid delinquencies and defaults. The HUD paper references the 2014 National 
Foreclosure Mitigation Counseling program that analyzed 240,000 loans and found that 
borrowers that took home buyer education were three times more likely to get a loan 
modification to avoid default.   
 
2023 Homeownership Programs Activity Synopsis 
 
In 2023, TSAHC’s home buyer programs helped 9,922 households with their home purchase 
through down payment assistance, an MCC, or both.10  
 
In comparison, TSAHC assisted 10,420 households in 2022 and 22,726 households in 2021. To 
date, TSAHC has served nearly 110,000 households under our homeownership programs. 
 
2024 Implementation Plan 
 
As the home buying market remains cool during a high interest rate environment, we continue 
to adjust internally to respond to the changing market conditions. For example, TSAHC has 
expanded our efforts to market and promote our programs in areas of the state where our 
volume isn’t as robust. We intend to carry out this marketing effort to recruit new lenders, 
establish new connections, and make inroads with home buyers in those regions.  
 
In 2024, TSAHC will also continue offering “Overcoming the Down Payment Hurdle” courses 
throughout the state to share information about our programs in new and existing markets. 
These courses allow us to meet mortgage lenders, REALTORS®, and other industry professionals 
in the markets they work in and strengthen our existing connections or make new ones. We 
conducted approximately 60 of these classes in 2023. 

In 2024, TSAHC will continue to engage the Lender Advisory Council on ways to improve our 
programs, stay abreast of any changes or developments in the mortgage industry, and adjust to 
meet the needs of Texas’ home buyers. 

TSAHC continues to spread awareness about our programs and share knowledge about the 
industry through podcasts and monthly Facebook live events. Since our podcast launched in 
2020, we’ve produced 31 episodes11 dedicated to home buying issues, homeownership topics 
and other housing industry related content. In 2024, we will continue producing podcast 
segments and holding Facebook live events. We will also explore other ways to promote our 
programs through social media and other communications channels.  
 
In 2024, TSAHC will also work alongside a network of partners as part of the Harris County 
Homeownership Collaborative (HCHC) to create new Black, Indigenous, and people of color 

 
10 This marks activity from January 1, 2023 through October 31, 2023.  
11 https://www.buzzsprout.com/1048519  

303

https://www.buzzsprout.com/1048519


8 

 

 

(BIPOC) homeowners in the greater Houston area. The initiative is part of the Wells Fargo 
BIPOC Wealth Opportunities Restored through Homeownership (WORTH) program, and the 
goal is to create 5,000 new BIPOC homeowners in Houston by 2025. HCHC’s work is supported 
by a Wells Fargo grant that provides grant funding annually for four years.  
 
TSAHC will also continue to explore changes to the MCC program depending upon bond funding 
availability and market conditions. We remain committed to offering a suite of home buying 
products even as interest rates continue to climb to the highest levels in years. We evaluate the 
market daily and respond accordingly with the best options possible to ensure Texans always 
have assistance available to fulfill their dream of homeownership.  
 
HOME BUYER EDUCATION AND FINANCIAL EDUCATION 
 
Connecting Consumers with High Quality Housing and Financial Counselors 
 
In 2012, TSAHC created the Texas Financial Toolbox (www.texasfinancialtoolbox.com) to give 
consumers an easy way to find nonprofit organizations or government entities that can help 
them achieve their financial and homeownership goals through home buyer education, credit 
counseling, or financial education.  
 
Whether consumers want to learn how to better manage their money, find out if they’re ready 
for homeownership, understand the home buying process and the programs that are available 
to help them buy a home, or learn how to avoid foreclosure, the Texas Financial Toolbox is a 
great place to start. Information about home buyer programs, home buyer education classes, 
financial education, and foreclosure prevention is available, all searchable by city. This is a 
unique tool TSAHC believes is providing essential information to Texas consumers. 
 
In 2018, TSAHC expanded the Toolbox resource by creating a Loan Comparison Calculator12 to 
help potential home buyers compare the different loan types and down payment assistance 
options offered by TSAHC. This tool is also available on TSAHC’s website www.tsahc.org.  
 
The Toolbox also includes a step-by-step guide to help families and individuals gain a better 
understanding of the home buying process. 
 
Housing Connection Training 
 
TSAHC has offered home buyer and financial education training to Texas housing nonprofits 
since 2012. From 2012-2017, TSAHC administered the Texas Statewide Homebuyer Education 
Program (TSHEP), a housing and financial counselor training program, on behalf of the Texas 
Department of Housing and Community Affairs. In 2017 TSAHC decided to expand the scope of 
the training provided and opted not to continue our role as administrator of TSHEP.  
 

 
12 http://www.texasfinancialtoolbox.com/mortgage-calculator 

304

http://www.texasfinancialtoolbox.com/
http://www.tsahc.org/
http://www.texasfinancialtoolbox.com/mortgage-calculator


9 

 

 

In 2018, TSAHC introduced the Housing Connection training program. The Housing Connection 
training built upon the success of TSHEP by offering not only housing and financial counselor 
training but also training for nonprofits interested in affordable housing development.  
The program’s goal is to help both affordable housing and counseling organizations access 
trainings, promote themselves, and build capacity for their organizations and programs.  
 
Our training partner that offers and delivers the courses is NeighborWorks, a congressionally 
chartered nonprofit organization that supports community development across the country. In 
2023, we offered the following courses: (1) Credit Counseling for Maximum Results, (2) Using 
the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program and (3) Real Estate Finance Nuts and Bolts. 
 
In 2023, 47 housing professionals representing 21 organizations and 15 cities received training 
through Housing Connection. Thanks to philanthropic support from our network of financial 
institutions, mortgage lenders and REALTORS, TSAHC was able to offer the training courses free 
of charge and provide hotel scholarships to participants traveling from out of town.  
 
To date, 831 individuals representing 361 organizations across Texas have attended trainings 
provided by TSAHC through either TSHEP (2012-2017) or Housing Connection (2018-2023). 
Additionally, TSAHC has provided more than $150,000 in scholarships to participants.  
 
2024 Implementation Plan  
 
In 2024, TSAHC will once again provide a variety of courses for housing counselors and 
nonprofit housing professionals. The course selection and training location will be guided by 
feedback from past and prospective participants. TSAHC will continue to make the training as 
affordable as possible by raising public and private funds to subsidize the costs of attending. 
 
TEXAS HOUSING IMPACT FUND  
 
The Texas Housing Impact Fund (THIF) helps provide safe, decent, and affordable housing with 
an emphasis on serving rural and underserved communities by providing flexible financing 
options to affordable housing developers.  
 
Leveraging investments from multiple sources, TSAHC is able to provide flexible short-term and 
long-term affordable housing financing to developers through the THIF. This funding model has 
enabled TSAHC to steadily grow the fund over time, with applications for new loans accepted 
on an ongoing basis, provided there is funding available for the program.  
 
To date, the THIF has financed the construction or rehabilitation of 293 single family homes and 
3,775 rental units for low and moderate-income households. These numbers include units 
currently under construction.  
 
 
 

305



10 

 

 

TSAHC currently offers four types of loans: 
 

 Permanent financing loans 
 Revolving lines of credit  
 Construction loans  
 Deferred forgivable loans offered through the Affordable Housing Partnership 

(geographically limited to certain counties) 
 
Single Family Construction/Rehabilitation 
 
Homeownership continues to be the primary means by which lower-income households create 
stability and build wealth for the future. As mentioned above, the average household wealth of 
a homeowner is $255,000 while the average household wealth of a renter is $6,300. 
 
However, due to rising housing prices, many Texans cannot afford to purchase a home in their 
communities. For example, according to the Real Estate Center at Texas A&M University, as of 
October 2023, the median home price in Texas was $333,000 with annual increases outpacing 
the national average.13  Escalating home prices are especially problematic in urban areas like 
Austin (median home price of $435,000), Dallas ($420,000), and Houston ($330,500).14  
 
By financing the construction or rehabilitation of single-family homes that are affordable to 
well-qualified low and moderate-income home buyers, the THIF is helping families and 
individuals achieve the dream of homeownership and build household wealth.  
 
In 2023, TSAHC approved a THIF line of credit to construct 4 homes for low- to moderate-
income home buyers in Southeast Texas.  
 
Multifamily Construction/Rehabilitation 
 
TSAHC also recognizes that not all families and individuals are ready to become homeowners. 
Access to affordable rental housing is what is most important to these households. By funding 
the construction of affordable rental units, the THIF helps households access affordable rental 
homes without having to sacrifice other basic needs, such as food, education, or medical care. 
 
In 2023, TSAHC provided THIF financing to help rehabilitate or build 226 affordable rental units.  
 
Affordable Housing Partnership 
 
TSAHC launched the Affordable Housing Partnership (AHP) program in 2020 as part of the THIF 
suite of loan products. Thanks to a partnership with the Texas Health and Human Services 
Commission, TSAHC offers deferred forgivable loans to developers in Dallas and Travis counties 

 
13 Source: https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/data/housing-activity/, accessed November 27, 2023. 
14 Source: https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/data/housing-activity/, accessed November 27, 2023. 

306

https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/data/housing-activity/
https://www.recenter.tamu.edu/data/housing-activity/


11 

 

 

to subsidize the construction of affordable, accessible, and community-integrated units 
designated for residents with long-term health needs.  
 
In 2023, TSAHC approved 3 loans to support the construction of 13 rental units in Travis County. 
 

Texas Housing Impact Fund Loan Production 
Loan Production 2023 2003 - 2022 

Loans Approved 6 57 
# of Single Family Homes Built or 
Under Construction 

4 289 

# of Rental Units 226 3,549 
Amount of Loan Funds Approved $4,051,02715  $41,705,462  

 
2024 Implementation Plan 
 
TSAHC plans to continue to provide flexible lines of credit to developers that address our 
funding priorities. These loan products, leveraged with TSAHC’s access to lower cost land 
through its Affordable Communities of Texas (ACT) land bank, will enable developers to 
continue to build homes that are affordable. TSAHC forecasts sustained demand for THIF loans 
into 2024 as staff is currently reviewing multiple applications for developments around Texas.  
 
In 2024, TSAHC plans to continue to explore lending opportunities to address housing needs 
for underserved populations including disaster impacted areas, small urban and rural markets, 
and urban areas that are rapidly changing and risk losing affordable housing. In 2024, there will 
be an emphasis on deploying new acquired funds for the Affordable Housing Partnership and 
expanding the program into Bexar and Harris counties. 
 
TSAHC will continue to grow the fund by pursuing grants, program related investments or 
equity equivalent investments from foundations, banks, and other lenders and investors.  
 
TSAHC will also continue to publish an annual Texas Housing Impact Fund Investment Report to 
document the statewide impact of the program. This report enhances TSAHC’s efforts to 
market the Texas Housing Impact Fund to developers and potential investors.  
 
AFFORDABLE COMMUNITIES OF TEXAS PROGRAM 
 
TSAHC created the Affordable Communities of Texas (ACT) Program, a land bank and land 
trust program, in 2008 to stabilize communities experiencing high rates of foreclosure. TSAHC 
works in partnership with 32 nonprofit organizations across the state to acquire and 
redevelop foreclosed homes, vacant land, and tax foreclosed properties to make these homes 
available for sale or rent to low-income families. 

 
15 Texas Housing Impact Fund loans are a revolving line of credit for single-family construction awarded to Legacy CDC and for loans 
for the rehabilitation or creation of multifamily units for Jericho Village, Cady Lofts, Saison North, ManorTown, and La Vista de Lopez. 

307



12 

 

 

 
Over its history, TSAHC has acquired 604 properties through the ACT program and has created 
301 homes for extremely low, very low, low, and moderate-income Texans. The ACT Program 
has a current portfolio of 36 lots and homes, and there are two active components of the 
program distinguished by source of funding and targeted use of properties16: 
  
 ACT Land Banking – This is TSAHC’s general land banking program that includes 

properties that are either purchased by TSAHC or donated to TSAHC. Properties are 
redeveloped for affordable housing. If a property is not suitable for redevelopment 
(i.e., poor location, high cost of redevelopment, or other extenuating circumstances), 
the property is sold, and the funds are reinvested in the ACT Program. 

 ACT Land Trust – Properties acquired are intended to be held in perpetuity by TSAHC. 
Homes built or redeveloped on land trust sites may be rented or sold to qualified low-
income households. 
 

Affordable Communities of Texas Portfolio 

Program/Initiative Acquisitions 2023 Sales 2023 
Current 

Portfolio 
Current Asset 

Value 
ACT Land Banking / 
Land Trust 23 5 36 $3,352,898 

 
2024 Implementation Plan 
 
The ACT Program will continue to play an integral role in TSAHC’s overall affordable housing 
strategy. TSAHC intends to increase efforts to expand our portfolio of ACT land bank properties 
by forming partnerships to acquire foreclosed and vacant properties and working directly with 
local and regional governments where possible. We are making an intentional effort to expand 
our ACT portfolio in South Texas and made great strides in accomplishing that in 2023.  
 
For properties already in our land bank, we will continue working with our network of local 
partner developers to redevelop and sell those properties.  TSAHC is exploring funding 
opportunities offered by federal, state and local resources to subsidize construction costs and 
ensure the sales prices remain affordable to low and moderate-income households.  
 
We have also begun developing a parcel of land in Plano, Texas that is part of our land trust. 
TSAHC continues to explore the implementation of land trust mechanisms that allow TSAHC to 
deliver homeownership opportunities to low- to moderate-income home buyers and deeper 
levels of affordable rental housing.  
 
MULTIFAMILY PRIVATE ACTIVITY BOND PROGRAM 
 
TSAHC uses its statutory authority to issue tax-exempt multifamily private activity bonds (PAB) 

 
16 There are two dormant components of the ACT program – the ACT Veterans Initiative Program and the Neighborhood Stabilization 
Program. These programs ended because every property in these programs was either redeveloped and sold or sold outright.  

308



13 

 

 

to help affordable housing developers construct or preserve multifamily rental units. As a 
conduit issuer, TSAHC is allocated 10 percent of Texas’ multifamily PAB cap each year. 
 
TSAHC makes available to developers its multifamily PAB allocation through an annual Request 
for Proposal application process. To be considered for multifamily PAB financing, multifamily 
developments must meet specific housing needs identified each year by TSAHC’s Board of 
Directors. In 2023, those housing needs were:  
 
 At-Risk Preservation and Rehabilitation of Existing Affordable Units 
 Housing in Rural and Smaller Urban Markets  
 Senior and Service Enriched Housing Developments  
 Housing in Areas with Disaster Declarations  

 
In 2023, TSAHC closed on $115,448,000 in multifamily PABs to construct or rehabilitate 637 
affordable rental units across three municipalities.17  
 
2024 Implementation Plan 
 
TSAHC anticipates continued interest and growth in our PAB program due to the high number of 
affordable housing units needed to meet the demand. For example, the most recent research 
conducted by the National Low Income Housing Coalition found that, in Texas, there are only 44 
units that are affordable for every 100 households that earn 50% or less of the average median 
income.18  
 
The demand is reflected in the number of TSAHC PAB projects that are either currently induced, 
pending closing or under review. We anticipate demand for PABs will remain high into 2024 and 
beyond.  
 
TSAHC will also explore how to create more permanent supportive housing (PSH) units either 
through PABs or other financing structures. The creation of additional PSH housing is another 
priority for TSAHC, due in part to an ongoing collaboration with the Texas Health and Human 
Services Commission that will be covered in detail later in this plan. 
 
ASSET OVERSIGHT AND COMPLIANCE 
 
Asset oversight and compliance monitoring of multifamily properties financed through 
multifamily private activity bonds is required by many bond issuers, including TSAHC. We also 
require asset oversight and compliance monitoring of multifamily properties financed through 
our THIF. TSAHC believes these reviews are one of the best ways to ensure properties are 
continuing to provide safe and decent affordable housing to their residents.  

 
17 The developments are Bluff View Apartments in Boerne, Eden Court in Seguin, and La Vista de Lopez, Juniper Creek, and Norman 
Commons in Austin.  
18 Source: “The Gap: A Shortage of Affordable Homes,” The National Low Income Housing Coalition, April 2023 

309



14 

 

 

 
Asset Oversight 
 
As part of the asset oversight review process, staff performs an annual inspection of each 
property, monitors each property’s financial and physical health, and provides suggestions for 
improvement to property owners and managers. Staff completes a report of each property and 
submits its reports to property owners, managers, and other stakeholders. The reports are also 
available on TSAHC’s website.  
 
These visits are typically on-site, physical inspections, but because of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and subsequent safety concerns, TSAHC has performed a hybrid of virtual and in-person visits 
for the past three years. For both types of reviews, TSAHC required property management 
agents to provide us with required property reports. For virtual reviews, we also required them 
to provide photos of the property.  
 
In 2023, TSAHC performed asset oversight reviews for 39 properties, totaling 5,179 units.  
 
Compliance 
 
As part of the compliance review process, staff reviews tenant files annually to ensure that 
property owners and managers are following the federal affordability requirements relating to 
the tax-exempt status of the bonds. Completed compliance reports are submitted to property 
owners, managers, and other stakeholders and are also available on TSAHC’s website. In 
addition, TSAHC manages an online reporting system that allows property managers to 
complete their monthly compliance reporting online.   
 
Each month, staff monitors whether property owners and managers are providing the required 
number of affordable units to income-eligible households and that high-quality resident 
services are being provided. Monthly compliance monitoring helps TSAHC ensure that property 
owners and managers are meeting all program requirements.   
 
In 2023, TSAHC performed compliance reviews for 38 properties, totaling 5,243 units. These 
properties are financed either through PABs or THIF financing. TSAHC will continue to ensure 
that staff is well-equipped to handle the demands of adding a significant number of properties 
and units to the asset and compliance review portfolio over the past year and into 2024.  
 
2024 Implementation Plan 
 
In 2024, TSAHC staff will continue to conduct site visits in a manner that best protects the 
health and safety of our staff, as well as staff and residents at properties in our asset and 
compliance portfolio.  
 
TSAHC will also continue to review and update its policies and procedures as industry trends 
and changes in policy dictate. TSAHC will continue to closely monitor the financial health and 

310



15 

 

 

physical condition of properties in its portfolio and offer specific strategies for improvement.  
 
SINGLE FAMILY RENTAL PROGRAM 
 
The cost of living in Austin and around Texas continued to rise in 2023, primarily due to inflation 
and high rental rates. The average monthly rent was $1,806 as of July 2023,19 which is simply 
unaffordable for many low- to moderate-income Austin families. 
 
In May 2013, TSAHC created the Single Family Rental Program to provide eligible low-income 
families with affordable, below-market rental homes in high-opportunity neighborhoods in the 
Austin Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). 
 
Homes available through the program are located in areas with higher than average median 
incomes, with access to good schools and other services nearby. The program has received an 
extraordinary number of applications from low-income families and individuals interested in 
renting a home available under the program.  
 
The program offers individuals and families that earn at or below 80% of the area median 
family income the opportunity to rent a home at prices significantly less than market rate. 
TSAHC screens each applicant for rental, credit, and criminal history and to verify income 
eligibility.  
 
Given the success of the program and ongoing need for affordable rental opportunities in other 
areas of the state, TSAHC expanded the program to San Antonio in 2019, the Dallas-Fort Worth 
metroplex in 2022, and Flint, Texas in 2023. Since the expansion, TSAHC has purchased eight 
single-family homes in the San Antonio MSA, nine homes in the DFW metroplex, and 22 in Flint, 
Texas. In 2023, TSAHC also purchased one home in the Austin MSA. 
 
Combined, the Single-Family Rental Program now provides 78 rental homes across Flint and the 
Austin, San Antonio, and Dallas-Fort Worth MSAs.  
 
2024 Implementation Plan 

TSAHC does not intend to expand this program in 2024. We will instead focus our 2024 
activities on maintaining our existing rental portfolio and exploring homeownership 
opportunities for residents of our rental homes in Flint.  
 
MULTIFAMILY RENTAL PROGRAM 
 
In July 2015, TSAHC expanded its rental program by acquiring the Rollins Martin apartment 
complex in East Austin. Built in 1998, the Rollins Martin apartment complex was originally 
financed as part of the federal low-income housing tax credit (LIHTC) program. It consists of 15 

 
19 Source: https://www.rentcafe.com/average-rent-market-trends/us/tx/austin/, accessed November 27, 2023 

311



16 

 

 

three-bedroom apartment units, all of which are affordable for families earning at or below 
60% of the area median family income.   
 
The apartment complex is located in a rapidly developing neighborhood of East Austin that is 
quickly becoming unaffordable to its long-time lower-income residents. In 2022, the average 
rent in the neighborhood was $1,508, while nearly 15% of the neighborhood’s residents live 
below the poverty level. 20 By maintaining affordability in the rapidly changing neighborhood, 
TSAHC is meeting a critical housing need for the community.  
 
Beyond this, TSAHC has also made substantial improvements to the Rollins Martin apartment 
complex. Since 2015, TSAHC has completed the following repairs and improvements: installed 
new appliances, tankless water heaters, and HVAC for each unit; installed new roofing, new 
outdoor trash receptacles, a bike rack, surveillance system, and a fence for the property; 
expanded doors for the laundry area in each unit; replaced all staircases; added additional 
security features to the locks on each unit’s door; upgraded the surveillance system; replaced 
all siding and windows; added new paint, lighting, doors, mailboxes and signage; and 
completely renovated all 15 units.   
 
In 2021, TSAHC also reconstructed the dumpster enclosure area to create more recycling space 
and poured a semicircle driveway to make it easier for trash trucks to safely access and leave 
the dumpster area. In addition, TSAHC built an ADA accessible sidewalk and pad for the 
common area between buildings 3 and 4. In 2022, we completed renovations in seven units and 
performed extensive repairs on the roof.  
 
TEXAS FOUNDATIONS FUND 
 
History of the Texas Foundations Fund 
 
TSAHC created the Texas Foundations Fund (TFF) to improve housing conditions for very low-
income Texas households, with an emphasis on assisting underserved populations. TSAHC 
defines very low-income households as households earning at or below 50% of the area median 
family income. 
 
Through TFF, TSAHC partners with nonprofit organizations across Texas to support quality 
programs that address the critical housing needs of very low-income families and individuals. 
Selected partners receive grants to support their housing services. Since 2008, TSAHC has 
awarded almost $9,700,000 in grants. 
 
The housing services listed below are eligible for support through TFF: 

• Home repairs and accessibility modifications in owner-occupied homes. 

• Services at supportive housing communities.  
 

20 Source: https://housingworksaustin.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/District01_2022_v04_062723.pdf, accessed November 27, 2023 

312

https://housingworksaustin.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/District01_2022_v04_062723.pdf


17 

 

 

• In 2022, we added housing and financial counseling services as an eligible activity.  
 
TSAHC selected these services by conducting a survey asking its partner housing organizations 
to identify the greatest housing needs of the very low-income Texans they serve. TSAHC also 
conducts follow up surveys every few years to confirm that the services funded by the Texas 
Foundations Fund are still critically needed by very low-income Texans. 
 
TSAHC funds TFF awards primarily with earned revenue from its other housing programs. 
TSAHC’s Board of Directors determines the amount available for each funding round. Prior to 
each application cycle, TSAHC publishes TFF Guidelines for public comment, giving stakeholders 
the opportunity to provide feedback prior to submitting a funding proposal.  
 
Prior to 2016, the Foundations Fund was a competitive grant process. For the three award 
cycles that followed (2016 – 2021), it was a non-competitive application process. Nonprofits 
that met eligibility criteria partnered with TSAHC for a two-year term in a matching grant 
structure.  
 
2022 Funding Cycle 
 
In late 2021, TSAHC surveyed TFF stakeholders to see if any changes should be made to the 
program. After compiling survey results, TSAHC made its draft 2022 Texas Foundations Fund 
guidelines available for public comment. Based on comments received, TSAHC staff decided to 
make five significant changes: (1) grantees were no longer required to provide proof of a 
matching grant; (2) the audit requirement was waived for organizations with a budget of less 
than $2 million and replaced with a requirement that a financial review or reference letter from 
a funder be provided instead; (3) the definition of underserved populations was expanded; (4) 
housing and financial counseling services were added as an eligible activity to be funded; and 
(5) for funding purposes, applicants were separated into small, mid-sized, or large based on 
budget size.   
 
In 2022, 54 of the 55 applicants that applied met the eligibility requirements. We provided 
grants ranging from $15,000 - $35,000 to all 54 of those organizations based on budget size. It 
was the most organizations we had provided awards to until the 2023 cycle.  
 
2023 Funding Cycle 
 
The 2023 TFF program ran very similar to 2022 in terms of eligibility as only minor modifications 
were made to the guidelines. In 2023, 67 organizations applied for funding, and staff 
determined that 66 were eligible for funding. TSAHC awarded $1,002,000 in grant funding to 
those 66 organizations. Grant awards ranged in size from $10,000 to $25,000 based on the 
organization’s budget size.   
 
 
 

313



18 

 

 

2024 Implementation Plan 
 
In early 2024, we will once again survey partners and other stakeholders to help inform our 
decision making about how TFF should best operate.  
 
GRANTS FOR DISASTER RECOVERY 

Housing and Economic Assistance to Rebuild Texas (HEART) 

0n August 23, 2017, Hurricane Harvey made landfall along the Texas coast, inflicting 
catastrophic damage to Southeast Texas, the Gulf Coast region, the greater Houston area, and 
the Coastal Bend area. In response to this catastrophic event, TSAHC partnered with Enterprise 
Community Partners to create a grant program to provide critical home repair funding, 
programmatic support, and technical assistance for nonprofits providing ongoing relief efforts 
to the impacted areas with an emphasis on providing relief outside of the Harris County area.   

The program, entitled Housing and Economic Assistance to Rebuild Texas (HEART), launched in 
April 2018 thanks to a generous financial commitment from the Rebuild Texas Fund, a joint 
initiative of the OneStar Foundation and the Michael & Susan Dell Foundation. Other funding 
was provided by the Meadows Foundation, the Center for Disaster Philanthropy, BBVA and a 
commitment from TSAHC’s Board.  

The program awarded $2,555,000 to 39 nonprofits providing housing-related assistance to low-
income households directly affected by Hurricane Harvey. Among those nonprofits, 19 provided 
critical home repair services, repairing 174 homes.21 The HEART program also provided 
webinars (11 total with more than 200 attendees) as well as individual technical assistance 
opportunities. TSAHC and Enterprise Community Partners concluded administering the HEART 
program in early 2021.  

Winter Storm Uri Response 
 
In February 2021, Winter Storm Uri ravaged Texas, bringing prolonged below freezing 
temperatures and record snowfall to many parts of the state. In addition, millions of Texans 
were without electricity compounding the devastating impacts of this unprecedented disaster. 
The Federal Emergency Management Agency declared a disaster for every county in Texas and 
provided a combination of public and individual assistance depending on the severity of the 
disaster in those respective communities.  

In March 2021, the TSAHC Board of Directors approved a special funding round of the Texas 
Foundations Fund program to respond to this event and made $300,000 available to 
organizations providing home repairs for affected households in the most severely impacted 
areas. TSAHC provided grant funding to 15 organizations that provided home repairs to 236 
households between April and August 2021 through this special funding round.  

 
21 These numbers reflect grantee reports received through December 31, 2021.  

314



19 

 

 

Texas Foundations Fund – Disaster Recovery  

These twin natural disaster catastrophes motivated us to create a new program within TFF that 
was earmarked specifically for disaster recovery activities. That way funds could be made 
available in the immediate aftermath of a disaster, allowing organizations to more swiftly 
respond to disasters in their communities. 

In September 2022, we took draft guidelines for the FY2023 Texas Foundations Fund – Disaster 
Recovery program to TSAHC’s Board of Directors and made them available for public comment. 
The guidelines define disasters that qualify for grant funding as well as organizational and 
household eligibility. The allotted funding was $250,000. Thankfully, there were no major 
natural disasters that elicited applicants for the disaster recovery set-aside grant funding, and 
the funding allotted for natural disasters was re-allocated to the annual grants provided 
through the general TFF program.  

2024 Implementation Plan 

TSAHC’s Board of Directors approved the FY2024 Disaster Recovery Guidelines in October 2023.  
There were some minor modifications to the guidelines, but it essentially will operate as it did 
in its first year. Total grant funding available for the program is $250,000, and the maximum 
award for an organization is $30,000. Any unutilized funding will roll over to the general TFF 
program in summer 2024. 

SUPPORTIVE HOUSING INITIATIVES 

Partnership with Texas Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) 
 
In 2016, TSAHC expanded its efforts to address supportive housing needs beyond grant funding 
provided through the Texas Foundations Fund. We accomplished this by partnering with the 
Texas Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) in a Center for Medicaid Services 
Innovation Accelerator Program (IAP).  
 
The IAP launched in August 2017 and concluded in April 2018 with two outcomes. First, public 
and private partnerships developed between the Medicaid and housing systems to better 
address the housing and supportive services needs of the Medicaid recipient population. 
Second, HHSC and TSAHC created a state action plan that seeks to foster additional community 
living opportunities for Texans with ongoing health needs.  

As part of executing the state action plan, TSAHC conducted a series of permanent supportive 
housing (PSH) workshops in 2019 for nonprofits and other interested parties who wish to create 
or preserve PSH units. These one-day workshops provided an overview of the financing of PSH 
developments and the implementation of supportive services at those developments.  

Texas Supportive Housing Institute  

Building upon the success of the PSH workshops, TSAHC launched the Texas Supportive Housing 

315



20 

 

 

Institute in September 2020, which provides technical assistance to nonprofits, developers, 
service providers and property managers interested in creating and operating supportive 
housing in their communities. The training is conducted by the Corporation for Supportive 
Housing (CSH). 

Five teams successfully completed the first institute in 2020 representing Dallas (two teams), 
Fort Worth (two teams), and Brownsville. They attended monthly, multi-part sessions held 
virtually over the course of September to December 2020. An added component of the institute 
is one-on-one technical assistance with CSH. TSAHC also made follow up grants available to 
participating development teams through a partnership with JPMorgan Chase.  

In 2021, TSAHC offered the Institute again with the following enhancements: reduced the 
number of participating teams from six to four to expand/improve the individual instruction 
and attention provided to each; solicited teams in relatively similar project stages to improve 
cross collaboration; provided training that looks at issues through a racial equity lens and 
incorporates feedback from those with lived experience; increased technical assistance from 14 
hours per team 25 hours per team; and provided development teams with the opportunity to 
obtain Quality Endorsement reviews from CSH.  

For the 2021 Institute, TSAHC selected four development teams in El Paso, Houston, San 
Antonio, and Waco. Three of these teams successfully concluded the Institute in January 2022.  

In 2022, we decided to geographically limit the Institute to Austin-area teams to align the 
Institute curriculum and participants with local City of Austin and Travis County initiatives to 
create 2,100 supportive housing units by 2024. TSAHC selected six teams to participate in the 
2022 Institute. We also elected to host the training in-person for the first time.  

The in-person sessions hosted at TSAHC’s offices allowed for more robust participation, 
increased peer learning, and promoted cross-collaboration among participants. The 2022 
Institute concluded in February 2023 with final presentations from the five teams that 
completed the Institute.  

Permanent Supportive Housing Symposium 

In 2023, TSAHC took a brief pause on providing the Institute and instead launched a Permanent 
Supportive Housing Symposium for two primary reasons. First, opportunities to share best 
practices and how to apply lessons learned in the supportive housing space are lacking in Texas. 
And second, due to past iterations of the Institute, we have a pipeline of new developers, 
service providers, and property managers operating in supportive housing who need further 
education and training beyond what the Institute provides. 

Based upon that, we began planning a Permanent Supportive Housing Symposium in early 2023 
and held it November 6-8, 2023 in Austin. The Symposium offered three tracks: housing 
development, operations and supportive services, and health outcomes. There were two 
Symposium add-ons that bookended the programming: a tour of supportive housing 
developments in Austin and a Permanent Supportive Housing Academy. Nearly 200 individuals 

316



21 

 

 

attended the Symposium representing developers, property managers, service providers, 
health professionals, homelessness response organizations, and other health and housing 
organizations.  

2024 Implementation Plan  

TSAHC intends to resume the next iteration of the Permanent Supportive Housing Institute in 
2024 and will decide in early 2024 if there will be a focus on any markets or populations. TSAHC 
also intends to make decisions regarding the frequency of future Symposiums.   

General Homelessness Activities  

TSAHC continues to support other efforts addressing homelessness. This includes Advisory 
Member representation on the Texas Interagency Council for the Homeless (TICH) and serving 
as liaison between the TICH and United States Interagency Council on Homelessness. In 
addition, TSAHC sponsors the annual Texas Conference on Ending Homelessness hosted by the 
Texas Homeless Network. In 2022, TSAHC also awarded THN with a two-year grant to support a 
data collection system to better connect Texans experiencing homelessness to necessary 
services. We plan to continue to support THN’s data collection efforts in 2024.   

OTHER INITIATIVES 

Partnership with TxDOT  

In summer 2020, TSAHC was approached by the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) 
to administer a minimum of $27 million in grant funding to support affordable housing 
initiatives in communities affected by TxDOT’s North Houston Highway Improvement Project 
(NHHIP).   

The NHHIP is a multi-billion dollar transportation project that will expand and realign sections 
of Interstate I-45 in North Houston, impacting several communities (known as super-
neighborhoods). These super-neighborhoods are comprised primarily of low-income and 
minority residents. TxDOT is providing $30 million to support affordable housing initiatives in 
these communities in addition to the individual compensation provided to homeowners, 
renters and businesses that are displaced by the project.  

TxDOT approached TSAHC due to our prior experience providing grant funding through the 
Texas Foundations Fund and HEART programs, both of which have supported nonprofits serving 
the communities affected by the NHHIP.  

TSAHC received initial approval from our Board of Directors in October 2020 to move forward 
with discussions with TxDOT and draft an agreement outlining the use of the funds. Those 
discussions were paused in early 2021 due to legal proceedings that put the NHHIP on hold. The 
legal proceedings concluded in early 2023 allowing TSAHC to resume those contract discussions 
with TxDOT which will extend into 2024.  

317


	Cover 
	Agenda
	President's Report 
	Tab A Cover
	Tab B Cover
	Tab C Cover
	Tab 1 Cover
	Tab 2 Cover
	Tab 3 Cover
	Tab 4 Cover
	Tab 5 Cover
	Tab 6 Cover
	Tab 7 Cover
	Tab 8 Cover
	Tab 9 Cover
	Tab 10 Cover



